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FROM THE CO-CHAIRS |

This is the ninth volume of the fndian Claims Commission Proceedings to
be published and we are pleased to present it on behalf of the Commission-
ers and staff of the Indian Claims Commission. This volume includes two
inquiry reports of the Commission.

The first of the two reports relates to the inquiry into the Eel River Dam
claim of the Eel River Bar First Nation in New Brunswick. The Commission
reviewed the Eel River Bar First Nation’s specific claim alleging that Canada
had breached the First Nation’s treaty rights, provisions of the /ndian Act,
and the Crown’s fiduciary obligations by allowing the construction of 4 dam
on reserve lands in 1963 which substantially damaged fish and clam habitat
and the First Nation's traditional economy based on these harvesting
activities.

On February 19, 1998, the Commission released its inquiry report into
claims submitted to the Government of Canada in 1986 by the Qu'Appelle
Valley Indian Development Agency (QVIDA) requesting compensation for
damages to reserve laonds cavsed by flooding. These damages were caused by

water control structures constructed by the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation -

Administration in the early 1940s. The Commission’s inquiry dealt with
breaches of the Crown’s lawful obligations owed to six First Nations in Sas-
katchewan — Muscowpetung, Pasqua, Standing Buffalo, Sakimay, Cowessess,
and Ochapowace. Two other members of QVIDA — the Piapot and Kahkewis-
tahaw First Nations — elected not to participate in the inquiry.

Daniel J. Bellegarde P.E. James Prentice, QC
Co-Chair Co-Chair
I
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EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

PART 1

INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND TO THE INQUIRY

On February 18, 1987, the Eel River Bar First Nation submitted a specific
claim to the Department of Indian Affairs alleging that the Crown had violated
the First Nation’s treaty and riparian rights, provisions of the Indian Act, and
its fiduciary obligations as a result of the construction of a dam on its reserve
in 1963 and the consequent damages caused to the First Nation's fishery.!

Based on a preliminary analysis of the claim submission, Rem Westland,
Director, Specific Claims Branch, wrote to Chief Everett Martin on December
29, 1988, stating that the claim “may have litle merit.” According to its
review of the claim, the Department of Indian Affairs found that the Band was
fully compensated for the loss incurred by the construction of the dam and
that the Band Gouncil consented to and was fully aware of the contents of the
agreement signed in 1970. With respect to the Band’s objection to the use of
the expropriation authority under section 35 of the Indian Act, Westland
stated that the argument could not be supported because the Band had “not
adequately demonstrated that the legal procedures and requirements were
not met.”? On January 25, 1989, Chief Martin wrote to the Specific Claims
Branch disputing the findings of the department’s preliminary analysis and
withdrawing the claim from the Specific Claims process.?

The First Nation resubmitted its claim in February 1992. In a letter to
Thomas Siddon, Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, on
February 20, 1992, Chief Martin summarized the claim, stating:

1 Everett Martin, Chief, Eel River Bar First Nation, Eel River, NB, o D.K Goodwin, Assistanl Deputy Minister,
Governunent of Canada, Depariment of Indian Aftairs, Ottawa, February 18, 1987, DIAND file B 8620-285 (N3),
val. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 628),

2 Rem Westland, Director, Specific Claims Branch, to Chief Rverex Martin, December 29, 1988, DIAND file E-
5661-3-06013, vel. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 654-57).

3 Everett Martin, Chief, Eel River Bar First Nation, Fel River, NB, to Acling Director, Specific Claims Branch,
Dcp%ﬂmenl of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, Jannary 25, 1989, DIAND file E-5601-3-06613, vol. 1 (ICC Documents,
pp. 658-59).
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INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

We submit, among other things, that the agreements, permits, and orders-in-councils
wlich purport to permit the Province of New Brunswick to occupy, use, and expro-
priate portions of our reserve for the purposes of establishing the dam and its related
works are void and of no force or effect. We submit that we have action in trespass
against the Province of New Brunswick for continuing to occupy a portion of our
reserve without right or permission. . . . that there is a breach of our fiduciary rights

_ against your department, and that the governments of Canada and New Brunswick
have an owtstanding lawful obligation from the breach of the treaty of 1779 respecting
the destruction of our treaty right to our fishery, from the breaches of the fndian Act,
the breach of the New Brunswick expropdation laws, which breaches may have
dllowed for 2 breach of Section 111 of the Criminal Code by one of your former
officials, and which resulied in the illegal disposition of our lands.?

After the completion of confirming research and consultations with the
First Nation and its legal counsel, Beverley A. Lajoie, Research Manager, Spe-
cific Claims East/Central, informed Chief Martin that the claim had been
assessed and did not disclose an outstanding lawful obligation owed to the
First Nation on the part of Canada.’ On February 14, 1995, the First Nation
provided another submission and clarification of evidence to Specific Claims
East/Central. On June 16, 1995, Pamela Keating, Rescarch Manager, Specific
Claims East/Central, wrote to Chief Martin to advise that the second prelimi-
nary legal review of their claim had concluded that “Canada owes no out-
standing lawful obligation to tlie First Nation within the context of the Specific
Claims Policy.” Ms Keating’s letter further suggested that the First Nation had
the option of submitting the rejected claim o the Indian Claims Commission
for review.” Immediately on receiving this response,.the First Nation
requested funding from the Department of Indian Affairs to conduct a com-
prehensive loss-of-use study.® On September 11, 1995, the Minister of Indian
Affairs refused to grant the additional funding on the grounds that the claim
had already been rejected twice, in the course of which extensive research
had been conducted, but suggested that the First Nation could request an

4 Chief Everett Martin, Fel River Bar Firsl Nation, Eel River, KB, to Thomas Siddon, Minister of Indian Affairs,
Otlawa, February 20, 1992 (ICC Documents, pp. 674-75).

5 Beverley A Lajoie, Research Manager, Specific Claims ¥ast/Central, to Everell Marlin, Chief, Eel Rlver Bar Firsi
Nation, Eel River, NI3, October 6, 1994 (ICC Documents, pp. 719-22).

6 Chicf Mariin Everett, Eel River Bar First Nation, Eel River, NB, to Beverley A. Lajoie, Rescarch Manager, Spedific
Claims Rast/Central, Tebruary 14, 1995 (ICC Documents, p. 723).

7 Damela Kealing, Research Ma.nager Specific Claims East/Central, Ottawa, 1o Chief Fverett Marun Eel River Bar
First Nation, June 16, 1995 (ICC Documents, pp. 728-32).

8 Chief Everett Martin, Eel River Bar First Nation, to Pamela Keating, Research Manager, Specific Ciaims East, July
20, 1995 {ICC Documents, p. 733).

|
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EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

independent assessment of the rejected claim from the Indian Claims
Commission.?

On September 19, 1995, the First Nation requested that the Indian Claims
Commission conduct an inquiry into the rejection of its claim.'

MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

The mandate of this Commission is set out in federal Orders in Council pro-
viding the Commissioners with the authority to conduct public inquiries into
specific claims and to issue reports on “whether a claimant has a valid claim
for negotiation under the [Specific Claims] Policy where that claim has
already been rejected by the Minister . . .”! This Policy, outlined in the 1982
booklet entitled Oufstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy — Specific
Claims, states that Canada will accept claims for negotiation where they dis-
close an outstanding “lawful obligation” on the part of the federal govern-
ment.”* The term “lawful obligation” is defined in Qutstanding Business. as
follows:

The government’s policy on specific claims is that it will recognize claims by Indian
bands which disclose an outstanding “lawful obligation,” i.c., an obligation derived
from the law on the part of the federal government.

‘A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circunstances:

i) The non-fulfillment of a treaty or agreement between Indians and the Crown.
i) A breach of obligation arising out of the Frdian Act or other statutes per-
taining to Indlans and the regulations thereunder.
iify A breach of an obligation arising out of government administration of Indian
funds or other assets.
iv)  An illegal disposition of Indian land.

Furthermore, Canada is prepared to consider claims based on the follow-
ing circumstances:

9 Ronald A, Irwin, Miuister of Indian Affairs and Northem Developmen, Ottawa, to Chief Everetl Martin, Eel River
Bar First Nation, Dalliousie, NB, Septernber 11, 1995.

10 Chief Everetl Martin, Eel River DBar First Nalion, I)alhousm Al, to Indian Claims (‘()rnrru'ismn Oltawa, Septem-
ber 19, 1995.

11 Commission issued September 1, 1392, pursuant 1o Order in Council PG 1992-1730, July 27, 1992, amendmg
the_Commission issued to Chief Commissioner Harry 5. LaForme on August 12, 1991, pursuant to Order in
Council PC 1991-1329, July 15, 1991.

12 DIAND, OQuistanding Business: A Native Clatms Policy - Speclfic Clatms (Ottawa: Minister of Supply and
Services, 1982}, 20; reprinted in (1994) 1 ICCP 171-85 (hereinafter Outsianding Business).

I
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INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

i) Failure to provide compensation for reserve lands taken or damaged by the
federal government or any of its agencies under authority.

ity Fraud in connection with the acquisition or disposition of Indian reserve
land by employees or agenis of the federal government, in cases where the
fraud can be clearly demonstrated. '

The Commission has been asked to inquire into and report on whether the
Eel River Bar First Nation has 4 valid claim for negotiation pursuant to the
Specific Claims Policy. This report contains our findings and recommenda-
.tions on the merits of this claim.

10



EElL RIVER BaR FIRST NATIOK INQUIRY REPORT

PART II

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The historical evidence in relation to the Eel River Bar First Nation’s claim,
reviewed in this Part, includes several volumes of documentary evidence and
the testimony provided by members of the Eel River Bar First Nation at a
community session on April 23, 1996. The Commission also received testi-
mony from Wallace LaBillois, who was a councillor and band manager dur-
ing the events in question during a separate session in Ottawa on July 11,
1996.

The Commission also considered the written submissions of the First
Nation and Canada, in addition to hearing oral submissions from legal coun-
sel for the parties on February 20, 1997. The documentary evidence, written
submissions, transcripts from the community session and oral submissions,
and the balance of the record before the Commission in this inquiry are
referenced in Appendix A to this Report.

THE TREATY OF 1779

The ancestors of the Eel River Bar First Nation were parties to the 1779
Treaty of Peace and Friendship (the Treaty of 1779) signed in Windsor, Nova
Scotia, on September 22, 1779, by His Majesty’s Superintendent of Indian
Affairs in Nova Scotia and several tribes of Micmac Indians representing the
Miramichi, Pogmosche, Restigouche, and Richebouctou Indians. The Treaty
of 1779 was signed in the wake of a series of raids against English inhabi-
tants carried out hy Indians at the instigation of disaffected settlers. The treaty
was intended to promote peace and bring an end to lawlessness on the east
coast around the Baie des Chaleurs in what is now the northeastern part of
the province of New Brunswick. The treaty stipulated, in part:

That we {the Micmacs of Miramichy] will behave Quietly and Peaceably towards all
his Majesty King George's good Subjects treating these upon every occasion in an
honest friendly and Brotherly manper.

||
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INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

That we will at the Hazard of our Lives defend and Protect to the utmost of our
powet, the Traders and Inhabitants and their merchandize and Effects who are or
may be setlled on the Rivers Bays and Sea Coasts within the forementioned District
against all the Enemys of His Majesty King George Whether French, Rebells or Indians.

In consideration of the true performance of the foregoing Articles, on the part of
the Indian Affairs doth hereby Promise in behalf of government;

That the said Indians and their Constituents shall remain in the Districts before
mentioned Quiet and Free from any molestation of any of His Majesty’s Troops or
other his good Subjects in their Hunting and Fishing.

That immediate measures shall be taken to cause Traders Lo supply them with
Ammunition, clothing and other necessary stores in exchange for their Furrs and
other Commoditys.”?

It is generally accepted that the commodities historically traded by the Mic-
mac were fur, moose hides, baskets, and fish.!*

THE EEL RIVER BAR INDIAN RESERVE

The Eel River Bar Indian Reserve was set aside for the use and benefit of the
First Nation by an executive order of the Province of New Brunswick dated
February 28, 1807." The size and specific location of the reserve were not
entirely clear from the Order in Council, however, the minutes of the execu-
tive order offered the following description of the reserve:

Ordered that the vacant wract of Jand on Eel River commencing at Lot No. 6 north of
the mouth of the Eel River and extending to Lot No. 1 at the extremily of the Sand
Beach which forms the entrance of the River — including the Eel Fishery, be reserved
for the use of the Indians — with the exception of the Sand Beach formerly reserved
for the public fishery.' '

Three schedules of Indian reserves in New Brunswick for the years 1838,
1842, and 1847 describe the reserve at Eel River Bar as containing 400 acres
of land on the north side of Eel River."” In 1867 and 1870, however, tables of

15 “Treaty Entered into with the Indians of Nova Scotia from Cape Tormentine to the Bay De Chaleurs, 22 Sept.
1779,” Claims and Historical Research Centre, DIAND file X-92, pp. 2 and 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 3-9). A copy
of the (reaty is attached as Appendix B to this reporL

14 LFES. Upton, Micmacs and Colonists: Indian-White Relations in the Maritimes, 1713-1867(Vancowver: UBC
Press, 1079), 18, 63-64, 128-29.

15 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Instrument No. 014590 (ICC Documents, pp. 14-15).

16 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Instrument No. 014590 {ICC Documents, p. 15).

17 “Schedvle of Indian Reserves,” New Brunswick, fournal of the House of Assembly (JHA), Appendix 10 "Report
on Crown Lands™ (Fredericton, 1838); DIAND file 271/30-13-3, vol. 1, Surveys and Reserves, Eel River Indian
Regerve No. 3, Miramichi Agency (ICC Documents, pp. 17-19).

I
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EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

Indian lands in New Brunswick describe the reserve as containing only 220
acres on the north shore of the river.”® The First Nation has asseried a claim
for an outstanding entitlement based on the discrepancy of 180 acres, but
this claim is not before the Commission in this inquiry.

From 1807 onwards, there were numerous additions to, as well as surren-
ders and partitions of, the Eel River reserve, as follows:

+ October 30, 1908: 79.90 acres added to the reserve;"?
- May 22, 1928: 124.4 acres added to the reserve;?
- August 24, 1928: 15 acres added to the reserve;*!

+ February 14, 1929: 3% acres surrendered by the Band for the New Bruns-
wick International Paper Company pipeline right of way;**

« May 19, 1930: 1.7 acres added to the reserve “and also all marine rights
and all fishing rights in connection therewith”;?* and

- September 1, 1960: section 28(2) permit granted to the New Brunswick
Electric Power Commission for the use of 2.83 acres of reserve land for the’
electric power transmission line “for such period of time as the said right
of way is required for the purpose of an electric power transmission
line."®

When the construction of a dam on the Fel River was first proposed in 1963,
_the Eel River reserve contained 4 total of 434.67 acres of land. After the 1970
letter-permit and expropriation of land for the headpond, the reserve con-
tained 2 total land base of 368.39 acres. In 1996, Band Councillor Gordon
LaBillois described the reserve as 368 acres, a “very small land base” that
had heen “cut up like a piece of pie” by two major highways, a transmission
line, two pipelines, and two roads created as a result of the damming of the
Eel River® (see map 1 on page 14). '

18 Indian Tands in New Brunswick, May 19, 1870, DIAND, file 271/30-13-3, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, pp. 24-25).

19 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Instrument No. 014592 {ICC Documents, pp. 26-26),

2) DIAND Tndian Land Registry, Instrument No. 014593 {ICC Documents, pp. 30-35),

21 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Instrument No. 014594 {ICC Documents, pp. 36-41).

22 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Instrumend No. D14595 (ICC Dacuments, pp. 42-47).

25 DHAND Indian Land Regisiry, Instrment No. 014599 (ICC Documents, pp. 51-54).

24 Department of Citizenship and Imegration, Indian Affairs Branch, Agreement’ between Her Majesty Queen
Elizabeth the Second aud The New Brunswick Electric Power Commission, Sepember 1, 1960, DIAND file
271/31-3-13-3 (ICC Documents, pp. 95-97). '

23 ICC Transcript, April 23, 1996, pp. 127-28 (Gorden LaBillois).

“—
13



INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

' © 9AI9SaY uelpuj Jeg
B4

JOAIY |93 1 dey

14



EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

ADMINISTRATION AND CONTROL OF
INDJAN RESERVES IN NEW BRUNSWICK

In 1958, the Government of Canada and the Province of New Brunswick
entered into an agreement to clarify jurisdiction over the administration and
control of Indian reserve land. Before this agreement was entered into, the
federal government had been issuing letters patent under the Great Seal of
Canada to convey surrendered reserve lands to private purchasers, on the
assumption that it had the authority to do so. The difficulty, however, was that
“two decisions of the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council relating to
Indian lands in the Province of Ontario and Quebec lead to the conclusion
that said lands could only have been lawfully conveyed by authority of New
Brunswick with the -result that the grantees of said lands hold defective titles
and are thereby occasioned hardship and inconvenience,

To resolve any ambiguities over who had jurisdiction with respect to
reserve land and surrendered reserve land, the province agreed to transfer
_ all rights and interests in Indian reserves to the federal government. Although
this agreement made no reference to aboriginal or treaty hunting and fishing
rights, it confirmed all previous land grants, provided for a right of first
refusal to the province over lands surrendered for sale, and withheld from
the transfer “lands lying under public highways, and minerals.”*

THE ECONOMY OF THE EEL RIVER BAR RESERVE

The location of the Eel River Bar Reserve at the mouth of the Eel River on the
Baie des Chaleurs was a crucial factor in the development of the economy,
culture, and traditions of the First Nation. The fishery on the Eel River and in
the waters adjacent to the reserve has been the foundation of the First
Nation’s economy since at least the time when their reserve was set aside.
The 1807 provincial Order in Council setting aside the reserve provided that
the “Eel Fishery” was reserved for the use of the Indians, indicating the
importance of the fishery to the First Nation.?® Government efforts to secure
the river's resources for the First Nation are also evident in the federa]
Crown's 1930 purchase of a 1.7-acre strip of waterfront, known as “Wallace
Beach,” which specifically included “all marine rights and all fishing rights in
connection therewith” for the benefit of the First Nation.” The price paid for

26 Indign Reserves of New Branswick, SC 1939, c. 47 (ICC Documents, p. 78}.
27 Indian Reserves of New Brunswick, SC 1959, ¢, 47 (JCC Documents, pp. 78-79).
28 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Instrument-No. 014590 (ICC Documenis, p. 15).
29 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Instrument No. 014539 (ICC Documents, p. 51).

I
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INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

this parcel of land was $2200, considerably more than that paid for the
adjoining pieces, thereby indicating the economic value of having access to
the fishery. -

The value of the fishery was placed in context by Band Councillor Gordon
LaBillois, who described the el River as having been one of the “richest little
rivers” in the area, with the best clam flats in the province:

The gifts that came from the Eel River were gifts thal were handed down to our people
here since time immemorial. Through access [to] these resources our people could
always fend for themselves. It generated eight months of economic activity, We had
our own economic hase at Eel River. ' :

At the community session, numerous members of the First Nation told the
Commissioners that the Eel River had provided them with eels, codfish,
smelt, trout, salmon, herring, bass, wild and brant geese, and ducks.?? In this
smail community of fewer than 200 people® the fish harvests were large
enough to preserve the excess for off-season consumption, trade for other
types of food, and, later on, sale to local markets and tourists.

Furthermore, the fact that this area was not suitable for agricultural devel-
opnient meant that the reserve economy, both subsistence and commercial,
centred on the fishery — in particular, the harvesting of clams. In 1938, the
Inspector of Indian Agencies had reported that no farming could be expected
at this reserve because of the marshy land. A worse place could not have
been chosen for a reserve, he noted, the land being essentially worthless.** In
its Annual Reports between the early 1930s and the 1900s, Indian Affairs
repeatedly stated that economic opportunities for Indians throughout the
province were dismal because farming operations were limited and hunting
and trapping had become scarce. This lack of opportunity for Indians in the
area meant that many had to find employment as labourers.3

30" Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, to Max D. Cormier, MP, RestUgouche-Madawaska, December 18, 1931
(ICC. Documents, pp. 56-57).

31 [OC Traoscript, April 23, 1996, pp. 33-96 (Gordon LaBillois).

52 100 Transcript, April 23, 1996, pp. 14-15, 42-44 (Margaret LaBillois); pp. 30-32 (Marion LaBillois); p. 56
{Richaed- Simonson); p. 59 (Hubert LaBillois}; pp. 64-66 (Peter Simonson); pp. 68-70 (Earl LaBillois); p. 85
{Alfred Narvie); p. 89 (Leonard IaBillois); p. 97 (Gordon LaBillois); pp. 114-19 {Rebecaa LaBillois).

33 ICC Transcript, April 23, 1966, p. 51 (Margaret La Billois); pp. 86-87 (leonard LaBillois).

34 ICC Transcript, April 23, 1996, pp. 43, 51 (Margaret LaBilloiSI;, pp- 86-87 (Leonard LaBillois); pp. 32, 36-38
{Marion LaBillois); p. 66 (Peter Simonsen); p. 95 (Gordon LaBillois); p. 119 (Rebecca laBillois).

35 Jude Thihault), Inspecior of Indian Agencies, to Indian Affairs Beanch, Ottawa, September 16, 1938 (IGC Docu-
mesis, . 58).

36 DIAND, Anoual Reports for the years 1931 to 1961.

I
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EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

Cottage industries like knitting, snowshoe-making, small-scale trapping,
and pulp-log scaling were used to supplement a family’s income, but neither
the resources nor the markets for these items were large.”” Further, industry
in the nearby town of Dalhousie did not provide employment for many of Eel
River's residents, and many families found themselves forced to look for
employment in the United States.®

The clam harvest was the mainstay of the reserve’s economy. Several First
Nation members indicated that for most of the year, the clam harvest was the
centre of life on the reserve. Clams provided not only daily food and the basis
of commercial economy but also a lifestyle that had been practised by many
generations of Micmac Indians:

The clams, of course, the clams were our source of revenue. At that time the welfare
was $1 a week for each of us and there were five of us, five children, and my mom
and dad. We couldn't make a — there was no living on that Because I remember
quite well the clams were our subsistence, because we had clam pie, we had clam
chowder, we had clams as they were and we had clam sandwiches. You know, that’s
what we were broughi up on, clams.®

In addition to using the clams to feed their families, First Nation members
sold clams, together with other food, to tourists from beach canteens and
roadside stands.®

INITIAL PROPOSAL TO CONSTRUCT
THE DAM ON THE EEL RIVER (1962)

In early 1962, the New Brunswick Water Authority (NBWA) contacted the
Indian Affairs Branch (IAB) of the Department of Gitizenship and Immigra-
tion to discuss the possible damming of the Eel River and its potential impact
on the First Nation. § _

On February 27, 1962, the Maritime Regional Supervisor of Indian Affairs,
E.B. McKinnon, sent 2 memorandum to Navid Vogt, Acting Chief of Resources
and Trusts for the IAB in Ottawa, informing him of a discussion he had had
with Dr John 8. Bates, Chairman of the NBWA, who indicated that the Town of
Dalhousie was interested in constructing 4 dam on the Eel River to secure a

37 IOC Transceipt, April 23, 1996, pp. 32, 35 (Marion LaBillois}; p. 116 (Rebecca LaBillols).
58 I0C Transcript, April 23, 1996, p. 17 (Margarct LaBillois); p. 81 (Allred Narvie); pp. 26, 38 (Marlon LaBillois);
3 p. 56 (Richacd Simpson); p. 59 {(Hobert LaBillois); p. 75 (Mary McBain); p. 87 (Alfred Narvie); p. 88 (Leo-
nard LaBillois}; p. 91 (Gerdon LaBillois).
39 ICC Franscript, April 23, 1997, p. 14 (Margaret LaBillois).
40 [CC Fransceipt, Apdl 23, 1996, p. 47 (Margaret LaBillois); p. 118 (Rebecca LaBillois}.
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supply of fresh water to attract industry. At this initial stage, the NBWA had
not yet decided on how to provide the water supply, and test drilling for
water continued while options for construction of a dam were considered.
The NBWA initially proposed that the dam be located at the mouth of the Eel
River, adjacent to the reserve, where there was already a bridge to accommo-
date Highway 11. Since the proposal involved tidal water and was off reserve,
McKinnon thought there was not much Indian Affairs could do to prevent the
dam from being constructed on the Eel River; however, he expressed con-
cern with the fact that “erection of a dam will mean the flooding of a fairly
large flat which at the moment provides approximately 50% of the [Band’s]
clam production. 1t is therefore quite valuable to the Indians.”' McKinnon
suggested that any adverse effects of the dam on the Band's livelihood
“should be kept very much in mind when discussing alternate means for
providing water for the Town of Daihousie.”#

Dr Bates wrote to Vogt on March 2, 1962, to confu'm that the nearby
Town of Dalhousie had been test dnJng several sites in search of large
guantities of fresh water, without success. The International Paper Company,
located in Dalhousie, was the main source of employment in the town, but
local unemployment was still a concern of the Town Council, which was try-
ing to attract new industry to the area. In particular, the Town Council was
interested in attracting Canadian Industries Limited (CIL), but, without a sub-
stantial supply of fresh water for industrial use, CIL would not be able to
operate its plant in Dalhousie. To facilitate the establishment of the plant,
New Brunswick Premier Louis-Joseph Robichaud assured CIL that his govern-
ment would support Dalhousie’s goals by securing at least 300,000 gallons of
water per day by October 1963.

Within a week of this commitment, Robichaud asked the NBWA to act as
coordinator of the project by dealing with the federal, provincial, municipal,
and company agencies that would be participants in the venture. Dr Bates
indicated that the most promising option was to dam the Eel River at or near
its mouth, but if a tidal dam on the Eel River was the cliosen option,
“[t]iming is an urgent factor,” since the dam would have to be constructed

41 EB. McKinnon, Repgional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, to Acting Chief, Reserves
and Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, February 27, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documeuts, p.
126).

42 F.B. McKinoon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime. Regionaf Qffice, Indian Affairs Branch, to Acting Chicf, Reserves
and Trusts, Tndian Affairs Branch, February 27, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-1, vol 1 (ICC Documents, p.
126).
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in the summer of 1962 to allow a year of fresh water flushing before the
reservoir would be salt free.3

On March 9, 1962, Vogt responded to McKinnon's memorandum, advising
that the TAB had not yet been contacted by the NBWA. Vogt also requested
information from McKinnon on the yearly vatue of the Indian clam harvest,
but noted: '

The Eel River being a tidal river, the water front boundary of the Eel River Reserve is
ordinary highwater mark and title to the bed of the river below ordinary hiplowater
mark is vested in the Province. If the clams are gatheted below ordinary highwater
mark, the public generally would have a right 10 harvest the clams, and consideration
will have to be given as to whether or not the Indian Band has any special right for
which special compensation can be claimed.*

McKinnon’s response on April 6, 1962, was that, while the Band generally
harvested clams below the high-water mark, alongside the general public,

non-Indians do so for their own use, while Indians attempt 1o do so commercially . . .
attempts to put a dam at the road would be oppased not only by the Indians, but by
just ahoul everyone who does fish clams in that area, It could mean that public opin-
jon would force the town to erect 2 dam a few hundred yards away from the road.

McKinnon also attached a memorandum from Jean Bourassa, the Superinten-
dent of the Restigouche Indian Agency, stating that “[a]lthough I do not
know much of this industry,” he was of the view that “50% of the revenue
from clam digging in Eel River would be approximately $1,500 per year.”
McKinnon noted that in his most recent discussion with Dr Bates, he was
informed that “no action would be taken in regards to the dam without

43 John S. Bates, Chairman, New Brunswick Water Aathority, Fredericton, NB, to David Vogt, Chief, Reserves and
Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Cilizenship and Inunigration, Ottawa, March 2, 1962, DIANT: file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. L {ICC Documents, pp. 127-30).

44 David Vogt, Chief, Reserves and Trusts, Endian ARfairs Branch, Department of Cilizenship and Immigration,
Qttawa, to F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Amberst, Nova Scolia, March 9, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13
3.1, vol. 1 (ICC Documeuts, p. 131}

45 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Amherst, Nova Scotia, 1o David Yogt, Chief, Reserves and Trusts, Indian
Alfairs Branch, Department of Citizenship and Innigration, Qtlawa, April 6, 1362, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-5-1,
vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 133).

4 L. Jean J. Bourassa, Superintendent, Restigouche Indian Agency, Ste-Aane-de-Restigonehe, Quebec, to Indian
Affairs Branch, Maritime Regional Office, April 2, 1962, DIAND e 271/31-5-13-3-1, wol. 1 (ICC Documents,
p 134).
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bringing together all those concerned,” including the Band, the town, the
NBWA, and the Department of Fisheries.”

In the meantime, Dr Bates advised IAB-Ottawa that the dam site was still in
an exploratory stage. In a memorandum dated April 13, 1962, Vogt informed
McKinnon that “Dr. Bates was instructed that the proposal should be gone
into fully with you and with the Indians.” Vogt also noted that, since the clam
flats are in the vicinity of the highway bridge where the NBWA was first pro-
posing to construct the tidal dam,

Dr. Bates indicated it might be advisable to place a dam some distance upriver from
the highway bridge more or less at a point which would be opposite the International
Paper water pipcline. Selection of this location would seem to obviate interference
with the clam flats, and T think we and the Indians might very well press for selection
of that site.®

Three days later, McKinnon received a further report from J.H. Sheane,
the new superintendent responsible for the Eel River reserve (which had
recently been transferred to the Miramichi Agency from the Restigouche
Agency), advising that he and Bourassa

checked the approximate income again during 2 visit to Eel River and as a result of
this second look both Mr Bourassa and myself agree that the income from sale of
clams by Indians is probably nearer to $3,000 than to the $1,500 figure originally
submitted by Mr Bourassa. This new factor places a somewhat different light on the
matter in that the clam beds are probably more valuable to the Indians than originally
estimated.®

Despite Bates's discussion with Vogt in April 1962, during which they
appeared to have agreed that it would be preferable from the Band’s stand-
point to construct the dam upriver (also known as Site no. 1), Bates
reported to McKinnon on August 21, 1962, that “[t]he Town Council has
voted in favour of a tidal dam ahove Eel River Bar bridge at the first bend of

47 EB. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Amherst, Nova Scotia, 1o David Vopt, Chief, Reserves and Trusts, Indian
AfFirs Branch, Department of Citizenship and Immigration, Ottawa, April 6, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1,
val. 1 {IcC D(x:uments p. 133).

48 David Vogt, Chief, Reserves and Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Gitizeaship and Immigration,
Ottawa, to Reglonal Supervisor, Maritime Region, April 13, l9( 2, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC
Documents, p. 135).

49 J.H. Sheage, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to Regional Supervisor, Maritimes, April 19, 1962,
DIAND Ble 271/31-5-13-3-1, wd. -1 (ICC Documents, p. 136).
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the river near the bridge (also known as Site no. 2)."* McKinnon wrote to
headquarters on August 27 noting that construction of the dam at Site no. 2
would cause some flooding of reserve lands, but “there is no difficulty antici-
pated with the [Band] council as long as the erection of the dam will not
affect the clam flats.”*' He also suggested that the water could be pumped
from the reservoir through an existing pipeline, owned by the International
Paper Company, which already crossed the reserve, and he requested advice
on whether International Paper could grant permission to the town to use the
pipeline without the approval of the Minister of Indian Affairs.
- Jules D’Astous, Chief of the Economic Development Division of Indian
Affairs, responded to McKinnon on September 12, 1962, He stated that 3%
acres had been surrendered by the Band for the pipeline right of way in 1929
and that International Paper could, therefore, permit the town to use the
pipeline without prior approval from the IAB or the Band. D’Astons advised,
however, that if reserve lands were (o be flooded, consent of the Indians
would have to be obtained, the town would have to apply for an easement to
flood, and a survey would have io be done to confirm the area of the reserve
affected by flooding

McKinnon and Sheane continued to press for Site no. 1. After discussions
with the town and the Eel River Band Council, Sheane stated that although
Indian Affairs did not have

2 legal right to contest the erection of the dam at [Site no. 2] I believe the officials of
the town concerned might be influenced Lo construct at the ofher site if we could get
an educated opinion which would support the Indians reasoning that the clam beds
may be partially or wholly destroyed if the dam is constructed at the site indicated.”

Sheane suggested that the effects of the dam required further investigation
and he put forward the names of two experts on shellfish — Dr J.C. Medcof of
the Atlantic Biological Station, Fisheries Research Board, in St Andrews, New
Brunswick, and Dr E.R. Drinnan of the Oyster Culture Station — who might be
able to assist by providing “a ruling prior to the next stage of negotiations

50 John S. Bales, Chatrman, NB Water Auothority, Fredericion, to FB. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Ambherst,
Nova Scotia, August 21, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wl. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 140).

51 FE.B. McKinnon, Regional Snperviser, Amherst, Nova Scolia, to Indian Affairs Branch, Angust 27, 962, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 144).

52 Tules D’Astous, Chief, Economic Development Divisten, Indian Affales Branch, to F.B. McKinnon, Regional
Slipgnisor. Amherst, Nova Scotia, September 12, 1962, DIAND [ile 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Decuments, p,
145). :

53 .M. Sheane, Superiniendenl, Miramichi Indian Agency, lo V.]. Caissie, Assistant Regional Supervisor, Maritime
Regional Office, Septemhber 24, 1962, DIAND file 271/51-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 146).
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with Dalhousie” on questions relating to the effect of the dam. on the water
current, whether the clams were “attracted to the muddy areas further
upstream during early stages of their development,” and the possibility of
contamination in the stream.>

McKinnon adopted Sheane’s proposal and wrote to Dr Medcof on October
1, 1962, seeking his assistance-in determining the effect of the proposed dam
on the clam beds hefore proceeding with negotiations with the town. McKin-
non drew attention to the Band's concerns:

The area in question has long been known as 4 good clam producing area and the
Indians fear that the erection of a dam may seriously affect this fishing, According to
the Indians, the area to be flooded is one where clams are found in the early stage of
development, although aciual digging is not carried out at that point. The good pro-
ducing area of today will be just below the dam, and tides and currents will be
affected.

On October 30, 1962, McKinnon discussed the matter with Dr Medcof and
Dr J.8. MacPhail, also of the Atlantic Biological Station. Dr Medcof's report
states that McKinnon was interested in knowing

{1) Whether placing a dam in the estuary® of this river would affect the clam pro-
ductivity of flats in the estuary below the dam and of flats ouiside the estuary in
the Bay of Chaleur . . . and

(2) Whetlier any likely damage would be diminished by moving the dam site a short
distance upstream.®

The Band’s concerns about the potential impact on the clams were appar-
ently presented to Dr Medcof. The relevant excerpts of his findings and con-
clusions are set out below:

The old idea of there being a ueed for 2 sancfuary for a breeding population was
held by Indians of the area and this was the reason for proposing shifting the site

54 ].M. Shezne, Supcriniendenl, Miramichi Indian Agency, lo V.J. Caissie, Assistant Regional Supervisor, Maritime
Regional Office, Seplember 24, 1962, DIAND [ie 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. | (ICC Documents, p. 146).

55 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Amhersl, Nova Scotia, to Dr J.C. Medcof, Assistant Director, Fisheries
Research Boagd, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, Dctober 1, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (3CC
Documents, pp. 147-48).

56 The lerm “estuary” refers to the wide mouth of a river where the tide meets the current,

57 Dr J.C. Medcof, Assistant Director, Biologleal Station, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, to Dr J.L. Hart,
Dircetor, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, November 1, 1962 (I0C Documents, pp. 150-51).
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upsiream. They also, like many clam fishermen of this area, believe clam flats are
replenished after digging, by migration of young clams to them from other areas.
All we could say was that:

(1) The area to be submerged has never, to our knowleilge, produced clams, so
there would be no reduction by encroachment on productive areas.

(2) Dam construction would change the pattern of water circulation in the
lower estuary and removal of substantial amounts of fresh water from the -
river system by the town of Dalhousie wonld raise the average salinity of the
waler in the lower estuary. These two changes are liable to affect the nature
of bottom sedimentation and settlement of clam spat in the lower estuary
where some rather poor, seldom-harvested clams grow. However, the inter-
action of these factors is so complex that we could not predict whether
damming would effect a beneficial or deleterious change in the small area
of productive clam ground in the lower estuary. Much less conld we predict
whether placement of the dam 2 few hundred feel further up the estuary
from the site chosen by the town would be better from the point of view of
conservation.

(3) We were confident that, no matter which dam site was chosen, the clam
production of flats along the shore of the Bay of Chaleur (which are the
industrially imporiant flats) would not be affected.

{4) There is no sound basis for the theories {a) thal special sanctuaries for
* breeding stocks are required to sustain production or {b} that young clams
migrate from one area to another to replenish dug-ont areas.®

Given that the purpose of consulting Dr Medcof was to obtain support for
moving the dam to Site no. 1, his initial analysis of the situation offered little
assistance to Indian Affairs and the Band. McKinnon noted that in view of Dr
Medcof’s opinion, “we really have no irrefutable arguments to insist that the
town choose the upper site, at least in so far as clam production is
concerned.” '

Dr Medcof’s report was provided to Chief Alfred Narvie and the Eel River
Band Council and was discussed with the Band generally at a meeting held
on November 20, 1962. Although Sheane could not attend the meeting, he
provided the following report to the Maritime Regional Office of the IAB:

58 Dr J.C. Medcof, Assistant Director, Biological Station, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, to Dr J.L. Hart,
Director, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, November 1, 1962 (ICC Documents, pp. 150-51). Emphasis
added.

5¢ E.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Amlersl, to Miramichi Indian Agency, November 5, 1962, DIAKD file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 156).
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The Band bave decided that they will not permit the town authorities to ¢ross
over or use their land for this purbose hecause they feel there iy a very strong
possibility that the clum beds will be damaged with the erection of such a dam.
FHowever they have permitted a preliminary survey and they understand that the
latest thinking is that the dam should be construcied further upstream away from
thelr land altogether. This new development which ¥ could not confirm with the town
anthorities has apparently come about because it has been discovered that the hanks
of the river on the reserve side consist chiefly of moss which would not hold back the
water. Thus construction of a dam at the point propesed would not be effective with-
out the addition of a levee along the river bank.

Por the foregoing reason, the Band decided at their meeting to leave the matter in
abeyance until the location of the dam is finally decided. F understand if the lown
utilize the present proposed location {Site no. 2], the Band will do all in their
power io prevent same.®

McKinnon informed Dr Bates that the Band was opposed to Site no. 2 and
that the location “above the Fel River Bar bridge at the first turn of the river
might have to be abandoned for lack of footings.”®! Dr Bates planned to meet
with Vogt in Ottawa during the week of December 10 to discuss the possibil-
ity of paying compensation to the Band:

Mr. McKinnon indicated strong objection by the Indian Reserve to a dam at this lower
location [Site no. 2] on account of affecting clam digging, Surely compensation could
take care of any definite reduction of annual revepue, if it becomes clear thal the
largest possible storage reservoir for water is desirable and feasible.f

Dr Bates arranged to meet with Vogt in Ottawa on December 14, 1962,

noting that “the development plan has reached an advanced stage.”®* Bates
met with Yogt and with W.P. McIntyre of the IAB and informed them that the
dam was to be built at Site no. 2 despite the Band's objections. Jules D’Astous
provided the following report on this meeting to McKinnon:

60
61

62

63

I understand that a sufficient volume of water conld be obtained to supply the
anticipated requirements of Canadian lndustries Limited by building the dam at site

I H. Sheane, Superiutendens, Miramichi Indian Agency, to Masitime Regional Office, November 26, 1962, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. | (ICC Documents, p. 157), Emphasis added.

John S. Bates, Chairman, New Brunswick Water Authority, Fredericton, to Town of Dalhousie and New Bruns-
wick International Paper Gompauy, November 29, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICG Documents,
p. 138).

John §. Bates, Chairman, New Brunswick Waler Authority, Fredericton, lo Town of Dalhousie and New Bruns-
wick International Paper Company, November 29, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol, 1 {ICC Documents,
p. 158).

John §. Bates, Chairman, New Brunswick Water Authority, Fredericton, to David Vopi, Chicf, Reserves and
Trusts, Indlan Affairs Branch, December 3, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol, 1 {1CC Documents, p. 160).
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no. 1. However, it is anticipated that the capacity of the New Brunswick International
Paper Plant will be increased and in a matter of years an additional volume of water
will be needed. To ensure an adequate supply of water for the town of Dalhousie and
indnsiry users, if is necessary to build a dam at site no. 2.

On the basis of reports supplied by you and the Agency, Dr: Bates was told that the
Indians would oppose construction at site no. 2 because of anticipated [adverse effect
on] clam harvest. Although Dr. Bates and the Water Authority are not empowered to
negotiate a settlement of Indian claims, Dr. Bates did suggest that the clam resources
might be compensated by calculating the annual volume and value of the clam harvest
and capitalizing 1his annual value. Further, [he] supgested that a survey of the clam
resources be made during the 1963 season.

We pointed out to Dr. Bates that in addition to a claim for damage to clam produc-
tlon, it would appear that the town of Dalhousie will have to negotiate an agreement
with the Indians for Reserve land needed to anchor the dam and for the retaining
wall. Also, if the building of the dam should result in flooding of the Reserve land the
town would require an easement o flood #

D’Astous advised McKinnon that he should begin to communicate with town
officials to impress on them the need to “make known its requirements at an
early date and open negotiations with the Indians. Delay in this connection
could make it difficult or impossible for the town to fulfill its commitment to
C.LL. for next October."

Dr Bates sent his own report on the results of this meeting {o the Town
Council and to International Paper on December 18, 1962, with copies to the
IAB:

The Indian Affaics Branch thinks the Indian Reserve will feel concerned regarding
the dam at the lower site. . . . However, it is obvious that the potential of the Eel River
cannot be made available at about 10 million gallons per day in low-water periods
unless the tidal dam is so located.

Compensation is 4 matter for negotiation by the Town of Dalhousie through the
Indian Affairs Branch. So far as clams are concerned, it appears desirable to make a
survey next summer through the Department of Fisherdes and to estimate the possible
decrease in annual value for capitalizing as compensation. Some points of law need
clurifying, including the question of basin ownership by the Province of New Bruns-
wick in relation to the rights by the Indian Reserve for clams ahove the bridge.

64 Jules IrAstous, Chief, Economic Developmend Division, ludian Affairs Branch, Department of Citizenship and
Immigration, Ottawa, to Regional Supervisor, Maritimes, December 18, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol.
1 (ICC Documents, pp. 162-63).

65 Jules D'Astous, Chief, Economic Development Division, lndian Affairs Branch, Department of Citizenship and
Imunigeation, Otawa, 1o Regional Supervisor, Maritimes, December 18, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol.
1 {iCC Dociments, pp. 162-63). :
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Section 35 of the fudian Act, 1952-56, simplifies procedures in connection with
negotiations or expropriation.

The Indian Affairs Branch assumes that land acquisition might include a strip
around the basin for flooding, 2 wide cross seetion of the lower river for the dam, a
strip across the peninsula for the proposed wall, perhaps the peninsuly area on the
river side of the wall and possibly other parcels 5

Finally, Dr Bates wrote that the IAB had also suggested that “employment of
local Indians on construction and later on regular work in the area undoubt-
edly would help forthcoming negotiations with the Indian Reserve.”

On January 3, 1963, when McKinnon responded to I¥Astous’s report on
the December 14 meeting, he offered his views on the Band's right to com-
pensation for its losses for damaged clam production:

Eel River is tidal and it is our understanding that the Band does not enjoy ripatian
rights and therefore has no more claim to the clam fishing than the non-Indians, or
for that matter anyone who wishes to fish clams in the area. We are only indirectly
asking compensation for the loss of clam production by making compensation for the
land need high enough to cover indivectly loss of clams. fn previous discussions
with the town, we have made it clear to the town engineer that. we could not
oppose the town in their desire to erect a dam at that particular site, insofar as
the river itself is concerned, but that the moment they stepped beyond high water
mark, they would be on the reserve, and at that point we would request such
compensation as we felf would be adequaie o cover not so tuch the land, but
the clams.%

In short, although McKinnon did not think that the Band had any special
or exclusive right to harvest clams on the flats, he felt that negotiations with
respect to reserve land required for the dam should be conducted in such a
way as to ensure that compensation was also provided for damage to the
livelihood of Band members. McKinnon's proposed strategy, therefore, was
to use compensation negotiations with respect to land required for the pro-
ject as leverage to cover the Band's damages indirectly for loss of clams.

D’Astous acknowledged receipt of McKinnon's letter and apparently
shared his view that “the Eel River is tidal and therefore ownership of the hed
of the River is vested in the Crown and does not form part of the Reserve.

66 John $. Bates, Clairman, New Brunswick Water Authority, Fredericton, to Town of Dalhousie, Dalhousie, NB,
and New Brunswick International Paper Company, Dalhousie, NB, December 18, 1962, DIAND Hle 271/31-5-
13-3-1, val. 1 (ICC Docunents, pp. 164-65}.

67 FB. McKinnon, Reglonal Supervisor, Maritime Reglonal Office, Indian Affairs Branch, to Indian Aflairs Branch,
January 3, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-3-13-3-1, vol 1 (ICC Documents, p. 166}, Emphasis added.
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Furthermore, fishing rights would be exerciseable by the public at large.”®
D’Astous indicated that he would await the outcome of an upcoming meeting
with town officials to discuss the dam.

NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN THE EEL RIVER BAND
AND THE TOWN OF DALHOUSIE: PHASE 1 (1963)

* On January 21, 1963, the Band held a meeting on the Eel River reserve to
discuss the proposed dam with town officials. This meeting was attended by
J.H. Sheane; Vince Caissie, McKinnon's Assistant Supervisor; Mr Furlotte, Dal-
housie Town Councillor; Mr Petersen, Town Engineer; and Mr Smith; the mill
engineer for International Paper Company. McKinnon's report states that:

Al this meeting, the Indian group advanced reasons which appear quite logical to
us [the TAB], to prove that the erection of a dam would very likely completely destroy
the clam beds and also put an end to smelt fishing during (he winler months. These
reasons all have to do with the change which will be made in the tide and current
pattern and are too tengthy and complicated for me to attempt to explain here.
Because of this, the Indians have indicated that they will refuse to grant permis-
sion fo the Town unless compensation is in the form of employment In existing
or proposed industries. Undersiandably the Town representation at this meeting
could not commit themselves to any arrangements of this nature, but agreed to return
fo the Town Council and fo secure information from those industries after which a
second meeting would be held. ...

At an afternoon meeting between Town ofticials and Department representatives,
the Town sought information on expropriation. They were referred to Section 35 of
the Indian Act, and were lold that there was no certainty that the Governor-in-
Counctl would grant permission in the face of complete opposition from the
Band Council.

Is there any likelibood ihat the Governor-in-Council would acl against this
opposttion? [f it showld come fo that, I think we can be reasoncbly ceriain that
pressure will be brought o bear by the Provincial Government, which has con-
firmed the undertaking of the Toun lo provide water in sufficient quantities for
the CIL plant.®

D'Astous agreed with McKinnon that “the Minister would be very reluctant
fo approve expropriation contrary to the wishes of the Indians. He might
do so if convinced that the necessity of the case justified expropriation.

) -

68 Jules D'Astous, Chicf, Economic Development Division, fndian Affaies Branch, to Regional Supervisor, Maritimes
Office, January 11, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Documenis, p. 170},

& FB. McKimon, Supervisor, Maritme Regional Offiee, to Indian Affairs Branch, January 21, 1963, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 172-73). Emphasts added.
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You should impress on Town officials the desirability of doing everything
possible to meet the wishes of the ndians.”™

Meanwhile, Dr Medcof began preparations to complete a survey of clam
production with the assistance of J.S. MacPhail of the Atlantic Biological Sta-
tion. Dr Bates indicated in a2 memorandum dated January 17, 1963, that
rather than using a survey of clam harvests for the spring of 1963 as the
basis for calculating annual vield, the “better approach would be to measure
standing crop next spring [1963] as soon as the ice clears and before any
construction begins and to measure it again a year after and possibly two or
three years after as well. This would be the best way to find out whether
damming has caused 2 change and, if there is a change, whether it is an
increase or a decrease and how much.” Medcof added that the 1963 survey
should be considered tentative and “[t]o be fair, therefore, any settlement
arrived at during the first vear or two after dam construction should be
regarded as tentative and subject to adjustment.””

On Pebruary 6, 1963, McKinnon met with the project’s engineering assis-
tant, Brian Barnes, and was informed that the town’s preference for Site no.
2 was under reconsideration. The NBWA had discovered that its preferred
site would incur expenses for reconstruction of the highway that no one
could afford and that a site 1200 feet further upstream was being considered
[Site no. 1]. Barnes’s report of this meeting states that McKinnon “reiterated
his earlier impression that the Indians felt they were being discriminated
against by the residents of Dalhousie and that the Indians would be more co-
operative if they could be assured of jobs in the town. He felt that the upper
site would be more satisfactory as far as the Indians were concerned.””

On March 28, 1963, Sheane wrote to McKinnon reporting that the town's
manager, Mr W.E. Petersen, had called to say that “his group” had recently
met with the Band:

He [Mr. Petersen] states that the Band bave authorized bis crews to begin land
clearing and diking immediately on the land portion. He stated that they had
agreed to accept Dr Medooff [sic] as an authorily when compensation is consid-
ered but that they wanted an agreement signed before work was commenced on

70 Jules D°Astons, Chief, Econoimic Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, Otawa, to Regional Supervisor,
Maritimes, February 4, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wl. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 178). Emphasis added.

71 Dr J.C. Medcol, Assistant Director, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, w
J.1. Hart, Direclor, Fisheries Researcher Board of Canada, Biotogical Statien, Ottawa, January 30, 1963, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, pp. 175-77).

72 Memorandum, Brian Barnes, Engineering Assistant, New Brunswick Water Anthority, Fredericton, February 12,
1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 179-81).
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the dam. He and the Council zre still proceeding in their efforts to obtain jobs for the
men. .. i

The town solicitor is presently drawing up a preliminary agreement which the
Indians of course will not sign without consultation with Indian Affairs officials. He
will inform me when this document is ready. Possibly he may be rather more optimis-
tic than the situation warrants but he appears to feel now that a inutually satisfactory
agreement can be arrived at with Eel River Band members.

... it now appears that 4 further meeting should be held soon with the Indians to
discuss the town proposals and if agreement is reached, to take the necessary resolu-
tions. I should like an opinion re the foregoing as soon as possible . . . It is consid-
ercd essential that we be present if any agreements are in prospect.”

On April 1, 1963, McKinnon provided a lengthy report to IAB-Ottawa on
the status of the negotiations with the Band and of a meeting between the
Band and the town, although it is not clear whether he was referring to the
same meeting recounted by Sheane. In his report, McKinnon confirmed the
town’s decision to move the dam to Site no. 1, 1200 feet upstream from the
mouth of the river. He noted that the new site was selected “because of
objections by the Indians, and also because of additional costs,” and that this
new proposal was presented to the Band by the town. Although the new site
“would entirely clear the clam beds,” McKinnon noted that it “would necessi-
tate the erection of a dyke on reserve land, and result in flooding approxi-
mately 49 acres of swamp shore land.” With respect to the meeting with town
officials, McKinnon reported that

the Indians again remained opposed to the dam, because of effects they claimed it
wolld have on the fishing, They maintained, however, their previous stand that they
would alfow the Town to erect a dam if employment was provided to the able-bodied
Indians on the reserve. It was also agreed at the meeting that the degree of loss to the
tishing indnstry would be determined hy Dr. ].C. Medcof of the Fisheries Research
Board (Specialist in shell fish) and that both parties would accept his ruling. I
enclose herewith a photocopy of a2 memo dated January 30th in which Dr. Medeof
comments on the entire proposal.™ You will note that Dr. Medcof Is not prepared to
say now whether this dam will have delrimental effects (or beneficial effects for that
matter) on the fishery. Violent objection was taken by the Indians to the comment in

73 JH. Sheane, Miramichi Indian Agency, to Marilime Regional Office, March 28, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-
1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 185). Emphasts added.

74 Medeof had commented that “[i]f this statistical report were correct and the indian claitns of annual Eel River
landings valoed al $1,500 were correct, we would deduce that Eel River alone contributed three quarters of the
total catch froem District 63 in 1962. We seriously question this — someone js prohably wrong somewhere.” Dr
J.€. Medcof, Assistant Director, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, to J.L.
Hart, Dirvcter, Fisheries Researcher Board of Canada, Biological Station, Ottawa, January 30, 1963, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 175).
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Paragraph 9, Page 2. The Indians estimate their production of clams yearly atl
$30,000. The Indians al that meeting were asked to present to the Town their views as
to what compensation should be f the fisheries were entirely destroyed.

A weck later, another mecting was held on the Reserve, this time with the Indians
only, in an attempt to arrive at 2 fair compensation. Ronghly, the proposals were as
follows:

(1} Compensation for land flooded at the rate of §1,000.00 an acre. (This amouat is
totally unrealistic in our views, but was possibly the result of false information
obtained by an Indizn from some non-Indian involved in recent Federal Government
purchases of land for the nearby Charle Aicport. Tt was reporied that the rate of
$1,000.00 an acre had been paid, while in fact the highest rate was $175.00 an acre.)

(2) A votal amount of $210,000. for the loss of clams based on an annual value of
$30,000. multiptied by scven.

(3) A total of $17,500. for losses to other fisheries based on an annuaf crop valued at
$2,500. multiphied by seven vears.

It was further resolved at the meeting that these amounts would be reduced con-
siderably if the Town could provide employment for the Indians. It is to be noted here
that these amounts are based on entire losses and the percentage which would be
paid to the Indians will be based on Dr. Medcof's survey.

I indicated earlier that the Indians have taken exception to the statement in Paca-
graph 9 of Dr. MedcoFs repori. The Indians are now in the embarrassing position of
having to admit to us their zctual gains from fishing, which needless to say would
affect their relief to a considerable extent, or accepting Department of Fisheries
figures and our own estimates of former vears, thereby reducing considerably the
amount of compensation they can hope to receive. In any case, it appears quite safe
to say that the figure of $1,500.00 is far from correct. We have found some records
kept by an Indian showing that in the month of July he purchased approximately
1,700 pails of clams at an average value of $1.50 per pail. This man is one of two
_ buyers on the Reserve, and his purchases would equal approximately half the total
production. His figurcs alone for one month of an eight-month scason would be suffi-
cienl to prove that Depariment of Fisheries' figures are inaccurate. If we can believe
the reports given to us by the Indians, and § am not prepared {o reject them without
adequate proof, it would seem that the yearly production was in the vicinity of 20,000
pails per vear, which in tuen would represent the $30,000 claimed by the Indians . . .

Following this meeting with the [ndians, it was decided that our next step would be
a meeting of the various unions operating in the Town. of Dalhousie. Unfortunately, all
the unions were represented by only one man, the President of the Union’s Council.
He did not offer too much hope in the field of employment, because of the seniority
factor in unions, and the fact that there are unemploved union members in the Town
at the moment, but he did agree to present our case at the general meeting of the
Unions in the hope that they may have some solution to offer . . .
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Al that meeting, the Town Manager admitted to us that work was already underway
on the construction of the pipe line and the pump house in the Town. This does not
vel affect Indian land, but the Town was very anxious to go ahead with certain phases
of the job which would affect the reserve. We sugpested to the Mayor and the Town
Manager that it would be an opportune time to meet the band again to obtain their
consent to this phase of the work, and also to offer counter proposals to those offered
eatlier by the band.”

McKinnon also atiached to his memorandum a brief prepared by Indian
Affairs, which was presented to the President of the Dalhousie Unions' Coun-
cil, to support the First Nation’s request for employment opportunities for the
10 to 15 able-bodied Indians on the reserve. This brief stressed that the
coming of Canadian Industries Limited to the town was entirely dependent on
obtaining a supply of fresh water. In order to obtain the water, the Indians’
economy might be severely damaged, thereby necessitating that they be com-
pensated in one form or another. Although Canadian Industries Limited
would create approximately 45 jobs, the Indians were not qualified because
the company required high school graduates. Therefore, Indian Affairs main-
tained that owing to “the possible total or partial destruction of their liveli-
hood, the Indians should not be required to compete for jobs in Dalhousie
on the same basis as local residenis who have everything to gain by the erec-
tion of the dam.”™ 1t requested that special efforts be made to find
employment for the Indians in other fields in the town - if they were given
preferential treatment with respect to job opportunities, the Department was
“prepared to contribute time and money” to assist in matching suitable can-
didates to jobs. Finally, Indian Affairs indicated that other unions across the
country were very cooperative; it hoped the executive of the Dalhousie unions
and its members would support the Band’s request in view of the potentlal
destruction of its fishing industry.

On April 9, 1963, the Band Council passed a Band Council Resolutlon
(BCR) outlining terms and conditions under which construction of the dam
would be acceptable to the Band. It reads as follows:

1. We, members of the Eel River Band of Tndians, at 4 meeting held on April 9th
1963, Eel River Reserve, Province of New Brunswick do Liereby resolve that permis-
sion be granted to the Town of Dathousie, its agents, servants and workmen to enter

75 F.B. McKinnou, Maritime Regional Supervisor, Amherst, 1o Tndian Affuirs Branch, Ottawa, April 1, 1963 (ICC
Documents, pp. 186-91).

76 Transcript of Document 90, Proposed Remedlal Action to Offset Possible Destruction of Lel River Indians
Feonomy (ICC Documents, pp. 189-91).
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upon our reserve and carry out the work necessary for the full completion of 4 dyke
and dam as coniained in the drawing by the Maritime Marshland Rehabilitation
Administration, and to cnter upon our Reserve whenever required to carry out the
necessary maintenance upon the said dvke and dam.

2. Whereas the said dyke and dam will resull in the Booding of certain shore lands as
shown on the said drawing, the Town of Dalhousic shall on or before December 31st,
1963, or as soon as title to the land is acquired, compensate the band in the form of
a $4,000.00 (Four Thousand dollars) pavment for the land so flooded or utilized or
in the form of land acceptable to the band as represented by the Band Council, in an
acreage equal to that which will be flooded. The band further recommends that the
Governor in Council grant to the Town the right to avail itself of the expropriation
procedures as contained in Section 35 of the Indian Act.

3. Should the erection of the dam have an injnrious effect on fisheres, it is further
agreed that the Town of Dalhousie shall between September 1st and September 15th
of the year 1967 pay compensation for one half the losses to the annual clam produc-
tion of the entire river between the dam and the bridge on Highway No. 11 at the rate
of 7 x $1.50 per 6 quart pail, and for losses to the annual smelt production at the rate
of 7 x 6¢ per pound. The losses to the clam fishing shall be determined by the
Fisheries Research Board of Canada and the losses to smelt fishing by the Area Repre-
sentative of the Canada Department of Fisheries. These losses must be entirely due to
the construction and erection of the dam.

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 3 the amount of compensation to be
paid by the Town for losses to the fisheries shall not exceed §50,000.00 (Fifty Thou-
sand Dollars).

5. The band further agrees to reduce, under the provisions of paragraph 3 or 4, the
compensation for losses to fisheries at the rate of 5% of the total amount payable for
every male Indian who from the signing of this resolntion until September 1st, 1967
will have obtained by any means and from any source, employment, the remuneration
from which directly or indirectly shall not be less than $2,000.00. A comnission to be
composed of three members; one 1o be appointed by the Council of the Eel River
Band, a second to be appointed by the agents of the Town of Dalhousie and the third
to be mutnally agreed upon by the Band Council and the said Agents, shall meet not
less than every six months to determine if the employment is of such a natnre as to
qualify the Town to apply the 5% reduction. The commission shall determine its own -
terms of reference.

6. Whereds the New Brunswick Water Authority has indicated that the creation of a
trout fishing pool as a tourist attraclion in the reservoir created by the dam, would
have no injurious effect on the water, the Eel River Band proposes to request assis-
tance from the Indian Affairs Branch 1o further study this possibility. If the New Brnns-
wick Water Authorliy grants permission to develop such a fishing pool, the Town of
Dalhousie shall not object to and shall support only the application of the Eel River
Band to the Province of New Brunswick for these exclusive fishing rights of the Band

.
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Members [from] such 2 pool. The lown may be released from the provision of this
clause at the discretion of the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration.”

The Band Council Resolution was signed by Chief Alfred Narvie and Council-
lors T. Frank Martin and Peter W. Narvie.

McKinnon sent a copy of the Band Council Resclution to YAB-Ottawa on
April 16, 1963, along with a long memorandum indicating that the resolution
was signed after a general Band meeting for the purpose of discussing the
proposed construction of the dam. McKinnon stated that 25 eligible voters
had attended the meeting, and that 24 of them had voted in favour of the
proposed “agreement,” which had apparently been distributed to Band mem-
bers for their consideration. McKinnon noted that “[t]here are eighty-seven
eligible voters in this band, but only thirty-eight are living on the reserve at
the present time. The others are away, most of them in the Uniled States."’
McKinnon explained each of the clauses in turn. With respect to the question
of authority to expropriate in paragraph 2, he explained:

The last sentence in paragraph 2 is self-explanatory and resulis in the fact
that we wish to awoid surrender meetings. Because of the unavailability of the
majority of voting members present, we would require at least two surrender
meetings. In the meantime we could not give to the Town unconditional authority to
proceed with the work, aad the Town in turn would not be able to meet the Dctober
31st deadline set by the Industry which is establishing in Dalhousie. This was fudly
explained to the Band members and there were no objections voiced.”

With respect to the employment clause, McKinnon wrote in later corre-
spondence that “[i]t was felt that indusiries and services in the Town could
reasonably absorb in their labour forces the twenty or so men on the reserve.
It was made very plain at the beginning that the Indians were much more
interested in the possibility of providing regular employment than in the cas-
ual earnings from clam-digging.”® Therefore, it is clear that this clause was
meant not only to create job opportunities but to provide fu#/ employment for
the able-bodied men on the reserve. McKinnon noted in his report, however,

77 Band Councit Resolution, April 3, 1963 ( ICC Documents, p. 192).
78 F.B. McKinnon, Regianal Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affales Branch, to Tndian Affairs Branch,
Apdl 16, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 194).

79 .B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, to Indian Affairs Branch,
: April 16, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Dacuments, pp. 194-95). Emphasis added.

g0 F.B. McKlnnon, Regional Director of Indian Affairs, Maritime Regional Office, Amherst, NS, to Dr J.C. Medeof,
Assisiant Direclor, Fisheries Research Board, Biological Station, Si Andrews, NB, January 9, 1968, DIAND file
271/51-513-3-1, vol. 1 {(ICC Documents, p. 342).
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.

that “it will be difficult to enter [it] in legal documents. Hard fast rules are
going to be difficult to establish here.” Also, the Band Council Resolution
contained a proposal to develop a trout fishing pool as an economic develop-
ment project for the Band, suggesting again.that the focus on economic
development and employment may have reduced the cash compensation pro-
vided for in the resolution. Finally, McKinnon noted that “the Indians raised
the question of future possible damages, as a result of a break in the dam or
some such incident. The Indians signed the resolution on the understanding
that the matter of Town responsibility in such an event would be determined
and if it proved necessary that it be spelled out in the agreement, it would be
done at Headquarters. It would be appreciated if the matter was given
consideration.”*!

On April 24, 1963, D’Astous responded to McKinnon's report and request
for instructions on the steps to be taken to conclude the agreement between
the Band and the town:

(1]t appears the Town will require an area of land on which to place the reserve end
of the dam, an easement to fiood adjacent land and access over the reserve to the
dam. A grant with respect Lo the land, fooding and access presents no problem espe-
cially if the grant can be made under the anthority of Section 35 of the fudian Act. In
this connection, the Solicitor for the Town of Dalhousie should be asked to provide
proof of the fact that the Town has a statufory power to expropriate land needed for
the Town water system.

At the moment we are not certain whether the Indfans have a legally enforceable
claim for loss of income from clam harvesting and other fishing should the construe-
tion of the dam have an adverse effect on clam and fish production. However, an
answer to this question is not essential if a legally enforceable agreement is reached
with the Town to pay compensatipn in the event of a reduction of income from the
fishing.

The compensation scheme embodied in the Councll Resolution will require some
thought and it is being referred to the Departmental Legal Adviser for consideration
and advice ®

On the same day, D’Astous sent 2 copy of the Band Council Resolution to the
IAB Legal Advisor to request his “views as to the incorporation of the terms
of the proposal in .a legally enforceable agreement."*

81 E.B. McKinnen, Reglonal Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, Tndian Affairs Branch, to Indian Affairs Branch,
April 16, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 195-96).

82 Jules D'Astous, Chief, Economic Deveiopmem Division, Indian Afalrs Branch, Ottaws, to Repicual Supervisor,
Marilimes Office, Apnl 24, 1963, DIAND file E-5661- 3.0601302, vol. 1 (ICC Dociuuents, p. 197).

83 Jules D'Astous, (Hm:f Feonomle Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, Ottawa, to Legal Advisor, Indian
Affairs Branch April 24, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vel. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 198-99).
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On May 6, 1963, McKinnon wrote back to D'Astous (o confirm that he had
sought proof from the Town of Dalhousie of its power to expropriate. He also
wrote to clarify what he saw as the basis for the compensation negotiations
with the town:

From the very beginning of our negotiations, we made it plain to the Indians and to
the Town that the Indians had no legal claims to any of the fisheries in the river
because it was tidal. The legal basis for a settlement for loss of clams rests, in our
views, simply in the fact that if the Toun does not accept to pay for such losses,
the Indians would simply not allow them access over the reserve in order to
construct and maintain the dam. While the lund in itself is only worth a few
dollars, it protects clam production in the river lo which the Indians have access.
In reqlity, the Town will be paying all Uts compensation for the land, since the
Indians realize they cannot sell what they do not oun. The value of the land,
however, will depend on the effects the dam will have on the fishing For this
reason, it is necessary that the value of thuse fisheries hecomes part of the total
settlement, :

As long as the agreement which has been signed by the Indians and will be signed
by the Town makes it binding upon the Town Lo respect the terms incorporated for
fishing losses, it is all we require, If, however, the Town could conceivably break the
agreement later on on the basis of the fact that the Indians do not own the fishing,
then it should be made very clear now, because I am convinced that the band will
take an entirely different viéw

On May 8, Town Manager Petersen wrote to McKinnon to advise him that
the town did have expropriation powers pursuant to provincial legislation. A
copy of the Towns Act® was later provided to the IAB as proof of the town’s
authority to expropriate lands for the purpose of carrying out any of its pow-
ers and duties.®

On June 4, Sheane wrote to McKinnon to suggest that, since clam digging
was under way on the river, Dr Medcof's clam survey should be carried out
as soon as possible “before the beds have become partially depleted. You will
agree that this would be detrimental to the Indians case and in favour of the

%t E.B. McKinnon, Regional Director of Indian Affairs, Maritime Regional Olice, Amherst, NS, to Indian Affairs
Branch, May 6, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (TCC Documents, p. 201). Emphasis added.

85 Towns Act, RSNB 1952, c. 234, and amendmen, ¢. 70.

86 W.E. Petersen, Town Manager, Town of Dalhousie, 10 Indian Affairs Branch, Maritimes Office, May 8, 1963,
DIAKD e 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Docoments, p. 203). Pelersen cited the “Acts of the Legislalure of New
Bronswick 10-11 Elizabeth I, 1961-62, Chapter 70, Sections 131 and following” as the basis for the iown's
exproprigtion powers.
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town.”¥ He also advised that the Indians were not accepting offers of
employment to clear the land to construct the dike because Chief Narvie indi-
cated that the town was offering $40 to $75 per acre, whereas members of
the Band did not feel they could make any money unless they were paid $100
per acre.® A week later, Shcane wrote that the dispute over the clearing work
had escalated, but appeared to have been resolved through negotiations
between the Band, Sheane, and town representatives, and that the work was
being completed by Band members at a compromise figure of $90 per acre,
Sheane also pointed to “the urgent necessity of having the agreement
obtained by ourselves from the town and the Indians, processed by the
Department. Following completion of the present work phase[,] actual dam
construction will commence and it would be unfortunate if the project had to
be cancelled following a large expenditure on the part of the Town.

In the meantime, [YAstous had written again to the Departmental Legal
Advisor seeking an opinion and an assessment of the proposed agreement.”
On August 19, 1963, D’Astous wrote to McKinnon indicating that the Legal
Advisor had concluded that expropriation would not be appropriate in these
circumstances. According to the Legal Advisor, the expropriation powers
conferred on the Town of Dalkousie by the provincial Towns Act

are exercisable by the Town only in the event that an agreement is not or cannot be
reached with the land owner. The Council Resolution, provided the terms thereof are -
acceptable to the Town, is taniamount to an agreemenl and therefore the expropria-
tion powers are not cxercisable.”

Therefore, the Legal Advisor recommended that an interitm permit be granted
under section 28(2) of the Indian Act pending a surrender of the land from
the Band and a formal grant of land to the town by letters patent. D’Astous
advised that the Department was working on a draft permit and suggested
that McKinnon request that the town pass a resolution to accept and approve

87 JH. Sheave, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to Maritime Repionad Office, Jnne 4, 1963, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-5-1, voL 1 (ICC Documents, p. 206). The first survey was aclually carried out in July 1963 {1CC
Exhibit 2, tah 18)

88 J.H. Sheane, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to Maritime Regional Office, June 4, 1903, DIARD file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Document p. 206).

89 J.H. Sheane, Superiotendent, Miramichi ndian Agency, to Marilime Regional Office, JTune 11, 1963, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (1CC Documents, p. 203).

90 Jules D'Astous, Chief, Economic Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, Ottaws, 1o Legal Advisor, Indian
Affairs Branch, June 18, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 212).

91 Jules DAstous Chlel, Economic Development Division, Indian Allzirs Branch, Ottawa, o Regional Supervisor,
Mantm)nes. Indlan Affairs Branch, August 19, 1963, DIAND e E-5661-3- 06015 D2, vel, 1 (ICC Documents,
p. 220
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the April 9, 1963, Band Council Resolution “as the basis for a formal agree-
ment between ourselves and the Town.” Sheane made this request to the
town, and a formal resolution from the town was provided on September 12,
1963, and forwarded to the Legal Advisor.”*

It was not until November 22, 1963, that I’’Astous sent to McKinnon a first
draft of the agreement, prepared by the Department, which attempted to
reflect the “meaning and intent” of the April 9, 1963, Band Council Resolu-
tion.” Under the terms of this draft agreement, the Band was to receive
$4000 from the town for rights to use reserve land ptus a maximum payment
of $50,000 in compensation for the loss of the fishery, to be calculated at the
rate of “$10.50 per six (6)-quart pail of clams” and 42 cents per pound of
smelis.”* (The figure of $10.50 per pail appears to be a typographical error,
since the 1963 resolution states that the price shall be based on $1.50 per
pail, 2 sum more consistent with reports on the market value of clams.) In
December 1963, Sheane and McKinnon provided their comments on the
draft agreement prepared by IAB-Ottawa. D'Astous asked them not to discuss
the draft with the Band or the town at this point, since he wished to continue
to work on the draft with the Legal Advisor before reviewing it with the par-
ties. Accordingly, Sheane’s and McKinnon’s views were their own and do not
purport to represent those of the Band. Sheane expressed concerns about the
method used to calculate compensation and the difficulty in estimating the
loss of clam and smelt production. In view of these concerns, Sheane stated:
“I cannot agree that any final agreement to sell the land be signed until iron-
clad guarantees regarding compensation are made by the town.”

McKinnon echoed Sheane’s comments about the difficulty in assessing
losses to the fishery, since no survey figures were yet available. (These figures
were provided approximately 4 month later, although the survey itself was
conducted in July 1963.) McKinnon also emphasized that with respect to the
employment clause, the parties understood it to mean permanent employ-
ment, not a “series of jobs of a purely temporary nature.” Finally, McKinnon

92 J.E. Sheane, Superintendent, Miramicht Indian Agency, to W.E. Petersen, Town Manager, Dalhousie, NB, Sep-
tember 3, 1963, DIAND file, E-5661-3-06013-D2, wl. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 223); W. Edgar Petersen, Town
Manager, Dathousie, NB, o J.E. Sheane, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, September 12, 1963, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 225); Jules I'Astous, Chief, Econoniic Developmenl Division,
Indian Affairs Braoch, to Legal Advisor, Indian Affairs Rranch, Seplember 26, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-
1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 227).

935 Jules D’Astous, Chief, Economic Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, to Regional Supervisor, Mari-
times, November 22, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (iCC Documents, pp. 228-29).

94 Drafi Agreement between Canada and Town of Dalhousie, [November] 1363 (ICC Documents, pp. 230-33).

95 IH. Sheane, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to Mariime Regional Office, December 4, 1963 (ICC
Dacuments, p. 243).
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expressed doubts about Dr Bates’s sincerity regarding the establishment of a
trout fishery:

[T}t was my opinion at the time that his [Dr Bates’s] suggestion that a trout fishery be
established was simply bait. The Indians were told so by myself at one of the meet-
ings, but it was added that we would press for a firm commitment from Dr. Bates. So
far he has skilfully avoided our requests to put this offer in writing, but we shall
continue pressing him to do s0.%

The dam on the Eel River was completed by November 1963, without an
agreement on compensation or any formal authorization provided under the
- terms of the Indian Act in the form of a surrender, expropriation, or permit.

NEGOTTATIONS ON EMPLOYMENT AND VALUE OF THE
CLAM FISHERY: PHASE 2 (1963-68)

From 1963 until early 1968, negotiations continued between the town and
the Band in an attempt to reach agreement on the terms and conditions of a
formal and legally binding documeut. Many problems arose between the par-
ties, and the NBWA withdrew from the negotiations until early 1968. The
main problem was that the town was either not making any efforts or was
unable to secure employment for the Band. Whatever the reasons, the result
was that efforts to reach agreement on terms concerning employment, value
of the clam fishery, and other matters of concern to the Band became more
difficult as time passed.

To assess properly the compensation payable to the Band under the terms
of the 1963 Band Council Resolution, three surveys of the soft-shell clam
population at Eel River Cove were conducted in July 1963, July 1964, and
August 1967 to determine whether any damage was caused to the clam har-
vest 4s 4 result of the dam'’s construction. The first of these three surveys was
done by Dr J.S. MacPhail of the Atlantic Biological Station in July 1963
(before the dam was completed), and his complete report was forwarded to
the IAB on January 15, 1964. Dr MacPhail's report suggests that, given the
dam’s position upstream from the productive clam flats, it was unlikely that
there would be any effect on the water level in the cove at periods of low tide.
The report indicates that there was a ready market for selling clams to tour-
ists and picnickers, and that diggers sold their catch for $1.50 to $2.00 per

96 F.B. McKinaon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, to Indian Affairs Branch, December 10, 1963,
DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 245},
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6-quart pail of clams, but that they could receive as much as §2.25 per pail if
the clams were steamed. In previous years, surplus stocks of clams were sold
to factory processors in Buctouche for $1.00 per pail. Dr MacPhail’s main
conclusions were as follows:

Clams are indeed abundant in Eel River cove. A total of 77,000 6-quart pails of mar-
ketable clams Is remarkable today for 39 acres of flats. This is equivalent to about
350 bushels per acre which was considered good digging in our coastal areas 15
vears ago. Several factors likely contribute 1o maintaining this good population of
clams.

(a) The flats are always submerged. This makes digging 2 difficult task and prevents
efficient recovery of clams from the soil that is turiied. It also prevents systematic
turning of the populated ground. In short, it tends o reduce the intensity of the
fishery.

(b} There is no processing plani in the immediate vicinity to handle low-priced
caiches in excess of high-priced Lourisl purchases. This, too, reduces the fishing
intensity by confining the greatest fishing effort 1o the summer months.

(¢} I weather conditions are unfavourable, particularly on week-ends during the
summer months, sales to tourists and picnickers drop drastically and conse-
quently digging is slight until accumulated catches are sold.

(d) There are relatively few persons in this arca who wish (o supplement their earn-
ings by digging clams. This absence of intense digging is exemplified by the com-
paratively higher density of clam populations in sections 1, 2 and 3 than in
sections 4, 5 and §...where soft, muddy soils are a deterrent io diggers
although the rewards for fishing would be greater.”

Dr MacPhail stated in his acknowledgments that he was “indebted to Chief
Alfred Narvie, Eel River Band, for general background knowledge and history
of the clam fishery in Eel River Cove.”

As mentioned ahove, the issue of compliance with the understandings set
out in the 1963 Band Council Resolution concerning employment became
crucial in the discussions that followed. There was much discussion of how
to make the clause work, including suggestions that the commission referred
to in the resolution be constituted right away to get its views on how to draft

97 Eel River Band, Eel River Indian Reserve No. 3, Expropriation for Dam Specific Claim, Draft Historical Repor,
undated {ICC Exhibit 4, p. 1085).

98 Eel River Band, Eel Rlver Indlan Reserve No. 3, Expropriatiou for Dam Speclfic Claim, Drsft Historical Report,
undated (ICC Exhibit 4, p. 106).
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this term in the agreement.* On January 14, 1964, IAB officials met with
representatives of the Band and the town in the presence of Magistrate J.T.
Troy, who was to serve as the independent member of the committee, to
discuss the wording of this clause; at the end of the meeting, however, it was
agreed that the wording in paragraph 3 of the draft agreement was sufficient
because it would give the committee “all possible freedom .. .to operate
cfficiently and fairly."'™

On April 23, 1964, the Band requested a meeting with the Mayor and the
Town Manager, ‘which Sheane and Caissie also attended, “to express their
dissatisfaction at the attitede of the Town and also to suggest that a second
look at the agreement be taken with a view of adding much stronger clauses
dealing with employment.”'®* McKinnon's report on this meeting noted that

... some Indians felt that the deal should be entirely cancelled and forgotien.

From the very beginning of negoliations, the Indians were interested only in
obtaining employment. It was their feeling, as well as ours, that paragraph 3 of the
agreement would be sufficiently attractive to the Town to have them make special
efforts to locate employment for the Indians. This has apparently not been the case,
and so far after almost one year, noi one Indian has been able to obtain employment.
AL all our meetings subsequent to the passing of that agreement, the Town has found
excuses such as their lack of control over the mill, the C.LL. planl, and other employ-
ers, pressure on the councll for municipal jobs by Townt residents, and the number of
unemploved in the Town. They feel this is justifieation for their lack of action in this
respecl.'

McKinnon forwarded with his report copies of two letters he had sent to the
National Employment Office and to the International Longshoremen’s Associ-
ation, each of which raised a concern with respect to practices or efforts
made in relation to employment that the Band had identified as worthy of
investigation. McKinnon concluded by saying that “if no action has been
taken to have the Minister confirm the agreement,” none should be taken
until the IAB heard further from him in relation to his inquiries.

Over the next several months, numerous concerns were expressed by
Indian Affairs officials about the lack of job opportunities made available to

99 Jules D'Astous, Chief Economic Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, to Regional Supervisor, Maritimes,
December 19, 1963, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Docoments, p. 254).

100 FB. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, 1o Indian. Affairs Brancly, January 27, 1964,
DIAND file 271/51-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 256).

101 E.B. McKinno, Regional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, to Indian Affairs Branch, April 27, 1964, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 258).

102 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, 1o Indizn Affairs Branch, April 27, 1964, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wl. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 258). '
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members of the Band. In his Agency report to [’Astous of June 4, 1964,
Mclntyre stated that the “Indians and Field staff however are of the opinion
the Town authorities have made litile effort to obtain employment for Indi-
ans.” He had the impression, however, “that the Town is not so much evad-
ing its undertaking as that the Mayor is at a loss to know how to go about
fulfilling it."% On August 5, Sheane reported to Ottawa that Chief Narvie
could provide evidence that Band members were being discriminated against
because “the permanent Longshoremen's Union in Dalhousie are still bring-
ing in their relatives and ignoring the seniority system.”’* From the time
when the 1963 Band Council Resolution was passed, only a few band mem-
bers'®> had acquired permanent positions, but McKinnon suggested in 1965
that at least some of this employment was “a direct result of the forceful
representations made by Mr. Sheane and this office.” '

At the same time, Sheane reported that “the Fisheries people conducted
another survey with preliminary indications of 4 decided drop in the clam
resources.”'®” Nevertheless, it was difficult for the IAB to reach any definite
agreement on compensation until the Department of Fisheries completed its
clam surveys to determine the extent of the dam’s effect on the fishery. On
September 3, 1964, the second clam survey report was provided by Dr Mac-
Phail. He wrote that “|t|he most remarkable change since the construction
of the dam [in November 1963} is the small amount of water remaining on
the flats at periods of low tide.”*** Dr MacPhail's main conclusions in rela-
tion to the clam survey were as follows:

1. Comparison of the two years' esiimates of volumes of marketable clams available
indicates that there were only two-thirds as many as in 1963, In section 3 there Is
4 considerable difference in the volume of avallable marketable clams — about
70% less than in t963. This may be the result of heavy fishing since the soil in this
portion of the cove is easily dug and consequently is a favourite spot for both

103 W.P. Mclnnyre, Economic Development Division, Indian Aflairs Branch, to Chief, Fconomic Development Divi-
sion, Indian Affairs Branch, June 4, 1964, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (IC.C Documents, p. 266).

104 J.H. Sheane, Supenntmdem Miramichi {odian Ageucy, to A/Chief, Reonomic Development Divislon, August 5,
1064, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. T (ICC Documents, p. 269)

105 Superintendent J.H. Sheane refers specifically o four men who had become permanent members of the Long-
shoremen’s Union in 2 memorandum to the Maritime Regionat Office on January 14, 1965 {1CC Documexs, p.
275).

106 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, lo Indian Affairs Branch, January 18, 1965,
DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (1CC Documents, p. 276).

107 JH. Sheane, Snperintendeut, Mitamichi Indian Agency, to A/Chiel, Economlc Development Division, Angust 5,
1964, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wol, 1 (ICC Documenls p- 269)

108 Eel River Band, Ecl River Indian Reserve No. 3, Expropriation for Dam Specific Claim, Drafl Historical Report,
undated (1CC Exhibit 4, p. 114}
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picnickers and commercial diggers to gather clams. However, marketable clams
are still abundant in Eel River Cove averaging about 230 bushels pet acre which is
high compared with most clam producing flats in the Maritimes. Young clams are
still abundant and there are prospects of good digging in 1965.

2. When the total numbers of clams taken in the 1963 and 1964 samplings are com-
pared, LLere appears to be no essential differences in the population . . . The rela-
tionship of nonmarketable to marketable clams is approximately 65% and 35%
respectively for both vears.

3. The greal reduction in the amount of water over the Hats at periods of low tide
makes digging easier. Picnickers, in paticular, who previonsly dug one-half pail
will now double that amount with the same effort, This may encourage greater
numbers of people to work the flats, eventually resulting in a reduction in the clam
populations.'®

MacPhail stated that the results of the 1964 survey did not “permit a clear
conclusion on the direct or indirect effects on clam stocks of damming the
estuary of Eel River™!'® and, therefore, recommended that the area be sam-
pled again in 1966 to better assess the long-term effects of the dam on clam
production.

Between the spring of 1964 and the spring of 1966, negotiations had
slowed down considerably, for reasons not entirely clear from the record. In
the intervening years, a substantial turnover in the participants had taken
place. The Town Manager had died,"!" and the Mayor and one councillor had
been replaced. The task of convincing the new representatives that they had a
legal responsibility, in the absence of an agreement signed by the Minister,
Was Onerous.

In the spring of 1966, the Band’s and the IAB's dissatisfaction with the
employment situation came to a head. McKinnon wrote to the IAB reporting
on 4 meeting held on April 5, 1966, with Mayor Dillon Arsenault and one of
his councillors concerning the town’s lack of effort in securing jobs for the
Band. The town’s representatives suggested that the IAB meet directly with
representatives of the pulp mill to find out what the problem was. Although
McKinnon was of the view that this was supposed to be the town’s responsi-
bility, he agreed to do so to prompt some action. The mill’s representatives

109 Ecl River Band, el River Indian Reserve No. 3, Expropriation for Dam Specific Claim, Draft Historical Report,
undated (ICC Exhibit 4, p. 115).

110 Eel River Band, el River Indian Reserve No. 3, Expropriation for Dam Specific Claim, Draft Historical Report,
undated {106 Exhibit 4, p. 116).

111 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, to Indian Affairs Branch, September 15,1965,
DIAND fiie 271/31-5-13-3-1, wl. 2 (I0C Documents, p. 280).
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indicated that because of the length of the unions’ unemployed members’
lists, it would be some time before new employees could be offered work.
They also indicated that “[a] pproximately a year ago the Mill instituted a new
policy, whereby peopie with less than a Grade 10 education would not be
considered for employment unless it was absolutely necessary,” but that they
were willing to consider Band members who did not meet this requirement
once the unemployed members' lists were retired.!™

McKinnen indicated that he did not place any faith whatseever in the
explanations offered by the town for this regrettable situation. He wrote:

It is becoming quite obvious that the Town, now enjoying the water privileges, are not -
doing too much if anything at all to satisfy the spirit of the agreement by providing
cemployment for the Indians, I think this accusation can be documented quite easily.
Since the agreement was entered into, the Mill went from a five day week to a seven
day week, and this resulted in the hiring of a fairly large number of people. Although
the Indians have their applications at the mill, the Town apparently did oot make any
representations to the Manager for special consideration to Indians. This is quite
contrary to what the Town Council leads us to believe. There has been at least one
wunicipal project, the construction of a fire hall, where Indians could have worked,
but the Town made no effort to employ any of them. As a matter of interest also, even
during the construction of the dam itself, Superintendent J.H. Sheane had to visit the
Town Office at least on one occasion to complain very strongly because Indians were
not being given employment.*?

McKinnon concluded by stating that both he and the Band were of the view
that it was time to issue an ultimatumn to the town and to seek full value of the
clams: '

The value of those clams was established two years ago, if you remeinber, at some-
thing like $115,000.00. Were we to use the formula employed with Indians in the
North when trap lines were destroyed, 1 betieve we would multiply this annual value
by seven making it a grand total of $305,000.00. Since the Indians are only laying
¢laim to half the clams, this would still represent close to a balf million dollars."'*

112 E.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritime Regional Offiee, to Indian Allairs Branch, May 2, 1966, DIAND file
271/31-5-§3-3-1, vol. 2 (I0C Docoments, p. 286).

113 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritime Regional Office, 1o Indian Affaics Branch, May 2, 1966, DTAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 287).

114 EB. McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritime Regional Office, to Indlan Affairs Branch, May 2, 1966, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 287). McKinnor is teferting to the Ggure presented in the 1964
clam survey, where McPhail found thal 77,017 pails of marketable clams were available 10 the digpers. (This
mumber x 1.50 = 115,000).
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He added that the Band Council intended to launch a media campaign, the
plan being “to simply shame the Town by making it known as far and wide as
possible that the Indians have put their livelihood at stake in order to
improve the economic prospects of the Town and that the Town on the other
hand has apparently not been willing to give any consideration at all to the
desire of the Indians for full employment.”!"> Given the apparent need to
issue an ultimatum to the Town Council, McKinnon called for a special meet-
ing between the town and the Band Council.

The meeting was held on May 18, 1966, and was attended by eight of nine
town councillors, the town's former negotiator, three Band Council mem-
bers, two other Band members, and Sheane and Caissie on behalf of the
Department. McKinnon reporied that the meeting had become “quite stormy”
when Mayor Arseneault interrupted Sheane's summary of the situation to
deny “that they had any responsibility to assist in locating employment. He
categorically refused to recognize that this was the intent of the employment
clauses in the agreement and ended by indicating that he had no intentions of
interceding with anyone to secure employment for Indians.” The Band Coun-
cillors felt it was futile to continue the discussion and left the meeting,
although Sheane and Caissie stayed on for another hour “in the hope that the
Mayor might recognize the full implications of his position and consent to
compromise. He had not when they left.”!¢

McKinnon also reported that Sheane and Caissie met with the Band Coun-
cil and some Band members later that evening to ask that they let things cool
down before taking any action: “This is a level-headed council and it is felt
they will remain calm; Councillor Wallace LaBillois intends however to give
this situation some publicity in the newspaper.” McKinnon painted a bleak
picture:

One thing is reasonably certain. The Indians will refuse to allow any reduction in the
compensation for any reason, and particularly in the form suggested in the so-called
agreement as it related to employment. T would suspect it will be impossible to sal-
vage any part of the agreement.

The Council felt that the next step was 2 band or council meeting at which a legal
officer of the Branch would explain the preseat status of the agreement and recources
[sic] under the law available to the Indians. It was felt that you should be the one to
attend this meeting, and Mr. Caissie agreed to relay the message to you. Mr Labillois

115 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Marilime Regional Office, to Indian Affairs Branch, May 2, 1966, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Documents, p. 287).

116 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Marilime Regional Office, 1o Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch,
Ottawa, May 20, 1966, DIAND file 271/3§-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 288-89),
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[sic] said he would extend an invitation to Mr Len Marchand, whem he knew and
whose position he fell might have a salutory [sic] psychological effect on the Town
Council. '

McKinnon asked the Administrator of Lands at the IAB for a prompt response
to his letter and reiterated his request for a meeting on June 23, 1966.

Despite McKinnon’s unequivocal request for a meeting between IAB offi-
cials and the Band Council to discuss the available legal options, there is no
record of any further action until December 13, 1966, when the executive
assistant to the Assistant Deputy Minister of Indian Affairs, RF. Battle, asked
D'Astous to draft a letter to Wallace LaBillois requesting the town’s support in
hiring 15 Indians as “part of the consideration in connection with the use of
the Indian property in question.” This letter seems to have been prompted by
a conversation concerning events at Eel River that Battle had with Wallace
LaBillois at 2 meeting in Winnipeg the previous week.!!®

The pace of the negotiations began to accelerate as senior officials at the
Ottawa headquarters of IAB becanie more actively involved in the matter. On
December 19, 1966, D'Astous, as Director of Administration, wrote to the
Acting Chief of Lands to advise that he had spoken with Wallace LaBillois to
follow up on his conversation with Baitle regarding employment for the
Band. LaBillois apparently felt that there was no point in pursuing discus-
sions with the town about employment and that adequate cash compensation
should be sought instead:

The situation is that the Indians have given up all hopes of having the City of Dalhou-
sie help them find jobs. They wani the Branch to serve notice to the Mayor that the
terms previously negotiated do not stand anymore and that what is expected of the
City now is an offer in money for full compensation of the land taken, the land
flooded, the loss or revenue from clam digging, etc. The Indians mentioned the setile-
ment should not be less than $100,000 but I do not think we should mention any
fipures at this stage '

On January 27, 1967, Baitle wrote to Mayor Arsenault stating that the dam
was now in operation and that the fisheries had been adversely affected. He

(17 F.B. McKinmon, Regiopal Dircctor, Marltime Regional Office, to Adminisirator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch,
Ottawa, May 20, 1966, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 288-89),

118 J.D. Darling, Executive Assistant, Department. of Indian Affairs and Norhern Development, Lo Jules D'Aslous,
Chief, Economic Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, December 13, 1966, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-
1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 2913.

119 Jules D'Astous, Divector of Administeation, Indian Alfairs Branch, to Acting Chief, lands, Membership and
Estates Division, December 19, 1966, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 292},
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noted that while the town was benefiting from the arrangement, there had
been no benefits whatsoever for the members of the Eel River Band, nor did
it appear there would be. Battle pointed out that “[a]s is the practice in the
Indian Affairs Branch of this Department, it has been left to the Indian Band,
assisted by Regional and Agency officials of the Branch, to negotiate with your
town to achieve adequate compensation. The continued lack of success
makes it necessary now for Department officials here in Ottawa to intervene
on behalf of the Band.” Since the Band was no longer interested in obtaining
eniployment assistance from the town because of its lack of effort, he advised
that “[t]he position now taken by the Band, which the Department supports,
is that it is entitled to full compensation for the loss it has suffered, both to its
lands and its means of economic support. . . . I must point out that the Band
has been deprived of its just entitlement for over three years and in view of
this I would ask that you consider payment of compensation as early as
possible.”120 '

The Town Administrator promptly responded to Baitle’s letter, advising
that the Mayor and the Council were willing to meet for a full discussion at
his earliest convenience.”® This meeting was postponed, however, first on
account of Battle’s illness and then by Indian Affairs’ decision to wait for the
final study by the Fishery Research Board.'” Dr Medcof wrote to. McKinnon
in July to request that he advise Chief Narvie and the Agency that he intended
to be at Eel River Cove on August 1, 1967, to complete the third, and final,
survey on the clam populations.'®

Dr Medcof completed his report, entitled “Third Survey of Eel River Cove,

N.B., Soft-Shell Clam (Mya arenaria) Population,” in November 1967.* The

report, which was forwarded to the IAB in late January 1968, contained the
following summary and conclusions:

120 R.F. Battle, Assistant Deputy Minister, Indian Affairs, Ouawa, 1o Mayor Diflon Arsenault, Town Hall, Dalhousie,
NB, January 27, §967, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Docuigents, pp. 301-02).

121 Daniel E. Noel, Town Administralor, Town of Dathousic, NB, o RE. Batile, Assistant Deputy Minister, Indian
Affairs, Otiawa, February 17, 1907, DIAKD file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 303).

122 G.A Poupore, Chiel, Lands, Membership and Estales, o Regiona! Director of Indian Agencies — Maritime
Regiou, June B, 1967, DIAKD file 271/31-5-13-5-1, vol. 2 {ICC Documents, p. 305).

123 ].C. Medcof, Assistant Director, Fisheries Research Board, Biological Station, St Audrews, NB, to M.A. MacDon-
ald, District Protection Officer, Department of Fisheries, Newcasile, NB, July 25, 1967, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-
3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 309-10¥; 1.C. Medcof, Assistant Direclor, Fisheries Research Board, Biological
Station, St Andrews, NB, 1o F.B. McKinnon, Regional Director of Indian Affaies, Maritime Region, Amherst, NS,
July 25, 1967, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (1CC Documents, p. 311).

124 J.C. Medceof, Fisheries Research Board, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, “Third Survey of Eel River Cove, N.B.,
Soft-Shell Clam (My2 areparia) Population,” November 1967 (ICC Fxhibit 2, tab 20).

125 J.M. Anderson, Director, Fisherics Research Board of Canada, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, to £.B. Mckin-
non, Regional Supervisor, Indian Affairs Branch, Amherst, N5 , January 25, 1968, DIAKD fle 271/31-5-13-3-1,
vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 344-45). :
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1. Before 1963 the physical and biological characteristics of Eel River Cove seem {o
have been changing slowly — so slowly as to create the impression that the cove
was a stable system. Since 1963 the tempo of change has increased rapidly.
Evidence of exiensive sedimentation is conspicuous from the 1967 general survey
~ coarse sediments are depositing in the extreme north and seuth ends and the
mouth of the cove is being choked with gravel. At both ends salt marsh plants are
appearing on the clam flats. Fine sediments are depositing in the middle reaches
of the cove where formeriy-firm soils are becoming very soft. The cove is behay-
ing as a sediment trap and slowly couverting to a salt marsh. In the north, the
area of flats suitable for clam stocks is decreasing. And the rest of the cove's
productive clam ground is deteriorating as a clam habitat, because of silt
deposition. ‘

2. These changes are traceable lo damming which has greatly shortened the estuary
and forced changes in hehaviour of tides. The ebb and flood phases of the tidal
cycle have been shorlened and the high-slack and low-slack phases have been
lengthened. This favours heavier sedimentation in the cove by allowing more
sediments to deposit out during the high-slack phase and reducing the propor-
tion of the deposited silt that is flushed out of the cove during the following cbb
phase.

3. Flats have been exposed at low tide since 1963 instead of always heing covered
by water as formerly. Digging #s easier and this bas led to great increases in
clam barvesting effort. The annual harvest was high immediately after damming
{1964 and 1965} because accumulated stocks were being exploited and fishing
effort has remained high. s 4 result the volume of the standing crop of mar-
ketable clams (more than 27 long and 6 or more years old) has decreased
63% since 1963. Bestdes this the size-composition of the stock bas changed.
Marketable clams now constitute only 19% (by count) of the toial popula-
tion compared with 35% in 1903 and 1964, Since 1965 the annyal harvest
bas decreased but the number of diggers remains bigh — a typical sympiom
of an intense fishery.

4. Decreases in marketable clam stocks and in landings are attributed partly to
increased harvesting {removal) but mestly to smothering. Smothering is a well-
known incidental effect of digging and is caused by deep burial of clams when
diggers tum the ground and tramp the mud.

5. With reduced abundance of marketable clams the effort required to dig a
pail bas increased. This does not disconrage picnickers very much because
they dig for recreation. But it does affect Indians who dig for income and as
a result, their current charge for a patl of clams bas risen from about $1.50
in 1963 to $2.00-82.50 in 1967. They state that in spite of bigher sale prives
thetr income is less because clams are so scarce.

6. The stock of young clams has also decreased in the important clam-producing
sections of the cove. This is partly because, as a habitat for clams, the cove is
deteriorating and partly becanse of smothering as described above. The prospect
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is that the resource may continue to decline because of increases in smothering
rates in the intense fishery.

7. Since 1963 and 1964 the centre of abundance of clam stocks has shifted appre-
ciably from south to noxth, partly because of heavy harvesting in the south and
partly becanse of poorer reproduction in the south. Clam production and land-
ings in middle sections of the cove (where there is least evidence of sedimenta-
tion) seem to be suffering less than that in northern and southern parts.

8. Damming increased availability of marketable clams to diggers by exposing flats
at low tide that were formerly covered by water at all phases of the tidal cycle.
Increased availability led to increased numbers of diggers and beavier har-
vesting (removd! of stock) and to beavier mortality from smotbering that is
directly and indirectly traceable to damming. This is the first statement that
the Fisheries Research Board, as arbifer, was asked fo supply to the con-
fracting parties.

9. The early history of the Tudian fishery in Ee] River Cove is sketchy but there was
general agreement on trends reported by many people and for more recent times
we have reasonably firm data. These include Department of Fisheries statistics
which seem to portray a faithful history. At the time these statistics seemed unac-
ceptable to the Indian Band but without them we are withoul any clue but
hearsay, as o what transpired. We were obliged to use them and we think they
furnished information that can be useful to the contracting parties in reaching a
fair settlement.

10. The tenor of terms of the contract implies that Indian fishermen are to be com-
pensated for decreases (“losses™ in their annual landings of clams. However,
the contract specifies a formula for calculating compensation and this formula
involves only total landings. There is no fixed size-relationship between total
landings and Indian landings and use of the formula gives unrealistic results.
Because of this and other ambiguities we bave derived four different mea-
stres of “losses”, from which compensation could be calculated. Those that
seem. fairest are based on estimates of changes fn annual landings by
Indians.

1. Retween 1963 and 1967 the Indians’ average annual landings seem to have
decreased by 56% from an estimated 2,002 pails hefore damming to 911
after damming. This decrease could be used in calculating compensadon but it
disregards the fact that landings cannot be maintained at 1964-1967 average
annual fevel. The fairest settlement of all would seem to be compensation for
the 70% decrease from pre-dam average annual landings by Indians (2,062
Dpails) to the 1967 Indian landings (620 pails). This is the second statement
FRB was asked to furnish\®

126 J.C. Medcof, Fisheties Research Board, Biological Station, & Audrews, NB, “Third Survey of Eel River Cove, N.B.,
Soft-Shell Clam (Mya arenatia) Population,” November 1967 (iCC Exhibit 2, tab 20, pp. 38-41). Emphasis
added.

|
48



EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

The four methods for calculating the losses to the Eel River Band proposed
by Dr Medcof are summarized below:

« Comparison of average annual landings before and after ‘damming (212),
multiplied by one-half (the then-current proportion of Indian landings to
total landings) and then by seven years, resulting in a total reduction of
742 pails. Since the average annual landings were determined by using the
“two bonanza years, 1964 and 1965, Medcof felt that this would not be 2
fair measure of damages because it was unlikely that clam diggers on the
cove could “ever again make such heavy landings.”

- Assuming that total annual landings remain the same as in 1967, compen-
sation could be based on the decrease in total annual landings as a result
of damming (963), multiplied by one-half (the then-current proportion of
Indian Iandings to total landings) and then by seven years, resulting in a
total reduction of 3374 pails. Medcof suggests, however, that this does not
take into account the fact that the proportion of Indian diggers decreased
from about 75 per cent in 1960 to about 33 per cent in 1967 because the
number of non-Indian diggers increased significantly over this same
-period.

- Calculating compensation based on the decrease in total annual Indian
landings (rather than one-half the decrease in total landings), muitiplied
by seven years, resulting in a total reduction of 8057 pails.

» Long-term average annual Indian landings (based on the 1967 Indian land-
ings of 620 pails and the corresponding decrease of 1442 pails from pre-
dam [andings), multiplied by seven, resulting in 2 total reduction of 10,094
pails, >

Dr Medcof concluded that the last formula (which when multiplied by
$1.50 per pail would have produced a figure of $15,141 total compensation
for losses to the Band’s clam harvests) was most consistent with the terms
agreed to between the Band and the town.

Dr Medcof submitted a copy of his report to Dr J.M. Anderson, Director of
the Fisheries Research Board, on December 22, 1967, along with a detailed
memorandum sefting out his thoughts on the interpretation of the draft
agreement between the town and the Band. He did not think that the meino-

127 1.C. Medcof, Fisheries Research Board, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, “Third Survey of Fel River Cove, N.B.,
Soft-Shell Clam (Mya arenaria} Population,” Nevember 1967 {ICC Exhibit 2, wb 20, pp. 31-35).
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randum was appropriate to include in the report itself, but he hoped it might
be of assistance “in clarifying the highly complex and somewhat confused Eel
River Cove clam problem.”"® It is significant that Dr Medcof also sent a
confidential copy of his memorandum with his personal views on the draft
agreement to McKinoon for his review and comments. Under the heading
“General View,” Dr Medcof's memorandum states:

Viewed objectively, this contract seems to Eawvour interests of the Town of Dathousie
more than those of the Indian Band in three ways: (1) The Town was to get an
advantage and benefit; the Tndian Band was to get only conditional compensation for
possible fosses. {2) The town’s benefit was to he indefinitely continuing; the Indians’
compensation was to be partial and was to cover only seven years' possible losses.
(3) The dollar value of the town’s investment in the dam would be expected to
increase when dollar values of real estate inereased, whereas the per-pail price for
clams ($1.50) was fixed in the terms of the contract.

In 1963 nobody foresaw how grear and long-lasting the effects of damming would
be. Kow we have seen the effects. There were losses and they seem likely to continue
indefinitely — nol just for seven years. We realize now that the risk the Indian Band
took was very real. We also realize that the terms of the contract, even when inter-
preted most generonsly, provide inconsplete compensation. This is the value of
10,004 puils of clams valued at $1.50/pail. This compensation price is fixed in the
contract but the cugrent average price of clams after only four years has increased by
50% to $2.25.

. The Indian Band's anoual clam fishery has long been a source of both income
and ['ood and it has been reduced by an estimated 70% for an indefinitely continuing
period. The contract says nothing about loss of the food resouree and they promise to
compensate for income losses for a 7-year period only.

Further on he continues:

Because of these secming inequities I would suggest that before the contract is setded,
the contracting parties consider adopling modified terms that would not appear to
favour one party more than the other. . .

1 would suggest that, as Canadians, the Indian Band showuld qualify not for
mere compensar:on Jor losses to the end of 1972, but for a true and lasting
sharing with the Toun of Dalbouste of total bmcjf‘ is that have arisen from build-
ing the dam on 1he reserve lgnd '™

128 J.C. Medcof, Fisheries Research Board, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, to .M. Andersen, Direclor, Fisheries
Research Board, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, DIAND file 271/31-3-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p.
324).

129 J.C. Medeof, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Blological Station, St Audrews, NB, o F.D. McKinnon,
Regional Supervisor, Indian Affaics Branch, NS, December 22, 1967, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC
Documients, pp. 324-31). Emphasis added
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I

Although Dr Medcof acknowledged that a number of practical suggestions
could be advanced to address the apparent inequities of the draft agreement,
he suggested. two options in particular; the establishment of a fund that would
earn the Band about $4000 per year in interest to offset dwindling values of
the dollar; and the town to pay an annual sum of money to the Band based
on the annual loss of 1442 pails of clams.

NEGOTIATIONS TO FINALIZE THE TERMS
OF THE AGREEMENT: PHASE 3 (1968-70)

McKinnon wrote to Dr Medcof on January 9, 1968, to inform him that he
agreed entirely with his views. He noted that although the Band was reluctant
to allow the town to construct the dam when it was first proposed, members
felt that this would create regular employment in local industry and a “great
deal of trust was therefore placed in the Town officials.” McKinnon added
that, “[als the matter stands, there is no agreement, the Town has
no . . . permission to occupy the part of the reserve, and technically the Indi-
ans could insist that the dam be removed.” Despite being unable to conclude
an agreement on compensation because of the lack of information on the
dam'’s effect on the fishery, McKinnon noted that there were ramours that the
town would be seeking to increase the capacity of the reservoir, in which
case the Band could find itself “in a very strong position not only to dictate
the terms of a new agreement, but also to ensure that they are reasonably
compensated for the initial action of the Town. 13

On February 15, 1968, the NBWA suddenly reappeared when it informed
Indian Affairs that a proposal was underway to acquire an additional 82 acres
of reserve land by early spring to increase the water storage capacity of the
reservoir. The NBWA would also require a waterline right of way of less than
2 acres to construct a second pipeline next to the existing one to pump
additional water from the Eel River for the New Brunswick Electric Power
Commission's thermal plant. Accordingly, the Director of the NBWA, J.G.
YLockhart, requested advice on what steps should be taken to enter into nego-
tiations with the Band either to purchase or arrange an exchange for the land
required for the project. The project, which apparently did not involve the

150 E.B. McKimmon, Regional Supervisor, Marilime Regional Office, Amherst, NS, to ].C. Medeof, Assistant Director,
Fisheries Research Board, Blological Station, $1 Andrews, NB, January 9, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol.
2 (ICC Docoments, p. 343). Emphasis in ofginal.
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town, was to be financed by the Atlantic Development Board and owned by
the province.®!

On March 21, McKinnon confirmed that he had discussed the matter fur-
ther with Lockhart, who had not been advised by Mayor Arsenault that previ-
ous commitments to the Band by the town were still outstanding. In view of
the fact that the Band had not yet agreed to terms for previous flooding,
Lockhart informed McKinnon that “the Province would likely take over the
negotiations with the band council for the settiement of all claims and for
permission (o enlarge the reservoir."’® J.H. MacAdam, the Deputy Adminis-
trator of Lands, IAB, responded to McKinnon's letter, stating that “it should
be made clear to the Authority that there can be no further commitment of
land on this Reserve until settlement has been made for the land already
given to them ™%

Accordingly, Caissie wrote to Lockhart on April 4, 1968, expressing con-
cern with the fact that local newspapers had. reported that the province
approved a request for funding to allow the Atlantic Development Board to
proceed with additional development on the Eel River reservoir:

T am a bit concerned that the Indians may not appreciaie the fact that the decision to
proceed with this work has been made public and there has yel to be official permis-
sion granted by the band for the use of reserve land. The longer this is delayed, the
greater may be the difficulties to reach an amicable seftlement.

As it was indicated in your office [by Caissie and Sheane], negotiations between
yourself and the Band should be undertaken at the eardiest possible moment. Other-
wise, your construction schedule may suffer. I should like to point out, again, that
because of a number of difficulties which bave arisen in the past over use of
Indian land, the Department bas taken the attitude that no use of reserve land
Jor any kind of development will be permitted until a full settlement bas been
reached ¥

In closing, Caissie stated in no uncertain terms that there “must be full settle-
ment of the initia] claim before additional development will be permitted.”

- 131 J.G. Lockhart, Director, New Brunswick Water Awhority, Fredericion, NB, to F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervi-

sor, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Citizenship & Imunigration, Amherst, NS, Febraary 15, 1968, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Documents, p. 349).

132 F.B. McKinnon, Repional Director of Indian Affairs, Maritime Regional Office, Amherst, NS, to Indian Affairs
Branch, March 21, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Documents, pp. 350-51).

133 JH. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, to Regional Direclor, Maritimes Regional Office, Depattment of Indian
Affairs, April 2, 1908, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 352).

134 V.J. Caissie, Regional Superinlendent of Development, Maritimes Regional Office, Department of Indian Affzirs,
t J.G. Lockhan, Director, New Brunswick Water Authority, Apeil 4, 1968, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2.
The original is rot in the I0C Documents, but a transcripl is provided in 1CC Cxlubit 4, p. 167. Lunpluasis added.
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He requested 2 response on whether the NBWA would assume the town's
liability with respect to the initial claim. _

On April 24, 1968, the Director of Indian Affairs, ] W. Churchman, briefed
Assistant Deputy Minister of Indian Affairs Battle on recent developments. He
suggested that, although negotiations had been delayed for some time, it
would be worth awaiting the NBWA's position on whether it would undertake
the town's responsibilities to compensate the Band for land taken and for
damages caused by the dam before resuming negotiations. “[T]he Water
Authority may prove to be more tractable than the Town of Dalhousie offi-
cials," he wrote, “and in any event, the fact that their original claim for com-
pensation remains unresolved will strengthen the Band Council’s bargaining
position concerning the additional land required at this time.”'* The focal
IAB officials confirmed that negotiations would be put on hold pending the
outcome of discussions between the town and the NBWA on who would be
responsible for finalizing an agreement. In any event, Caissie reported, “the
Band Council have indicated that they intend to drive a bard bargain
with whomever negotiations are resumed [with]."1%

Handwritten notes of various meetings between the Band and other parties
in May, June, and July 1968 were provided to the Commission by Wallace
LaBillois, who was a Band Councillor at the time of these negotiations.'¥’
These notes, although sketchy, provide an importaat insight into the Band's
perspective on the negotiations that took place from 1963 to 1968. On May
1, 1968, LaBillois chaired a meeting between the town, the NBWA, the IAB,
and representatives of the Band. He noted in this meeting that since the
“original meeting that took place in 1963 a total of 10 meetings had taken
place and each of these meetings had been called by the Indians. He said that
so far as the Indians of Eel River Bar was concerned it was evident that they
had taken the initiative and had made every attempt to make the agreement a
workable one.” After LaBillois stated that town officials “had done little or
nothing to try and live up to any parts that were written into the agreement,”
Mayor Arsenault said “that it was almost impossible to go by the old agree-
ment’ because the town could not convince any business or union that it
“must hire Indians."*® Councillor LaBillois summarized his views on the

135 J.W. Churchman, Director, Department of lodian Affairs, Oftawa, to Assistanl Deputy Minister, Department of
Indian Affairs, April 24, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documenis, pp. 353-54).

136 J. Wilkins, Department of Iodlan Affairs, memo to Gle, Apel 26, 1968, DIAND) fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (1CC
Documexts, 9. 355). Emphasis added.

137 Minutes of meetings (ICC Exhibit 3).

138 Minutes of meetings (T0C Exhibit 3, p. 1).

I
53



INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

extent of the Band’s losses and suggested a compensation package, which he
calculated as follows: (1) $220,000 for losses in smelts, based on 11 nels
multiplied by $1000 per net multiplied by 20 years; (2) $1.2 million for the
complete loss of the clam fishery, based on 20,000 buckets at $3.00 per
bucket multiplied by 20 years; and (3) additional compensation for losses of
revenue from salmon and angling spert in the Eel River and “fowling, ™%

Councillor Wallace LaBillois chaired another meeting held on the Eel River
reserve on May 23, 1968, with only the Band Council and representatives of
the town in attendance. The notes of this meeting indicate that Mr LaBillois
reviewed the minutes of the last meeting and stated that the Band had
requested $900,000 in compensation based on $30,000 multiplied by 30
years. Mr LaBillois then said that, “after thinking over their losses,” the Band
was now increasing its proposal to $50,000 for 50 vears, for a total of $2.5
million, as compensation for losses to the clam and other fisheries. He also
stated that the Band Council would be prepared to exchange land, so the
town agreed to consider land prices and report back on this option. LaBillois
asked that “it be written in the agreement that every effort be made to get
employment for the Indians.%

On June 4, 1968, another meeting was held between the Band Council, the
NBWA, and the town officials, but it is difficult to discern from the notes who
was proposing what. The notes do suggest, however, that there was some
discussion over the following elements of a proposed compensation package:
$500,000, or $10,000 per year for 50 years; approximately 350 acres of land
in exchange for 82.3 acres required for the reservoir, or $15,000 in lieu of
land; access to water for fishing, hunting, and trapping; and one-half cent for
every 1000 gallons of water pumped out of the reservoir for a period of 20
years, at which point the rate could be renegotiated.'"!

On June 21, 1968, another compensation package was proposed during a
meeting between the Band Council, the NBWA, and the IAB, but again it is not
clear from the notes who was proposing what. The main elements of this
proposal were $23,000; $200 per acre; $18,000 to be realized for clearing
the land along the reservoir and the International Paper Company pipeline
right of way; expenses; sluice gates to be turned over to the parks depart-
ment; 325 acres of land, to be received within 30 days afier execution of

. 159 Minules of meetings (ICC Exhibit 3, p. 3}.
140 Minutes of meetings {ICC Exhibit 3, p, 5}.
141 Minutes of meeting, June 4, 1968 (ICC Exhibit 3, p. 8).
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agreement; and one-half cent per 1000 gatlons pumped, with a $25,000 min-
imum allowing up to 15 millien gallons.'®

On August 20, 1968, the Eel River Band Council passed a resolution
instructing the Minister of Indian Affairs to issue a one-year permit to the
Province of New Brunswick, as represented by the Department of Natural
Resources, “to enter on our reserve in order to carry out certain works in
connection with a dam, water lines and allied works” until a formal agree-
ment could be negotiated between the Band and the NBWA and signed by the
Department of Indian Affairs and the province. Attached to the Band Council
Resolution as Document A was a2 “Memorandum Respecting Points Agreed
upon Between the New Brunswick Water Authority and Members of the Eel
River Band Council” (Memorandum of Agreement).' The preamble to the
Memorandum of Agreement states that the dam was erected in 2 manner that
encroached on lands of the Eel River Band and that, as successor in title and
interest to the Town of Dalhousie for the operation and maintenance of the
dam, the NBWA intended o raise the water level of the reservoir, but “wishes
to compensate the Band for damages and losses suffered by the Indians as a
result of the erection of the dam and creation of the headpond by the Town
of Dalhousie and to further compensate the Band for losses and damages that
may be suffered as a result of the raising of the water level to 9 feet geodetic
elevation.” ' In addition to flooding more reserve land by raising the water
level of the headpond, the NBWA also required tand for the road leading to
the headpond and a strip of land adjacent to the existing International Paper
Company pipeline to establish another pipeline and pumphouse. For its part,
the Band agreed to take all necessary steps to arrange for an absolute sur-
render of the lands as soon as possible.

With respect to compensation and other key terms, the NBWA and the
Band agreed to the following:

(1) 260 acres (referred to as ‘the “LeBlanc-Arsenault property”) in
exchange for the absolute surrender of approximately 82 acres, or
payment of $15,000 in lieu of the land;

142 Minutes of meeting, June 21, (968 (ICC Exlubit.3, pp. 9-11).

143 Eel River Band Council — Miramichi Agency, Eel River, NB, Augusi 20, 1968, Band Council Resclution (ICC
Documents, pp. 356-62). -

144 Memorandun of Agreement, August 20, 1968 {ICC Documents, pp. 357-58).
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)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

™)

(8)

This Memorandum of Agreement was signed by Chief Alfred Narvie, Coun- |

an annual sum calculated at the rate of one-half cent per 1000 U.S.
gallons pumped from the headpond and Eel River to be paid to the
Band “due to their loss of revenue and benefits caused by the erection
and operation of the Eel River Dam and in particular due to the loss of
revenue and benefits from the clam, salmon and smelt fishery and the
reduction in migratory birds and other natural resources”;

with respect to water pumped, the NBWA to pay a minimum of
$10,000 per year, unless the volume of water pumped is less than
1825 million U.S. gallons per year, in which case the Band shall be
paid according to the formula;

the amounts payable for water pumped to remain in-effect for a period
of 20 years, at which time the amounts payable to be subject to review
and negotiation by the parties and to be reviewed every five years after
that; ‘

the Band to have access to the headpond to the extent that the NBWA
had authority to provide such permission;

the NBWA to enter into a contract with the Chief of the Band for the
sum of $18,000 to clear the approximately 82.4 acres of land required
to increase the water level of the headpond,

if the NBWA should cease to operate the Eel River water supply system,
the Band to have the first opportunity to purchase the fands; and

the NBWA and its employees to have a right of access to the reserve for
the purposes of inspecting, constructing, maintaining, and repairing
the Eel River headpond, dam, and water supply system.

cillors Wallace LaBillois and Mrs Wallace (Lillian) LaBillois, and by two offi-
cials of of the NBWA, Chairman E.S. Fellows and Director Lockhart.!®s

The following day, Caissie sent a memorandum to IAB-Ottawa, attaching a
copy of the Memorandum of Agreement for review. Caissie noted that shortly
after having a telephone conversation with MacAdam about the proposed
agreement between the Band and the NBWA, “Councillor Wallace Labillois

145 Memorandum of Agreement, August 20, 1968 (ICC Documents, pp. 357-58).
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[sic] called to indicate that they were anxious to sign this agreement as soon
as possible and could I please go up for Tuesday, August 20.” Caissie con-
firmed that he and the Superintendent of the Miramichi Indian Agency,
RMJJ. Guillas, attended on behalf of the IAB and that the parties signed the
agreement ai that meeting, Caissie indicated that some points might require
clarification. In particular, he noted that the term providing for compensation
for water pumped would not compensate the Band for water alrcady
pumped, but “[t]his is well understood, and is acceptable to the Band.” Cais-
sie also questioned whether the release clause could bind all Band members.
Finally, he suggested that the section providing for a right of first option to
purchase the flooded lands if they were no longer required by the NBWA
should be made more clear in the final agreement.!*

On September 9, 1968, McKinnon and other IAB officials from the
Miramichi Agency met with the Chairman and Director of the NBWA along
with P.A. MacNutt, solicitor for the NBWA, to discuss key points of the agree-
ment and possible amendments. McKinnon questioned whether the NBWA
had authority to expropriate land and was advised that, although the NBWA
lacked such authority, the province did have such powers. McKinnon also
expressed concerns about transferring administration and control over all
the land required by the NBWA:

The question of transferring control and management for the fooded land, and of a
lease enly for the pipeline right-of-way, was mentioned, and there was some hesitation
on the part of the Water Authority to accept this. I indicated to them, however that this
was merely a suggestion, and that there might be some other solution to it, but that
we would not grant all the land involved here and face the future possibility of the
Province refusing to pay as per the formula agreed upon on the arguments that the
Indians were neither the owpers of the water or (he clams '

McKinnon also expressed concern that the release for future damages be
carefully reviewed:

I got the impression . . . that they [the NBWA] intended this Section to provide them
with 4 release against clalms by an Indian for, say, damage to his house due to the
raising of the water table in the area. There is no likelihood that this kind of damage

146 V.J. Cassie, Regional Superintendent of Development, Matitime Regjonal Office, to Indian Affaies Branch, August
21, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (JCC Documents, pp. 363-64).

147 EB. McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Aairs Branch, Amhersl, NS, to H. Mac-
Adam, %ﬂdlan Aﬂ'mrs Branch, September 12, 1968, DIAND Ele 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, Pp-
370-71
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wonld occur, since most of the houses are well below the dam, but [ don’t think that
we should free the Water Authodty from any future possible damages to private
property,'#

McKinnon added that he had asked the Band Council to pass a Band Council
Resolution permitting the Minister to exercise his powers under section 35 of
the Indian Act to expropriate lands to be flooded.

On September 12, 1968, the Band Council passed a resolution requesting
that “Section 35 of the Indian Act be applied to grant land to the New Bruns-
wick Power Authority.”** When McKinnon forwarded the Band Council Reso-
lution to the IAB for approval, he added that certain matters should be
included in the preamble to any agreement, including the Band’s “moral
entitlement” to the clams and water and recognition of the fact “that all par-
ties are cognizant of the desire of the Indians to secure employment to offset
the losses from exploitation of natural resources, and all will exercise
whatever influence they have to fill that desire.”'

The draft agreement was then submitted by the Deputy Minisier of Indian
Affairs, J.A. MacDonald, to the Minister of Indian Affairs, the Hon. Jean Chré-
tien, for approval, with a recommendation that the Department grant a per-
mit under section 28(2) of the ndian Act authorizing the commencement of
construction and operation of the dam by the NBWA for a period of one year.
Indian Affairs apparently had some concerns about the proposed terms of the
agreement, which provided for a release of the town and the NBWA from
liability for all damages “which heretofore has been or hereafter may be
sustained as a result of” the dam. When it was submitted to Minister Chrétien
for approval, however, the Deputy Minister stated that the payment of
$25,000 was intended to compensate the Eel River Band “for any damages
sustained as a result of the earlier use of the land by the Town without agree-
ment,” 2nd there was no mention at all of future damages.' It is also impor-
tant to note that Indian Affairs did not intend to seek a surrender from the
Band as proposed in the Memorandum of Agreement; rather, the Department
would use the one-year period “to seek the authority of the Governor in
Council under the provisions of Section 35 of the [Zndian Act] to grant Let-

148 F.B, McKinnon, Regional Direclor, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Afairs Branch, Amberst, NS, o H. Mac-
Adm)n, Indian Affaies Braach, Seplerher 12, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p.
371).

149 Bel River Band Council, Band Council Resolution, Septemiber, 12, 1968 (ICC Documents, p. 373).

150 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritimes Reglonal Olfice, Amherst, KS, to Indian Affairs Branch, October 3,
1968, DIAND file 271/51-5-3-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 374).

151 JA. MacDonald, Deputy Minister, Indian Aflairs Branch, Otawa, to Jean Clrétien, Minister, Department oI
Indian Affairs, Scplember 10, 1968, DIAND Gle 271/31-5-13-3- 1, vol 2 (ICC Documents, p. 368).
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ters Patent for the lands required in favour of the Water Authority. In con-
junction with this action the Branch would draft a permit for use of the water
pipeline for a term of twenty (20) years for consideration based on the gal-
lonage of water pumped through it."'5> The document indicates that Minister
Chrétien gave his approval to issue a section 28(2) permit to the NBWA
pending final settlement of the terms with the Band.

1t appears from a November 20, 1968, letter from McKinnon to Lockhart
that the solicitor for the NBWA, MacNutt, was to contact MacAdam, Adminis-
trator of Lands at IAB-Ottawa, to prepare the terms of the final agreement for
the Minister’s signature. The NBWA was also expected to contact the Surveyor
General immediately for instructions on an acceptable survey plan to avoid
any delay in concluding the agreement. Since there had been no response
from MacNutt or the NBWA, McKinnon wrote to Lockhart to find out what
was delaying their discussions.>* A month later, Lockhart responded that dis-
cussions with the Ottawa office had been opened by MacNutt and that a sur-
vey plan had been submitted to the Surveyor General for approval. This letter
was the first of many written on behalf of the NBWA apologizing for various
delays.* Just four days carlier, the Surveyor General had written to the
NBWA to advise that its survey plan was not acceptable and that survey
instructions would be sent after all relevant information had been
collected.'ss

On January 3, 1969, MacNutt responded to what he described as “a slight
misunderstanding between myself and Mr. Mackinnon {sic] at our meeting in
September of 1968 concerning the Water Authority's acquisition of certain
lands on the Eel River Indian Reserve.”** McKinnon had raised threc points
of particular significance: (1) that the annual payment for water pumped out
of the Eel River should be based on “a more material form of consideration
than the clam and fishing rights”; (2) that the annual payment should be
based on a lease of the pipeline right of way rather than granting outright

152 JA. MacDonald, Deputy Minister, Indian Alfairs Branch, Ottawa, o Jean Chrélen, Minister, Depariment of
Indian Affairs, Seplember 10, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-3-13-3-1, vol 2 {(ICC Docurnents, p. 369{

153 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritime Repional Office, Amherst, NS, to J.G. Lockhar, Director, New
Brunswick Water Authority, Fredericton, NB, November 20, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC
Docurnents, p. 378). .

154 ].G. Lockhart, Director New Brunswick Water Authority, Fredericlon, NB, to F.B. McKinnou, Regional Director,
Maritime Regional Office, Anilierst, NS, December 23, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Docu-
ments, p. 382). :

155 R. Thistlethwaite, Surveyor General, Survess & Mapping Branch, Department of Energy, Mines and Resources,
Otawa, (o CJ. Garland, Project Bngineer, New Brunswick Water Authorily, Fredericton, NB, December 19,
1968, DIAND file 271/41-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 350).

156 P. MacNun, Solicitor, Department of Justice, ¥B, to JH. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs
Branch, Ottawa, January 3, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Documcnts, p. 384).
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ownership to the NBWA; and (3) that the NBWA should seek to expropriate
the land required rather than proceeding with the formal procedures for
surrender. MacNutt responded to these comments as follows: (1) the agree-
ment referred to clam and fishing rights because “the Indians would be most
uncooperative if there was not specific compensation for the loss of these
rights regardless of the existence of those rights”; (2) the NBWA preferred to
have an “absolute transfer of the fee” with respect to the pipeline right of
way, rather than leasing this interest; and (3) the NBWA prefefred to expro-
priate the land under the authority of the provincial Expropriation Act.
MacNutt also expressed some trepidation with renegotiating the Memoran-
dum of Agreement without the Band’s direct involvement:

Note that the memerandum was based on negotiations directly with the Band and I
am not sure 35 to how far we can now go in altering the basis on which we negotiated
the memorandum. In other words are you required to abide by the Band's decisions
or is it possible for you to sway their approach so thal we might more efficiently bring
the memorandum into effect's”

On January 9, MacAdam responded to MacNutt by stating: “Inasmuch as
this Agreement was negotiated by the Eel River Band Council, 1 have for-
warded the proposed changes to the Council through Mr. McKinnon, for its
reaction and consents. Any changes must be acceptable to the Indians hefore
this Department can take any action to deal with the land.”*® On the same
day, MacAdam wrote 2 memorandum to McKinnon stating his views on the
Memorandum of Agreement; in particular, he stressed the importance of the
Band having a “firm option” to acquire the lands if they are no longer
required for the present purpose, and he noted that a2 Band Council Resolu-
tion already accepted the use of expropriation authority under section 35 of
the Indian Act)® On January 14, MacNutt responded to MacAdam and
expressed concerns about the fact that his suggested revisions were for-
warded to the Band; he did not want to have to renegotiate the “whole of the
understanding,” but intended to address Band members’ concerns in the
technical wording of the agreement to be used to effect the transfer of lands
and the payment of compensation. Accordingly, he asked MacAdam to

157 P. MacNuti, Solicitor, Deparimeni of Justice, NB, to JH. MAcAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs
Branch, Ontawa, Jamuary 3, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Docuinents, p. 386).

158 I.H, MacAdamn, Administralor of Lands, to P. MacNutt, Solicitor, Departinent of Justice, Fredericton, NB, January
9, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2. (106G Documents, p. 393).

159 J.I1. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch, (0 Regional Director, Maritime Regional Office,
Department of Todian Affairs, January 9, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Documents, p. 394).
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“please not submit the proposed changes to the Council and advise me how
far we can go in streamlining the documentation required.”'* The IAB con-
tinued to negotiate with the NBWA directly, on behalf of the Band, and,
despite MacNutt's request, the IAB also continued to seek the Band’s
approval of changes to the original memorandum,'®' '

On February 4, 1969, McKinnon wrote to MacAdam requesting that they
seek further clarification from the province before asking MacNutt to prepare
the draft agreement. In particular, McKinnon was quite concerned about
transferring title to the lands outright to the province, particularly in relation
to the parcel required for the pipeline. McKinnon wrote that although he was
not a lawyer,

I fail to detect in Mr. MacNutt's letter of January 3, 1969 any assurance whalsoever
that at some future date someone in authority in the Province, or the courts, might
not rule that this agreement is invalid because the Indians did not have the legal rights
to the clams or the water and couid not demand what appears to be an exorbitant
settlement. In your lelters, you appear to go along with the idea that a dtle to the land
could be transferred to the Water Authorily, in some final form. I appreciate the
difficulty that the Water Authority may bave because of the requirements imnposed by
the A.D.B. [Atlantic Development Board], but we must ensure that the full intent of
this agreement is respected. it is ohvious that the Province is paying for damage to
clams and for the water. If this is the way the agreement reads, then what protec-
tion will the Indians bave against this agreement being invalidated at some
Jisture date because the Indians do not bave any legal rights to-the clams and the
water? You mentioned fo me at one time that we needed a hook on which te
hang our bats. It seems o me that the hook will disappear if the agreement is
written in the form in which the Province wanls it written.'

It is apparent from the exchange of correspondence on this subject that
McKinnon and virtually everyone other than members of the Band were oper-
ating under the assumption that the Band did not have any special claim or
treaty rights to clams and other marine resources affected by the dam. Never-
theless, it was also obvious that the NBWA intended to provide compensation

160 P. MacNutt, Solicilor, Depaciment of Justice, Fredericion, NB, to J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian
Affuirs Braach, Otiawa, January 14, 1968, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Docuinents, p, 395).

161 For instance, see ¥.B, McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritine Regional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, Amhesst,
NS, lo J.G. Lockhurl, Director, New Brunswick Water Autherity, Fredericton, NB, May 8, 1969, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 417), where McKinnon confirms that a copy of the draft agreement
was sent to the Eel River Band Council for their comments before final approval was given by Ottawa for
executlon of the document on behalf of the Band,

162 E.B. McFlnoon, Regional Director, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, Amherst, NS, o Indian
Aflairs Branch, Qttawa, Ontario, February 4, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p.
399). Empliasis added. ‘
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for damage to the Band’s fishery (whether or not the Band did have recog-
nized fishing rights), and McKinnon was seeking ways of ensuring that the
Band retained some interest in the land to justify the payment of compensa-
tion to the Band and to ensure that the NBWA complied with the intent of the
agreement.

MacAdam apparently agreed with McKinnon's concerns because, on Feb-
ruary 18, 1969, he wrote that the land required for flooding would be trans-
ferred to the Province of New Brunswick by Order in Council under the
authority of section 35 of the fndian Act, but “land for the pipeline and
access was to be granted by an easement for as long as required for purpose
intended subject to payment based on the rate of ¥2 cent per 1,000 U.S.
gallons.”®3 In addition, $15,000 would be paid to the Band in licu of an
exchange for the land required for flooding, and $25,000 would be provided
in exchange for “a general release of all other damages sustained by the
Band, as a result of the flooding,” MacAdam instructed McKinnon to use this
memo to expedite his discussions with the Band Council and the NBWA.

Meanwhile, the Band was concerned over the delay and suggested that
“interest be payable on the monies unless the matter is settled shortly.” Cais-
sic agreed to mention this suggestion to the NBWA and to travel to Eel River
to “discuss the possibility of the Band constructing cottage buildings on the
lands fronting the water.”!

On April 8, 1969, MacNutt sent a draft agreement to MacAdam for his
comments. McKinnon provided his comments to MacAdam on April 11, indi-
cating that the NBWA had covered all the points discussed, but disagreed with
transferring administration and control of the parcels required for the pipe-
line, pumphouse, and access road to the province:

K is proposed that the land required for the pipe line and the pumphouse be covered
under an easement, but that the land under the road leading to the dam be part of
those lands which it [sic] to be covered by 4 transfer of administration and control It
was always our understanding that the road would also be covered by an easement
and this would ensure to the band, utilization of this road without any interference
from the New Brunswick Water Authority, providing, of course, that the band would
not either interfere with the Water Authority making use of that access road. . . . This
is extremely imporiant because the band is proposing to develop the shore of the lake

163 J). MacAdam, Administrator of lands, Indian Affairs Branch, Ottawa, to F.B. McKinnou, Regional Director,
Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affaies Branch, Amherst, NS, February 18, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1,
vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 401).

164 Author unknown, to Y], Cassie, Superintendent of Development, Marilime Regional Office, March 5, 1969,
DIAND file, 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Documeuts, p. 403).
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created by the dam for the marina and for cottage sites and it will be, of course,
absolutely necessary that the band provide access to that development.'*

When MacAdam returned the draft agreement to MacNutt with his com-
ments, McKinnon's concerns were reflected in the proposed changes. Mac-
Adam, therefore, maintained that the Band would grant an easement with
respect to the pipeline, pumphouse, and access road rather than transfer the
lands to the NBWA. He also wrote:

Since . . . it is the intention of the Awhority to compensate the Eel River Band of
Indians for damages and losses suffered as a result of the ereclion of the Dam and
creation of the headpond by the Town of Dathousie and to further compensate them
for damages sustained in raising the waier level to nine feet peodetic elevation, and
{the release clanse] implies that the compensation of $25,000 included future dam-
ages susiained by the Eel River Band. of Indians, it is suggested that the paragraph
should be amended to more clearly define the intent outlined by the Sth recital. 1 am
of the opinion that it should be amended as follows: . . . “may he sustained in conse-
quence of the erection of the Eel River Dam, Fel River waler supply systent and the
Eel River headpond.”*

MacAdam also pointed out that the clause regarding access by NBWA work-
ers on the reserve to service the dam appeared to allow unrestricted access
to the entire reserve, and that it should be rewritten to provide for “access
subject to approval by the Band Council. "¢’

When these proposed changes were submitted to the Band Council for its
approval, Councillor Wallace 1aBillois informed the IAB that, “since the delay
in the execution of this agreement is not of the band’s making, and neither is
it entirely due to the action of this Department, the payment should be made
for the water which is now being pumped.”® The NBWA had apparently
started pumping water about a week previously, at about 500 gallons per
minute. In submitting this proposal to the NBWA, Caissie also noted that

165 E.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Maritime Repional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, Amherst, NS, to JH. Mac-
Adam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affaics Branch, Ottawa, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {ICC Docu-
wmients, p. 405). J. Wilking also espressed his general agreement with the drafl agreement and suggested that it
Ee%apprmed a5 satisfactory and returned to the Band Council and the NBWA for execution (ICC Documents, p.

).

166 L.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch, Ottawa, to P. MacNutl, Solicitor, Depariment of
Justice, Fredericton, NB, April 21, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-3-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 4(1).

167 J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch, Ottawa, to P, MacNult, Soliciter, Departiment of
Justice, Fredericlon, NB, April 21, 1909, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 {IOC Documents, p. 411).

168 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Director, Marilime Reglonal Office, Indian Affairs Branch, Amberst, NS, to J.G. Lock-
hart, Director, New Brunswick Water Authority, Fredericton, NB, May 8, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wol.
% (J0C Documents, p. 417).
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LaBillois stated that the “band hopes to assume shortly the management of all
their affairs, and they would like to receive for their records an original of
the agreement.”"® Caissie noted in a later memorandum that a copy of the
provisional plan was satisfactory and that the matter would also be discussed
with the Band later that week 7

On July 17, 1969, MacNuit wrote to MacAdam to advise that the NBWA
would not agree to any changes with respect to either paragraph 8, respect-
ing payment of $25,000 in exchange for a release for all past, present, and
future damages caused by the dam, or paragraph 11, respecting unrestricted
access to the headpond without prior approval of the Band Council'””
MacNutt also wrote McKinnon on the same day informing him that the NBWA
was not prepared to pay for pumping operations currently being carried out,
as they were not “normal pumping operations” as understood in the draft
agreement. An extra copy of the draft agreement, which MacNutt hoped
would be the final draft, was enclosed for Wallace LaBillois, who had
requested that a copy be forwarded to him." In view of MacNutt's unwilling-
ness to change the agreement, MacAdam wrote to McKinnon on July 22 stat-
ing that the IAB would not insist on any amendments unless McKinnon or the
Band Council objected.'”” On July 29, Caissie provided the following com-
ments to MacAdam, with the caveat that he was not a lawyer: (1) the annual
payment for water pumped should be based on annual, not daily, consump-
tion; (2) paragraph 11 respecting access should require prior approval of
the Band to. prevent the NBWA from gaining access “all over the reserve for
alf sorts of purposes without having to pay additional compensation for dam-
ages caused by such activities”; and (3) paragraph 8 was unsatisfactory
because the Band did not intend (o give the NBWA unlimited permission the-
oretically to “go over the reserve and in the process of carrying out repairs,
bulldoze through existing lands without having to pay any compensa-

169 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Ditector, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, Amherst, NS, to J.G. Lock-
hart, Director, New Brunswick Water Authority, Fredericlon, NB, May 8, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol.
2 (ICC Documenis, p. 417).

170 V.J. Caissie, Supetintendent of Development, Maritime Regionat Office, o Director, Indian Eskireo Economic
Dievelopment, Jure 4, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wl. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 420},

171 . MacKutt, Solicitor, Department of Justice, Fredericlon, NB, to JH. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian
Affairs Branch, Otawa, July 17, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol, 2 {ICC Decuments, p. 424).

172 P. MacNutt, Solicitor, Depantment of Justice, Fredericton, NB, to B, McKionon, Regional Director, Maritime
Regional Office, Tndian Affairs Branch, Amherst, NS, July 17, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC
Documents, p, 431).

173 J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Afitirs Braoch, Ottawa, to F.B. McKinnon, Reglonal Director,
Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, Arnherst, NS, july 22, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2
(IGC Documents, p. 432).
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tion . . . for damages caused by such activities.”' Finally, he noted that the
Band Council was displeased with the fact that the NBWA did not intend lo
pay for water being presently pumped.

On August 6, 1969, the Assistant Superintendent of the Miramichi Indian
Agency, HW. Hennigar, attended a meeting at Fel River to discuss the draft
agreement.’” In a memorandum prepared hy Hennigar the next day, he con-
firmed that certain clauses of the agreement were not acceptable to the Band
Council. With respect to paragraph 7, the Band Council also understood that
the pumpage fee of one-half cent per 1000 gallons of water was to be based
on annual and not daily consumption. Paragraph 8 was not satisfactory
because it would not protect the Band’s “properties in future vears should
any disaster occur” and, therefore, it should be reworded to confine the
release to those damages caused by the “erection of the Eel River Dam, Eel
River Water Supply System and the Eel River headpond.”*?¢ Finally, the Band
Council also did not accept paragraph 11 and suggested that it limit the
NBWA's access “for the purpose of inspecting, maintaining, and repairing the
Eel River headpond, dam, and water supply system over the access road lead-
ing to the Eel River Headpond, dam and water system.” The Band Council’s
position was communicated to MacNutt in a memorandum from MacAdam
on August 20, 1969, along with suggested wording to address their
concerns.'”

On December 3, 1969, MacNutt responded that the amendments
requested with respect to hoth the pumping of water and the compensation
for damages incurred as @ result of crossing the reserve for inspection pur-
poses had been approved by the NBWA. However, the NBWA was adamant
that paragraph 8 not be changed, since it was “their understanding that the
negotiations were conducted on the basis that the §25,000.00 would cover
past, present, and future damages.”'’® The NBWA took the position that
$25,000 far exceeded the present purchase value of the land, on the under-
standing that it would cover past, present, and future damages. The Band and

174 V.]. Caissie, Aeting Regional Superintendent of Economic Development, Maritime Regional Office, to JLH. Mac-
Adam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch, Onawa, July 29, 1969, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, voi. 2
{ICC Doecuments, pp. 433-54).

175 RM]). Guillas, Superintendent, Miranichi Tndian Agency, to [.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian
Affairs Branch, Oniawa, August 8, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (IC Documenis, p. 437).

176 H.W. Hennigar, Assistant, Miramichi Indian Agency, Departmenl of [ndian Affairs, to RM.J]. Guillas, Superin-
tendent, Mitamichi Indian Agency, Departmenl of Indian Affairs, August 7, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1,
vol. 2 {ICC Decuments, p. 436). .

177 JH. MacAdam, Adminisirator of Lands, Tndian Affairs Branch, Ouawa, to P, MacNutt, Solicitor, Department of
Tustize, Fredericton, NI, August 20, 1969, DIAND file, 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 438-39).

178 P. MacNutt, Solicitor, Department of Justice, Fredericton, NB, to J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian
Affairs Branch, Ottawa, December 3, 1969, DIAND tile 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Decuments, pp. 444-45).

I
05



INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

the Department, in contrast, had taken the position all along that the $25,000
was to compensate the Band for the unauthorized use of the land to con-
struct the dam and for the loss of the fisheries.

On January 23, 1970, Superintendent Guillas of the Miramichi Agency
sought to arrange further meetings between Indian Affairs, the Band Council,
and the NBWA to resolve these outstanding issues, Guillas advised that Wal-
lace LaBillois, who was now the Band Manager, had informed him that he
would arrange the meeting on the Fel River reserve and that he would be
inviting persons “to attend this meeting to enable the Band to be protected
and guided in formulating their last submission to be approved by our Legal
Branch and the New Brunswick Water Authority."'” Before the meeting could
be set up, however, LaBillois called the Agency office to say that “he was in
contact with Mr. E.S. Fellow, Chairman of the New Brunswick Water Author-
ity, and between them they decided there was no need to hold further meet-
ings, and that the Water Authority was to advise their solicitor to contact the
Eel River Band and process the final documents for signature immediately.”
Guillas added that “[i]n view of this development we will not pursue this
matter any furthier at this time but will leave it to the discretion of the Eel
River Indian Band to pursue themselves, should they feel that finalization of
these documents is not being processed within the limited time they have set
for themselves, "%

Although Guillas thought that the matter should be left to the Band’s dis-
cretion to settle, H.T. Vergette, Acting Chief of the Indian Lands Division,
disagreed with this approach. On January 30, Vergette wrote to C.T.W. Hys-
lop, the Acting Director of the Economic Development Branch, to advise that
many issues remained outstanding, including the release clause, and, there-
fore, he was of the view that

without firm and determined direction and assistance from our field and regional
representatives, the matter will not be resoived for a further indeterminate period.
There is 4 considerable sum of money involved here (in excess of $40,000) and so
far as the Indians are concerned it has been under process in some form or another
since 1963, withont any apparent end in sight."*" :

179 RM]J. Guillas, Superiwiendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to JJH. MacAdam, Administraior of Laads, Indian
Alfairs Branch, Ottawa, Janvary 23, 1970, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p. 446)

180 RMJJ. (ImJlas Supenntendenr., Miramichi Indian Apency, to J.H. Madidam Administrator of Lands, lndian
Affairs Branch, Ottawa, January 23, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p. 446)

181 H.T. Vergeste, Acting Clue[ Lands Division, Economic Development Branch, Department of Indian Affairs,
Ouaws, tn C.T.W, Haglop, Acting Director, Department of Inclian Affairs, January 30, 1970, DIAND e 271/31-5-
13-3-1, vol. 3 {ICC Documents, p. 447).
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Hyslop acted on Vergette’s recommendation by sending a letter to McKinnon
asking that he “review the whole transaction and implement whatever proce-
dures you determine are reguired to bring about an early settlement.”*

On February 24, 1970, C.B. Gorman, the Acting Regional Director of IAB
for the Maritimes, responded that there did not seem to be any real impasse
and that he had been advised by Wallace LaBillois that the NBWA was still
reviewing the proposed agreement. Gorman advised that a meeting between
the Band Council and the NBWA was being arranged within the next week or
two. 183

On March 19, 1970, the Eel River Band Council passed a Band Council
Resolution accepting the terms proposed by the NBWA. The resolution, which
was signed by Chief Alfred Narvie and Mrs Wallace LaBillois, set out the fol-
lowing terms:

A, $15,000.00 upon the signing of the agreement {Clause 3 Subsection a)

B. $25,000.00 in consideration of and compensation for conveyances to be made
under Clanses 1 and 2.

€. An annual sum defermined by the volume of water pumped in accordance with
the formula established under Clause 4 {One half cent per 1,000 U.S. gallons
pumiped, payable on a quarterly basis and based on a year heginning April 1st.}
The minimum annual payment s to he $10,000.00 except when the annual vol-
ume pumped falls below 1,825,000,000 U.S. gallons.

It is understood that irrespective of daily gallonage pumped|,] payments will
be made on the hasis of the number of U.S. gallons pumped per day to 3 maxi-
mum of 15,000,000 U.S. gallons per day indicating an annual payment to the
Band of $27,375.00 '

The agreement is fo be enforced for a period of twenty vears afler which it
may be renegotiated on a five year basis '™

Acting Superintendent V.E. Rhymer fbrwarded the Band Council Resolution to
the Regional Office and noted:

The Council is desirous of obtaining remuneration from the Water Auihority agree-
ment as soon as possible. Part of the funds are committed to the proposed park and
town site development. In addifion, the Band Council will be purchasing the homwe of

182 CT.W. Haylop, Acting Director, Departrent of Indian Affairs, to Regional Director of Indian Affairs, Maritime

Regiondl Office, Amblerst, NS, January 30, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p. 449).

183 C.B. Gorman, Acting Maritimes Regional Direlor, Depariment of Indian Affairs, to C.T.W. Haylop, Acting Direc-

tfr,)l)eparhncnl of [ndian Affairs, 25 February 1970, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p.
50).

184 Eel River Band Council, Eel River, NB, Band Council Resolution, March 19, 1970 (ICC Documents, p. 451).
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Mr. Wallace Labillois {sic] with part of the revenue to be obtained, leaving Mr. Labil-
lois in a position to proceed with his loan under the Revolving Fund Loan Repulations
to acquire the Handicralt business at Fredericion.'®*

Despite the Band Council’s apparent interest in proceeding quickly, Mac-
Adam wrote a terse letter to Gorman on April 1, 1970, urging him to clarify
certain terms of the draft agreement. There was no indication that concerns
with respect to the release and access clauses had been adequately addressed
by the Band and the NBWA. He added:

T am very concerned about that section of the agreement numbered Clause 8 [the
release clause] as it is presently drafted, and consider you should ensure that the
Band Council is completely aware of its provisions before they approve it. In addition,
the Band Council should be fully aware of the intent of the clause numbered 11
dealing with access over all the Reserve lands by workmen and employees of the
Authority before they sign the agreement. As a matler of fact, I cannot see how the
Band Council could reasonably approve the provisions of Clause 8 as it is presently
drafied, since they nor anyone clse for that matter, cannot forecast what damages may
occur in the future, as a result of the construction of (he dam %

Interestingly, MacAdam took some pains to explain what he saw as the
respective roles and responsibilities of Indian Affairs in Ottawa and the
Regional Office vis-a-vis the Band Council:

Since it is not the function of this office nor is il feasible for us to enter into the
negotiating process between applicants for the use and occupation of Indian Reserve
lands, and the Band Gouncils responsible for the Band's interests therein, the respon-
sihility for ensufing that this matter is Satlsfactonly resolved rests in your oﬂice or that
of the Agency Superintendent.

As you will be aware from previous correspondence, the drafi agreement is to be
approved and sigued by:

(a) The Water Anthority
(b) The Eel River Band Councll, and
(c) the Minister

185 V.E. Rhymer, Acting Superintendent, Indian Affairs Branch, to Maritime Repional Office, March 20, 1970,
DIAND file 271/51-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 {}C Documents, p. 452).

186 ] H. MacAdam, Adminisirator of Lands, Indian Affairs Braoch, Otiawa, to Acting Regional Direclor, Maritimes
Regjonal Office, Depanment of Indian Affairs, April 1, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1, Rights-of-way,
Gaslines and Tipelines, Eel River IR 3, NB Water Authority, General (ICC Documents, pp. 454-55).
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in that order. It is essential that the agreement contain provisions which the Minister
may approve before it reaches him. For this reason, il is equally essentizl that you
ensure thai the unreasonable provisions of the present. clauses 8 and 11 [the release
and aceess clauses] are suitably negotiated and resolved before the agreement is
signed by the Band Council. '

Responding to MacAdam’s concerns, Gorman wrote to MacNutt on April 7,
1970, to inform him that after receiving the comments of a legal advisor at
Headquarters, the Band and Indian Affairs could not accept the release and
access clauses as they stood. Gorman emphasized that while the Band did not
want to obstruct the NBWA's ability to maintain the dam, “I think you will
agree that this would have to be under some formal type of control.”'®
Gorman also wrote to Acting Superintendent Rhymer to ask that he take all
necessary steps to ensure that an agreement is reached between the Band
Council and the NBWA; in particular, he instructed Rhymer to “contact the
Water Authority in Frederictonr and ensure that they are aware of the coun-
cil's wishes. You may wish to take along a representative of the council;
however, I will leave this up to vou and the council to decide.”***

On April 17, Rhymer met with NBWA representatives to discuss the release
clause. He reported that the difficulty lay in the fact that the NBWA's interpre-
tation of the clause differed from the Department's interpretation:

According to Mr Lockhart and Mr Fellows this clause covers all lands desceibed in
Section 1 [the area to be transferred to the NBWA for the headpond] and 2 [the areas
subject to an easement for the pipeline, pumphouse, and access road] only marked
in red and orange on the plan forwarded. Mt tockhart and Mr Fellows hothr assured
me that any future damage caused by the dam beyond the red and orange line have
the same meaning and rights whereby the Band or individual would have recourse for
any damages, injury and loss to person and property:.

1t is anticipated a meeting with the Eel River Band Council will be held this week
and Section 8 will he fully discussed with them in order to obtain their approval or

187 J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Afairs Branch, Ottawa, (o Acting Regional Director, Marltimes
Regional Office, Department of Indian Affairs, April 1, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1, Rights-of-way,
Gaslines and Pipelines, Eel River IR 3, NB Water Authority, General (ICC Documents, pp. 454-35). Emphasis in
original.

188 €.B. Gorman, Acting Regional Director, Maritimes Regional Office, Department of Indian Affairs, Amherst, NS, o
P. MacNult, Solicitor, Department of Justice, Fredericlon, NB, April 7, 1970, DIAND file E-5661-3-00013, vol. 1
(ICC Docwnents, pp. 456-57).

189 C.B. Gorman, Acting Regional Director, Maritimes Regional Office, Department of Indian Affairs, Amherst, NS, to
V.E Rhymir, S)upr:ﬁnlcndenl, Miramichi Agency, April 10, 1970, DIANT file E-5661-3-06013, vol. 1 (ICC Docu-
ments, p. 458},
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disapproval of this Agreement. When we have the Council’s decision you will he
advised. '

According to MacNutt, three copies of the agreement were forwarded to Hen-
nigar on May 8 for execution by the Band Council and the Department of
Indian Affairs. He also suggested that this agreement “represents the latest
series of compromises and adjustments as decided on between the Water
Authority and the Band of Indian Affairs [sic] with Mr. Hennigar's
consultation.” %! ‘

On May 15, 1970, Rhymer reported that a formal agreement was signed
on May 14, 1970, by representatives of the NBWA, the Fel River Band Coun-
cil, and Her Majesly the Queen in right of Canada as represented by the
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development. The agreement was
signed by E.S. Fellows, Chairman, and J.G. Lockhart, Director, on behalf of
the NBWA; Chief Councillor Alfred Narvie and Councillors Mrs Wallace LaBil-
lois and Howard LaBillois on behalf of the Band Council; and C.T.W. Hyslop
for the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development. The terms and
conditions of the agreement (a copy of which is reproduced in Appendix C of
this report) are summarized below:

- Clause 1 provides that Canada is to obtain the necessary approval from the
Eel River Band to transfer administration and control of reserve lands
flooded as a result of increasing the level of the headpond to the Province
of New Brunswick as represented by the Minister of Natural Resources.

- Clause 2 states that Canada will make all necessary arrangements to trans-
fer a grant of easement to the NBWA over reserve lands required for an
access road, water pipeline, and pumping station.

+ Clauses 3, 4, and 7 provide that in consideration for the transfer of lands
required for the headpond, the NBWA shall pay $15,000 to the Band, plus
an annual sum based on one-half cent per 1000 US. galions of water
pumped from the Eel River and headpond subject to the following
provisos: (1) that the minimum payment to the Band shall be $10,000 per
vear unless the amount pumped is less than 1825 million U.S. gallons for

190 V.E. Rhymer, Acting Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Ageney, Chatham, NB, to C.B. Gonoman, Acting Regional
Director, Maritimes Regional Office, Department of Indian Affairs, Amherst, NS, Apeil 20, 1970, DIAND file E-
5661-3-06013, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 459). .

191 P.A. MacNutt, Solicitor, Department of Justice, Fredericton, NB, 1o J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands,
Indizn Affairs Branch, May 22, 1970, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 {ICC Docaments, p. 471).
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that year; (2) any amount pumped in excess of 5475 million U.S. gallons in
a year shall not be considered in the calculation of compensation to be
paid, resulting in 2 maximum payment of $27,375 per year.

- Clauses 5 and 6 state that the annual payment for water pumped shall be
payable at the agreed rate for a period of 20 years, after which it shall be
subject to review and negotiation between the parties every five years.
Where the parties are unable to reach agreement, any party can request an
arbitrator to resolve the dispute.

» Clause 8 states that the NBWA shall pay $25,000 to the Band in considera-
tion for the transfer of land described above and “to cover the cost of all
damage, injury and loss to person and property of the Council which may
heretofore or hereafter be sustained in consequence of the erection and
operation of the Eel River dam, Eel River water-supply system and the Eel
River headpond and subject to section 11 the repair and maintenance of
same.”

+ Clauses 9 and 10 provide that the Band shall have the right to erect and
maintain a commercial marina on the headpond and shall have a first
option to purchase any lands transferred to the Province if such lands
cease to be used for the purposes of a water supply system.

- (lanse 11 provides that the NBWA and its employees shall have a right of
access to the reserve for the purposes of inspecting, constructing, main-
taining, and repairing the Eel River headpond, dam, and water supply sys-
tem, but shall pay reasonable compensation for any damage done to
reserve property or crops.

Rhymer’s report to the Maritime Regional Office on May 15, 1970, also con-
firmed that, in addition to the $15,000 and $25,000 payments provided for in
the agreement for the conveyance of land to the NBWA, the amount of
$9591.12 was payable to the Band for water pumped from the Eel River from
July 4, 1969, to March 31, 1970, and thereafier for each quarter commenc-
ing on April 1, 1970.1%

On May 25, 1970, D. Greyeyes, the new Regional Director of the Maritime
Office, forwarded the signed agreement to Ottawa and recommended that it

192 Y.E. Rliyeer, Acling Superintendent, Miramtichi Indian Agency, to Marilime Repional Office, Department of
Indian Affairs, May 15, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (10C Documents, p. 470).
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be signed on behalf of the Minister of Indian Affairs and returned to him for
distribution. In his memorandum, Greyeyes stated:

Clause 8 of the agreement has been discussed at length with officials of the Water
Authority and the Band Council to ensure full understanding of the provisions con-
tained therein. The interpretation by the principals of the Water Authority is that this
chause covers all lands described in Sections 1 and 2 only which are marked in red
and orange on the plan provided. Assurance is consequently given that amy future
damage caused by construction beyond these boundaries would be subject to damage
claims.

Paragraph [11] would be normal to allow proper maintenance to the dam and
water supply system. It is expected that any use of rescrve lands for these purposes
would be at the consent and with the approval of Band Council

Thie Band Council are fully aware of all conditions contained in the agreement and
by Resolution dated March 19th, 1970 gave their consent to acceptance,'

Vergette, the Acting Chief of the Land Division, also recommended to Hyslop,
the Acting Director of the Indian-Eskimo ¥conomic Development Branch,
that the agreement be executed." Accordingly, the agreement was duly exe-
cuted by Hyslop on behalf of the Minister, 15

On July 7, 1970, MacNutt responded to MacAdam’s letter of June 8 in
which he proposed to transfer the lands to be flooded to the NBWA by letters
patent. MacNutt indicated that if the IAB intended to proceed under the
authority of section 35(3) of the Indian Act, his interpretation of that provi-
sion was that “if a provincial authority has powers of expropriation that the
Governor in Council may in ieu of authorizing the expropriation authorize
the transfer or the making of a grant of such lands to the provincial authority
subject to such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the Governor
in Council.” Since the Expropriation Act conferred powers of expropria-
tion on Ministers of the provincial government, MacNutt suggested that the
grant of lands be made to Her Majesty the Queen in right of the Province of
New Brunswick as represented by the Minister of Natural Resources.

195 D.G. Greveyes, Repional Divector, Maritime Regional Headquarters, Department of Indian Affairs, Ambherst, NS,
to Indian and Eskimo Affairs Branch, Department of Indian Afairs, May 25, 1976, DIARD file 271/31-5-13-3-1,
vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p. 472}.

194 fL.T. Vergette, Acting Chief, lands Division, Economic Developmenl Branck, Department of Indian Affairs,
Ottawa, fo C.T.W. Hyslop, Acting Director, lodian and Eskime Economic Development Branch, Department of
Indian Affairs, June 2, 1979, DIAND Elc 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (ICC Diocuments, p. 473).

195 JH. MacAdam, Adminsirator of Lauds, Indlan Affairs Braach, Department of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, to P.A,
Machinti, Selicitor, Department of Jusiice, Fredericion, NB, June 8, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3
{f0C Documents, pp. 474-75).

196 P.A. MacNutt, Solicitor, Depariment of Justice, Fredericton, NB, to TH. MacAdam, Administeator of Lands,
Indian Affairs Branch, Qtawa, DIAND fle 271/31-5-15-3-1, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 488-89).
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On July 22, 1970, the Assistant Deputy Minister of Indian Affairs, J.B. Ber-
gevin, issued a letter-permit under section 28(2) of the fndian Act to RL.
Bishop, the Deputy Minister of the Department of Natural Resources, author-
izing “the Department of Natural Resources, Province of New Brunswick, its
successors and assigns to enter upon and use those parts of Eel River Indian
Reserve Number 3, more particularly described hereunder, for as long as
required for the purposes outlined: 1. For a pumping station and pipeline
right of way; [land description for Lot 60A] . . . 2.43 acres, more or less. 2.
For an access road; [land description for Lot 61A] ... 2.28 acres more or
less.™* The permit was granted subject to the proviso that the NBWA could
not assign or sublet its rights without the written authority of the Minister of
Indian Affairs. This letter-permit was registered with the Indian Land Registry
in August 1970.

By Order in Council PC 1970-1526 dated September 9, 1970, the federal
government transferred administration and control of Lots 59, 60, and 61,
containing a total of 61.57 acres of land, at Eel River Indian Reserve to the
Province of New Brunswick for headpond purposes, pursuant to section 35
of the Indian Act. The Order in Council provided that the transfer of admin-
istration and control fo the province was for “so long as the said lands are
being used for head-pond purposes and that, upon the lands ceasing to be so
used the administration and control thereof shall revert to Her Majesty in
right of Canada for the use and benefit of the Eel River Band of Indians.”'®
‘The Order in Council was registered with the Indian Land Registry on Sep-
tember 25, 1970. ,

In accordance with the agreement, the NBWA made full payment for mon-
eys owed to the Band in the amount of $49,591.12. The money was received
at the Miramichi office of Indian Affairs on July 8, 1970, and deposited to the
revenue account of the Eel River Band on the same day.'”

EFFECT OF THE DAM ON THE EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION

As previously noted, in 1963 the parties agreed to retain the services of Dr
Medcof to survey the clam flats in Eel River Cove before the construction of

197 J.B. Bergevin, Assistant Deputy Minister, Department of Indian Affairs, to R.L. Bishop, Deputy Minister, Depart-
ment of Namral Resources, Fredericton, NB, July 22, 1970 {ICC Documents, pp. 490-91}.

198 Governor General Jn Council, Govermment of Canada, Privy Council Dfice, Ottawa, Order in Conngl, September
9, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, pp. 503-04).

199 D.G. Greyeyes, Repional Direcior, Maritime Regional Heudquarters, Depariroent of Indian Affairs, to JH. Mac-
Adam, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch, October 1, 1970, IMAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (1CC
Documents, p. 510).
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the dam and in the years following to determine whether there was any
impact on the Band’s clam fishery. Prior to conducting these surveys, the
value of the clam fishery was unclear, with differing estimates being offered
by the Band and by the Fisheries Research Branch.

The first survey was actually conducted by Dr MacPhail, who noted that
clams were abundant in Eel River Cove in July 1963.”® The second survey of
the same area was also conducted by Dr MacPhail during July 1964, after the
dam had been constructed. This survey was inconclusive as to the effects on
the clam stocks caunsed by damming the estuary of Eel River, as the various
factors affecting the clam population had not been in operation for very
long 2! '

The third and final survey was conducted by Dr Medcof in August 1967, In
1968, he reported that, between 1963 and 1967, the average annual landings
for the Band had decreased by 56 per cent, from an estimated 2062 pails
before damming to 911 after damming (a difference of 1151 pails). Because
of the unusual increase in clam landings immediately following the damming
of the river, Dr Medcof stressed that it was extremely unlikely that landings
would be maintained at this level. It was much more likely that long-term
future average annual landings would be maintained at the 1967 Indian land-
ings, which amounted to 620 pails. In his view, the fairest settlement would
be compensation for the 70 per cent decrease from pre-dam average annual
landings by Indians (2062 pails) to the 1967 Indian landings (620 pails).?*

In 2 1980 memorandum pertaining to environmental damage arising from
the construction of the dam and erosion of the shoreline, it was recorded
that Gordon LaBillois stated the resulting losses to be $55,000 per year;
because fishing had been closed down since 1972, that loss multiplied by
cight years equalled $440,000 in losses by 1980. LaBillois had also peinted
out that social assistance had been cut off to the First Nation when the com-
pensation of $25,000 was paid.?®

200 J.5. MacPhail, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, “Survey of Eel River
Cove, N.B., Soft-Shell Clam {Mya arcnaria) Population,” January 9, 1964 (ICG Exlibit 2, vol. 1, lah i8).

201 J.8. MacPhall, Flsheries Research Board of Carads, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, “Second Survey of Eel
River Cove, N.B., Soft-Shell (Jam (Mya arenaria) Populalion,” September 1, 1964 (ICC lixhibit 2, vol. I,

. wab 19).

202 J.C. Medcof, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Biological Station, St Andrews, NB, “Thied Survey of Eel River
Cave, N.B., Soli-Shell Clam (Mya Arenaria) Population,” November 1967 (ICC Exhibit 2, vol. 1, 1ab 20, p, 41).

203 {Author not identified], [Ed River ~ Environment Prohlem], January 1, 1980, DIAND file E-5661-3-06013, vol.
1 (JCC Documents, pp. 597-98).
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It is evident that both the subsistence and the commercial economy of the
First Nation suffered from the erection of the dam. When asked how the
community felt about the dam being built, Marion LaBillois respended:

Oh, my God. Really sorty. Sorty they did that, They put the dam there and we were to
make our living after that, we don’t anymore. Don’t even get the animals anymore.
They ruined the fishing, ruined everything. No more eels, no more smelis, no tmore
irout. Salmon used to go up there, they don't no more >

Aside from the damages caused to the First Nation’s economy, the dam-
ming of the Eel River profoundly altered this community's way of life. The
strong family and community ties forged by generations of harvesting activi-
ties in and around the Eel River have unquestionably played a key role in the
sense of identity and the collective health of this community. As many elders
stated at the community session, the people of Eel River Bar experienced a
quality of life that was unique and rewarding. Community members spoke of
pride, continnity with traditions and values, and the fact that clam pathering
represented an important social function for the community.?

However, the contamination of the fishery and resources of the Eel River
dramatically changed both the way of life and the outlook of the First Nation.
As explained by Wallace LaBillois:

To be truthful with you, this drove me to the point, when everything was all said and
done — T moved my people — my family out of the community to get away from this
creature, if you want to put it that way, that was plaguing my people. Whether it was 4
demon, or whaiever you wanted to call it, it was a curse to our people because we
had to take our people and we had to change their whole philosophy and their whole
way of life right around.®®

When asked whether the compensation provided for the losses had been
adequate, Wallace LaBillois replied:

Lven the monies that they are getting today, T really and truly don’t think it is adequate
because money is not the solution. The dignity to be able to go to work and to leave
your home and take your lunch can and go to work, this is the important thing. It is
not the money. To be able to go and earn your living. To be able to have your kids

204 [CC Teanscript, April 23, 1996, p, 34 (Marion LaBillois).
205 ICC Transcript, April 23, 1996, p. 92 (Gerdon LaBillois).
206 ICC Examioation of Wallace LaBillois Transcript, July 11, 1996, p. 49,
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put up their shoulders and say, “There goes my dad going to work.” It is not the
money part, no, no. Heck, no. 2’

By early 1980, additional scrutiny was brought to bear on the environmental
problems caused by the dam. In July 1980, Indian Affairs requested a pro-
gress report on studies that had been commisstoned from Environment
Canada pertaining to oceanographic problems associated with the construc-
tion of the dam and erosion of the shoreline at Eel River. These studies were
probably initiated, at least partly, as a result of a Chiefs” conference in Octo-
ber 1979 where the problem of contamination was raised. The memorandum
from Indian Affairs notes that Gordon LaBillois expressed concerns that the
clam beds were being contaminated by waste from the surrounding
industries.”®

In November [982, the Eel River Bar First Nation passed a Band Council
Resolution requesting that Indian Affairs provide the Band Council with
$30,000 to carry out 2 land use study, to alfow the First Nation to evaluate
the environmental tmpact of the damming of the Eel River.” Although the
First Nation's request appears to have been declined, in July 1983 Gordon
LaBillois requested that Indian Affairs provide the First Nation with all corre-
spondence regarding the damming of the Eel River and with a copy of the
earlier study done to determine the vatue of the resources before the con-
struction of the dam ?® While still awaiting the requested information, the Eel
River Bar First Nation passed a Band Council Resolution in August 1983
resolving that Indian Affairs take action to rectify the problems affecting the
* community’s way of life. The problems enumerated were as follows: (1) pol-
lution of the Eel River and resulting contamination of the cfam beds and an
annual $60,000 revenue loss; and (2} the floeding of land caused by the
International Paper Company pipeline. The First Nation called for a study of
the 1970 agreement to determine its validity, and for 2 study of the negative
environmental effects caused by the erection of the dam, particularly in rela-
tion to land erosion and loss of fish and wildlife.*"!

207 1CC Examination of Wallace LaBillois Transceipl, July 11, 1996, p. 66.

208 {Author not identified] {Ecl River — Environment Problem] January 1, 2980, DIAND file E-5661-3-66013, vol. L
(IEC Documents, pp. 597-98). :

209 E. Hulsman, Regional Planner, Band Support Directorate, Atlantic Region, Department of Tndian and Inuit
Affairs, Amherst, NS, to District Manager, New Brunswick Distticl, NB, December 20, 1982, DIAND file E-5661-
3-06013, vol. 1 (ICC Docnments, p. 603).

210 Gordon LaBillois, Councillor, Eel River Band, to RD. Campbell, Director, Reserves & Trusts, Atlantic Region,
éndi’an and Tavit Affairs, Amherst, NS, July 21, 1983, DIAND file E-5661-3-06013, val. { (ICC Docaments, p.

04}

2t1 Bel River Band Couneil, Bund Couneil Resolution, August 25, £983, DIAND fle B-5661-3-06013, vol. 1 (ICG

Doctments, p. 607),
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Following receipt of this Band Council Resolution, the 1970 agreement
was referred to the Department of Justice for an opinion as to its validity. The
issues raised by the resolution were substantiated by an Airphoto Interpreia-
tion Study of Eel River Bar, which noted that the watermain leaked over its
entire length within the reserve’s boundaries, causing an extensive wet area.
This surface water deprived the reserve of approximately 6 hectares of land
that was otherwise capable of development and it eliminated the possibility of
an access road to land areas suitable for development in the eastern section
of the reserve. It was subsequently recommended that this watermain should
be repaired or replaced, the latter being preferably underground.®?

In May 1984, the First Nation passed another Band Council Resolution
requesting that Indian Affairs report on the 1970 agreement and the resulting
permit to the province of New Brunswick.*'¥ Subsequently, the International
Paper Company responded to Indian Affairs about the problems with leakage,
stating that although it had no present plans to replace the pipe, it would
meet with and discuss the matter with all concerned parties.”* It appears that
neither this response nor that received from Indian Affairs was sufficient to
address the First Nation's concerns. At this point, the First Nation began the
historical and legal research required to substantiate 2 claim against the
Crown in an attempt to resolve this grievance through the Specific Claims
Process.

RENEGOTIATION OF TERMS IN THE 1970 AGREEMENT (1995)

Despite the First Nation’s concerns with the original agreement reached in
1970, on April 10, 1995, the Government of New Brunswick and the First
Nation renegotiated section 3 of the 1970 agreement relating to pumping
fees. The parties agreed that the First Nation would receive $265,000 as pay-
- ment for the period since the expiry of the original compensation clause on
May 14, 1990. On signing the agreement, the First Nation would receive the
sum of $105,000 as compensation for the period between July 31, 1994, to
July 31, 1995, with an acknowledgment that Canada Industries Limited had
been paid an additional sum of $99,660.77 by the province. Furthermore, it

212 E. Hulsman, Regional Planner, Band Suppori, Aflantic Region, Department of Indian and Inuit Afialrs, to RD.
Campbell, Director, Reserves & Trusts, Atlantic Regional Office, Febrwary 7, 1984, DIAKD file E-5661-3-06015,
val. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 6103.

213 Fel River Bar Firs| Nation, Fel River, NB, Band Council Resolution, May 31, 1984, DIAND [ie E-3661-3-06013,
vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 611},

214 D). Tremblay, Plant Engineer, NBIP, to R.W. Landry, Superintendent, Reserves & Trusts, New Brunswick Dis-
tricl, February 22, 1985, DIAND file E-5661-3-06013-D2, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 620).
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was agreed that the First Nation would receive, in advance; a flat rate of
$204,600.77 per year, commencing on July 31, 1995, until July 31, 1998.
The agreement reached on non-monetary compensation included a lease to a
parcel of Crown land adjacent to Murray Lake, as well as an undeveloped
portion of Chaleur Park, at an annual rate of one dollar ($1.00) per year,
along with a provision that this lease would be subject to separate negotia-
tions with the Department of Natural Resources and Energy. The First Nation
received the “sole” option to purchase the leased lands at a price not to
exceed $64,000 for the lands at Chaleur Park and $41,000 for the parcel of
Crown land adjacent to Murray Lake.'S

215 DIAND Indian Land Registry, Agreement between the Gouncil of the Eel River Band and the Province of New
Brunswiclk, Apeil 10, 1995, Instrument No. 236161 for Eel River, IR 3, NB, registered on October 12, 1995.
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PART III

ISSUES

Counse! for the First Nation and for Canada agreed that the Commission
should address the following issues in this inquiry:

Was the Eel River Bar First Nation claim in respect of the Eel River dam
properly rejected under the Specific Claims Policy set out in Quistanding
Business, based upon the evidence and submissions to the Minister of Indian
Affairs? Did the claim disclose a breach of a “lawful obligation” by the
Crown, and, in particular:

1 What was the nature and extent of the breach of the Treaty of 1779?

2 Did the federal Crown breach the Order in Council dated February 24,
1807, establishing the Fel River Bar reserve?

3 Did the federal Crown breach the 1958 federal-provincial agreement by
which New Brunswick transferred to the federal government lands
reserved for Indians?

4 Did the Eel River Bar First Nation have riparian rights to the Eel River, and
were those rights breached by the federal Crown?

5 Did the federal Crown breach sections 18, 28, 35, or 37 to 41 of the
Indian Act, RSC 1952, c. 149?

6 Did the Eel River Bar First Nation receive equitable and fair compensation
for the losses suffered as a result of the establishment of the Eel River
dam?

7 Did the federal Crown have a fiduciary duty to negotiate the compensation
agreement of May 1970 on behalf of the Eel River Bar First Nation directly
with third parties? If so, did the federal Crown breach that fiduciary duty?

8 Did the federal Crown have a fiduciary duty to provide independent legal
advice during the negotiations that led to the execution of the compensa-
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tion agreement of May 19707 If so, did the federal Crown breach that
fiduciary duty?

In the course of this inquiry, the Commission received and considered a
considerable body of historical documentation, the oral testimony of elders
from the Eel River Bar First Nation, and comprehensive written and orat sub-
missions on the facts and law presented by legal counsel on behalf of the
parties. In short, a wealth of information has been provided to the Commis-
sion to assist us in our deliberations.

Part IV of this report sets out our analysis and findings by acddressing the
issues under three main sections. The first section deals with the nature and
extent of the First Nation's fishing rights and whether construction of the dam
infringed upon those rights. The second part of our analysis considers
whether the Crown breached its statutory obligations under the fudian Act by
granting a letter-permit and by consenting to the expropriation of Eel River
reserve fands in 1970, ¥inally, we considered the nature and extent of the
Crown’s fiduciary obligations on the facts of this case.
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PART IV

ANALYSIS

ISSUE 1 NATURE AND EXTENT OF FISHING RIGHTS
What was the nature and extent of the breach of the Treaty of 17797

Did the federal Crown breach the Order in Council dated February 24, 1807,
establishing the Eel River Bar reserve?

Did the federal Crown breach the 1958 federal-provincial agreement by
which New Brunswick transferred to the federal government lands reserved
for Indians?

Did the Eel River Bar First Nation have riparian rights to the Fel River, and
were those rights breached by the federal Crown?

The First Nation submits that the Treaty of 1779 and the 1807 Order in Coun-
cil establishing the Eel River Bar reserve guarantee the First Nation's right to
fish inr the area around the reserve and that the “Federal Government's par-
ticipation and acquiescence in the Dam project was a breach of the First
Nation members’ personal and commercial fishing rights.”*®

The Treaty of 1779 stated that the Micmac Indians of New Brunswick from
Cape Tormentine to the Baie des Chaleurs “shall remain Quiet and Free from
any molestation of any of His Majesty's Troops or other his good Subjects in
their Hunting and Fishing.” The New Brunswick Court of Appeal in . #. Paul
interpreted this clause to mean that the pre-existing hunting and fishing
rights of the Micmacs, which they had exercised from time immemorial, were
recognized and confirmed in the Treaty of 1779.47 Although there was no
evidence before the court as to what area constituted the “Districts™ referred
to in the treaty, Chief Justice Hughes stated:

216 Submissions on Behalf of the Eel River Bar First Nalion, Februacy 13, 1967, p. 27, para 75.
217 R v. Panl, [1981] 2 CNIR B3 (NBCA).
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In these circumstances, I would interpret it to mean the Micmac Indian Reserves
between Cape Tormentine and Bay De Chaleurs . . . and the Indiaes having the right
to live on those reserves. Consequently, I would hold the right of hunting and fishing
for such Indians is restricted to those reserves.?™

The First Nation further'argued that the 1807 Order in Council which estab-
lished the Eel River Bar reserve also confirms the existence of its traditional
fishing rights. The Order in Council states:

.. . the vacant tract of land on Eel River commencing at Lot No. 6 north of the mouth
of the Eel River and extending to Lot no. 1 at the extremity of the Sand Beach which
forms the entrance of the River — including the Eel Fishery, be reserved for the nse of
the Indians — with the exception of the Sand Beach formerly reserved for the public
Fishery.

The First Nation submitted that it is necessary to consider the purpose for
which the Indian reserve was set aside in order to determine the nature and
scope of a First Nation’s rights in waters adjacent to a reserve. In Pasco v.
Canadian National Railway Co., the British Columbia Supreme Court
granted an interim injunction sought by an Indian Band preventing railway
construction along a river on the grounds that it could affect the Band’s
riparian and fishing rights. Although it did not decide the point, the Court
stated that the Band's claim to proprietary rights in the river was strength-
ened because,

{ijn this province, Indian reserves were reduced in size on the grounds that the
Indian people did not rely on agriculture, and that so long as their fisheries were
preserved their need for land was minimal "

This view is supported by Richard Bartlett in his study Aboriginal Water
Rights in Canada: A Study of Aborigingl Title to Water and Indian Water
Rights. Bartlett concluded that in reserves such as Eel River Bar which are
established by Order in Council instead of by treaty or agreement, the “Indian
interest in waters appurtenant to reserves set apart by executive action is

218 R. v, Paul, [1981] 2 CNLR 83 at 90 (NBCA),
219 }(’asca)u. Canadian National Rathway Co., {1986] 1 CNLR 34 (BCCA), affinning [1986] 1 CNLR 35 ai 41
BCSC).
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accordingly to be determined by examination of the circumstances and
instruments whereby the lands were set apart.”?%

Counsel for the First Nation argued that the Eel River Bar First Nation has
a right of access to the adjacent fishery to maintain its livelihood bécause the
reserve sct aside for the First Nation was smail and its soil was not suitable
for agriculture. Based on this reasoning, counsel argued that the First
Nation’s fishing rights were “non-exclusive rights of non-interference with the
personal and commercial fishery.”??!

Canada did not dispute that the Treaty of 1779 protects the First Nation’s
right to fish in and around the Eel River Bar reserve, but contended that the
essential questions were whether there was valid authority to construct the
Eel River dam and whether the First Nation received adequate compensation
for losses suffered as a result of the dam's construction.?”? Canada submits
that if the dam breached the First Nation’s rights under the Treaty of 1779,
such breach was compensated for in the 1970 agreement. '

After considering all the evidence and arguments presented by counsel on
this subject, we felt that there was insufficient information before us to make
any definitive conclusions regarding the nature and extent of the First
Nation’s treaty rights. We can, however, offer the following comments on the
nature of these treaty rights, subject to the caution that they not be consid-
ered conclusive. First, although there was no evidence before the Commis-
sion on the historical context and intentions of the parties to the treaty of
1779, it has not been disputed that the First Nation is entitled to exercise
fishing rights pursuant to the treaty because the reserve is located between
Cape Tormentine and the Baie des Chaleurs. Second, since the reserve was
not suitable for agriculture, it is reasonable to conclude that it was set aside
to enable the First Nation to maintain a livelihood by harvesting marine
resources on and adjacent to the reserve.??® Third, the 1807 Order in Council.
reserved “the Eel Fishery” for the exclusive use of the First Nation, but the
“Sand Beach” was intended to be used as a public fishery. We note that the

220 Richard. H. Barllett, Aboriginal Waler Rights in Canada; A Study of Aboriginal Title to Water and Indian
Water Rights (Calpary: University of Calgary, 1988}, 37. Barilett relies on the following three dewsions for this
conclusion: Burrard Power Co. v. The King, [1911] AG 87 (PC); Allosmey General for Quebec v. Atiorney
?‘smﬁ()r Gz;mda [submom. Star Chrome Mining], [1921] T AC 401 (PC); Davey v. Isauc, [1977] 77 DLR

3 1(8CC).

221 Submissions on Belalf of the Bel River Bar First Nation, February 13, 1997, p. 30.

222 Submissions on Behalf of the Government of Canada, February 14, 1997, p. 31

223 Tt will be recalled ihat in 1938 (he Inspecior of Indian Agencles commented that the reserve was not suluble for
farming, hecause of the marshy land, and that 2 “worse place could nol have been chosen for a reserve”: Jude
Thlbau?t, Inspector of [ndian Agencits, (6 Indizn Afairs Branch, Otawa, September 16, 1938, DIAND file
271/30-13-3, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 58).
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careful use of capital letters to refer to specific places suggests that the Order
in Council was intended to reserve the “Eel River” fishery, and not the “eel”
fishery, to the Micmac Indians. Without further evidence and argument, how-
ever, it is difficult to determine whether the public fishery on the “Sand
Beach” was intended to refer to the clam flats at the entrance of the Eel River
and whether the Order in Council effectively limited the First Nation’s treaty
fishing rights on the clam flats.

We are also of the view that the treaty right to harvest fish and clams
“[f]ree from any molestation” on the part of the British Crown and its sub-
jects cannot be interpreted to mean that it was an inviolate right when the
dam was construcied in the 1960s. Before the enactment of section 35 of the
Constitution Act, 1982, which recognized and affirmed the “existing aborigi-
nal and trealy rights” of First Nations in Canada, the Crown could infringe
upon or extinguish treaty rights providing that it expressed a “clear and plain
intention” to do so0.” Although counsel for the First Nation is correct in
saying that, after 1982, treaty rights could not be extinguished or infringed
upon unless the Crown met the strict test of justification set out by the
Supreme Court in Sparrow v. The Queen, the rights in question here were
infringed upon by construction of the dam in the 1960s and would have been
subject to the state of the [aw that existed at the time. Furthermore, as indi-
cated by counsel for the First Nation, it is always open to a First Nation to
negotiate 2 settlement to compensate for a breach or infringement of treaty
rights.“ﬁ

In summary, we conclude that the rights conferred by the Treaty of 1779
were infringed upon by the construction of the dam because it interfered with
the Micmac Indians’ rights to fish free from any interference on the part of
the Crown.?*” We acknowledge and agree with the First Nation's submissions
on the significance of its hunting and fishing rights, and we accept that the
Treaty was intended to protect a livelihood that had sustained the First Nation
since time immeimorial. Ample evidence was given at the community session
by members of the Eel River Bar First Nation on the significance of the clam

24 R v. Sparrors, [1990] 1 SCR.

225 B 2 Sparrow, [199 | SCR.

226 ICC Transcripl, February 20, 1997, p. 45 (Murray Kippenstein),

227 On this point, we agree with counsel for the First Nation that the facts in Clexton v. Saanichion Marina Lid,
[1989] 3 CNLR 46 (BCCA), are sirikingly similar because the Lreaty in that case guaranteed ihe First Nation's’
right to carry on its fisheries “as foemerly.” The Glaxton case does, however, differ from ihe present case in
two significant ways. First, the ireaty rights In that case were prolected by section 35(1) of the Constitution
det, 1982, which requires that the Crown meei 2 stricl justificatory standard where there is a prima facie
infringement on unextinguished treaty rghts: B ¢ Sparrow, [1990] 1 SCR 1075. Sccond, the First Nation in
that case did uol enter into any agreenteuts aulhorizing the Infringement on its fishing rights.
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fishery to the First Nation's culture and livelihood. The question though is
whether the Crown had the lawful authority, either by statute or with the
agreement of the Eel River Bar First Nation, to construct the dam in 1963. In
either case, the First Nation's traditional practices and reliance on the fishery
were protected by the Treaty of 1779, and it is our view that the First Nation
was entitled to compensation for the infringement upon its treaty rights and
for the damages caused to its source of livelihood.

Although it is questionable whether Indian Affairs was aware that the First
Nation had treaty fishing rights in and around the reserve when construction
of the dam was first proposed in 1962, it is clear that all parties involved in
the negotiations considered that the First Nation was entitled to compensation
for the economic losses it would sustain s a result of the dam. The Treaty of
1779 is not mentioned anywhere in the negotiations leading up to the 1970
agreement, but the JAB was clearly alive to the fact that the main reason that
compensation had to be secured for the First Nation was for economic loss
for damage to the fishery, particularly the Band’s clam harvest. At the outset
of the discussions abeut the potential dam, McKinnon stated that “erection of
a dam will mean the flooding of a fairly large flat which at the moment
provides approximately 50% of the clam production. It is therefore quite
valuable to the Indians.”® In 1970, the First Nation cntered into an agree-
ment, and compensation was paid for damages caused by the dam, described
in the recitals of the agreement as follows: “[T]he Authority recognizes that
the construction of the dam and the reservoir has diminished the quantities
of fish, sheflfish, waterfowl, and other natural resources which were tradi-
tionally available to the Indians.”"?

Subject to our comments below with respect to whether lawful authority
was obtained by the Town of Dalhousie and the Province of New Brunswick
to construct the dam on reserve lands and whether adequate compensation
was paid to the Eel River Bar First Nation, it is our view that the infringement
on the First Nation’s treaty rights caused by the dam is not sufficient, ir and
of itself, to establish an outstanding lawful obligation on the part of the fed-
eral Crown.

In view of our findings above, it is not necessary for the Commission to
determine whether the First Nation had any riparian rights in addition to its
treaty rights to fish in the waters adjacent to the reserve or whether Canada

228 E.B. McKinnon, Repional Supervisor, Maritime Regional Office, Indian Affzirs Branch, to Indian Affairs Branch,
February 27, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-i3-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 126).

219 Agreemant, between the Eel River Band Council, New Brunswick Water Authority, and Her Majesty the Queen in
right of Canada, May 14, 1970 (ICC Documents, p. 463).
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breached the 1958 federal-provincial agreement which transferred adminis-
tration and contro! of Indian reserve lands from the Province of New Bruns-
wick to the federal government. In our view, the First Nation’s claim will
ultimately turn on whether sufficient authority was provided for construction
of the dam and whether adequate compensation was paid to the First Nation
for damages caused to ils beneficial use of the fisheries.

ISSUE 2 AUTHORITY FOR PERMIT AND EXPROPRIATION OF
EEL RIVER RESERVE LAND

Did the federal Crown breach sections 18, 28, 35, or 37 to 41 of the Indian
Act, RSC 1952, ¢. 1497

For easy reference, the relevant provisions of the ndian Act, RSC 1952, c.
149, have been reproduced in Appendix D to this report.

Section 18
Section 18(1) of the Indian Act reads as follows:

18.(1) Subject to this Act, reserves are held by Her Majesty for the use and benefit of
the respective bands for which they were set apart; and subject to this Act ard to the
terms of any treaty or surrender, the Governor in Council may determine whether any
purpose for which lands in a reserve are used ar are to be used is for the use and
benefit of the band. ‘

The First Nation submitted that section 18(1) of the fndian Act, which
requires that the federal Crown hold reserve lands for the use and benefit of
the band for whom it was set aside, was breached when part of its reserve
was disposed of for construction of the Eel River dam “to promote the gen-
eral intcrests of the Town and the industry users rather than the First
Nation.”23¢ The First Nation contended that another violation of section 18(1) -
occurred when the Crown allowed the Town of Dalhousie to trespass on the
reserve from 1962, when a preliminary survey on the clam harvest was con-
ducted by Dr Medcof, until at least 1970, when an agreement was entered
inte by the NBWA which purported to authorize the use and occupation of
reserve land. Moreover, the First Nation argued that if the 1970 agreement
was void, the province was in continuous trespass until 1990.%!

230 Submissions on Behalf of e Eel River Bar First Nation, February 13, 1997, p. 33.
231 Submissions on Behalf of the Eel River Bar First Nation, February 13, 1997, p. 33.
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The leading case on section 18(1) is Guerin v. The Queen, a case involv-
ing the surrender of 162 acres of reserve land by the Musqueam Band for -
lease to the Shaughnessy Golf Club on the understanding that the lease would
contain certain terms and conditions agreed to by the Band Council. The
surrender document required the Crown to lease the land on such terms as it
deemed most conducive to the welfare of the Band. The Band later discov-
ered, however, that the Crown agreed to lease the land on terms that were
less favourable than those agreed to by the Band.

All eight members of the Court found that the Crown owed a legal duty to
the Band in relation to the surrender and that this duty had been breached.
There were, however, three separate reasons for judgment rendered by the
Court, each disclosing different characterizations of the nature of the Crown’s
duty under the circumstances. On behalf of the majority of the Court, Dick-
son J (as he then was) examined the statutory regime governing the disposi-
tion of Indian interests in land and made the following comments on the
obligations of the Crown:

In my view, the namre of Indian litle and the framework of the statutory scheme
cstablished for disposing of Indizan land places upon the Crown an equitable obliga-
tion, enforceable by the courts, to deal with the land for the benefit of the Indians.
This obligation does not amount to a trust in the private law sense. If, however, the
Crown breaches this fiduciary duty it will be liable to the Indians in Lhe same way and
to the same extent as if such a trust were in effect.

The fiductary relationship hetween the Crown and the Indians has its roots in the
concept of aboriginal, native or Indian fitle. The Ffact that (ndian bands have a certain
interest in lands does not, however, in itself give rise to a flduciary relationship
between the Indians and the Crown. The conclusion that the Crown is # fiduciary
depends upon the further proposition that the Indian interest in the land is inaliena-
ble except upon surrender (o the Grown.?

Mr Justice Dickson stated that the Crown first took on a responsibility to act
on behalf of Indians with respect to the sale or lease of their lands through
the Royal Proclamation of 1763, which prohibited Indian bands from
directly transferring their interests in land to third parties without first sur-

232 Guerin v. The Queen, [1984] 2 SCR 335, [1984] 6 WWR 481, 13 DLR (4th) 321, 53 NR 161, [1985)1 CNLR
120 at 131. ,
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rendering those interests to the Crown.?* This surrender requirement is still
a key part of the Indian Act today and, as Justice Dickson stated, it is the
responsibility entailed in these provisions which provides the source of a
distinct fiduciary obligation on the part of the Crown:

Through the confirmation in the Indian Act of the historic responsibility which the
Crown has undertaken, to act on behalf of the Indians so as to protect their interests
in transactions with third parties, Parliament has conferred upon the Crown a discre-
tion to decide for itself where the Indians’ best inlerests really lie. This is the effect of
s. 18(1) of the det.

This discretion on the part of the Crown, far from ousting, as the Crown contends,
the jurisdiction of the courts to regulate the relationship between the Crown and the
Indians, has the effect of transforming the Crown’s obligation into a fiductary
one. .. [Wlhere by statule, agreement, or perhaps by unilaleral undertaking, one
party has an obligation to act for the benefit of another, and that obligation carries
with it 4 discretionary power, the pary thus empowered becomes a fiduciary. Equity
will then supervise the refationship by holding him to the fiduciary’s strict standard of
conduct, 24

Dickson J noted that “[t]he discretion which is the halimark of any fiduciary
relationship is capable of being considerably narrowed in a particular case,”
and that section 18(1) itself provides that such discretion can be narrowed
by the terms of any treaty, surrender, or other provisions of the fndian
Act.™

Madam Justice Wilson, concurring in the result, stated that section 18(1)

is the acknowledgment of 2 historical reality, namely that Indian bands have a benefi-
cial interest in their reserves and that the Crown has a responsibility to protect their
interest and make sure that any purpose to which reserve land is put will not imerfere
with it. . . . The bands do oot have the fee in their fands; their interest is a limited

233 The Roya! Proclamation of 1763, BSC 1970, App. 11, which entrenched and formalized the process whereby
only the Crown could oblain Indian lands through agrecment or purchase from the Indians, states:

And whereas great Frauds and Abuses have been committed in piirchasing Lanes of the Indians, lo the great
Prejudice of our Interests, and 1o the great Dissalisfaction of the said Indians; In order, therefore, to
prevent such irvegularities for the future, and 1o thé end that the Indians may be convinced of our Justice
and determined Resolution to remove all reasonable Cause of Discontent, We do, with the Advice of our
Privy Council strictly enjoin and require, that no peivate Person do presume to make any purchase from the
said Indians of any Lands reserved to the said Indians, within those parts of our Colonies where, We have
thought proper to allow Setlement; but that, it ar any Time any of the Said Indians should be inclined Lo
dispose of the said Lands, the same shall he Purchased only for Us, in our Name, al some public Meetiug or
Assembly of the said Indians, 1o be held for that Purpose by the Governor or Commander in Chief of our
Colonty respectively within which they shall le. . . .

234 Guerin v. The Oneen, [1984) 2 SCR 335 at 383, [1985] 1 CNLR 124 af 137.
235 Guerin v. The Oueen, [1984] 2 SCR 335 at 387, [1985] 1 CNIR 120 ai 139.
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one. But it is an interest which carnot be derogated from or interfered with by the
Crown's ulilization of the land for purposes incompatible with the Indian title unless,
of course, the Indians agree®

Although Justice Wilson recognized that the Crown has a fiduciary responsi-
bility with respect to the management of Indian reserve land, she also recog-
nized that an Indian band may effectively “pre-empt” the Crown’s authority
where it has agreed to surrender its land for a specific purpose.?’
Therefore, the scope of the Crown’s fiduciary duties will always depend on
the nature of the relationship between the Crown and the band involved in
any given situation. It is also clear that in cases like the present one, where
- we are dealing with the disposition of interests in reserve lands, the scope of
these duties may also depend on the relevant statutory provisions governing
the disposition of or the use and occupation of reserve land. Depending on
the context, the Crown’s discretion may be narrowed where the band has
retained some measure of decision-making autonomy vis-a-vis the Crown.
Whether the Crown owes a specific fiduciary duty, as well as the extent of that
duty, must depend on the nature of the relationship between the Crown and
the band. The band’s consent to a surrender or to a limited disposition of
reserve land may be a relevant factor, depending on the context. This view
was affirmed by Mr Justice tacobucei in Quebec (Attorney- G’enemt) v.
Canada (National Energy Board), where he states:

It is now well-seitled that (here is a fiduciary relationship between the federal Crown
and the aboriginal people of Canada: Guerin v. Canada . . . None the less, it must be
remembered that not every aspect of the relationship between fiduciary and benefici-
ary takes the form of a fiduciary obligation: Lac Minerals Itd v. Internations!
Corona Resources Ltd. (1989), 61 D.LR. (4th) 14 26 CPR. (3d) 97, [1989] 2
SC.R. 574. The nature of the relationship between the parties defines the scope, and
the limits, of the dutics that will be imposed.

Since section 18 is but one manifestation of the Crown'’s fiduciary duty in the
context of Indian lands, we will come back to this point later in this report. It
is nevertheless important to bear in mind the principles enunciated by the
court in Guerin, as well as the underlying policy of the Indian Act, while
interpreting the various provisions of the Indian Act dealing with surrender,

236 Guerin v. Ihe Queen, [1984] 2 SCR 335 al 349, [1985] 1 CNLR 120 ar 152.

237 Guerin v. The Qucen, [1984] 2 SCR 335 at 352, [1985] 1 CNLR 120 o 154

238 Quebec gittomay-GenemD v Canada (Naiional Energy Board), [£994] 1 SCR 159 at 183, 112 DIR (4dth)
129 at 147.
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expropriation, and the use and occupation of reserve land. Whether the
Grown had the legal authority under the provisions of section 28(2) and
section 35 of the fudian Act to flood the headpond and to maintain the Eel
River water supply system on reserve lands will be dealt with in the following
sections. Those sections of the Act will be addressed in turn.

Section 28(2) and the 1970 Letter-Permit
Section 28 of the Indian Act states:

28.(1) Subject to subsection (2), any deed, lease, contract, instrument, document or
agreement of any kind, whether written or oral, by which a band or a member of 2
band purports to permil a person other than a member of that band to occupy or use
a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise any rights on a reserve is void.

(2) The Minister may by permit in weiting authorize any person for 4 period not
exceeding one year, or with the consent of the council of the band for any longer
period, o occupy or use a reserve or Lo reside or otherwise exercise rights on a
reserve.

When construction of the dam commenced in 1963, the Band and Indian
Affairs allowed work to proceed despite the absence of any formal agreement
or arrangement pursuant to the Indian Act authorizing the town to use and
occupy reserve land for the purposes of flooding. No permit was issued in
1963 under section 28(2) of the Indian Act authorizing the use and occupa-
tion of reserve lands, nor had there heen any surrender or expropriation of
reserve land for this purpose. In 1968 and in 1970, the Minister of Indian
Affairs issued permits under the authority of section 28(2) to allow the NBWA
to use and occupy reserve land for the purpose of establishing and maintain-
ing an access road, a pumping station, and a second pipeline to transport
water from the dam into the Town of Dalhousie. The first permit, in Septem-
ber 1968, was issued for a period of one year, pending final settfement
between the town and the Band. The 1970 letter-permit authorized the
Department of Natural Resources (o “enter upon and use” 2.43 acres for a
pumping station and pipeline right of way, and 2.28 acres for an access road
“for as long as required for the purposes outlined.” In this section, we intend
to address only whether the 1970 letter-permit provided the NBWA with law-
ful authority to use and occupy reserve land. Later in this report, we will
consider whether the town and the NBWA trespassed on Eel River reserve
lands from 1963 until 1970, when permits were issued under section 28(2)
for rights of way with respect to the access road, the pipeline, and the

=
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pumphouse, and when lands were expropriated for the headpond under sec-
tion 35.

Counse! for the First Nation submitted that the 1970 letter-permit should
not have been issued by Canada because permits under section 28(2) should
only be granted for a limited term. Furthermore, because the permit effec-
tively granted an interest in land, the proper procedure would have been to
obtain a surrender by the Band in accordance with the procedures set out in
sections 37 to 41 of the fndian Act. In support of its contention that the
permit granted an interest in land which was akin to a lease, the First Nation
referred to guidelines with respect to the issuance of permits set out in the
Land Management and Procedures Manual prepared by the Department of
Indian Affairs in 1988. Counsel submitted:

According to Government Guidelines, s. 28(2) does not allow for the granting of
leases in the guise of permits. Permits are meant to provide personal, rather than
proprietary rights. They tend not to be exclusive to one party and are usnally granted
for short periods of time. The permit, which was offered to the Province pursuant lo
the 1970 agreement, was invalid as it created a right which ran with land since the
Dam is now a petmanent fixtyre.2

The manual referred to above suggests that it would be appropriate to use a
permit to grant the non-exclusive use of a road or right of way; or to allow
utilities such as telephone and hydro lines to service an Indian reserve exclu-
stvely.2 While section 28(2) had been used in the past to provide rights of
way for utilities crossing through reserves to service non-reserve lands, the
manual states that permits should not be granted for “permanent installations
such as roads, pipelines, electric and telephone cables and surface support
structures” attached to reserve lands unless “the sole purpose of the utility is
to service reserve lands and the exclusive use of those lands is not required
by the subject utility.”*!! Before drawing any definite conclusions, however, it
is impertant that the Commission first examine the relevant case law to deter-
mine whether these guidelines reflect the judicial interpretation of section
28(2) and the circumstances in which 2 permit can be issued by the Depart-
ment of Indian Affairs.

239 Submissions on Bebalf of the Eel River Bac First Nation, Fehruary 13, 1997, p. 34.
240 DIAND, fand Management Procedures Manual (1988), 1CC Fxhibit 2, vol. 1, b 26, p. 3.
241 DIAND, Iand Management Procedures Manual (1988), ICC Exhibit 2, vol. 1, tab 26, p. 4.
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Couhsel for Canada relied on Opetchesabt ndian Band v. Canada** a
decision of the British Columbia Court of Appeal, in support of its argument

that the 1970 agreement was valid because “the 1956 amendment of ss.

28(2) created a general and unlimited power to grant rights of occupation
and use of reserve lands to third parties without a surrender.”*® Providing
that the grant of rights in a reserve is limited to what would be regarded in
common law as a “licence” rather than an “interest in land,” a permit under
section 28(2) must be considered valid. Since the 1970 letter-permit did not
involve a transfer of title or a grant of ownership to the province of New
Brunswick, Canada contends that it was not required to obtain rights in the
reserve pursuant to the expropriation or surrender provisions of the Indian
Act. Finally, Canada stated that the Court of Appeal found that section 28(2)
authorized the “grant of rights either for a period having a predetermined
termination date or until the happening of a future event the dale of which
cannot be known al the commencement of the term."*¥ Therefore, Canada
submitted that the permits granted to the Province of New Brunswick were
valid, based on the staie of the law as it existed when the parties made their
submissions. The First Nation submitted that Opetchesabt had been wrongly
decided by the Court of Appeal and that it was distinguishable from the facts
in this case.

Following the parties’ submissions on these issues, the Supreme Court of

Canada rendered its decision in the appeal of Opetchesah?®® and upheld the
ruling of the Court of Appeal. Since this decision represents the current state
of the law, we shall carefully consider the reasoning of the Court to deter-
mine whether it applies equally to the circumstances before us in relation to
the Eel River Bar First Nation.

The facts in Opetchesabt are as follows. In 1959 the Minister of Indian
Affairs granted, with the consent of the Opetchesaht Band Council, a right of
way for an electric power transmission line across the Band's reserve to con-
vey electricity to consumers off the reserve. Between February and July 1958,
there were negotiations between the Band, the Crown, and the British Colum-

bia Hydro and Power Authority (Hydro) to acquire the right of way. Negotia-

tions were protracted, with several proposals being made by each side,
including yearly rental payments for 20 years, free electricity for the Band,
various offers on the value of the land, and expropriation under section 35 of

242 Qpetcbesabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997), uoreported, SCR, file no. 24161
243 Submissions on Behalf of the Government of Canada, February 14, 1997, p. 40.
244 Submissions on Behalf of the Government of Canada, February 14, 1997, p. 41.
24$ Opetchesabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997}, unreporled, SCR, file no. 24161.
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the Indian Act. An agreement was concluded between the Crown and Hydro,
with the consent of the Band Council, for a right of way 150 feet wide over
7.87 acres of the reserve (approximately 2.5 per cent of the reserve land
basc). Total consideration paid to the Band was 4 single payment of $125
per acre for the land covered by the right of way. There was no evidence that
the Band was paid less than fair market value.

A permit was issued under the authority of section 28(2), which provided,
in part, that Hydro had the right to construct, operate, and maintain the
power line. It also had the exclusive right to occupy the portions of the sur-
face of the reserve where poles were erected, and that part of the air space
where the wires ran. The Band retained the right to use and occupy the
batance of the right of way arca, subject to certain restrictions related to the
operation and maintenance of the structures. The permit specified that the
rights granted to Hydro could be exercised “for such a period of time as the
said right of way is required for the purpose of an electric power transmis-
sion line.”¢ Hydro could not assign its rights without the consent of the
Crown.

In the late 1980s, the Band decided to build a private road, reservoir
access road, and drainage ditch within the right of way. When agreement
could not be reached between Hydro and the Band over the proposed devel-
opment, the Band applied to the Supreme Court of British Columbia in 1992
for a declaration that the permit was void and unenforceable, for an order
for possession of the lands, and for damages for trespass. The Band’s claim
was hased on the assertion that section 28(2) did not authorize the grant of a
right of way for an indefinite period of time. The trial judge allowed the
application and declared that the permit was not authorized by section
28(2). However, the BC Court of Appeal set aside the declaration, concluding
that although the period was indefinite, it was nonetheless determinable.

The Supreme Court of Canada dismissed the appeal, but split 7—2 on the
question of whether the permit was properly issued under section 28(2).
Major J, writing for the majority, concluded that a permit may be issued
under section 28(2) for an indefinite period of time with the consent of the
Band Council, providing that the period is capable of ascertainment and does
not constitute a grant in perpetuity. For the minority, McLachlin J reasoned
that the grant of an easement or right of way for an indefinite period of time
falls outside the intended scope of section 28(2) because it has the potential

246 Opetchesaht Indian Band v. Canada (1997), unreported, SCR, file no. 24161,
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to continue in perpetuity. Such an interest in the reserve land can be alien-
ated only by surrender with the consent of the entire band membership, pur-
suant to section 37 or by the formal process of expropriation under section
35 of the Indian Act.

On behalf of the majority, Justice Major stated that three issues are raised
in determining whether section 28(2) authorized the permit granted:

Firsi, it is necessary to identify the nature and scope of the rights granted by the
permit; second, whether the termination of the permi is defined by the happening of
a reasonably ascertainahle event; and finally, whether the permit constitutes a “sale,
alienation, lease or other disposition” under s. 37 of the fudian Act rather than a
grant of rights under s. 28(2).27

Following this analytical framework, Major J concluded that the nature of the
right of way granted by the permit was statutory in origin and analogous to an
easement over the reserve that was subject to termination when it was no
longer required for a power transmission line. Further, Hydro’s rights were
not exclusive, since Band members retained the right to use the right of way
and their “ability to use the land is restricted only in that they cannot erect
buildings on it or interfere with the respondent Hydro's easement. Both
Hydro and the Band share use of the right of way."#®

On the question of whether the permit was for an ascertainable period,
Major J concluded that the statutory easement was granted for an indetermi-
nate period, since it was not known exactly when the right of way would
terminate. Nevertheless, because the easement would terminate when it was
no longer required for a transmission line, this constituted “a period whose
end is readily ascertainable.”*® Furthermore, Major ] disagreed that Hydro
controlled the duration of the permit such that the permit could be charac-
terized as perpetual. Whether the transmission was “required” by Hydro was
a justiciable issue that could be objectively determined by the courts.

With respect to whether the words “any longer period” in section 28(2)
were intended to limit permits to a fixed number of years, Major J held that a
period can be measured either by dates or events:

247 Opelchesalt Indian Band v. Canada {1997), unreported, SCR, file no, 24161, p. 4, Major J.
248 Opelchesabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997), unreported, 8CR, file no. 24161, p. 10, Major .
249 Opetchesabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997), unreported, SCR, fle no. 24161, p. 11, Major J.
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The end point of 2 permit need not be defined in terms of a specific calendar date as
long as it is ascertainable. The only requirement is that the end of the period be
capable of ascertainment so that it does not constitute a grant in perpetuity.2*

Major J, however, cautioned that, depending on the facts in each case, there
may be instances where there is a grant for a perpetual duration, although it
has been disguised to look like a defined period. For instance, he suggested
that the grant of a right of way for “as long as the sun shall shine and the
rivers flow” would be suspicious because the “terminable event is so remote
and uncertain that the period is, in fact perpetual.”® In other words, one
must look at the facts of each case to determine whether the event is reason-
ably ascertainable.

The Opetchesaht Band argued that, because of its potentially lengthy dura-
tion, the right of way should have been effected by way of surrender to the
Crown pursuant to section 37 of the Indian Act. To answer this argument,
Major J examined the nature of Indian title in reserve land and the interplay
between the surrender provisions of the Indian Act in sections 37 to 41 on
one hand and section 28(2) permits on the other. Section 37 states:

37. Except where this Act otherwise provides, lands in a reserve shall not be sold,
allenated, leased or otherwise disposed of until they have been surrendered to Her
Mzjesty by the band for whose use and benefit it common the reserve was set apart.

Section 38 goes on to provide that surrenders may be absolute or qualified
and they may be conditional or unconditional. In Smith v. The Queen, the
Supreme Court of Canada held that where a band provides an absolute and
unconditional surrender of reserve land, the Indian interest in the land dis-
appears.? 1t is also true, however, that a surrender can be qualified so that
it only partially or temporarily releases the interest of the band. Accordingly,
Major J stated that “surrenders are required as a general rule not only when
the Indian band is releasing all its interest in the reserve forever, but when-
ever any interest is given up for any duration of time.”?** Furthermore, sec-
tion 37 is not limited to the sale or complete alienation of reserve land, and a
surrender s required for leases and other dispositions of reserve lands.

250 Opeichesabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997), uareported, SCR, fie no. 24161, p. 14, Major J.

251 Opetchesabt indian Band 1. Canada (1997}, unreported, SCR, e no. 24161, p. 14, Major J.

252 Smith v The (ueen, [1983] 1 SCR 954.

253 Opetchesabt fndian Band v. Canada {1997), unreported, SCR, fle no. 24161, p. 16, Major J. In suppert of
this goinl, Major J clled St Ann’s Iskand Shooting and Fishing Club Lid v. The King, [1950] SCR 211 at 219,
Rad J.
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Major | also noted that the same analysis applies equally to section 35, which
specifies that the expropriation power may be exercised “in relation to lands
in a reserve or any interest therein.”

While the general rule requires that sales, leases, and other dispositions of

Indian interests in reserve land should be effected by way of a surrender,
Major J states that section 37 must be read in conjunction with other provi-
stons of the Act:

Also apparent on the face of s. 37 from the qualification at the beginning of s. 37 is
the legislative intention that it operate in confunction with and subject o other
provisions of the fndian Act. There is in this qualification an express recognition that
other provisions of the fndian Act also deal with sales, alienations, leases or other
dispositions of lands in a reserve. '

The practice of the Minister demonstrates that in his view, some sections of the
Indian Act could be used interchangeably depending on the circumstances. . . . the
practice which occurred in Canada after the 1956 amendmenis to the fradian Act was
to grant power line rights of way across reserve lands hoth by way of surrender and
conveyance (s. 37), expropriation (s. 35) and by permit (s. 28(2)).

The question is whether the permit was properly granted under s. 28(2). Per-
haps the easement in the permiit could bave been granted under s. 37, but that
section must be read subject to other provisions in the Indian Act. The proper
question is to decide tbe circumstances in wbich 5. 28(2) could not apply, the
default proviston being the general rule in s. 37 dgainst alienation without a
surrender.

In my view, 5. 28(2) cannot apply any time a portion of the ndian interest tn
any portion of reserve land is permanently disposed of. . . .

1n the instant case, the respondent Hydro was accorded limited rights of occupa-
tion and use for an indeterminate buf delerminable and ascertainable period of
time. There was no permanent disposition of any ndian interest. Furthermore,
the Band and Hydro were obligated lo share the rights of use and occupation of
the land, with the imited exceptions of the area of ground glving support to the
Doles and the air space occupied by the poles. Consequently, the surrender require-
ment of s. 37 does not apply 1o the present permil and more importantly, no rights
exceeding those authorized by s. 28(2) were granted. The indeterminate easement
gratted on the face of this permit is a disposition of a limited interest in land that
does not last forever.

Surely it was intended that the band council could af least have the right to grant
that type of easement. Surrender involves a serious abdication of the Indian interest in
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land and gives rise to both a broad discretion and an equally onerous fiduciary obli-
gation on the Crown to deal with the Indian lands thus surrendered.®*!

The Court also commented on whether the grant of rights for an indetermi-
nate period ran contrary to the underlying policy of the Indian Act:

The remaining question is whether the grant of righis for an indeterminate petiod
conflicts with the policy of prohibiting use of reserve land by third parties absent
approval of the Minister and the band. This leads to 2 consideration of the policy
behind the rule of general inalienability. Both the common law and the Fudian Act
guard against the erosion of the native land base through conveyances by individual
band members or by any group of members. Government approval, either by way of
the Governor in Council (surrender) or that of the Minister, is required to guard
against exploitation; Blueberry River Indian Band, supra, at p. 370, per McLachlin J.

On the other hand, the Indian Act also seeks to allow bands a degree of autonomy
in managing band resources for commercial advantage in the general interest of the
band. Collective consent of the Indiaus, either in the form of 2 vote by the band
membership (surrender) or by a resolution of the band council, is required to
ensure that those affected by the transfer assent to it, The extent to which individual
band members participate in the approval process depends on the extent fo
which the proposed disposition affects individual or communal interests. In the
case of sales, dispositions and long-ferm leases or alienations permanently disposing
of any ludian interest in reserve land, surrender is required, involving the vote of all
members of the hand. On the other hand in the case of rights of use, occupation or
residence for a period of longer than one year, only band council approval is
required.

It is important that the band’s interest be protected but on the other hand the
autonomy of the band in decision making affecting its land and resources must be
promoted and respected. These sometimes conflicting values were identified by
McLachlin J. it Blueberry River Indian Band, supra, at p. 370:

My view is that the fndian Act’s provisions for surrender of band reserves
strikes [sic] a balance between the two extremes of autonomy and protection.
Gonthier ]. at p. 358, speaking for the majority, accepted this principle:

As McLachlin J. observes, the law treais aboriginal peoples as autonomnous actors
with respect to the acquisition and surrender of their lands, and for this reason,
their decisions must be respected and honoured.

With the twin policies of autonomy and protection in mind, s. 37 and s. 28(2)
reflect that, depending on the nature of the rights granted, different levels of auton-
omy and prolectiou are accorded. Section 37 demonstrates a high degree of protec-

254 Qpaichesabt indian Band v. Canada (1997), nnrepéned., SCR, file no. 24161, pp. 17-20, Major ]. Emphasis
added.

R
97



INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

tion, in that the approval of the Governor in Couacil and the vote of all of the mem-
bets of the band are required. This indicates that 5. 37 applies where significant
rights, usually permanent andfor total rights in reserve lands are being Irans-
Jferred. On the other hand, under s. 28(2), lesser dispositions are contemplated and
the interest transferred must be temporary. 1t is evident from a review of this permit
that it does not violate the balance between autonomy and protection struck by the
fudian Act, This is not a case where surrender, with all of its administrative and legal
impositions was required in terms of the overall policy of the fndian Act?

Based on this reasoning, Major | concluded that the permit was authorized
by section 28(2) of the fudian Act. He also noted that the Band Council had
provided its consent to the permit after protracted negotiations between the
parties. Since the proceedings before the Court were based on a motion for
summary judgment, no claim of unfairness or uneven bargain had been
made, and the Court declined to make any findings on other factual and legal
issues, such as undue influence and breach of fiduciary duty, which would
require evidence and argument in a trial 2

For the minority, McLachlin ] also looked at the interplay among the sur-
render provisions, the expropriation power, and section 28(2) permits in
light of the general rule of inalienability that is inherent in the underlying
policy of the Indian Act. Mclachlin | acknowledged that the term in the
permit was not perpetual in the sense of being entirely within Hydro’s con-
trol, but she also felt that the length of the term and the nature of the alien-
ated interest were sufficiently important to take the permit beyond the scope
of section 28(2):

(1]t must be acknowledged that the easement has the pofential 1o continue forever
{or at least until the world ends and ils continuance becomes academic). In terms
relevant to the concerns of the Opetchesaht people, it shows every promise of binding
not only the current generation which never agreed to it, but many generations to
come. The permit may without exaggeration be characterized as an alienation of
reserve lands for an indefinite period, a period which has the potential to extend fo
future generations of the Opetchesaht people for as far forward as we can see. Is this,
we must ask, the type of disposition Parliament intended to allow under the summary
procedures of s. 28(2) of the fudian Act upon agreement between the Minister and
the current band council? Or is it the sort of alienation of interest in land which

255 Opotchesabl ndian Band v. Canada {1997), unreported, SCR, file no. 24161, pp. 21-22 {per Major ).
Emphasis added
256 Opetchesabl Indian Band v. Canada (1997), unreported, SCR, fle no. 24161, p. 23, Major J.
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Parliament sought to safeguard by the surrender and transfer provisions of s. 37 of
the Act?7

Since McLachlin considered the phrase “or any longer period” in subsec-
tion 28(2) of the fudian Act to be ambiguous, she relied on the principles
governing the interpretation of statutes relating to Indians as set out in
Nowegifick v. The Queen™® and Mitchell v. Peguis Indian Band ™ which
provide that statutory provisions aimed at maintaining Indian rights should be
broadly interpreted, whereas provisions aimed at limiting or. abrogating such
rights should be narrowly construed. Having regard for the balance between
the two extremes of autonomy and protection that xun through various provi-
sions of the fndian Act, McLachlin J concluded:

Section 28 was never intended to deal with major long-term alienations of Indian
interests in their reserve lands. Il was aimed rather at the short-term, non-exclusive
occupant — the ilinerant worker, service provider or agricultural lessee. The phrase
“any longer period”, consistent with this interpretation, is best understood as a period
defined in relatively short terms of months and years. This makes sense in textual
terms as well. The phrase “any longer period” relates to the earlicr phrase “a period
not exceeding one year”. This suggests that what Parliament intended by “any Ionger
period” was also a term capable of being expressed in finite calendar terms.

The question arises: how long is the short or temporary use contemplated by s.
28(2)? For the purposes of this case, it is unnecessary to decide this issue; certainly
an allenation which has the potential to go on as long as anyone can foresee falls
outside the scope of s. 28(2). However, for purposes of guidance in other cases, |
would suggest that commitments longer than the two-year mandate of band councils
should not be transacted through s, 28(2). -

This interpretation is consistent with the policy of the Royal Proclamation of
1763, and the principle that the long-term alicnation of interests in Indian lands miay
be effected only through sirrender to the Crown and consent of the hand member-
ship as 2 whole. To accept the views of the respondents in this case Is o accept that
parties secking to obtain long-term or indefinite interests in reserve lands shosi of
outriglt ownership could use the s. 28 permit provisions to circumvent the surrender
requirements of the fndian Act and proceed to dispose of long-term interests in land
with only the consent of the band council. Tt would be to attribute (o Parliament the
intention to establish two alternative and inconsistent ways for alienation of major
interests in reserve lands — one strictly limited and regulated under s. 37, the other
requiring only the approval of the Minister and the band council. Finally, it would
attribute to Parliament the intention to accord the entire band membership the right

257 Opetchesabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997), uneeported, SCR, file no. 24161, pp. 6-7, McLachlin §. Emphasis
added

258 Nowegijick v. The Queen, [1983] 1 SCR 29.
250 Mitchall v. Paguis Indian Band, [1990] 2 SR 85.
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to decide on alienation under s. 37, while depriving the membership of that powet for
transfers that may represent equally serious alienations under s. 28(2), and this
despite the fact that s. 37 establishes consent of the band members as a condition of
alienation not only of outright transfers of land, but of “leases” or other “disposi-
tions”. I cannot accept that these were Parliament’s intentions.

In view of the majority and minority decisions in Opetchesabt, it is clear
that there are two factors which must be taken into account in determining
whether a section 28(2) permit can authorize a particular use and occupa-
tion of reserve land. The first relates to the length of the term in the permit
and whether its duration is reasonably ascertainable. The second relates to
the nature and extent of the interest granted. Whether a section 28(2} permit
can be used to authorize the use and occupation of reserve land or whether
the general rule should apply — namely, that a surrender under section 37 is
required to grant the interest in question — will depend on the facts of each
case.

In summary, the Court in Opetchesabt took particular note of the fact that
the section 28(2) permit did not grant exclusive rights to Hydro. The permit
was granted for the purposes of a power transmission line, which meant that,
with the exception of the land and air space occupied by the poles and trans-
mission lines, the Band shared the use of the land covered by the right of
way. In concluding that the permit fell within the scope of section 28(2), the
Court considered whether the permit was intended to be permanent as well
as the extent of the rights being granted, since “s. 37 applies where signifi-
cant rights, usually permanent and/or total rights in reserve lands are being
transferred.”?! In so concluding, the Court held, in our view, that the appro-
priateness of a section 28(2) permit — as opposed to a section 37 surrender
(or a section 35 expropriation) — is 4 question of degree rather than an
absolute test. The degree is to be measured, in our view, by reference to two
sliding scales: one temporal, relating to the length of the term and the
ascertainability of its termination, and the other substantive, relating to the
content of the interest granted.

Applying the principles of the Opetchesaht decision to the facts before us
in the case of the Eel River Bar First Nation, we consider the following factors
to be relevant in determining whether the use and occupation of reserve land
for the pipeline, access road, and pumping house were properly authorized
by the 1970 letter-permit issued under section 28(2)} of the Indian Act:

260 Opetchosabt indian Rand v. Canada (1997), unreported, 5CR, fle no. 24161, pp. 15-17, Mclachlin ).
261 Opetcbesabl Indian Band v. Canada (1997), unreported, SCR, file no. 24161, p. 22, Major J.
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1 The interests granted in the 1970 letter-permit are statutory in origin and
are analogous to an easement over the Band's reserve lands which termi-
nates when the land is no longer required for the purposes of 2 pumping
station, pipeline right of way, and an access road.

2 The NBWA's rights to the access road are not exclusive, since both the
-Band and the NBWA have the right to use the access road.

3 Although the nature of the NBWA’s rights to use 2.43 acres of the reserve
land for the purposes of a, pumping station and a pipeline right of way are
cssentially exclusive, since the pipeline runs above the ground and pre-
cludes the Band from sharing the use of this portion of the reserve, the
extent of the interest granted is not substantial. The amount of land
granted in the permit is approximately 0.66 per cent of the total reserve
base left after the expropriation and easements are granted.*%

4 The right of way is granted for an indeterminate period. Although it could
not be known exactly when the NBWA’s rights would terminate, the permit
is for a period whose end is readily ascertainable and does not amount to
a grant in perpetuity. Whether the land is required by the NBWA for the
purposes outlined in the permit is a justiciable issue that does not lie
within the sole discretion of the NBWA.

5 The grant of an easement to the NBWA was specifically intended #of to be
a “permanent and/or total” disposition of land. The original intention of
the parties, as evidenced by the 1963 Band Council Resolution and by
subsequent correspondence, was to provide for a taking of the land by the
Province, pursuant to section 35 of the Act. Ultimately, the land required
for headpond purposes was expropriated. The option of the section 28(2)
permit was championed by McKinnon as a way to protect the Band from
the NBWA later claiming that the agreement was invalid and that compen-
sation was not payable to the First Nation because it did not have rights to
the riverbed or to the fishery. As a result of the representations made by
Indian Affairs, a lesser interest was to be granted to the NBWA Lo use and
occupy the land for specific purposes and for a determinable period of
time. The grant of a limited permit was intended to give the Band and
Indian Affairs some leverage to ensure that the NBWA fulfilled its part of

262 The air phoio interpretation study, ix which the leakage problems were detailed, indicated that approximately 6
hectzres (or approximately 15 acres) were unusable as 2 result of the leakage. At that time, this area would
have amounted 10 approximaiely 1 per cent of the total reserve area.
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the agreement with respect to the annual payments for water pumped out
of the headpond.

6 With respect to the “substantive” branch of the Supreme Court's analysis
in Opetchesabt, there is no evidence before us in this case that the pump-
ing station and the pipeline right of way substantially interfere with. the
First Nation’s use of its reserve land. Although there is evidence in the
record relating to problems of leakage from the pipeline and the effect of
this leakage on the First Nation and on the reserve land,** these issues
relate to the NBWA’s obligation to maintain the pipeline, rather than to
Canada’s role in the granting of the permit. Indeed, if the land required
for the pumping station and the pipeline had been granted to the NBWA
pursuant to a surrender or an expropriation, problems with leakage would
still have arisen.

We find that considering these factors in light of the temporal and substan-
tive branches of the Opetchesabt analysis leads us to a conclusion that the
permit was properly granted under section 28(2) of the Act. The permit was
for an indefinite but clearly ascertainable and justiciable period of time. The
interest in the land granted did not amount to a permanent disposition of an
interest in land such that it required the consent of the Band membership as
4 whole pursuant to a surrender under section 37.

We also must have regard to the Supreme Court’s view in Opeichesabt of
the policy underlying the Act as a whole, and whether the permit in the pre-
sent case struck a proper “balance between autonomy and protection.” We
deal with this issue in more detail below in considering Canada’s fiduciary
duties in relation to the construction of the dam and the negotiations leading
up to the 1970 agreement. Based on the reasoning above, however, we find
that the section 28(2) permit granting rights to use and occupy reserve Jand
for the purpose of an access road, a pipeline, and a pumping station was
given under valid authority.

Section 35 Expropriation of the Headpond

The First Nation submits tliat the expropriation of 61.57 acres of reserve land
for the headpond in 1970 was invalid, based on the following arguments.
First, neither the federal nor the provincial Crown could exercise the expro-

263 E. Hulsman, Regional Planner, Band Support, Atlantic Region, Department of Indian and Inult Afairs, to RD.
Campbell, Director, Reserves & Trusis, Attantic Regional Office, Fehruary 7, 1984, DIAND file E-5661-3-06013,
vol. 1 (ICC Docwnents, p. 610),
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priation powers under section 35 of the fudian Act or provincial legislation
because those powers are exercisable only in the event that agreement can-
not be reached with the owner. In this case, the Band consented to the use of
the land for the purposes of the dam, so the powers were not cxercisable.
Second, Canada failed to represent the Band’s iuterests by allowing the
expropriation, since the “dominant intent was not to benefit the best interests
of the members of the First Nation but the actual purpose was to enhance
certain corporate interests.”? Third, the expropriation procedures set out in
the New Brunswick Expropriation Act*S were not complied with. Therefore,
the First Nation submits that the Crown was required to obtain a surrender
for the disposition of these lands.

In response, Canada submits that the statutory provisions of the provincial
Expropriation Act and the Indian Act were complied with, because the Gov-
ernor in Council consented to the taking of the reserve lands for public pur-
poses. The fact that the Band consented to the use of expropriation powers
does not alter the non-consensual nature of the taking of the reserve lands,
so a surrender was not required. Moreover, the 1970 agreement was valid
and does not invalidate the expropriation.

Before considering the merits of the parties’ submissions, it is necessary
to refer to the wording of section 35, which states:

35.(1) Where by an Act of the Parliament of Canada or a provincia! legislature Her
Majesty in right of a province, 4 municipal or local authority or 4 corporation is
empowered to take or to use tands or any interest therein without the consent of the
owner, the power may, with the consent of the Governor in Gouncil and subject to any
terms that may be prescribed by the Governor in Council, be exercised in retation to
lands in 2 reserve or any interest therein.

{2) Unless the Governor in Council otherwise directs, all matters relating to compul-
sory taking or using of lands in a reserve under subsection {1 shall be governed by
the stafute by which the powers are conferred.

(3) Whenever the Govemnor in Council has consented o the exercise by a province,
authority or corporation of the powers referred to in subsection (1), the Governor in
Councif may, in lieu of the province, authority or corporation taking or using the
lands without consent of the owner, authorize a transfer or grant of such lands to the
province, authority or corporation, subject to any terms that may be prescribed by the
Governor in Council.

264 Snbmission and Clatification of the Evidence and Supporting Legal Arguments ln respect of the Eel River Bar
FirsL Nation Land Claim, February 14, 1995 (ICC Exhibit 8, p, 26).
265 Rxpropriation Act, BSNB 1952, ¢. 77, as amended.
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{(4) Any amount that is agreed upon or awarded in respect of the compulsory taking
or using of land under Lhis section or that is paid for a transfer or grant of land
pursuant to this section shall be paid to the Receiver General of Canada for the use
and benefit of the Band or for the use and benefit of any Indian who is entitled to
compensation or payment as 2 result of the exercise of the powers referred fo in
subsection (1).

Section 35 provides two methods by which the Province of New Brunswick
could have obtained the Indian interest in reserve lands for the establishment
of a headpond. Section 35(1) states that where a province is “empowered to
take or to use lands . . . without the consent of the owner,” the Governor in

Council may consent to the exercise of the province’s expropriation powers -

for the compulsory taking of reserve land. Where the Governor in Council
consents to the actual exercise of such expropriation powers under subsec-
tion (1), section 35(2) stipulates that all matters respecting the compulsory
taking of land shall be governed by the constating legislation of the expropri-

ating authority, unless the Governor in Council otherwise directs. The second.

method is set out in section 35(3), which provides that the Governor in
Council may “in lieu of the province . . . taking or using the lands without
consent of the owner, authorize a transfer or grant of such lands to the
province . . . subject to any terms that may be prescribed by the Governor in
Council.” Section 35(3), therefore, provides the Governor in Council with the
discretion to transfer reserve lands to the expropriating authority without

triggering the procedural requirements of the constating legislation that

would otherwise govern the compulsory taking of reserve land.
There is a significant difference between the two methods of expropriating

reserve lands. If the Governor in Council provided its consent for the taking

under section 35(1), the province would have been required to exercise its
expropriation powers in accordance with the procedures set out in the pro-
vincial Expropriation Act. If, however, authority was provided under section
35(3), the procedures of the provincial legislation would not necessarily
apply because the Governor in Council has a broad discretion (o prescribe
the terms for the transfer of reserve land in lieu of an actual taking of land by
the province. Whether the expropriation power is exercised under the
authority of subsection (1) or (3), it is necessary in both instances to
demonstrate that the expropriating authority is “empowered” to take lands
without the consent of the owner.

Sections 35(1) and (3), therefore, contemplate that Indian reserve land
could be expropriated either with or without the band’s consent providing
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that the Governor in Council provides its consent as required by the Act. In
situations where the expropriating authority cannot reach agreement with the
band on the compensation to be paid for land required for a public work,
the Governor in Council may consent to the taking under section 35(1), sub-
ject to the requirement that the expropriation procedures of the statute which
confers such powers be followed to the letter. In the present case, if the-
Governor in Council had consented to the taking of Jand on the Eel River
reserve for the headpond under section 35(1), the province would have been
required to comply strictly with the expropriation procedures of the New
Brunswick Expropriation Act*® The method of expropriation set out in sec-
- tion 3 of the Expropriation Act requires that the following conditions be met
before the Crown enters into possession, use, or enjoyment of the expropri-
ated land: (1) that the Lieutenant Governor in Council pass an Order in
Council describing the land to be expropriated; (2) that the Order in Council
and plan of the land be filed in the Registry Office; (3) that notice of the
Order in Council and a description of the land be published in a local news-
paper; and (4) that the owner be compensated for the expropriated land.
Sections 5-11 provide that where the expropriating authority and the owner
fail to agree on the amount of compensation to be paid, the matter may be
referred to the Land Compensation Board for a determination of the fair
value of the land, damages, and costs to be paid to the owner. Therefore,
where the owner and the expropriating authority are unable to reach agree-
ment on compensation, the procedures set out in sections 5 to 11 provide a
measure of protection to land owners to ensure that they obtain fair compen-
sation for expropriated land.

If, however, the expropriating authority is able to reach agreement with a
band on the compensation to be paid for expropriated land, section 35(3) of
the Indian Act gives the Governor in Council the discretion to consent to the
transfer of the reserve land, in fien of the land being taken without the
band’s consent, subject to any terms that may be prescribed by the Governor
in Council. Therefore, if the band consents to the expropriation of reserve
land subject to the payment of compensation agreed to between the band and
the expropriating authority, there is no need to trigger the procedural
requirements of the provincial legislation, since the land can be transferred
pursuant to section 35(3).

266 Exprapriation Act, RSNB 1952, ¢. 77, as amended.
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Although the wording of the 1970 Order in Council did net specify which
provision was used to authorize the transfer, it is our view that there was a
valid taking of reserve lands for the headpond under section 35(3) of the
Indian Act. The wording of the Order in Council and the surrounding cir-
cumstances support a finding that the Governor in Council authorized the
teansfer of administration of the reserve land to the Province of New Bruns-
wick under section 35(3), in lieu of the province having to take the lands
without the consent of the Band pursuant to the procedures of the Expropri-
ation Act.

This finding is based on three main considerations. First, on July 7, 1970,
shortly after the execution of the 1970 agreement, the solicitor for the NBWA,
P.A. MacNutt, wrote to ].H. MacAdam, the administrator of lands for the IAB,
to finafize the documentation required to transfer administration and control
of the lands to the province. In his letter, MacNutt discussed the authority
under which the lands would be transferred:

I presume you are proposing to proceed under the authority of subsection (3) of
section 35 of the Indian Act, chapter 149, RS.C. 1952, It is my interpretation of
subsection (3} of section 35 that if a provincial authority has powers of expropriation
that the Governor in Council may in lieu of authorizing the expropriation authorize
the transfer or the making of a grant of such lands to the provinclal authority subject
to such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the Governor in Council. I
might point out in this context that the New Brunswick Water Authority does nof have
powers of cxpropriation under the Expropriation Act of the Province of New Bruns-
wick nor does it have such powers under the Act under which it was incorporated.
However, the Minister of Natural Resources of the Province of New Brunswick has
powers of expropriation. I enclose herewith a copy of the Expropriation Act of the
Province of New Brunswick. You will note that the definition of “Minister” is suffi-
ciently broad Lo include the Minister of Natural Resources to expropriate such lands
under the Exproprigtion Act and convey same to the New Brunswick Water Authority.
1 might add that all land acquired from private landowners in the headpond area has
been in the name of Her Majesty the Queen in right of the Province of New Brunswick
as represented by the Minister of Natural Resonrces. Once this land is fully assembled
it will then be conveyed to the New Brunswick Water Authority for administration. You
will note that the agreement entered into between the New Brunswick Water Authority
and the Council of the Bel River Band and Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada
provides in section 1 that upon payment by the Authority Canada. will arrange for the
transfer of the administeation and control of the lands in question to her Majesty the
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Queen in right of the Province of New Brunswick as represented by the Minister of
Natural Resources. X’

On July 23, 1970, MacAdam responded to MacNuit’s letter as follows:

Since you advise that control and management of the lands to be inundated shown as
Lots 59, 60, and 61 on CLSR. Plan 55628 is to be transferred to the Minister of
Natural Resoutces, concurrently with this letter I have made 4 submission to the Gov-
ernor in Council for authority under section 35 of the Indian Act to cffect the
transfer ‘

Accordingly, it would appear that MacAdam agreed with MacNutt’s suggestion
that section 35(3) provided sufficient authority for the Governor in Council
to transfer the lands for the headpond to the provincial Minister of Natural
Resources. Furthermore, the wording of the Order in Council confirms that
the Governor in Council consented to the transfer of reserve land, subject to
the payment of compensation, in lieu of the province being required to exer-
cise its expropriation powers under the Expropriation Act. Given that the
Band had agreed to compensation for the land and its damages, it was not
necessary for the Governor in Council to authorize a compulsory taking
under section 35(1) and the procedures of the Expropriation Act, which
would otherwise govern a taking of land without consent of the owner.

Second, it is clear that the province was “empowered” to expropriate the
land in question. Section 2 of the Expropriation Act provides that the “Licu-
tenant Governor in Council may at any time purchase or expropriate any land
that may be deemed necessary or desirable for carrying out any public work
or enterprise, or other public purpose, or for carrving out any work or
enterprise deemed to be in the public interest.” The definition of a “work,”
“public work,” or “enterprise” set out in section 1{e) of the Expropriation
Act is broadly worded and includes such works as “dams,” “hydraulic
works,” and “hydraulic privileges.” Construction of the dam and the creation
of a headpond to supply water to the Town of Dalhousie satisfy the definition
of a “public work.”

Third, we are also satisfied that the construction of the dam and the
headpond was considered to be in the public interest. Counsel for the First

267 P.A. MacNunt, Selicitor, Department of Justice, Fredericton, NB, to JH. MacAdam, Administralor of Lands,
Indian Affairs Branch, Otiawa, July 7, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, pp. 488-89).

268 JH. MacAdom, Administrator of Lands, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Indian Affaics, Ottawa, 1o P.A.
MacNur, Solicitor, Department of Justice, Fredericton, NB, July 23, 1579, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, wol. 3
{(ICC Documents, pp. 493-94).
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Nation submitted that “the dominant intent was not to benefit the best inter-
ests of the members of the First Nation but the actual purpose was to
enhance certain corporate interests. It was reported that in the interest of the
Town and the industry users, Section 35 expropriation powers would be used
because it would be too difficult to use the surrender provisions.”? In Krz-
ger, a similar argument was raised by the claimant and rejected by the court,
which concluded thal its authority to review the exercise of a statutory power
to expropriate is limited to situations where there is “evidence that the ‘pre-
dominant purpose’ of the expropriation was in furtherance of a ‘tortious con-
spiracy to injure the owner of the land.”™?™ In our view, the exercise of the
discretion to consent to the expropriation of land in this case is beyond ques-
tion, because the dominant purpose of the work was to promote economic
activity and job creation in the general public interest. On this point, we
concur with Canada’s written submissions:

The lands were taken for public purposes. The evidence discloses that the impetus
for the construction of the dam was that the Town of Dalhousie wanted to secure a
good water supply as to attract an industry to their community. . . Canadian Industries
Limited was proposing to commence operations in Dalhousie, and would have needed
an adequale water supply in order to do so. This water supply was assured by the
Provincial Government . . . Also it was anticipated that the New Brunswick Interna-
tional Paper Plant would be increasing its capacity in the next few vears and that this
would also require an additional volmne of water . . . While the immediate aitention
for constructing the dam appears Lo have been only for the benefit of two plants, it
can be appreciated that the increasing operations of two plants would have significant
employment opportunities for the Town as a whole as well as the north shore of New
Brunswick.?"!

We find that the dominant purpose of the dam was to benefit the community
generally by increasing the fresh water supply and by potentially enhancing
industrial concentration in the area. Although other sources for the water
supply were considered by the town, the site chosen was the most suitable
location for the establishment of the dam. In short, there is no evidence that
the predominant purpose of the dam was “in furtherance of a tortious con-
spiracy to injure the owner of the land,” and the Band itself was interested in

269 Eel River Bar Ficst Nallon, Submission and Clarification of (he Evidence and Supporting Legal Arguments in
Respect of the Eel River Bar First Nation Land Claim, February 15, 1995 (ICC Exhibil 8, p. 26).

270 Kruger v. The (ueen, [1985] 3 CNLR 15 al 37. The decision of Warne 0. Province of Nova Scotia et ol
{1969), 1 NSR (2d) 150 at 152-53, was ciled in support of the test to be met for the couris to review the
exercise of (he discretion 10 expropriaie land.

271 Submissions on Behall of the Government of Canada, February 14, 1997, p. 34.
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the job prospects that would come to the area as a result of the dam’s con-
struction. Therefore, it is our view that the expropriation of reserve land for
the dam and headpond was for a valid public purpose.

Since this was an expropriation under section 35(3), it was not necessary
for the federal or the provincial Crown to comply with the procedures for a
compulsory taking, as set out in the Expropriation Act, because that Act not
apply in this case. Even if it did apply, we are not convinced that there was
any failure to comply with its provisions. Under the Expropriation Act, a
power existed for the province to apply to a court of competent jurisdiction
for an order authorizing the taking of possession of property. However, this
specific provincial power is not required to be exercised unless a person
resists, opposes, or disputes the taking. Not every statutory stricture under
the Expropriation Act must be fulfilled where the owner of land that is sub-
ject to expropriation has agreed and consented to the expropriation and to
the quantum offered for the expropriated land. Often it is up to the owner
who is contesting the expropriation, or more typically the compensation, to
use procedures under the Expropriation Act or other expropriation statutes
to challenge the compulsory taking or the quantum of compensation oftered
by the expropriating authority. The Expropriation Act is typical in that it
allows compulsory takings by the provincial Crown, subject to the statutory
right to compensation. It also provides a process by which compensation
may be determined by a Land Compensation Board.*”? Implicit in this ability
to have compensation determined hy a provincial tribunal, however, is the
power for the parties involved to consent to and agree on compensation for
the expropriation. The Eel River Bar First Nation clearly consented to and
settled for compensation to the compulsory taking.

This brings us to the First Nation’s second main argument: that neither the
provincial nor the federal Crown could exercise its expropriation powers
because such powers can be exercised only where agreement cannot be
reached with the band. In this case, the Band Council Resolution of April 9,
1963, requested that the Governor in Council allow the Town of Dalhousie to
expropriate reserve land under section 35 of the Act. On April 16, 1963, a
general band meeting was held to discuss the proposed construction of the
dam. Although it was not a formal surrender meeting, 24 out of the 25 eligi-
bie voters who attended were in support of the proposal to construct the
dam, subject to the agreed terms set out in the Band Council Resolution. The

272 Expropriation dct, RSNB 1952, ¢ 77, as amended, ss. 48, 5, 6, 7, 11, 12, and 13.
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Band Council requested that the land be expropriated because there was an
urgency to proceed with the project. If a surrender vote was required, the
Band and the IAB were of the view that at least two surrender meetings would
be necessary, since only 38 eligible voters lived on the reserve out of a total
of 87 eligible voters.

When the IAB sought legal advice on the proposed expropriation, how-
ever, it was advised by the departmental Legal Advisor that the expropriation
powers of the town under the Towns Act?’ “are exercisable by the Town
only in the event that an agreement is not or'cannot be reached with the land
owner. The Council Resolution, provided the terms thereof are acceptable to
the Town, is tantamount to an agreement and therefore the expropriation
powers are not exercisable.”?* The Legal Advisor, therefore, recommended
that an interim permit be granted to the town under section 28 (2) of the
Indian Act, pending a formal surrender by the Band. Accordingly, the First
Nation submits that Canada failed to follow its own legal advice by proceeding
to expropriate in the face of the Band’s consent.

None of this advice, however, applied to the power of the Province of New
Brunswick to expropriate pursuant to the Expropriation Act, which is the
applicable legislation in this case. Even if the First Nation is correct in its
assertion that the powers of expropriation under the Towns Act were not
exercisable in cases where the owner had consented to the taking, we are not
awate of any similar restrictions in the provisions of the Expropriation Act
or section 35 of the Indian Act. Section 35 refers only to whether an entity is
empowered to take or use land without the owner’s consent, not whether
there is actual consent in a particular case. Furthermore, for the reasons
stated above, it is our view that section 35(3) of the Indian Act conferred on
the Governor in Council a broad discretion to consent to the transfer of
reserve land to the province, in lieu of the land being taken without the
band’s consent, subject o the terms contained in the 1970 agreement
between the NBWA, the Band Council, and IAB. Because the Band consented
to the expropriation of reserve land, subject to the payment of compensation
agreed to between the Band and the NBWA, the transfer of land was author-
ized by the Governor in Council under section 35(3) rather than section

273 Towns Act, SNB 1961-62, ¢. 70, section 132, states: “A council may proceed lo acquire by expropriation
proceedings lands, buildings and other structures, including any interest therein, whenever a public necessity
exists therefor and whenever the council cannot agree with the owner or owners of such property on terms of
purchase or settlement . . ."

274 Jules D'Astous, Chief, Economic Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, Ottawa, to Regional Supervisor,
Mar;ﬂmw, Indian Affairs Branch, Avgust 19, 1963, DIAND file E-5661-3-06013-D2, vol. | (ICC. Documents, p.
220).
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35(1), and there was no need to trigger the procedural requirements of the
Expropriation Act.

Furthermore, even though the Band Council consented to the use of
expropriation powers under section 35 of the Indian Act and agreed to a
negotiated settlement on compensation for the land taken, the transfer was
still, essentially, a compulsory taking of land. The concept of expropriation is
described as follows in the The Law of Expropriation and Compensation
in Canada:

In general terms “expropriation” is the compulsory (i.e. against the wishes of the
owner), acquisition of property, usnally real property, by the Crown or by one of its
anthorized agencies. The power of expropriation is generally recognized as a neces-
sary adjunct of modemn government, but its exercise nearly always results in a teau-
matic experience for the affected property owner ¥

The fact that land owners often enter into negotiated settlements with the
expropriating authority does not necessarily make the expropriation any less
of 2 compulsory taking of laed without the owner’s consent, as the Law
Reform Commission of British Columbia stated in its 1971 Report on

Expropriation:

Where expropriatiug powers cxist, negotiated sefflements penerally cannot be
regarded as voluntary on the part of the vendors. True, in some cases, they may be
glad to sell and, in others, although they may have been reluctant to sell initially, the
vendors may be happy with the price they bargained for. But the fuct of the matter is
that, unless the owners agree to sell, the expropriation powers witl be exercised.
No donbt most expropriating authorifies will at some stage warn Ihe owner that,
if agreement cannot bhe  reached,  expropriation  proceedings will be
commenced "

In this case, the town officials were informed in 1963 that “‘there was no
certainty that the Governor-in-Council would grant permission [under section
35 of the Indian Act] in the face of complete opposition from the Band
Council."#7 Although it was the policy of the IAB to seek the Band’s consent
to an expropriation hefore seeking the Governor in Council’s consent to take

275 Eric CE. Todd, The Law of Expropriation and Compensation in Canada, 2d ed. (Scarboraugh, Oot.: Cars-
well, 1992, 1.

276 Law Relovm Cominission of Brilish Columbia, Report on Exprropriation (Viclosia: Queens Printer, 1971), 37.
Emphasis added.

277 F.B, McKinnon, Supervisor, Maritime Repional Office, to Indiza Affairs Branch, January 21, 1963, DIAND file
271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 172-73). Emphasis added.
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reserve land, the Governor in Council nevertheless had a broad discretion to
consent to the exercise of the Province’s expropriation powers in this case if
the public interest was important enough to justify a compulsory taking.
There can be no doubt that the Band and the IAB must have considered the
expropriation of reserve land to be a distinct possibility, given the importance
of promoting industry and creating jobs in the Dalhousie area in the 1960s.
The reality of the situation, therefore, is that negotiations on compensation
proceeded between the Band, the town, and the NBWA in the shadow of a
possible expropriation of the land without the Band's consent.

Under section 35(3) of the Indian Act, the Governor in Council had the
discretion to consent to the province “taking or using” the land in question,
in Heu of the province exercising its powers under an act “of the provincial
legislature” to take or to use lands without the consent of the owner. Clearly,
there was negotiation, agreement, and consent of the Band as to the quantum
of compensation to be paid by the NBWA. This agreement, together with the
consent of the Governor in Council, obviated the need to engage in many of
the formal expropriation procedures provided under the Expropriation Act.
To argue that section 35(3) required the province to engage in the formal,
mechanical, and procedural requirements of the provincial Expropriation
Act is to ignore the power of the Governor in Council under section 35(3) to
authorize a transfer of reserve land to the province in lieu of a compulsory
taking. This argument would also result in the practical effect of there being
no distinction between section 35(1) and (3). That is, there would be no
difference between the two provisions and subsection (2), which stipulates
“that the legislation of the expropriating avthority shall apply to compulsory
takings under section 35{1), would be rendered meaningless and redundant
because the logical extension of this argument would require both section
35(1) and (3) expropriations to adhere to provincial expropriation proce-
dures. In our view, this could not have been the intent of Parliament.

In conclusion, if the Governor in Council provided its consent for the tak-
ing under section 35(1), the province would have been required to exercise
ils expropriation powers in accordance with the procedures set out in the
provincial Expropriation Act. However, where authority was provided under
section 35(3) and there was consent to the terms of the expropriation, many
of the procedures of the provincial legislation would not apply, because the
Governor in Council had the authority to prescribe the terms for the transfer
of reserve land in lieu of an actual taking of land by the province under
provincial legistation,
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Also implicit in the First Nation’s submissions is the argument that the
Crown ought to have sought a surrender, rather than authorizing an expro-
priation of reserve kand for the headpond. In Opelchesabt, Major J con-
firmed that, although the general rule requires that sales, leases, and other
dispositions of Indian interests in reserve land should be effected by way of a
surrender, section 37 must be read in conjunction with and subject to other
provisions of the Act, including section 35 which provides for the compulsory
taking of reserve land without the band’s consent. In the case of a section
28(2) permit, the Court stated that the question to be asked is whether the
permit was properly granted under that section. If section 28(2) did not
apply, then the default provision requiring a surrender under section 37
woulld be triggered. Similarly, it is our view that the question is whether there
was a proper disposition of reserve land under section 37 such that it did not
trigger the general rule requiring a surrender. A similar argument was raised
by the claimant and rejected by the Federal Court of Appeal in the Kruger
case, which was considered in the Commission’s report on the Sumas Inquiry
into the expropriation of 4 railway right of way. As the Commission stated in
that report:

We cannot agree, however, that the Crown breached its fiduciary duty in failing to
obtain a surrender before the land was alienated to third parties. As discussed above,
a surrender and a taking are different processes. Furthermore, the surrender provi-
sions in the Mndian Act [of 1906], section 48, provides that “cxcept as in this part
otherwise provided” no reserve shall be alienated, etc., without a surrender. What is
included “in this part” is the expropriation provision, section 46. In Kruger, the Court
undertook this same analysis and atl three judges concluded that compliance with the
surrender provisions of the fndian Act is not required when reserve lands are expro-
priated under the equivalent (o section 46.*®

For the reasons stated above, we conclude that there was a valid exercise
of the expropriation power under section 35. Therefore, it was not necessary
for Canada to seek a surrender of the land required for the headpond from
the Eel River Band. Having said that, we do intend to address whether the
Crown owed any fiduciary obligations with respect to the exercise of its dis-
cretion under section 35 under Issue 3 below. We will also address the
implications of the First Nation’s argument that the Band was not represented
by independent legal counsel throughout these negotiations. Before turning

278 Indian Claims Commission, Sumas Inguiry: Report on Indian Reserve No. & Railway Right of Way Claim
{Ottawa, February 1985), 47-48, repr. (1996) 4 1CCP 40-41.

L&
113



INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

to this matter, however, we wish to deal with the question of the authority to
use the land from 1963 to 1970.

Trespass and Delay from 1963 to 1970

In 1963, the Town of Dalhousie built the dam on the Eel River reserve and
flooded additional lands without any specific authority to do so until 1970,
when the headpond was expropriated and a letter-permit was granted to the
NBWA for the pumping station, the pipeline right of way, and the access road
to maintain the Eel River water supply system. No compensation was paid for
the use and occupation of reserve land until 1970, when the agreement was
entered into with the Band. The First Nation submits that Canada permitted a
trespass on the land by allowing construction of the dam to proceed without
proper authority, and therefore violated section 18(1) of the Act.

Canada submits that there was no trespass withiu the meaning of the
Indian Act because the Band and the Band Council consented to the town
entering on the reserve in 1963 to build the dam. Canada contends that the
April 9, 1963, Band Council Resolution granted permission to the town to
enter on the reserve and build the dam, and that it recommended that the
Governor in Council expropriate the land required under section 35 of the
Indian Act. Since the Band Council Resolution provided for the payment of
compensation before the end of 1963 for lands to be flooded, and later in
September 1967 after losses to the clam harvest had been determined, the
town proceeded on the basis of this authority while negotiations continued.
Canada contends that while the parties could not have anticipated that it
would take seven years to finalize an agreement on compensation and the use
of the land, members of the Band “would have been estopped from pressing
a trespass suit because they had agreed to allow the Town to enter on the
reserve and carry out the work necessary for the completion of the dam and
the dyke, as evidenced by the vote at the general meeting and the BCR of
April 9, 1963."%7 Even if the Band was not estopped from raising a claim of
trespass, Canada submils that the Band suffered no damages, since the 1970
agreement paid compensation to the Band for all damages and losses suf-
fered as a result of the dam’s construction and any alleged trespass.

After considering the arguments of counsel, we conclude that there was a
trespass on the reserve from 1963 until 1970. Whether the Band suffered any

279 Submissious on Behalf of the Government of Canada, February 14, 1997, p. 43.
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damages for which it was not compensated is a separate question that will be
considered later in this report.

In our view, the sections of the Indian Act governing the use and occupa-
tion of reserve land or its disposition to non-Indians must be interpreted in
such a way as to balance a band’s autonomy against the Crown’s supervisory
and protective role. The Supreme Court of Canada in the Apsassin®® and
Opetchesabt decisions held that the purpese of the requirement of the
Crown’s approval in the case of a surrender under section 37 or a section
28(2) permit s to ensure that, in addition to the approval of the band, the
proposed transaction or use must also be approved by the Minister or the
Governor in Council, as the case may be, to prevent the band from being
exploited. The protective responsibility of the Minister of Indian Affairs with
respect to the use and occupation of reserve land is made abundantly clear
in the wording of section 28 of the Indian Act, which states:

28.(1) Subject to subsection (2}, any deed, lease, contract, instrument, docu-
ment or agreement of any kind, whether written or oral, by which a band or a
member of a band purporis to permit a person other than & member of that band
to occupy or use a reserze or o reside or otherwise exercise any rights on a reserve
is void.

(2) The Minister may by permit in writing authorize any person for a period ool
exceeding one year, or with the consent of the council of the band for any longer
period, to occupy or use a reserve of to reside or otherwise exercise rights on a
teserve. [Finphasis added.}

If use and occupation of reserve lands through means other than those
specified in the Indian Act, including vses allowed solely by the Band, were
sanctioned, the Crown would be released from its protective responsibility,
contrary to the intent of the Indian Act and the policy that underlies it.
Accordingly, unless the wse and occupation has been authorized by the
Crown in one of the forms contemplated by the Act — surrender, expropria-
tion, or permit — the usc and occupation of reserve land is contrary to the
Act.

Based on the Facts before us, it is clear that the 1963 Band Council Reso-
lution could not provide sufficient authorization to the town to enter on and
use reserve land for flooding purposes. Section 28(1) states in no uncertain
terms that the Band’s agreement is void unless the Minister authorizes the

280 The dpsassin decision is cited as Blueberry River Indian Band and Doig River Indian Band v. Canada
(Ministar of indian Affzirs and Nortbern Development), 1995] 4 SCR 344, [1996] 2 CNLR 25.
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use of the reserve land by issuing a permit in writing. Therefore, the consent
or agrcement of the Band, as expressed in the 1963 Band Council Resolu-
tion, is void because no permit was issued by the Minister under section
28(2) as required. This state of affairs remained the same until September
1968, when then Minister of Indian Affairs Jean Chrétien issued a one-year
permit allowing the NBWA access to the land to “carry out certain works in
connection with a dam, water lines and allied works.”! At this point, the
NBWA had the proper authority to use and occupy the land for these pur-
poses. The reserve lands flooded by the headpond, however, continued to be
in a state of trespass until they were expropriated in 1970.

We find, therefore, that there was a trespass on reserve land from 1963 to
1970, the extent of which was narrowed by the 1968 permit. As we set out
below, however, we are unable to conclude that any outstanding legal obliga-
tion necessarily flows from this trespass because the 1970 agreement was
intended to compensate the Eel River Band for its losses and damages arising
from the construction of the dam. Whether the Crown fulfilled its fiduciary
duties to the Eel River Band during the negotiations leading up to the 1970
agreement, and whether the Band received fair and equitable compensation
for its losses, are considered in the next section of this report.

ISSUE 3 FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS OF THE CROWN

Did the Eel River Bar First Nation receive equitable and fair compensation for
the losses suffered as a result of the establishment of the Eel River dam?

Did the federal Crown have a fiduciary duty to negotiate the compensation
agreement of May 1970 on behalf of the Lel River Bar First Nation directly
with third parties? If so, did the federal Crown breach that fiduciary duty?

Did the federal Crown have a fiduciary duty to provide independent legal
advice during the negotiations that led to the execution of the compensation
agreement of May 1970? If so, did the federal Grown breach that fiduciary
duty?

In its written submission, the First Nation argued that Canada violated its
fiduciary obligations by failing to provide independent legal advice when the
various agreements were negotiated with the Band Council, by “failing to

281 Eel River Band Council — Miramichi Agency, Eel Rlver, New Brunswick, Angust 20, 1968, Band Council Resaln-
tion (ICC Docwnenis, pp. 356-62).
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negotiate on hehalf of the First Nation, or by failing to aid the First Nation in
those negotiations.”*#? These submissions were amplified in the First Nation’s
oral argument by the assertion that Canada failed to act prudently when it
approved the 1970 agreement by order in council. In support of this asser-
tion, the First Nation relied in particular on the following assertions:

- Canada did not conduct itself prudently, because some decisions were
made with respect to the dam project in the absence of IAB officials, and
Canada did not put a stop to the project on that basis;*

» in 1966, the Band asked for a lawyer, and none was ever provided to it;***

+ when Wallace LaBillois appeared to have settled the matter on his own with
the NBWA representatives, Canada did not stop to consider whether this
was an appropriate way to settle the matter;?® and

« the Governor in Council should not have approved the deal: it was “foolish,
improvident and exploitative,” since the amounts provided to the Band in
the 1970 agreement were insufficient.

Canada, in response, relied on the Kruger decision as authority for the
proposition that Indian Affairs did have a fiduciary obligation which arose
when the NBWA first proposed to take Eel River reserve lands to construct
the dam in 1962. Based on the reasoning of Mr Justice Urie in Kruger, -
Canada submitted that the “precise obligation in this case was to ensure that
the Indians were properly compensated for the loss of their lands as part of
the obligation to deal with the land for the benefit of the Indians . ..” and
that the Crown had a duty to exercise its discretion “honestly, prudently and
for the benefit of the Band” in negotiating the Band's position in the dam
project. Since Indian Affairs took steps to ensure that the Band had the nec-
essary technical and legal advice to make a reasoned decision and that the
compensation ultimately paid to the Band was fair, the Crown discharged its
fiduciary obligations.2

In our view, any determination of the nature and scope of the Crown’s
fiduciary duties in relation to the protection of reserve lands requires a care-
ful examination of the statutory provisions that apply to the proposed transac-

282 Submissions on Behalf of the Eel River Bar First Nation, Pebruary I3, 1997, p. 37.
283 1CC Transcript, February 20, 1997, p. 61 (Murray Klippenstein}.

284 ICC Transeeipt, February 20, 1997, pp. 67-68 (Murray Klippenstein).

285 ICC Transcript, February 26, 1997, p. 69 (Murray Klippenstein).

286 Subissions oo Behalf of the Government of Canada, February 14, 1997, p. 56.

— I
117



INDTIAN CLAIMS COMMISSTON PROCEEDINGS

tion, the nature of the relationship between the Band and the Crown, and the
extent to which the Band exercises its own autonomy over decisions affecting
its interests. In analysing Canada’s fiduciary obligation in the context of the
present case, we make reference to our previous reports on the Kahkewis-
tchaw and Moosomin surrenders. In those reports, we analysed the leading
Supreme Court of Canada decisions in Guerin and Apsassin because they
offer guidance in identifying and describing the Crown’s fiduciary obligations
in the context of transactions involving Indian reserve [and. We will not
repeat at length our analysis of those cases. The following excerpt from the
Moosomin report, however, provides a short summary of the Court’s findings
in Apsassin on the the nature and scope of Canada’s fiduciary obligations in
relation to a surrender of reserve land:

The Court's comments on the question of pre-surrender fiduciary obligation may be-
divided into those touching on the contex? of the surrender and those concerning the
substantive resuft of the surrender. The former concern whether the context and
process involved in obtaining the surrender allowed the Band to consent properly to
the surrender under s. 49(1) and whether its understanding of the dealings was ade-
quate. In the following analysis, we will first address whether the Crown’s dealings
with the Band were “tainted” and, if so, whether the Band's understanding and con-
senf were affected. We will then consider whether the Band effectively ceded or abne-
gated its autonomy and decision-making power to or in favour of the Crown.

The substantive-aspects of the Supreme Court’s comments relate to whether, given
the facts and results of the surrender itself, the Governor in Council ought to have
withheld its consent to the surrender under section 49{4) because the surrender
transaction was foolish, improvident or otherwise exploitative 2

With respect to the first branch of this analysis, the Moosomin report states
that:

At the heart of Justice Gonthier's reasons is the notion that “the law treats Aborigi-
nal peoples as autonomous actors with respect to the acquisition and surrender of
their lands, and for this reason, their decisions must be respected and honoured.”*
In so holding, he emphasized the fact that the Band had considerable antonomy in
deciding whether or not to surrender its land, and that, in making its decision, it had
been provided with all the information it needed concerning the nature and conse-
quences of the surrender. Accordingly, in Justice Gonthier's view, 4 band’s decision to

287 Indian Claims Commission, Monsomin First Nation Report an 1909 Reserve Land Surrender fuguiry (Otlawa,
March 1997), p. 110. Emphasis in original. ‘

288 Blueberry River indian Band v. Canada (Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development),
[1995) 4 SCR 344, [1996] 2 CNLR 25, 130 DIR (4th) 193 a1 200,
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surrender its land should be allowed to stand unless the band’s understanding of the
terms was inadequate or because there were tainted dealings involving the Crown
which male it unsafe to rely upon the band's decision as an expression of its true
understanding and intention. ™

Also in relation to the first branch of this analysis, the Commission’s
report in Kahkewistahaw took note of Mclachtin J's finding in Apsassin that
“a fiduciary obligation arises where one person possesses unilateral power
or discretion on a matter affecting a second ‘peculiarly vulnerable’ per-
son ... [tjhe person who has ceded power frusts the person to whom
power is ceded to exercise the power with loyalty and care. This is the notion
at the heart of the fiduciary obligation.”*” For the purpeses of this inquity,
we adopt the analysis set out in the Kahkewistahaw report:

On the facts in Apsassin, McLachlin | found that “the evidence supports the view that
the Band trusted the Crown to provide it with information as to its options and
thelr foreseeable consequences, in relation o the surrender of the Fort St. John
reserve and the acquisition of new reserves which would better suit its Efe of trapping
and hunting. ## does not support the contention that the band abnogaied or
entrusted its power of decision over the surrender of the reserve to the Crown.”
Because the Band had not abnegaied or entrusted its decision-making power over the
surrender to the Crown, McLachlin | held that “the evidence [did] not support the
existence of a fiduciary duty on the Crown prior o the surrender of the reserve by the
Band." :

Justice McLachlin's analysis on what constitutes a cession or abnegation of deci-
sion-making power is vety brief, no doubt because the facts before her demonstrated
that the Beaver Indian Band had made a fully informed decision to surrender its
reserve lands and that, at the tme, the decision appeared eminently reasonable. tn
our view, it is not clear from her reasons whether she merely reached an evidentiary
conclusion when she found that the Band had not ceded or abnegated its decision-
making power to of in favour of the Crown, or whether shc intended to state that, as a
principle of law, a fiduciary oblipation arises only when a band actually takes no part
in the decision-making process at all.?!

After considering further jurisprudence from the Supreme Court of Canada
on the question of what is required to cede or abnegate decision-making
power to or in favour of a fiduciary, we continued:

289 Indian Claiens Conunission, Moosomin First Nation Report on 1909 Reserve Land Surrender inguiny (Ottaws,
March 1997), p. 111

290 Blueberry River Indian Band ». Canada (Department of Indian Affeirs and Northern Development),
[1995] & SCR 344, [1996] 2 GNLR 25, 130 DLR (4th) 193 ar 209.

291 Indian Claims Commission, Kabkewisiahaw First Nation Report on 1907 Reserve Land Surrender Inguiry
(Ottawa, February 1997), p. 112. Footnotes deleted. Emphasis in original,
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Both Norberg™? and Hodgkinson® suggest that decision-making authority may he
ceded or abnegated even where, in a strictly technical sense, the beneficiary makes
the decision. Neither case deals with the fiduciary relationship between the federal
government and an Indian band, however, and therefore Apsassin must be consid-
ered the leading authority on the question of the Crown's pre-surrender fiduciary
obligations. In reviewing that case, we cannot imagine that McLachlin J intended to
say that the mere fact thal a vote has been conducted in accordance with the surren-
der provisions of the fzdian Act precludes a finding that a band has ceded or abne-
gated its decision-making power. If that is the test, it is difficult to conceive of any
circumstances in which a cession or abnegation might be found to exist.

We conclude thal, when considering the Crown's fiduciary obligations {o 2 band, it
is mecessary to go behind the surrender decision to determine whether decision-
making power has been ceded to or abnegated in favour of the Crown. In our view, a
surrender decision which, on its face, has been made by a band may nevertheless be
said to have been ceded or abnegated. The mere fact that the band has technically
“ratified” what was, in effect, the Crown’s decision by voting in favour of it at a prop-
erly constituted surcender meeting should not change the conclusion that the decision
wus, in reality, made by the Crown. Unless the npshot of Justice McLachlin's analysis
is that the power to make a decision is ceded or abnegated ondy when a band has
completely relinquished thiat power in form as well as in substance, we do not con-
sider the fact of a band’s majority vote in favour of a surrender as being determinative
of whether a cession or abnegation has occurred. Moreover, if the test is anything Jess
than complete relinquishment in form and snbstance, it is our view that the test has
been met on the facts of this case — the Band’s decision-making power with regard to
the surrender was, in effect, ceded to or abnegated in favour of the Crown.?

Although we are not dealing with the surrender of reserve land in this
case, the Supreme Court of Canada decision in Opeichesabt confirms that
these principles also apply by analogy to the exercise of the Crown’s discre-
tion in the granting of a permit under section 28(2) of the Indian Act. This
is clear from the following statement of Mr Justice Major in Opetchesabt:

It is important that the band's interest be protected but on the other hand the auton-
omy of the band in decision making affecting its land and resources mnst be pro-
moted and respected . . . With the twin policies of autonomy and protection in mind,
5. 37 and 5. 28(2) reflect that, depending on the nature of the rights granted, different
levels of autonomy and profection are accorded. Section 37 demonstrates a4 high
degree of protection, in that the approval of the Governor in Council and the vote of
4ll of the members of the hand are required. This indicates that 5. 37 applies where

292 Norberg v, Wymrih, [1992] 4 WWR 577 at 62223 (SCC), Mclachlin J.

293 Hodpkinsom v Simms, {1994] 9 WWR 609 al 645 (5CC), La Forest J.

294 Indisn Claims Commission, Kshkewistahatw First Nation Report on 1907 Reserva Land Surrender Inguiry
(Otlawa, February 1997), pp. 114-15. Emphasis in otiginal.
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significant rights, usnally permanent and/or total rights in reserve lands are being
transferred. On the other hand, under s. 28(2}, lesser dispositions are contemplated
and the interest transferred must be temporary.

In her minority decision in Opefchesabt, Justice McLachlin expressed the
view, in obiter, that the Crown also has a fiduciary duty in the context of an
expropriation of reserve land:

The only other way [aside from a surrender under section 37] Indian interests in
reserve land can be permanently disposed of under the frdian Act is by expropria-
tion. Where the greater public good so requires, interests in reserve land may be
expropriated: s. 35. The procedure is strictly repulated and subject to consent of
the Governor i Counctl, exercised by Cabinet, which owes the Indians a fiduci-
ary duly to act in their best interests, The process is politically sensitive and open
to public scrutiny,2*

Furthermore, as counsel for Canada and the First Nation observed in their
submissions, Mr Justice Urie confirmed in the Kruger decision that the
Crown owes a fiduciary duty to a band where its reserve land is expropriated
under the mdian Act.

... it is clear that what was said by Dickson J., in the Guerin case was related to a
fiduciary relationship in the context of that case, i.e., where there was a surrender of
Indian lands to the Crown on certain terms, which tesms were changed by the Crown
without consultation with or approval by the Indians. . .. Nevertheless, for the pur-
poses of this appeal I am prepared to accept that the principle propounded by Dick-
son J., applies. When the Crown expropriated reserve lands . . . there would appear to
have been created the same kind of fiduciary obligation, vis-g-vis the Indians, as
would have been created if their lands had been surrendered. The precise obligation
in this case was to ensure that the Indians were properly compensated for the
loss of their lands as part of the obligation to deal with the land for the benefit of
the Indians, just 45 in the Guerin case, the obligation was to ensure that the terms of
the lease were those agreed to by the Indians as part of the general obligation to them
to ensure thal the surrendered kands be dealt with for their use and benefit. How they
ensured that Hes within the Crouwn's discretion as a fiduciary and so long as the
discretion is exercised honestly, prudently and for the benefit of the Indians there
can be no breach of duty.™”

295 Opelchesabl Indian Rand v. Canada (1997), nareported, SCR, file no. 24161, pp. 21-22, Major .
266 Opichesaht Indian Band v. Canada {1997), unreported, SCR, file no. 24161, p. 13, McLachiin J.
297 Kruger v. The Queen, 119851 3 CNLR 15 at 41 {FCA), Urie JA. Emphasis added
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Applying this reasoning to the case before us, it is our view that the
Crown’s fiduciary obligations in relation to the surrender of reserve land also
apply by analogy to the present situation because the same twin principles of
aufonomy and protection are inherent in sections 28(2) and 35 of the
Indian Act. Thus, in the case of the section 28(2) permit, the 1970 agree-
ment could not have any legal effect without the consent of the Minister and
the issuance of the permit. In a similar vien, consent of the Governor in
Council was also required for the expropriation under section 35 before
lands could be transferred in accordance with the terms agreed to between
the NBWA and the Band Council. Under the circumstances, the Crown had a
fiduciary duty to protect tlie Band from being exploited in the process leading
up to the 1970 agreement and in the exercise of its discretion to consent to a
section 28(2) letter-permit and expropriation of reserve land under section
35.

Based on the foregoing, our analysis of Canada’s fiduciary obligations in
this case must answer the following three questions:

1 Was the Eel River Band's understanding of the terms of the 1970 agree-
ment inadequate or did the conduct of the Crown taint the dealings in a
manner which would make it unsafe to rely on the Band’s understanding
and intention?

2 Did the Eel River Band effectively cede or abnegate its power to make
decisions with respect to the use or disposition of its reserve land?

3 Was the 1970 agreement “foolish, improvident or exploitative” such that
the Minister of Indian Affairs and the Governor in Council should not
have consented to the letter-permit and expropriation?

We will address each of these questions in turn.

Where a Band’s Understanding Is Inadequate or

the Dealings Are Tainted

It was submitted on behalf of the First Nation that the Crown breached its
fiduciary duty because it did not negotiate on behalf of the Band and failed to
assist it by interposing itself between the Band and third parties as is
required by a fiduciary. Furthermore, the Crown failed to provide indepen-
dent legal advice to the Band which impugns the 1970 agreement becanse
“some knowledge of one’s legal rights is a prerequisite to a valid and fair

.
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acquiescence in an important and legally binding transaction such as the
disposal of reserve land.”*®

We accept that if it can be found that the Band Council did not understand
the nature or import of the negotiations, or was not kept informed of what
was going on, a breach of Canada’s fiduciary obligation might be the result.
We are unable, however, to find that the Band's representatives in these
negotiations did not understand the nature and foreseeable consequences of
entering into the 1970 agreement. The 1970 agreement was the culmination
of over seven years of protracted negotiations between the Band and the
Indian Affairs Branch, on one hand, and the Town of Dalhousie and the
NBWA, on the other. The documentary record provides ample evidence that
the Band’s representatives were involved at every stage of the negotiations
and that they had a full and adequate understanding of the terms of the 1970
agreement.

At the outset, although the Band expressed opposition to the dam project
on the grounds that it would have an adverse effect on the Band’s {isheries
and therefore its livelihood, the Band’s represcntatives also viewed the pro-
ject as having a potential benefit for the Band. As McKinnon reported in
1963, the Band was interested in the possibility of employment in industries
related to the dam because they would be year-round rather than seasonal,
and because they could be more secure than the income provided by the
fluctuating clam stocks. The Band-also sought to influence the site at which
the dam was developed, since it believed that the upriver site would result in
less damage to the clam stocks than the site at the mouth of the river.””” None
of this is to suggest that the Band was an ardent advocate of the dam, but
rather that it saw some potential benefit to the project and attempted to influ-
ence the means by which it was established and the benefits that would flow
to its members from its construction.

From the time that the dam was first proposed, representatives of the Band
actively participated in negotiations to allow construction to proceed. The
record also shows that, from the very start, the Band was crystal clear in its
understanding that construction of the dam would have a potentially devastat-
ing effect on the clam fishery. It was the Band that brought this aspect of the
proposal to the attention of the IAB to ensure that it was taken into consider-
ation in the compensation negotiations. The Band asserted this view despite

208 Submissions on Behalf of the Eel River Bar First Nzlion, February 13, 1997, p. 8.
299 ].H. Sheane, Supetinteadent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to Maritime Regional Office, November 26, 1962, DIAND
file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 {iCC Documents, p. [57).
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the opinions of various government authorities, including Dr Medcof in 1963,
that the dam's effect on the fisheries was either uncertain or would be negli-
gible3® The Band also participated in developing the strategy by which it
would resist Site no. 2 as the location for the dam, through the use of expert
opinion and by refusing to allow the authorities onto reserve land to conduct
preliminary surveys.3!

The Band continued to be an active participant in the negotiations for the
settlement of the dam project. It addressed its concerns directly to the town,
and later the NBWA, and to the IAB to deal with those concerns on its behalf.
The Band’s participation in the negotiations is indicated by, among other
things, the following:

- The Band took the initial position of opposing the dam’s establishment at
Site no. 2, which cither coincidentally or indirectly resulted in the town
opting to develop the dam at Site no. 1.

+ The Band made its views clear at several meetings over the course of the
negotiations, some of which were convened by the Band and held without
the presence of IAB officials.*®2 On none of these eccasions, as we describe
below, could the Band’s representatives be said to be expressing anything
other than the Band's position and advocating in the Band’s interests. Nor
is there any indication from these discussions that the Band was not capa-
ble of representing its own interests.

+ The Band was instrumental in assessing and advancing its views on the
appropriate level of compensation, in making several proposals and esti-

mates, and in proposing or agreeing to the use of a third-party expert to

make the final assessment 3%

300 E.B. McKinoon, Regional Supervisor, Maritime 0nal Office, Indian Affadrs Branch, to Acung Chicf, Reserves
& Trusts, Indian Affairs Bra.m.h Fchruaty 27, 19? 2, DIAND e 271/31-5-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Donumenu- p- 146},

a1 J.M. Shame Superiniendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to V.J. Caissle, Assistant Repional Supervisor, Maritime
Regional Oﬁice Seplember 24, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (16€ Documents, p. 146).

302 Meeting ol'jmuary 21, 1963 (Town, IAB, Band); of March 28, 1963 (Town, Band); quprll 9, 1963, a1 which
the Band Council Resolution was passed (Town, IAB, Band members[np) meeting to deal with problems with
the work currently heing done (Sheane’s letter of June 4, 1963) (Town, IAB, Band); meeting to discuss the lack
of jobs being produced pursuant lo the 1963 Band €ouncil Resolution, requested by the Band and held on April
23, 1964 (Town, 1AB, Band); meeting of April 5, 1966 (Towm, 1AB, Band Councillor); meeting of May 18, 1966
(Town, TAB, Band); see also 1CC Exhibdt 3, being minutes from various meetings with the Town and/or the IAB;
Icc Documems, p. 363, relates a conversation between Wallaee LaBillols and the KBWA; ICC Documents, p.
384, is MacNutl's letter indicating that the memorandum “was based on negotiations d1reo|1y with the Band";
J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Tands, to P. MacNutt, Sollcitor, Department of Justice, Fredericton, New Bruns-
wick, Janoary 9, 1969, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 393), indicates that the final
agreement had been suhmitted for approval by the Band.

303 E.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisot, Maritime Regional Office, to Indian Affairs Branch, Aprld 1, 1963 (ICC
Documents, pp. 186-91). Repord on his meeting with the Band to determine fair compensation.
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+ The Band also participated in the dispute resolution process with the town
and the NBWA once good faith began to break down on the question of
jobs, making further suggestions about how to deal with this problem and
also taking 2 hard line with the town. 3

In our view, the Band’s representatives were well aware of the nature of
the dealings surrounding the dam and the implications of the transaction. At
its worst, the construction of the dam meant the total destruction of the
Band’s livelihood drawn from the fisheries in Eel River Cove. At the same
time, the potential was there for enhanced employment opportunities in the
industries in and around the Town of Dalhousie, and the Band Council
sought to capitalize on this possibility in the negotiations. The evidence is
abundant that, for whatever reason, be it lack of effort, systemic discrimina-
tion, or conditions totally beyond the control of the parties to the contract,
employment for Band members was never obtained in any meaningful way
despite the commitments made by the Town of Dalhousie in 1963. Neverthe-
less, protracted negotiations between the Band, Canada, and the NBWA
culminated in the 1970 agreement, which provided for payment of a substan-
tial amount of compensation to the Band. In lieu of employment, it is signifi-

-cant that the Band obtained 2 commitment from the NBWA that it would pay
an annual fee for water pumped to a maximum of $27,375 per year,-and that
this agreement would be subject to renegotiation after 20 years. Under the
circumstances, therefore, we cannot find that the Band did not understand
the nature and consequences of this transaction in such 2 way that we should
deny its effectiveness.

In so concluding, we must also have regard for the evidence adduced at
the community session that, among other things, it was never clear to the
Band at the time what the effect on the fishery would be** no independent
legal advice was provided to. them;*% and various members of the Band were
not aware of the nature of the negotiations surrounding the dam. As we have
indicated above, none of the parties, including Dr Medcof, were entirely sure
of what the effect on the fishery would be. The Band agreed, however, to

304 F.B. McKlnnan, Regional Direclor of Indian Affairs, Marilime Regional Office, to Indian Affairs Branch, April 27,
1964, DIAND file 374/31-5-13-3- 1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 258-39). McRinnon wrole letters (o vations
parties at the suggestion of the Bsmi also mestings convened on April 5, 1966, and May 18, 1966, to dlscuss
the problems; also ICC Documents, p. 292, Minutes of May [, 1968, meeling Indicate that “the Indians and
E{;ﬁ’n Allzirs officials” had both been speaking with the mill's managemem to address employment issues (ICC

ibit 3, p. 2).
305 ICC Transcript, Aptil 23, 1897, p. 67 (Peler Simouson); TG Transcript, Apeil 23, 1997, p. 77 (Affred Narvie),
306 1CC Transcript, April 23, 1997, p. 67 (Alfred Narvie}.
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allow construction of the dam to proceed at Site no. 2 on the understanding
that Dr Medcof and the Fisheries Research Board would determine the extent
of the Band’s losses with respect to the clam and smelt harvests for the pur-
poses of determining compensation. Since the Band was primarily interested
in creating employment opportunities, it was agreed that the town would be
entitled to a 5 per cent reduction from the compensation payable to the Band
for every male Band member hired by the town or local industry. We intend
to come back to the second point dealing with the issue of independent legal
advice later in the report. Finally, we are not convinced that knowledge and
understanding of the issues surrounding the dam was limited to the Band
Council, since there was a general band meeting in 1963 which resulted in
24 out of 25 eligible voters supporting the terms of the 1963 Band Council
Resolution. Furthermore, given the protracted nature of these negotiations, it
is fair to assume that this subject would have been informally discussed by
members of the Band en numerous occasions. Even if we were to accept that
many Band members were not aware of the details of the 1970 agreement, it
is not our place to question the authority of those nominated by the Band to
represent it in these negotiations, nor have we specifically been asked to
question such authority. We therefore decline to do so.

Having concluded that the Band Council had a full and adequate under-
standing of the terms of the 1970 agreement, it still remains to be considered
whether the conduct of the Crown’s agents tainted the dealings in such a way
that it would be unsafe to rely on the agreement as an expression of the
understanding and intention. In considering this question, we note that in

"our reports on Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin the dealings between Canada
and the bands were rife with improper motivations on Canada’s part. These
dealings were “tainted,” in particular, by the fact that Canada had a signifi-
cant and overpowering political interest in securing the surrenders of the
reserve land that had been set aside for the claimant Bands in those cases.
Given this significant conflict of interest between the interest of the Band and
the interests of third parties, and given that Canada had utterly failed to
achieve any sort of balance among those competing interests, we were com-
pelled to find that Canada’s fiduciary obligations had not been properly
discharged.

The present case is quite different. Unlike the circumstances in Kahkewis-
tzhaw and Moosomin, the dealings in this case were initiated not by the Band
or by Canada, but by the Province of New Brunswick and by the Town of
Dalhousie. Nor is there any evidence that the federal Crown was operating
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under any conflict of interest or pressure to champion the cause of the prov-
ince or the town, Instead, both the Band and Canada were in a position to
adequately respond to the actions taken by the province and by the town,
who were acting in their own self-interest without regard to the effect that
this project might have on the Band.

From the time that construction of the dam was first proposed in 1962
until the negotiations culminated in the signing of the 1970 agreement,
Indian Affairs officials acted consistently and persistently to protect the
Band’s interests. Throughout these protracted negotiations, Indian Affairs
officials acted as articulate and forceful advocates on behalf of the Band. We
find farther that, to the extent permitted by its duty to the Canadian public as
a whole, it acted solely in the interests of the Band.

At the outset, when the province and the town were at the stage of casting
about for ways to folfil Premier Robichaud’s promise to provide 300,000
more gallons of fresh water per day to the Town of Dalhousie, the 1AB spoke
out on behalf of the Band to ensure that those parties responsible for plan-
ning this project would take the Band's interests into account.’”” Although at
the time the Fisheries Research Board suggested that the clam flats at risk
were not of much value, the Band said that it obtained 50 per cent of its clam
production from these flats. The IAB accepted the Band's position and acted,
from the start, as a steadfast advocate of the Band's interests.

It is also important to reiterate that the Band Council viewed the dam
project as potentially beneficial because the project might result in enhanced
employment opportunitics for members of the Band. Accordingly, at the out-
set, the Band did not completely oppose the dam project, although it did
oppose construction at Site no. 2, but rather sought to find a way to minimize
the dam’s potential impact on the fisheries, while at the same time maximiz-
ing its potential benefit to the Band.

Canada and its agents, and in particular McKinnon and Sheane and their
successors, advocated on behalf of the Band by, among other means:

- obtaining, in consultation with the Band, expert advice to help persuade
the province and the town of the negative impact that the dam would have
on the Band if it was situated at the mouth of the cove;®

307 F.B. McKinnon, Regional Supervisor, Mariline Repional Office, Indian Affairs Branch, o Acting Chief, Reserves
:mral Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, February 27, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-1, wol. 1 {ICC Documents, p.
126).

308 .M. Sheane, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to V.J. Caissie, Assistant Regional Supervisor, Maritime
Regional Office, September 24, 1962, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 146}.
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- continuing to advocate for the Band’s preference for the upriver site in the
face of expert evidence concluding that there would be no significant dif-
ference between the two sites;3®

- cultivating in the NBWA and the town 2 responsibility for compensating the
Band’s potential losses resulting from the dam project, although it was
unclear whether the Band had any legal claim to such compensation, since

. it was not clear what the nature and scope of the Band’s treaty and riparian
rights were;?1°

- forwarding in a reasonable and responsible fashion the Band's assessment
of its potential losses and retaining an expert third party to determine its
actual losses to the clam harvest as a result of the dam;

- forwarding in a reasonable and responsible fashion the Band’s goals with
respect to compensation — namely, that the compensation should take the
form of permanent employment for Band members;

- attempting to negotiate with and/or pressure the town, local employers and
unions, and the NBWA to make efforts to find employment for the Band’s
members to aid the town in fulfilling its undertaking to de so; and

» negotiating on the Band’s behalf to attempt to achieve a fair settlement, and
seeking amendments to various provisions of the agreement to protect the
Band’s interests.

There is no question, in our view, that the negotiations surrounding the
dam were very difficult. The protracted nature of these negotiations resulted
in great hardship for the Band as it waited for the town and for the NBWA,
respectively, to fulfil the obligations they had undertaken in good faith at the
commencement of the negotiations, particularly with respect to employment
for the Band's members. These hardships, however, were not the result of
any dereliction of duty on the part of the Indian Affairs Branch or its agents.
We find that, throughout the course of negotiations, the IAB and its agents
conducted themselves properly, acted in the sole interests of the Band, and
did not allow themsclves to be compromised in any way.

309 J.H. Sheane, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, lo Maritime Regjonal Office, November 26, 1962, DIAND
fife 271/31-5-13-3-1, vol. | (ICC Documents, p. 157).

310 Jules IYAstous, Chief, Economic Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Cilizenship and
Immigeation, Ottawa, to Regional Supervisor, Maritimes, December 18, 1362, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, val.
1 (ICC Documents, pp. 162-63).
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In arriving at this conclusion, we are fully aware that it may ring hollow
simply to find that it was “not Canada’s fault” that-other parties failed to fulfil
their responsibilities and undertakings. The hallmark of 2 fiduciary analysis,
however, is, as the Band pointed out, not to hold the fiduciary to a standard
of perfection measured with 20/20 hindsight. Therefore, even theugh it could
be argued that the Crown ought not to have allowed construction of the dam
to proceed in the absence of a binding agreement on compensation in the
form of employment for members of the Band, we must consider what was
reasonable at the time. In our view, it was not unreasonable for Canada to
allow construction to proceed on the basis of the 1963 Band Council Resolu-
tion because it appeared that the parties involved had an intention, in good
faith, to meet the obligations they had undertaken. It was also agreed that the
extent of the dam’s effect on the Band's fishery could only be determined
after a number of surveys were completed between 1963 and 1967. Although
the promises of the town and the NBWA with respect to compensation and
employment remained unfulfilled until at least 1970, there is no evidence that
the conduct of Indian Affairs officials constituted a dereliction of duty for
which Canada must now be held responsible.

We stated at the outset that we could not conclude that Canada had an
interest in forwarding the dam project; it was pursued by the province and by
the town. Accordingly, we find that there was no conflict of interest between
Canada and the Band. 1t is true, as the First Nation contended, that in 1966
the Band requested a meeting with a lawyer when relations with the town
surrounding the employment issue began to deteriorate.’ What was sought,
however, was a meeting with a “legal officer of the branch,” not independent
counsel, to discuss the status of the agreement with the town and what legal
recourse was available to the Band. For reasons that are unclear, there is no
evidence that this meeting ever occurred. Shortly afterwards, however, Dr
Medcof completed his third and final survey on clam populations, and Indian
Affairs continued to press for the payment of fair compensation te the Band.
The evidence also- discloses that the Band intended to meet with experts of its
own choesing to assess its position with respect to the dam.*? Again, there is
no evidence that any such meeting occurred, but it is clear that the Band did
not view itself as unable to seek advice independent of that provided by

311 Submissions on Behalf of the Bel River Bar Fiest Nation, February 13, 1997, p. 28.

312 RM]J. Guillas, Superintendent, Miramichi Indian Agency, to J.H. MacAdam, Administrator of Lands, Tndian
AMfairs Branch, Department of Indian Alfaics, Ottawa, Ontado, January 23, 1970, DIAND file 271/31-5-13-3-1,
vol. 3 {ICC Documents, p. 446).
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Canada. Based on the entirety of the evidence before us, we find that there
was no duty on Canada to provide independent legal advice.

Since there is no evidence of an actual conflict of interest between Canada
and the Band on the facts before us, Canada was under no obligation to
provide independent legal advice to the Band to ensure that the latter’s inter-
ests were properly represented. Canada’s obligation was to advise and inform
the Band of the nature and foreseeable consequences of the transaction. To
fulfil this obligation, Indian Affairs sought and obtained legal and technical
advice on behalf of the Band and acted in a responsible and prudent manner
throughout the negotiations. Moreover, the Band was aware that it could seek
independent legal advice, but chose not to for reasons which are not entirely
clear from the record. '

With regard to the terms of the 1970 agreement, we find the following
words of Urie JA in Kruger v. The Queen to be apt: :

In essence, however unhappy [the members of the Band] were with the payments
made, Lhey accepted them. The payments were for sums which could be substantiated
by the independent valuations received by hoth parties and which were determined
after extensive negotiations and forceful representations on the Indians’ behalf by the
Indian Agent and other high officlals of the Indian Affairs Braneh. Jf the submissions
advanced by the appellants were 1o prevail, the only way that the Crown could
successfully escape a charge of breach of fiduciary duty in such circumstances
would have been, in each case, to have acceded in full to their demands or to
withdraw from the transactions entirely. The competing obligations on the Crown
could not permit such a resudt. The Crown was in the position that it was obliged to
ensure that the best interests of all for whom its officials had responsibility were
protected. The Governor in Council became the final arhiter. fn the final analysis,
however, if the appellants were so dissatisfied with the expropriations and the
Crouwn’s offers, they could bave utilized the Exchequer Court to determine the
issues. For whatever reasons, they elected not to make these choices. They accepted
the Crown's offers and, at least in the case of Parcel B, the offer was at the figure
which they bud sugpested. 1 fail to see, then, how they could now snccessfully attack,
after so many vears, the settlements to which they agreed 3

Kruger was clearly decided in the context of an expropriation i which the
federal Crown was also the expropriating authority. In the present case, Jus-
tice Urie's reasons are even more compelling because Canada was not
required to halance competing interests as it was in Kruger. It was merely

313 Kruger v. The (hueen, [1985] 3 CNLR 15 at 51 (FCA), Uirie JA. Emphasis added.
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required to discharge its duties as fiduciary, and it did so by acting in the
best interests of the Band throughout the entire negotiation process.

In summary, we conclude that there is simply no evidence that the IAB
pursued any interest other than that of the Band. Moreover, we have no hesi-
tation in finding that, in this case, Canada’s representatives acted honestly,
prudently, and for the benefit of the Eel River Band. Accordingly, although
the Band suffered hardships in the course of achieving a seftlement, these
were not the product of a breach of fiduciary duty or an abdication of the
Crown's responsibilities. We find that Canada’s conduct in the course of these
negotiations was in no way “tainted,” as contemplated in Apsassin, such that
it would be unsafe to rely on the 1970 agrecment as an expression of the
Band’s true understanding and intention. Thercfore, in the absence of com-
pelling evidence that the Band did not fully understand the nature of the
1970 agreement or that the Crown's conduct somehow tainted the dealings,
the intention-based approach enunciated by Gonthier ] in Apsassin must pre-
vail because “the law treats Aboriginal peoples as autonomous actors with
respect to the acquisition and surrender of their lands, and for th;s reason,
their decisions must be respected and honoured.™"

Where a Band Has Ceded or Abnegated Its Power to Decide

In Apsassin, McLachlin ], in arriving at her conclusion that the appellant
bands had not abnegated their power to decide whether to surrender reserve
land, took note of the following facts, as found by the trial judge:

2. That they had discussed the matter previously on at teast three formal meeltings
[sic] where representatives of the Department were present;

4. That, at the surrender meeting itself, the matter was fully discussed both between

the Indians and with the departmental representatives previons to the signing of
_the actual surrender;

5. That [Crown representatives had not] attempted to influence the plaintiffs either
previously or during the surrender meeting but that, on the contrary, the matter
seems to have been dealt with most conscientiously by the departmental represent-
atives concerned,

6. That Mr. Grew [the local Indian agent] fully m{plamed to the Indians the conse-
quences of a surrender . , 31

314 Blueberry River ndian Band v. Canada (Department of indian Affairs and Northern Development),
119961 2 CNILR 25 at 31 (3CC).

315 Blueberry River indian Bawd v. Canada (Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development), {1995] 4
SCR 344.
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Accordingly, in McLachlin J's view, the balance between the Band’s auton-
omy and the Crown’s protective obligation did not demand that Canada make
a decision on behalf of the Band. Rather, Canada was required to provide
the Band with the necessary tools and information to make the decision itself.

Based on the facts before the trial judge, McLachlin J found that the Crown

had discharged this obligation.

We find that, on the facts before us, we must arrive at the same conclu-
sion. There is no evidence that the Band Council was in a position that ren-
dered it unable to make a decision about the dam project. Instead, as already
described above, we find that the Council was a capable and persistent advo-
cate of its own rights and interests. Any decisions made were genuinely its
own, even though they were made with the assistance of the IAB and others.
Therefore, we conclude that the Band did not cede or abnegate its power to
make decisions with respect to the use or disposition of its reserve land.

Duty of the Crown to Prevent an Improvident or

Exploitative Transaction

We have previously considered the Band's position as a negotiator and a
party with regard to the procedural aspects of the transaction. The final
ground which we must consider is the substantive result of the settlement.
As described above, the Governor in Council has an obligation to reject a
deal that is “foolish, improvident or exploitative,” regardless of any consent
given to it by a Band. In essence, this obligation, arising from the Crown's
protective role towards Indian Bands, requires the Minister of Indian Affairs
or the Governor in Council, as the case may be, to refuse consent to a deal
that is foolish, improvident, or otherwise exploitative.

To determine whether consent was properly given to this transaction, we
must determine whether, given the circumstances, the consideration ﬂowmg
to the Band as a result of the 1970 agreement was inadequate when viewed
from the perspective of the Band at the time. The First Nation has submitted
that it was inadequate, and relies on two grounds: first, that employment was
not a term of the 1970 agreement, and, second, that compensation was lim-
ited in the 1963 Band Council Resolution to seven vears’ losses. The First
Nation has also pointed to the terms of the 1995 agreement as evidence that
the 1970 agreement was inadequate.

For its part, Canada submits that the compensation ultimately provided in
the 1970 agreement was adequate to compensate the Band for the losses to
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its fishery and for the use of the land, and that no evidence has been

advanced that the amounts agreed to were unreasonable.

To assess these positions, we find it necessary to compare the various
proposals. In doing so in Table 1, we also take note of the fact that these
negotiations never contemplated a straight cash settlement, but instead con-
sisted of various proposals of land exchange, employment, development
opportunities, cash, and reversionary interests in land.

Table 1

Comparison of Terms in the 1963 Band Council Resolution and

the 1970 Agreement

Terms 1963 Band Council Resolution 1970 Agreement
Land 84000 for £49 acres (+$81/acre) | $15,000 for £115 acres (£$130/acre) .
Compensatien |Loss of clams to be compensated at the [$25,000 for damage, injury, and losses |
for damages |rate of $1.50 per pail reduction in total fcaused by erection and operation of
clam harvest x 7 fyears) x %4 (repre- |dam, water supply system, and Eel River
senting the Band's ¥+ interest in the total [ headpond i
clam fishery), to 2 maximum of $50,000 |
Pumpape fee |None One-time payment of $9,591.12 plus
annual payinent for water pumped of atl
least $10,000, but not to exceed
$27.375, for 20 yeass ($200,000 io
$547,500)
Type of Expropriation Section 28(2) permit for pipeline,|
transfer pumphouse, and access road and expro-
priation of headpond (reversionary
‘ interest to. all land) .
Employment {For every male Indian who- obtained full- [ None
provisions  [time permaneat employment, the com- |
tpensation for damage to the fishery|
would be reduced hy 5 per cent
Other Feasibility study to create trout fishing | Band retains right to erect and maintain |
pool to aftract tourisls ‘2 commerclal marina on reserve fands|
) adjacent to beadpond
Total cash ‘Maximum of $54,000; no reversionary | $249,591.12 to $597,091.12, with rever-
interest in any land sionary interest to all of the land ‘

It is clear that the 1970 agreement resulted in a far higher cash settlement
to the Band than that contemplated by the 1963 Band Council Resolution. As
submitted by the First Nation, the fact that a higher amount was ultimately
paid to the Band under the terms of the 1970 agreement is not necessarily
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conclusive evidence that the amounts agreed to by the Band were not
exploitative. This question, however, can be determined by considering Dr
Medcof's analysis of the losses to the fishery as a solid basis for comparison.

In 1963, the parties agreed that it was necessary to have the Band'’s actual
losses assessed by an expert in the field because it was unclear whether the
dam would affect the fishery or, if it did, in what way. Accordingly, it would
have been imprudent for the parties to tie themselves down to a figure with-
out an assessment of the actual losses. For this reason, it was agreed that Dr
Medcof, with the assistance of his staff, would conduct this assessment.
Although it has been submitted that Dr Medcof “angered” the Band by some
of his initial assumptions 3¢ it has not been argued before us that Dr Medcof
was anything other than an objective expert in the ficld. Indeed, given the
personal comments he added to his final survey, on which the Band relies,
we find that Dr Medcof was solely motivated to provide a report that fairly
and fully recognized the Band's real losses. The adequacy of compensation
provided for in the 1970 agreement can, at least to some extent, be assessed
by reference to his surveys, on which the parties relied.

In the surveys submitted by Dr Medcof, he wrote that he had been asked
to make two findings: whether any reduction in the clam harvest was the
direct result of the damming of the Eel River, and “the fairest assessment” of
the losses sustained by the Indian fishery.?'” He concluded that the losses he
identified were the direct result of the dam. In providing an answer to the
second question, he noted that there were four possible ways to calculate the
Band’s losses, ranging from 742 pails to 10,094 pails (both figures including
the seven-year factor). The last figure, in his view, was the fairest because,
rather than starting from the pre-dam presumption that Indians constituted
half of the users of the fishery, it embodied the actual losses suffered by the
Band. Because of a number of factors, including the increase in non-Indian
fishers in the area, this loss was, in fact, approximately 70 per cent of the
pre-dam landings taken by the Band, a loss represented by the 10,094 pails.

A quick calculation shows that 10,094 pails at $1.50 per pail is
$15,141.00. The 1970 agreement provides for $25,000. On the face of it, the
1970 agreement exceeds the amount that would have been arrived at follow-
ing Dr Medcof's calculations. Even if it were assumed that the average pre-
dam annual income was fofadly lost (which was not Dr Medcof's projection,

316 Submissious on Behalf of the Eel River Bar First Nation, Fcbruary 13, 1997, p. 28.
317 J.C. Medouf, Fisheries Research Board, Biotogical Station, St Andrews, NB, “Third Survey of Eel River Cove, K.B.,
Sofi-Shell Clam (Mya arenaria) Population,” November 1907 (1CC Exhibit 2, tab 20, p. 41.
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since he viewed it as likely that landings would continue at an average of 620
pails per year), the figure would be $21,651.

The Band has submitted, however, that the lack of fairness and equity in
the compensation provided for in the 1970 agreement is “best articulated” by
Dr Medcof's confidential comments attached to his final clam survey.?® It will
be recalled that Dr Medcof was of the opinion that the 1963 Baad Council
Resolution favoured the interests of the town over the Band's in three ways:

{1) The town was fo get an advantage and benefit; the Indian Band was to get only
conditional compensation for possible losses. (2} The town's benefit was to be indefi-
nitely continuing; the Indians' compensation was to be partial and was to cover only
severl years' possible losses. (3) The dollar value of the town’s investment in the dam
would be expected to increase when dollar values of real estate increased, whereas
the per-pail price for clams ($1.50) was fixed in the terms of the contract.??

Starting with the last concern first, we note that, by the time Dr Medcof
conducted his survey, the per-pail price of clams had risen 50 per cent to
$2.25. The value of 10,094 pails at $2.25 per pail is $22,711.50. As noted
above, the 1970 agreement provided for $25,000 in compensation.

Second, Dr Medcof considered it to be unfair that the Band was receiving
compensation for only seven years' losses, while the town would receive an
indefinitely continuing benefit. The aspiration of the parties at the time was to
substitute permanent industrial employment for male members of the Band
for the income derived from the clam fishery. Whether as a result of systemic
discrimination, high unemployment, or any of the other factors we have
referred to above, jobs were not provided for Band members. This fact by
itself does not mean that Canada’s fiduciary obligation was not discharged.
What it did mean, however, was that the Band was left with a significandy
reduced fishery and no jobs to replace it. Having said that, it was not patently
unreasonable for the parties to limit compensation for lost income 1o seven
vears because they likely assumed that it would take up to seven vears for
members of the Band to find alternative sources of employment to replace
their lost income from the fishery. In any event, it is not reasonable to expect
compensation for lost income to continue indefinitely because such an

318 Submssions on Bebalf of the Eel River Bar First Nation, February 13, 1987, p. 36.

319 J.C. Medcof, Assistant Director, Fisheries Research Board, Biological Station, 8t Andrews, NB, 1o F.B. McKinnon,
Regional Supervisor, Indian Affairs Branch, Amherst, N8, December 27, 1967, DIAND fle 271/31-5-13-3-1, val.
I ?IlCC Documents, p. 323).
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arrangement would provide little or no incentive for individuals to mitigate
their damages by seeking alternative sources of employment.

In the final apalysis, Dr Medcof's concerns about the inequities of the
1963 Band Council Resolution were effectively accounted for in the 1970
agreement. In addition to the $25,000 lump sum, the 1970 agreement pro-
vides for a yearly pumpage fee of between $10,000 and $27,375, depending
on the amount of water pumped out of the reservoir. That is, the Band
received a lasting benefit that was directly tied to the benefit that would enure
to the town in the form of water pumped from the Eel River headpond.® In
so concluding, we do not rely on the “improvements” between the 1970
agreement and the 1963 Band Council Resolution as demonstrating that the
1970 agreement was not exploitative. Instead, we rely on the yardstick pro-
vided by the objective determination of the Fisheries Research Board through
Dr Medcof,

The First Nation has submitted that, because the 1970 agreement did not
provide for any employment for its members, it was exploitative. We cannot
agree. In our view, the historical record makes it clear that, by the end of the
difficult negotiations, neither the Band nor Canada was inclined to rely on
either the town or the province to provide any employment for members of
the Band. Their experience with the town was bitter and eventually prompted
4 desire on the part of the Band to “seek full compensation for their losses.”
We do not find anything exploitative in this approach. Indeed, it appears to
have been a reasonable and prudent response to the intractability of the
fown.

Although our comments in this section focus on the substance of the deal
struck in 1970, we also must comment briefly on the process immediately
preceding the conclusion of the agreement. The First Nation has submitted
that, when Canada discovered, on January 23, 1970, Wallace LaBillois’s
direct communication with the Chairman of the NBWA that the Band wished
to have no further negotiations, but wished, instead, to conclude the transac-
tion immediately, Canada should have been alert to the possibility of exploita-
tion.* In our view, it was. In their review of the proposed agreement,
Canada’s representatives identified three concerns: the adequacy of the
release clause; the nature of the access to reserve land that would be permit-
ted to the NBWA's workers to maintain the pipeline; and the fact that,

320 The notes of the meeting held on Juue 21, 1968, also suggest that the pumpage fee was inleqded to be linked to
the loss of annual income: “clams fish etc.” is wrillen next to “0.5 per thousand gal” (ICC, Exhibit 3, p. 10).
321 Submissions on Behalf of the Eel River Bar First Nation, Febmuary 13, 1997, p. 58.
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although water had already been pumped out of the reservoir, the Band was
not going to receive compensation under the annual pumpage fee clause.

Although the Band was no doubt exasperated with the process and anx-
ious to conclude the agreement so it could receive some compensation after
$0 many vears, Canada was not prepared to accept the agreement without
resolving these concerns. 1t is also true that the NBWA was bargaining hard
and proved unwilling to accept some of the changes sought by Canada.
Canada, as a fiduciary faced with a situation where its beneficiary sought
immediately to sign the agreement, and where the other party was proving
difficult, slowed the process down and sought to resolve its own concerns
before accepting the agreement. We find that this conduct was prudent and
reasonable on Canada’s part.

After a thorough review of the circumstances leading up to the signing of
the 1970 agreement, we conclude that the compensation package negotiated
and received by the Band did not constitute an improvident or exploitative
transaction. The negotiations were protracted and various proposals for com-
pensation were put forward by all parties, including the Band. All apparent
heads of damage were considered during the course of negotiations and,
although compensation was not provided to the Band in the form of employ-
ment, the annual pumping fee provided a substantial and lasting benefit to
the Band. At the end of the day, the Band Council decided to sign the 1970
agreement after a mature consideration of its options, and it was not for the
Crown to substitute its own decision for that of the Band’s unless the deal
was considered 10 be exploitative. For the reasons stated above, we conclude
that the terms of the 1970 agreement were not foolish, improvident, or other-
wise exploitative.
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PART V

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

CONCLUSIONS

The Commission has been asked to inquire into and report on whether the
Government of Canada properly rejected the specific claim submitted by the
Eel River Bar First Nation. To determine whether or not the claim discloses
an outstanding lawful obligation owed by Canada to the First Nation, we
addressed the issues under three sections. The first dealt with the nature and
extent of the First Nation’s fishing rights and whether construction of the dam
infringed upon those rights. The second considered whether the Crown
breached its statutory obligations under the Indian Act by granting a letter-
permit and by consenting to the expropriation of the Eel River reserve lands
in 1970. Finally, we considered the nature and extent of the Crown's fiduciary
obligations on the facts of this case. -
Our findings are summarized below.

Issue 1 Nature and Extent of Fishing Rights

The Treaty of 1779 guaranteed that the Micmac Indians would have the right
to remain “Quiet and Free from any molestation of any of His Majesty’s
Troops or other his good Subjects in their Hunting and Fishing.” It was not
disputed that members of the First Nation were entitled to exercise fishing
rights in and around the Eel River Bar Reserve as their ancestors have since
time immemorial. Without further evidence and submissions on the historical
context of the Treaty of 1779, however, the Commission cannot make any
definitive findings on the nature and scope of the First Nation’s treaty rights,
or on whether the 1807 Order in Council establishing the reserve modified
or placed any limitations upon the exercise of these rights. Nevertheless, the
evidence supports a finding that the First Nation’s treaty fishing rights were
infringed upon by the construction of the dam on the Eel River in 1963
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because it interfered with the right to fish free rom any interference on the
part of the Crown.

We acknowledge and agree with the First Nation's submissions on the sig-
nificance of its hunting and fishing rights and accept that the treaty was
intended to protect a livelihood that had sustained the First Nation since time
immemorial. The First Nation's traditional practices and reliance on the fish-
ery were protected by the Treaty of 1779, and it is our view that it was
entitled to compensation for the infringement upon its treaty rights and dam-
ages caused to its source of livelihood.

In 1970, the Band Council entered into an agreement that provided com-
pensation for “damages and losses suffered by the Indians as a result of the
erection of the dam and creation of the headpond by the Town of Dalhou-
sie.” This compensation was in recognition of the fact that “construction of
the dam and reservoir diminished the quantities of fish, shellfish, waterfowl,
and other natural resources which were traditionally available to the Indi-
ans,” There is no basis in law for the Commission to conclude that the First
Nation's treaty rights were inviolate and, in any event, it is always open to a
First Nation to negotiate a settlement to compensate it for a breach or
- infringement of treaty fishing rights. Although the First Nation did not receive
any compensation for the infringement of its treaty rights until 1970, the
agreement entered into with the New Brunswick Water Authority was
intended to-compensate it for the damages caused to its fishery.

Therefore, we conclude that there is no outstanding lawful obligation
owed by Canada to the First Nation on the basis of a breach of treaty. In view
of these findings, it is not necessary for the Commission to determine
whether the First Nation had any riparian rights in addition to its treaty rights
to fish in the waters adjacent to the reserve.

Issue 2 Authority for Permit and Expropriation of
Eel River Reserve Land

Section 28(2) and the 1970 Letter-Permit

In light of a recent decision of the Supreme Court of Canada, we find that the
1970 letter-permit granting the use and occupation of 4.71 acres of reserve
land for the purposes of a pumping station, pipeline right of way, and access
road was properly issued by the Minister of Indian Affairs under the authority
of section 28(2) of the Indian Act. The permit was for an indefinite but
clearly ascertainable and justiciable period of time. The interest in land
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granted was not of such a nature that it required the consent of the entire
Band membership in accordance with the surrender provisions. of the Act.

Section 35 Expropriation of the Headpond

With respect to the expropriation of 61.57 acres of reserve land for the
headpond in 1970, the wording of the Order in Council and the surrounding
circumstances support 2 finding that the Governor in Council authorized the

transfer of administration of reserve land to the Province of New Brunswick

“under section 35(3) in lien of the province having to take the lands without

the consent of the Band pursuant to the procedures of the New Brunswick
Expropriation Act. The province was “empowered” to expropriate the land
in question because it fell within the definition of a “public work,” and the
dominant purpose of the work was to promote economic activity and job
creation in the general public interest. Since this was a taking pursuant to
section 35(3), it was not necessary for the federal or the provincial Crown to-
comply with the procedures for a compulsory taking as set out in the Expro-
priation Act.

We do not aecept the assertion that, because the Band consented to the
expropriation, neither the provincial nor the federal Crown could exercise
their expropriation pewers. Section 35(3) of the Indian Act conferred on
the Governor in Council 4 broad discretion to consent to the transfer of
reserve land to the province in lieu of the land being taken without the
Band’s consent subject to the terms. contained in the 1970 agreement.
Because the Band consented to the expropriation of reserve land subject to
the payment of compensation agreed to between the Band and the NBWA, the
transfer of land was authorized by the Governor in Council under section
35(3) rather than section 35(1), and there was no need to trigger the proce-
dural requirements of the Expropriation Act. Furthermore, even though the
Band Council consented to the use of expropriation powers under section 35.
and agreed to a negotiated seftlement on compensation for the land taken,
this does not alter the fact that this was essentially a compulsory taking of
land. There was always the possibility that the Governor in Ceunncil might
consent to the expropriation under section 35¢1) if the Band did not reach
an agreement with the town or the NBWA. The reality of the situation was that
the negotiations proceeded in the shadow of a possible expropriation of the
land if the Band did not consent to the construction of the dam. Finally,
compliance with the surrender provisions of the Indian Act is not required
when reserve lands are expropriated under section 35, because the surren-
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der provision under section 37 must be read in conjunction with and subject
to other provisions of the Indian Act.

Trespass and Delay from 1963 to 1970

In 1963, the Town of Dathousie built the dam on the Eel River reserve and
flooded additional lands without any specific authority to do so until 1970,
when the headpond was expropriated and a letter-permit was granted to the
NBWA for the pumping station, pipecline right of way, and access road to
maintain the Eel River water supply system. No compensation was paid for
the use and occupation of the reserve land until 1970.

In our view, the sections of the fndian Act governing the use and occupa-
tion of reserve land or its disposition to non-Indians must be interpreted in
such a way s to balance a band’s autonomy against the Crown’s supervisory
and protective role, According to recent decisions of the Supreme Court of
Canada, the purpose of the requirement of the Crown’s approval in the case
of a surrender under section 37 or a section 28(2) permit is to ensure that
all transactions involving reserve land are approved by the band and the
Minister or the Governor in Council, as the tase may be, to prevent the band
fror being exploited. If use and occupation of reserve lands through means
other than those specified in the fndian Act, including uses allowed solely by
the band, were sanctioned, the Crown would be released from its protective
responsibility contrary to the intent of the /ndian Act and the policy that
underlies it. Accordingly, unless the use and occupation has been authorized
by the Crown in onme of the forms contemplated by the Act — surrender,
expropriation, or permit — the use and occupation of reserve land is contrary
to the Act. '

Therefore, the consent or agreement of the Eel River Band, as expressed
in the 1963 Band Council Resolution, is void because no permit was issued
by the Minister under section 28(2) as required. This state of affairs
remained the same until September 1968, when the Minister of Indian Affairs
issued a one-year permit allowing the NBWA access to the land to carey out
certain works in relation to the dam and water supply system. At this point,
the NBWA had the proper authority to use and occupy the land for these
purposes, The reserve lands flooded by the headpond, however, continued to
be in a state of irespass until they were expropriated in 1970.

We find, therefore, that there was a trespass on reserve land from 1963 to
1970, the extent of which was narrowed by the 1968 permit. We are, how-
ever, unable o conclude that any outstanding lawful obligation necessarily
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flows from this trespass because the 1970 agreement was intended to com-
pensate the Eel River Band for its losses and damages arising from the con-
struction of the dam. Whether the Crown fulfilled its fiduciary duties to the
Eel River Band during the negotiations leading up to the 1970 agrecment,
and whether the Band received fair and equitable compensation for its
losses, are separate questions.

Issue 3  Fiduciary Obligations of the Crown

Recent decisions of the Supreme Court of Canada state that regard must be
had to the twin principles of autonomy and protection when dealing with the
disposition of Indian interests in reserve land. Although the Crown has a
statutory and fiduciary duty to protect Indian bands from the unlawful aliena-
tion and disposition of reserve land, the relative autonomy of the band to
make decisions with respect to its land and resources must also be promoted
and respected. Depending on the nature of the rights granted, different levels
of autonomy and protection will apply between the Crown and the band
involved in the proposed transaction.

On the facts of this case, we conclude that Canada properly discharged its
fiduciary obligations to the Eel River Band for the following reasons. First, the
Band Council was well aware of the nature of the dealings surrounding the
dam and the implications of the transaction. When the town first proposed to
construct the dam near the mouth of the Eel River, the Band opposed the
selection of that site on the grounds that this location would damage the clam
beds and reduce the income of Band members who relied on the clam har-
vest to make a living. When a site further upstream was selected, however,
the Band Council indicated that it would agree to the construction of the dam
if the town and local industries provided employment opportunities for its
members to replace the lost income that would result from the reduction in
clam harvests. There is ample evidence that, for whatever reason, whether it
was 2 lack of effort, systemic discrimination, or conditions totally beyond the
control of the parties to the contract, employment for Band members was
never obtained in any meaningful way, despite the commitments made by the
Town of Dalhousie in 1963. Nevertheless, protracted negotiations between
the Band, Canada, and the NBWA culminated in the 1970 agreement, which
provided for payment of a substantial amount of compensation to the Band.
In lieu of employment opportunities, it is significant that the Band obtained a
commitment from the NBWA that it would pay an annual fee for water
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pumped and that the agreement would be subject to renegotiation after 20
years.

Second, there is no evidence that Indian Affairs officials tainted the deal-
ings in such a manner that it would be unsafe to rely on the Band’s under-
standing and intention. The dealings in this case were initiated not by the
Band or by Canada, but by the Province of New Brunswick and by the Town
of Dalhousie. From the time that construction of the dam was first proposed
in 1962 until the negotiations culminated in the signing of the 1970 agree-
ment, Indian Affairs officials acted consistently and persistently to protect the
Band's interests. Throughout these protracted negotiations, Indian Affairs
officials acted as articulate and forceful advocates on behalf of the Band.
Since there is no evidence of an actual conflict of interest between Canada
and the Band on the facts before us, Canada was under no obligation to
provide independent legal advice to the Band to ensure that the latter’s inter-
ests were properly represented. Canada’s obligation was to advise and inform
the Band of the nature and foreseeable consequences of the transaction. To
fulfil this obligation, Indian Affairs sought and obtained legal and technical
advice on behalf of the Band and acted in a responsible and prudent manner
throughout the negotiations. Moreover, the Band was aware that it could seek
independent legal advice, but chose not to for reasons that are not entirely
clear from the record.

Third, there is no evidence that the Band effectively abnegated or ceded its
power to make decisions with respect to the dam project and the compensa-
tion offered by the town and the NBWA. Although Indian Affairs was involved
in various aspects of the negotiations and did retain independent technical
assistance to determine the effect of the dam on the clam harvest and the
extent of the Band’s losses, the evidence demonstrates that the Band's repre-
sentatives were capable and persistent advocates of its own rights and inter-
ests. Since the Band made its own decisions, albeijt with the assistance of the
Indian Affairs Branch and others, the Commission must uphold the guiding
principle that the autonomous decisions of the Band are to be honoured and
respected. .

* Fourth, there is no evidence that the 1970 agreement represented a fool-
ish, improvident, or exploitative transaction which should not have been
approved by the Minister of Indian Affairs and the Governor in Council. The
compensation negotiations never contemplated a straight cash settlement, but
instead consisted of various proposals of land exchange, employment, devel-
opment opportunities, cash, and reversionary interests in land. In arriving at
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a final settlement in 1970, the parties relied to a large extent on the expert
advice of Dr Medcof, who was solely motivated to provide a report that fairly
and fully recognized the Band’s losses. Using Dr Medcof's surveys as a mea-
sure of the adequacy of compensation provided for in the 1970 agreement,
the Commission concludes that the agreement was not exploitative. Given the
town’s unwillingness to provide employment to members of the Band, it was
not unreasonable for the Band and Canada to focus their efforts on other
forms of compensation, such as the pumping fee, as an alternative means of
compensating the Band for its losses. Finally, in the days just before the deal
was closed, even though the Band sought immediately to sign the agreement,
Indian Affairs slowed the process down and indicated that it would not
approve the final deal until concerns it had over certain aspects of the draft
agreement had been resolved.

In conclusion, we have found that the Band fully understood the nature
and consequences of the establishment of the dam and the provisions of the
1970 agreement, and that there was no evidence of any tainted dealings on
the part of Canada’s officials during the negotiations. We have also found that
there was mo aspect of the relationship between €anada and the Band to
support the argument that the Band ceded or abnegated its power to decide
at any stage of the negotiations. Finally, we have concluded that the settfement
reached in the 1970 agreement cannot be characterized as foolish, improvi-
dent, or expioitative such that the Minister of Indian Affairs and the Governor
in Council should not have approved the transaction and authorized the sec-
tion 28(2) permit and the expropriation of the headpond under section 35.
Accordingly, we find that the Crown discharged its fiduciary obligations to- the
Eel River Bar First Nation. _

Having said that, there is no question in eur minds that the negotiations
surrounding the dam were very difficult. The protracted nature of these nego-
tiations resulted in great hardship for many members of the First Nation who
relied on the clams for food and as a2 means of supplementing their incomes.
In 1963, the Band agreed to allow censtruction of the dam to proceed in
good faith on the assumption that the town and the NBWA would fulfil their
respective obligations, particularly with regard to employment for members
of the Band. Although the dam did have an adverse effect on the clams, as
anticipated by the Band, the town and the NBWA did not fulfil their promises
and no compensation was paid to the Band for its losses or the use of its
lands until 1970. These hardships, however, were not the result of any dere-
liction of duty on the part of the Indian Affairs Branch or its agents. We find
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that, throughout the course of negotiations, the IAB and its agents conducted
themselves properly, acted as articulate and forceful spokespersons on behalf
of the Band, and did not allow themselves to be compromised in any way.

RECOMMENDATION

Based on a thorough consicleration of the facts and law in relation to this
claim, we find that the evidence before us does not support a finding that
Canada owes an outstanding lawful obligation to the Eel River Bar First
Nation. Accordingly, we recommend:

That the Eel River Bar First Nation’s claim not be accepted for nego-
tiation under Canada’s Specific Claims Policy.

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

T~ - e

Daniel J. Bellegarde Roger J. Augustine Aurélien Gill
Commission Co-Chair Commissioner Commissioner

Dated this 18* day of December, 1997
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APPENDIX A

EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY

Request that Commission conduct inquiry  September 19, 1995
Planging conferences (2) December 14, 1995, and February 27, 1996
Community sessions (2) April 23, 1996, and July 11, 1996

Two community scssions were held. At the first, held on April 23, 1996,
the Commission heard from Chief Everett Martin, Elders Margaret LaBil-
lois, Marion LaBillois, Richard Simonson, Hubert LaBillois, Peter Simon-
son, Earl LaBillois, Mary McBain, Afred Narvie, Leonard IaBillois,
Gordon LaBillois, Rebecca LaBillois, and Howard LaBillois. The second
session was held on July 11, 1996, at which time the Commission heard
from Wallace LaBillois. '

Oral Session February 20, 1997
Content of the formal record

The formal record for the Eel River Bar First Nation Inquiry into the Eel
River Dam Claim consists of the following materials:

« 23 exhibits tendered during the inquiry, including the documentary
record (3 volumes of documents with anuotated index)

- written submissions from counsel for the Eel River Bar First Nation
and counscl for Canada

+ transcripts from community sessions and oral submissions (3
volumes) '

The Report of the Commission and leiters of transmittal to the parties
will complete the formal record of this Inquity. '
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APPENDIX B

TREATY ENTERED INTO WITH — THE INDIANS OF
NOVA SCOTIA FROM CAPE TORMENTINE TO
THE BAY DE CHALEURS, 22 SEPT. 1779

Whereas in May and July last a pumber of Indlans at the Instigation of the Kings disaffected
Subjects did Plunder and Rob Wm. John Cort and several other of the English Inhabitanis at
Mirimichy of the principal parat of their Effects in Which transaction, we the undersigned
Indians had no conscience, but nevertheless do blame ourselves, for not having exerted our
Abifitys more Effectually than We did to prevent it, being now greatly distressed and at a Joss
for the necessary supplys to keep us from the Inclemancy of the approaching Winter and to
Euable us to Subsist our familys. And Whereas Captaine Augustus Gervey commander of His
Majesty’s Sloop Viper did in July last (to prevent further mischief) seize upon the Mirimichy
River, Sixteen of the said Indians oue of which was killed, Three released and Twelve of the
most Atrocious have been carried to Quebec, to be dealt with, as His Majesty’s Government
of this Province, shall in future Direct, which measures We hope will tend to restore Peace
and good order in that Neighbourhood.

Be it Knowu to all Men That we John Julien, Chief; Antoine Arueau Captain, Francis Julien
and Thomas Dewagonisde Councillors of Mirimichy, and also Representatives of, and Author-
ized by, the Indians of Pagumske and Restigousche, Michael Chief, Louis Augustine Cobaise,
Erancis Joseph Aruiph, Captains, Antoines and Guiassance Gaballer Councillors of
Richebouctou, and Thomas Tauros Lose and Represeniatives of the Chief of Jedyac, do for
ourselves and in behalf on the several Tribes of Mickmack Indians before mentioned and all
others residing between Gape Tormentine and the Bay De Chaleurs in the Gulph of St. Law-
rence inclusive, Solemnly Promise and engage Lo and with — Michael Francklin Esq. The
Kings Superintendant of Indian Affairs in Nova Scotiz.

That we wil{ behave Quietly and Peaceably towards all his Majesty King George’s good

Subjects treating these upon every occasion in an honest friendly and Brotherly manner.

That we will at the Hazard of our Lives defend and Protect to the utmost of our power,
the Traders and Inhabitants and their merchandize and Effects who are or may be settled on
the Rivers Bavs and Sea Coasts within the forementioned District against all the Enemnys of
His Majesty Kiug George Whether French, Rebells or Indians.
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That We will wherever it shall be required apprehend and deliver into the Hands of the
said Mr. V. Francklin, to be dealt with according 1o his Deserts, any Indian or other person
who shall attempt to Distuch the Peace and Tranquility of the said District.

That we will not hold any correspondence or Intercourse with John-Allan, or any other
Rebell or Enemy to King George, let his nation or Country be what it will,

That we will use our best Endeavours o prevail with all other our Mickmack Brethern
throughout the other parts of the Province, to come into the like measures with us for their
several Districts.

And We do also by these presents for ourselves, and in hehalf of our Several Constituents
hereby review, Ratify and Confirm all former Treatys, entered into by us, or any of us or
these heretofore with the late Governor lawrence, and other His Majesty King Georges Gov-
ernors who have succeeded him in the command of this province,

In consideration of the true performance of the foregoing Articles, on the part of the
Indians Affairs doth hereby Promise in behalf of government:

That the said Indians and their Constitvents shall remain in the Districts before mentioned
Quiet and Free from any molestation of any of His Majesty's Troops or other his pood Subjects
in their Hunting and Fishing.

That inmediate measures shall be taken to cause Fraders to supply them with Ammunition,
clothing and other necessary stores in exchange for their Furrs and other commodilys, In
Witness whereof we the above mentioned have interchangeably set our hands and Seals at
Windsor in Nova Scotia this Twenty second day of September 1779.

148



EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

N
APPENDIX C
TS AGREEMENT made da £riplicste this 'Jﬁ ey o
*‘ﬁ‘[ . AD. 1548
BETERH: NEW BRUNGWICK MATER ATTMGITY,

a bodty corgorsts ualder and by
virtus of the Lews of the
Provinte of New Braumawick,
haviag ite hesd offics ia the
City of Fredericton md
Provinge aforesaid, horein-
atter raferred to aw the
mAnthority®,

QF THE FIRST PART,

AND THER COUECIL OF T™MB EEL BIVER
BAND, Bal Eiver Indian Ressrve
Tusbar 3, at Eol River, New
Brunm ) heruipafter refscred
to an ¥the Eel Ndwver Band",

OF TAE SECOND PART,

AND: HER MAJESYY THE QUEEN IN RIGRX
OF CANADA, as meprgsented Wecsin
by tha Minister of Indian
Affairs ang ¥oritharn Develcpment,
herainafter raferred to an
TCanada”,

OF THE T™MIRD FARY.

WHEREAS the Town of Dalhcusias, during the years 1963
and 1084, censtrugted the Bel Liver dam;

ARD WHEEEAS the dum wag erected 1o such 5 smanner that it
and the resultant hegdpond socrosched upon lands of the Band and
the Indiane)

AND WHEREAS tha Authority proposes tc becobe sucoaszor
in title and loterast to the Towm of Dalhousis concarning the
oparah.lnn‘lnd. maintenance of the dem, hesigond and water supply
spatenm created by the Town of Dalhoumie;

AND WHEREAE ihe Aythority is dasirous of reisdog the
levol of the headpond to oine feat geodeotic mlevation which will
necesaitabe the wequieition of all lands of the Eol Kiver Bend
which will be inusdated by the waters of the headpond af the Bel
Riuas damg

Mhatank, Lilpe 2
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AND WHEREAS the Authority wishes to coapensate the Cel
River Bend for dmages gnd losses suffered by tha Indians as a
result of the eraction of the dam gud creation of the headpond
by the Town of Dglhousie and to further compenaats the Eel River
Band and Iodians for lpeses and damages that may be suffered am a
result of the raiging of the water lavel to nins feat goodetic

alevation;

AND WHBREAS the Authority recognizea that the cconstruction
of the dam and the reservoir has disiipished the quantities of fish,
ghellfish, waterfowl, and cther natural resources which were
traditionally available to the Indlaena;

AND) WHEREAS the Authority wishes to acquire from Canada
and the Eel River Band all that land which will be flooded to &
level of nine fect geodetlo alevation by the headpond of the
Eel River dam and acceas over the lgnd occupled by the road lesding

to the gald dam;

AND WHEBEAS the Authority algo wighes 'tu scquire an
easement in a atrip of leod adjacent to the exdiating ¥ew Brunswiok
International Peper Compeany pipeline right-of —way for the purpose
of ostablishing thereon a plpelina and pumphouse;

AND WHAERBAS tiie Eel River Band and Canada have agreed to
take the neceasaary steps to tranafer the adminiatration and control
of the landa to be subject to flooding and the grant of an easemant
to tha Watar Authori.ty..

NOW THEREFORE for and in consideration of the autugl
covenants and agrecments herein contained the parties hereto
covenant and agree aa follows:

1. Canada will obtaln the necessary spproval of the Eel
River Band to allow Cgnada to transfer as expeditiously as posalble

the adminiatration and control of thoas lands aa shown ontlined
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in red cn Flan A hereto attachod to Her Majesty the Queen in sight
of the Province of New Brungwick as represented by the Minister of

Natural Raapurces,

2. Canada shall make all necessary arrangemonts to make

ag expeditiously as possible a grant of sagemant to the Authority
over those lands shown outlined in orange on Plan A horeto attachad
floz‘ the purpoes of constructing, msintabning and operating sn
access road, a water pipelins, aad a pumping station.

3. In conaidsration of the transfer of ths administration
and catrol of the landa mentioned in pection 1 aod the great
of Qnenent mentioned In secticn 2 the fut hority shall aake the
following paymenta to Canada on behalf of the Eel River Band of
Indians:
(a) the sum of $15,000,00 upen the signing of thia
agreement ;
(k) an apnual sum to be detarmined by referencs to the
volume of water pumped out of the Bel River dam headpond
by the Authority in accordancs with the formula
eatabliphed under mection 4,

4. It is waderstood and agreed that the aanual paymeat to

be made by the Authority to the Eel Biver Band in accordence with

olanee (b) of section 3 is se follows:
{a) one-half gent per 1,000 U.5. gallons pumped £rom
the Eol River headpond and the Eel River by tha Authority;
{b) the ammual sum calonlatad in scoordance with clansa (a)
shall be payable on a quarterly basis based on a year .
which begins with the firat day of April and enda with ths
thirty-firat day of March the subsequent yesar; and
{c} 4if the smoumt l_nyuble to the Counoil in any cena year
1a less than $10,000.00 then ths Authority shall pay to
the Comnoil the amount cslculwted iu acoordance with

clavae (a) and tha Jifferemes between that amgunt and
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$10,000.00 ao that the minimum paymeat in sny one

yesr shall bs $10,000.00 except when the volumm of

water punped by the Authnrity: ont of the Eel Rivaer

dan hsadpond and the Eel River falls below 1,825,000,000
- U.,8. gallons per year in which csse the Authority shall

pay to the Council only that amount caloulated am

paysbla in sccordance with clsuse (a).

5. It is povenaented snd agreed by and between the pabties
hareto that the amount payable by the Authority in acoordance with
gsction 3 and calculated in acgordsnce with section 4 shall be
payabls at the rate se establishesd for a period cf twenty yeara
upon the expiration of which the mathod of caloulating the payment
and rate shall be subject to review and negotiation by the partisa
and shall be subjact to review and negotisticn every five yners

thereafter.

6. (1) The parties hersto covenant and agree that where
thay cannet sgree upon new rates in accordance with saction §,

any party hereto ahall he entitled to give to the other parties
notice of auch dispute and to request arbitration thereof; and
the parties may, with respect to th;a particular watters then in
dispute, agres to aubmit the amme to arbitration in sccordence
with gubsection [2) mnd the Arbitration Act of New Brunswick.

{2) Upon notice to arbitrats being given under mub-
asction (1) the Bal River Band and the Autharity ashall neme one
representative each to act aa arbiters and those tuwc arbiters shall
Jointly select s thirdrpersnn to act es Chairman of the arbitiration
board.

7. {1) It ia understocd and agreed by and betwesn the partiex
hersto that the amount psyable under sectigm 3 and veloulated in
accordance with mection 4 ahall subject to subsection [3) ba based
on thoe gFallomgge puaped by the Authority from the Eal River headpead
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or the Eel River, ragardless of the location of tlu AythorityTs
puaps, from all pumps maintained by the Authority oen Eel Eiver
headpopd and tha Eel River bot calenlation of gallonage for
peyment purposed shall oot bogin watil the Authority begins
normal phspilog uioraﬁan.u.

{2) Where, during any period baginning with thas Eirst
day of April and ending wivh the ilst day of March the subsoguent
your, the Authority pumps mors than (15,000,000 U.5. gallens x
365 daya) 5,475,000,000 V.S, gallons, ths gallonage in excass thersof
shall not ba included in the cal¢ulation of the smeumt to be paid
to the Bel River Band under sectlons 3 and 4.

B. The Authority shall pay to the Eal River Bamd the sux of
$15,000,00 in consideration of end compeonsetion for the conveysnces
“to bs mate undar secticmas 1 and 2 and to cover the cost of all
dexage, injury and loss to perscn and property of the Councll
which ®ay haratofors or hereafter be sustained in congeguance of
the erection and opstation of the Eel Rdver dam, Eal River water
supply systen and the Eel River hesdpond and subject to saotiom 11
the repair sod naintenance of sams.

9. The Authority tosofur as it has the uuebc_r.ley to do a0,
shall eliow the Bel River Bang to erect and maintain a commercial
mariva oo that portion of the Bel River headpond abutting the lands
of the Eel River Band and shell allow members of the Eel Biver Band
accessd to the hesdpond acroas the lande to be vested in the Crown in
right of the Province providsd the Eel River Band ccapensstes the
Authority for any damegea which may bo osused to proparty of the
Aurthority ardelog cut of the usa of such acceas,

10, The Eel River Band ghall have a first option to purchase
the latd showm outlined in red oo plan A hereto attached if at say
tigoc after the trannfer of the adalnistretion sad control of the
aaid lande to the Autherity those lanida cease to be umed for the

purposss of 4 water supply syetem,

11, (1} The partise hareto novenmnt acd agree that the
Authority, ite agants, sorvazba, workmsa, and contrectors shall

have s right of access for tha purposss of ¢roosing and recroseing
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the lands of the Eel River Band for the purposea of inepecting,

constructing, mainteining, snd repalring the Eel River headpond,

dan and water supply system.

(2} The Authdrity undertakes to pay reascosble com-

pensation for damages to the property or growing crops of the Bel

Bivar Band which result from the exercise of the right set forth

in subsection {1).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the party of the first part has caused

these presents to be sxzcuted and its sesl sffixed by its proper

officers and the party of the second part has exesuted these presents

by ite proper officers and the perty of the thivd part has exocuted

these presents by lta proper cfficer on the day and year firgt above

written,

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED

in the presence of:

!

)
1
)

. ;f D, Do

)
\
}
}
}
}
i
}
)
]
i
)
)
i
}
)
}
)
)]
é

154

XEW BRIMSEWICK WATER AUTHORITY

fM

Chatrman

‘fpl

MER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT
OF CANADA

-—z:-—‘ '
. d
Minigter of dn Affaire and

‘Horthern Development




EEL RIVER BAR FIRST NATION INQUIRY REPORT

APPENDIX D

RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF INDIAN ACT, RSC 1952, C. 149

18.(1)

28.(1)

@

35.(1)

¥))

&)

Subject to this Act, reserves ate held by Her Majesty for the use and benefit of the
respective bands for which they were set apart; and subject to this Act and io the
terins of any frealy or surrender, the Governor in Council may determine whether
any purpose for which lands in a reserve are used or are to be used is for the use
and benefit of the band.

Subiject to subsection (2), any deed, lease, contract, instrument, document or agree-
nent of any kind, whether written ot oral, hy which a band or a member of a band
purports to permit a person other than a member of that band to occupy or use a
reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise any rights on a reserve is void.

The Minister may by permit in writing authorize any person for a petiod not exceed-
ing one year, or with the consent of the council of the band for any longer period, to
occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise rights ou a reserve.

Where by an Act of the Parliament of Canada or a provincial legislature Her Majesiy
in right of a province, a municipal or local authority or a corporation is empowered
to take or to use lands or any interest therein without the consent of the owner, the
power may, with the consent of the Governor in Council and subject to any terms
that may be prescribed hy the Governor in Council, be exercised in relation to lands
in a reserve or any interest therein. '

Unless the Governor in Council otherwise directs, a1l matters relating to compulsory
taking or using of lands in 2 reserve under subsection (1) shall be governed by the
statute by which the powers are conferred.

Whenever the Governor in Council has consented to the exercise by a province,
authority or corporation of the powers referred to in subsection (1), the Governor
in Council may, in lien of the province, authority or corporation taking or using the
lands without consent of the owner, authorize a transfer or grant of such lands to

I
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(4)

37.

38.(D

(2)

39.(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

the province, authority or corporation, subject to any terms that may be prescribed
by the Governor in Council.

Any amount that is agreed upon or awarded in respect of the compulsory taking or
using of land under this section or that is paid for a transfer or grant of iand
pursuant to this section shall be paid to the Receiver Geperal of Canada for the use
and benefit of the Band or for the use and benefit of any Indian who is entitled to
compensation or payment as a resull of the exercise of the powers referred to in
suhsection (1).

Except where this Act otherwise provides, lands in a reserve shall not be sold, alien-
ated, leased or otherwise disposed of untit they have been surrendered to Her Maj-
esty by the band for whose use and benefit in common the reserve was set apart.

A band may surrender to Her Majesty any right or interest of the band and its
members in a reserve.

A surrender may be absolute or qualified, conditional or uncondilional.

A surrender is void unless
(a) it is made to Her Majesty,
(b) it is assented to by a majority of the electors of the band at
(i) a general meeting of the band called by the council of the band, or
(ii) a special meeting of the band called by the Minister for the purpose of
considering a proposed surrender, and
(c) it is accepted by the Governor in Council.

Where a majority of the electors of 2 hand did not vote at a meeting called pursuant
to subsection (1) of this section or pursuant to section 51 of the fndian Act, chap-
ter 98 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, 1927, the Minister may, if the proposed
surrender was assented to by a majority of the electors who did vote, call another
meeting by giving thirty days’ notice thereof,

Where a mectinig is called pursuant to subsection (2) and the proposed surrender is
assented Io at the meeting by a majority of the members voting, the surrender shall
be deemed, for the purpose of this section, to have been assented to by a majority of
the electors of the band.

The Minister may, at the request of the council of the band or whenever he consid-
ers it advisable, order that 4 vote at any meeting under this section shall be by secret
ballot.
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(5) Every meeting under this section shall be held in the presence of the supetintendent

or some other officer of the Department designated by the Minister.

40. When a proposed surrender has been assented to by the band in accordance with

41.

section 39, it shall be certified on oath by the superintendent or other officer who
attended the meeting and by he chief or 2 member of the council of the band, and
shall be submiited to the Governor in Council for acceptance or refusal.

A surrender shall be deemed to confer all rights that are necessary io enable Her
Majesty to carry out the terms of the surrender.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND TOG THE CLAIM

THE QU’APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

The Qu’Appelle Valley Indian Development Authority (QVIDA) is made up of
eight member First Nations, six of which are participating in the present pro-
ceedings. The four western bands are the Piapot, Muscowpetung, Pasqua,
and Standing Buffalo First Nations, and the four eastern bands are the
Sakimay, Cowessess, Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapowace First Nations. Piapot
and Kahkewistahaw are not involved in this inquiry.

THE IMPORTANCE OF WATER IN THE QU APPELLE VALLEY

There are six lakes in the Qu’Appelle Valley in the vicinity of the reserve lands
at present held by the six participating First Nations. Four lakes located in
close proximity to the western First Nations are known as the Fishing Lakes,
including Pasqua Lake (also known as Qu'Appelle Lake), Echo Lake, Mission
Lake (also known as Lebret Lake), and Katepwe Lake. The remaining two
lakes are Crooked and Round Lakes, on which the three participating eastern
First Nations are located.

Treaty 4, or the Qu’Appelle Treaty, was entered into on September 15,
1874, by representatives of the Government of Canada and by the Chiefs of
four of the QVIDA First Nations: Cowessess (“Ka-wey-ance” or “Ka-wezauce,”
also known as “The Little Boy" or “The Little Child”), Pasqua (“The Plain”),
Kahkewistahaw (“Him That Flies Around”), and finally Kakisheway (“Loud
Voice”) and Chacachas (whose bands later merged to become Qchapowace).
In the years following settiement on their respective reserves, the QVIDA First
Nations developed economies that took advantage of the abundant natural
resources available in the Qu'Appelle Valley. The relatively flat landscape
resulted in seasonal flooding of hay flats and ongoing “natural irrigation,”
which stimulated high yields of top-quality hay. Other products of the valley
included cattle (fed on hay), firewood, farm produce, senega root, berries,

— I
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small game, and all of the First Nations took advantage of the fishing in the
various lakes. The Indians also supplemented their livelihoods by freighting,
hauling hay, tanning and managing cattle for the agency farm, trading, and
working off the reserves.

In 1894, the federal government passed the North-West frrigation Act,
which was designed to vest property rights in water to the Crown throughout
the North-West Territories. The Act provided that any person who already
held water rights similar to those recognized under this Act, or who had
constructed or was operating dams and other works, could obtain a licence
or authorization within a certain period of time to continue to be able to
exercise those rights. Failure to obtain a licence resulted in the water rights
being forfeited to the Crown. There is no evidence that any application was
made by Indian Affairs on behaif of the Qu’Appelle Valley Bands for such a
licence or authorization.

During the 1930s, water in the Qu’Appelle Valley took on even greater
importance as a result of extended drought conditions on the prairies and a
worldwide economic depression. These events prompted the federal govern-
ment to create the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration {PFRA), whose
mandate was to provide for the rehabilitation of the drought and of soil-
drifting areas of the three Prairie Provinces and to assist in the conservation
of surface water supplies for household use, stockwatering, and irrigation.
The Qu'Appelle Valley was just one possible area for large water development
projects, and investigations began across the Prairie Provinces to assess the
viability of many potential sites for the erection of water control structures.
Comprehensive field investigations, including topographical surveys and soil
investigations, were required to determine the foundations needed for the
structures that would have to be built.

DEVELOPMENT OF DAMS IN THE QUAPPELLE VALLEY

Echo Lake Project

In May 1941, the PFRA asked Indian Affairs for permission to erect a dam at
the east end of Pasqua Lake that would have the effect of continuously flood-
ing portions of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves. Indian Affairs
responded that it was obvious that damage would result from this project and
that investigations would he undertaken to quantify the compensation that
would have o be paid to the affected bands. P.A. Fetterly, an engineer with
the Department of Mines and Resources, estimated that the total damages
payable to the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands would be $8050. No recog-
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nition was given to any potential flooding of lands on the Standing Buffalo
TESETve,

The proposed dam on Pasqua Lake was not built, but instead a structure
on Echo Lake was substituted to control the water levels of both lakes. No
adjustment or reconsideration of Fetterly's damage estimate was made since
it was believed that, in the short term, less damage would be caused by a
structure on Echo Lake and, in the long term, it was likely that a structure
would also be constructed on Pasqua Lake. The dam was built shortly after
approval of the project was obtained in 1942. However, Fetterly’s estimate of
$8050 to compensate the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands for damage to
their reserve [ands was never paid to the Bands, even though the PFRA and
Indian Affairs considered the amount to be reasonable. There is no evidence
that the Bands authorized the project or were even consulted regarding the
dam.

Crooked Lake and Round Lake Project

In 1941, Fetterly was asked by the PFRA to provide his opinion regarding the
potential damages and benefits that might arise from the construction of
dams on Crooked and Round Lakes. In the meantime, the PFRA commenced
construction on the two dams without obtaining consent from affected Bands.
The PFRA apparently proceeded on the advice of the Acting Director of
Indian Affairs who assumed that band consent was not necessary because the
PFRA had powers of expropriation, In February 1942, Fetterly recommended
that, in addition to paying damages of $3300 to the Sakimay, Cowessess, and
Ochapowace Bands, the PFRA should also construct a bridge west of the
flooded area on Crooked Lake to replace a ford that would be made impass-
able by the higher water levels. Approval of the payment of $3330, including
an additional $30 in respect of the Cowessess Indian Residential School, was
given in November 1942, and the payment was paid to the respective Bands
in May 1943.

EFFECTS OF THE DAMS

The economies of the Qu'Appelle Valley First Nations before 1940 featured
considerable reliance on activities and resources in the valley bottom, includ-
ing native hay, timber, beaver, muskrat, deer, berries, maple sugar, and
important cultural and medicinal herbs and vegetation, such as sweetgrass
and senega root. The water in the river system itself was also fundamental to
the Bands’ existence, not only for domestic purposes but also for fishing,
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stockwatering, and the natural irrigation that it provided by means of sea-
sonal flooding of low-lying lands. Lower water levels also permitted band
members to cross the river to access hay and other resources on both sides.
Several of the reserves “developed a strong attachment to economic, social
and culmral activities based on the river habitat.”

The construction of the dams resulted in the continuous flooding of cer-
tain areas of the reserves, with other areas occasionally flooded and still
other areas damaged by capillary action and salinization. Various trees,
shrubs, and nutrient rich grasses were replaced by saline plants, and the loss
of shelter and food resulted in the reduction of small game. At the same time,
the Indian economies were undermined by the shift away from large-scale
use of horse-drawn wagons for transport and wood for heating fuel.

THE BAND COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS OF 1977

In late 1972, the PFRA determined that it had not compensated either Mus-
cowpetung or Pasqua for damages caused by the Echo Lake dam and that
there was no evidence of any agreement between the PFRA and Indian Affairs
or the Bands. Negotiations commenced in September 1973, and by July 1975
all three participating western Bands had retained lawyer Roy Wellman to
negotiate on their behalf. On November 16, 1976, the Bands offered to
accept a2 lump sum seftlement of $265,000 in consideration for a permit
authorizing fumre use and occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes
as well as a release of past, present, and future damages caused by the
structure. ,

The PFRA initially objected to this proposal, notiug that the Bands had
previously agreed to a setflement of $100 per acre based on the acreage
determined by a joint engineering assessment. Eventually, however, the PFRA
concluded that the sum of §265,000 could be justified, and the Bands passed
Band Council Resolutions confirming the settlement. The settlement was
approved on July 7, 1977, and payments were deposited to the credit of the
respective Bands.

DISSATISFACTION WITH THE SETTLEMENT

In October 1977, the new Chief of the Muscowpetung First Nation, Ron
Rosebluff, raised concerns about the “perpetual” nature of the settlement,
which he later equated to a surrender. Although Muscowpetung initially
intended not to use or even accept the funds allocated to it, the evidence
indicates that alt three First Nations spent all or virtually all of the sums paid
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to them. Despite assurances from the PFRA that the settlement did not repre-
sent 4 permanent alienation of land requiring a surrender and the consent of
a majority of eligible band members, Muscowpetung issued 4 Band Council
Resolution in February 1978 rescinding the 1977 Band Council Resolutions.
In addition to the objections of Chief Rosebluff, Indian Affairs was having
difficulties identifying the lands to be covered by the permits contemplated by
the 1977 settlement. A dispute regarding the permits developed between
Indian Affairs and the Department of Regional Economic Expansion (DREE).
Although the dispute was elevated to deputy ministerial level by late 1981 and
early 1982, the departments reached an impasse and no permits were ever
issued. ' :
In the meantime, QVIDA had been formed in 1979 to represent the inter-
ests of its eight member First Nations. Standing Buffalo issued its own
rescinding Band Council Resolution on November 10, 1980, and Pasqua fol-
lowed suit on February 10, 1982. In mid-1986, the QVIDA Bands issued
Band Council Resolutions approving the submission of specific claims for
compensation arising from “the illegal alienation and fleoding™ of their
respective reserves. However, owing to a lack of activity, QVIDA’s claim file
was closed in 1989 by the Specific Claims Branch of Indian Affairs subject to
the understanding that it could be reopened when QVIDA was ready to resub-
mit its claim. QVIDA viewed this 4s a “constructive rejection” of the claim by
Indian Affairs. Accordingly, in September 1994, the QVIDA First Nations
requested that the Indian Claims Commission conduct an inquiry into the
claim.

ISSUES

The broad question before the Indian Claims Commission in this inquiry is
whether the claims of the six QVIDA First Nations disclose a breach of the
Crown’s “lawful obligations” to the First Nations under the Specific Claims
Policy. In answering this question, the Commission must determine whether,
based on the evidence and submissions, these claims were properly rejected
by Canada.

Canada and the participating QVIDA First Nations have agreed that, to
assess the claims properly, the Commission must consider the following five
issues:

1 Could the Crown authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the Indian Act,
1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes? If so, was
the PFRA so authorized? If not, did Canada breach its fiduciary obligations
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to the QVIDA First Nations by failing to obtain proper authorization under
the Act?

2 If Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under section 34 of
the fdian Act, 1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding pur-
poses, did the Grown nevertheless have a fiduciary obligation to consult or
otherwise consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before
proceeding?

3 Did the terms of Treaty 4 preclude the Crown from relying on section 34
of the Indian Act, 1927, or otherwise require the consent of the QVIDA
First Nations to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for
flooding purposes?

4 Did the Band Gouncil Resolutions signed by the Pasqua, Standing Buffalo,
and Muscowpetung First Nations in the 1970s effectively release the Crown
and the PFRA from all past, present, and future claims for damage caused
by the Echo Lake control structure built in the 1940s?

5 Did those QVIDA First Nations with reserves adjacent to or on both sides
of the Qu'Appelle River and lakes have common law riparian water rights,
including rights to the river beds? If so, did the Crown have an obligation
to ensure that these water rights were protected under the North-West
Irrigation Act, 1894, and the Dominion Power Act, and 1o act in the First
Nations' best interests when those rights might be affected? Moreover, did
the Crown act in the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations when it
authorized the PFRA to construct control struciures that altered the First
Nations’ riparian interests and caused consequential losses?

THE COMMISSION’S ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS

Issue 1: Section 34 of the Indian Act, 1927

Canada acknowledged that it had not acquired the right to use and occupy
reserve lands of the QVIDA First Nations by way of expropriation or surren-
der, so the question that remained was whether such use and occupation
could be authorized by the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs under
section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act. Based on the reasoning of the Supreme
Court of Canada’s recent ruling in Opeichesaht Indian Band v. Canada, the
Commission concludes that, even if section 34 enabled the Superintendent

I
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General to authorize the use and occupation of reserve land, the rights con-
veyed to the PFRA were (oo extensive, exclusive, and permanent to be author-
ized under section 34. Moreover, unlike subsection 28(2) of the later Indian
Act, section 34 does not contemplate consent by either a band or a bhand
council, meaning that it should be interpreted even more narrowly than sub-
section 28(2).

Since section 34 did not form an appropriate basis for authorizing use and
occupation of reserve Iands for flooding purposes in this case, it was not
necessary for the Commission to consider whether Canada actually did
authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands under the section. It was
necessary for the PFRA to acquire by surrender or expropriation the right to
use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes. Having failed to do so,
the PFRA has trespassed on the reserve lands of all six participating First
Nations from the early 1940s to at least 1977, and on the reserve Iands of the
. Sakimay, Cowessess, and Qchapowace First Nations to this day. The impact of
the 1977 settlement on the PFRA’s use and occupation of the reserve lands of
the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First Nations is addressed
below.

Issues 2 and 3: Canada’s Fiduciary and Treaty Obligations

Given that the Commission has concluded that it was inappropriate for
Canada to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding
purposes under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, it is unnecessary to
determine whether Canada breached a fiduciary or treaty obligation to con-
sult or.otherwise consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before
proceeding.

Issue 4: Effects of the 1977 Band Council Resolutions

For the same reasons that it was not open to Canada to authorize the use and
occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes under section 34 of the
1927 Indian Act, Canada could not authorize such use and occupation
under subsection 28(2) of the 1970 Indian Act as part of the 1977 settle-
ment discussions with Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffdo. The
present case is distinguishable from Opefchesabt and the Commission's
inquiry into the Eel River Bar First Nation because of the more extensive,
exclusive, and permanent interest granted to the PFRA than to the British
Columbia Hydro and Power Authority and the New Brunswick Water Authority
in those other cases. Moreover, the 1977 settlement was void from the begin-
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ning under subsection 28(1) of the /ndian Act, either entirely or at a mini-
mum with respect to that portion of the seitlement relating to the permits and
damages for future use and occupation looking forward from 1977. The
effect of these conclusions is that the PFRA remained in trespass on the Mus-
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo reserves after 1977. The question
of whether any pre-1977 trespasses were settled depends on whether the
Band Councils had the power to enter into binding settlements with respect
to the unauthorized use and occupation of reserve lands and whether the
release clause in the 1977 Band Council Resotutions can be severed from
those portions of the agreement rendered void by subsection 28(1) of the
Indian Act.

Unless it chooses to remove the control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked
Lake, and Round Lake, Canada should immediately commence negotiations
to obtain, whether by surrender or expropriation, the interests in land it
requires for flooding purposes from all six reserves. Canada should also
commence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any,
payable to the Sakimay, Gowessess, and Ochapowace First Nations for flood-
ing damages since the 1940s, taking into account the $3270 reccived by
those First Nations as compensation in 1943. Similarly, Canada should com-
mence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any, payable
to the Muscowpefung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First Nations for flooding
damages to those reserves, again taking into account the compensation of
-$265,000 paid to the three First Nations under the terms of the 1977 settle-
‘ment. Whether the settlement entered into by the Band Councils in relation to
damages prior to 1977 is binding on the respective Bands, and whether this
part of the agreement can be severed and can operate independently to settle
the damages arising during that period, are issues the parties should negoti-
ate. If they are unable to settle those issues or any other question refating to
the quantum of compensation arising out of the PFRA’s use and occnpation
of reserve lands, the parties may return to the Commission for a further
inquiry into such matters.

The Band Council Resolutions by which the three western Bands pur-
ported to rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and the seftlement are
irrelevant to these proceedings. If the 1977 seitlement was entirely void ab
inftio under subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act, this issue is academic since
it would not have been necessary for the Bands to issue rescinding Band
Council Resolutions to render the earlier resolutions ineffective. However, to
the extent, if any, that the 1977 setflement can be considered valid under
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section 28 of the fndian Act, the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were
merely evidence of the intention to énter into a contract. As such, it would be
contrary to hasic principles of contract law to permit the First Nations unilat-
erally to withdraw from the 1977 settlement without the concurrence of the
PTRA.

Issue 5: Aboriginal, Treaty, and Riparian Water Rights

It is unnecessary for the Commission to address the nature and extent of the
First Nations’ aboriginal, treaty, and riparian water rights in light of our find-
ings in relation to the first four issues. Nevertheless, to the extent that the
interference with such water rights constitutes an alternative cause of action,
and if the PFRA and its successors can be shown to have interfered with the
First Nations’ water rights, we consider the First Nations to be entitled to
claimm compensation for the damages caused by such interference. Due
regard must be had, of course, for compensation already paid to the First
Nations to avoid any element of “double counting.”

The evidence before the Commission is insufficient to link pollution in the
Qu'Appetle River conclusively to the construction and use of the Echo Lake,
Crooked Lake, and Round Lake control structures. Similarly, we have been
shown no evidence that the failure by Canada to license the First Nations’
consumptive rights under the North-West Irrigation Act of 1894 has caused
any damage to the First Nations. The Commission therefore declines the invi-
tation to decide whether the First Nations’ riparian or other water rights were
extinguished by that statute, or whether the Crown failed to protect those
rights. :

RECOMMENDATIONS

Having found that the Government of Canada owes an outstanding lawful obli-
gation to the First Nations of the Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development
Authority with respect to the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration’s
acquisition of the right to use and occupy their reserve lands for flooding
purposes, we therefore recommend:

1 That Canada immediately commence negotiations with the QVIDA
First Nations to acquire by surrender or expropriation such inter-
ests in land as may be required for the ongoing operation of the
control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake
or, alternatively, remove the control structures.

]
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2 That the flooding claims of the Sakimay, Cowessess, and
Ochapowace First Nations be accepted for negotiation under
Canada’s Specific Claims Policy with respect to

(a) damages caused to reserve lands since the original construc-
tion of the dams in the early 1940s, and

(b) compensation for

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the
reserve lands, and
(ii) future damages to reserve lands,

subject to set-off of compensation of $3270 paid to those First
Nations in 1943.

3 That the flooding claims of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Stand-
‘ing Buffalo First Nations be accepted for negotiation under
Canada’s Specific Claims Policy with respect to

(a) damages caused to reserve lands

(i) since the original construction of the dams in the early
1940s, or

(ii) alternatively, since 1977, if these First Nations can be
bound by the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and if the
release for damages prior to 1977 can be severed from
the invalid part of the seitlement, and

(b) compensation for

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the
reserve lands, and :
(ii) future damages to reserve lands,

subject to set-off of compensation of $265,000 paid to those First
Nations in 1977.
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PART 1

INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND TO THE CLAIM

To understand the claim of the Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development
Authority (QVIDA) in this inquiry, it is first necessary to understand the com-
position and purpose of the organization as well as the geography from
which it derives its name. '

QVIDA was established in 1979 in response to concerns of its member
First Nations that, among other things, their culture, rights, and interests
were not being sufficiently protected and articulated in the use and develop-
ment of land and water resources in the Qu'Appelle Valley. Of particular
relevance to this inquiry, the organization sought to obtain redress for dam-
age caused to reserve lands by control structures erected by the Prairie Farm
Rehabilitation Administration (PFRA) in the early 1940s, and to exert greater
influence over the future operation of the water régime in the valley.

Eight First Nations constitute QVIDA's membership ~ from west to east,
Piapot, Muscowpetung, Pasqua, Standing Buffalo, Sakimay, Cowessess,

- Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapowace — although only six are participants in the
present inquiry. Since the inquiry relates. strictly to damages caused by the
PFRA's control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake,
Piapot is not involved because it is located too far upstream to have been
affected by those structures. it may initiate a separate claim in relation to
damages alleged to have been caused by structures constructed on the river
in the 1970s.

Similarly, Kahkewistahaw is not a participant in this inquiry because, in
rejecting QVIDA's flooding claim, Canada did not understand that the flood-
ing may have affected Kahkewistahaw's reserve lands and did not address the
issue at that time. As a result, Canada has more recently undertaken to review
further submissions from Kahkewistahaw- with regard to damages, to deter-
mine what (if any) compensation was paid to the First Nation for the flooding
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of its reserve lands, and to provide a response. In the meantime, to allow the
inquiry to proceed without further delay, Kahkewistahaw has elected to pro-
ceed separately should its claim be rejected by Canada after the First Nation
has submitted additional claim materials.

At the centre of the QVIDA claims is the Qu'Appelle River (sec map on
page 186). At its west end, the river originates at Lake Diefenhaker, where
the Gardiner and Qu'Appelle Dams have made a long, winding lake of the
South Saskatchewan River reaching upsiream almost to the boundary
between Saskatchewan and Alberta. In dry years, water from the South Sas-
katchewan can be diverted around the Qu'Appelle Dam and down the valley
to the thirsty farmlands below.

As the Qu'Appelle River meanders through the flat Saskatchewan iand-
scape, its flow is first impeded by a control structure near Eyebrow, Sas-
katchewan, which creates tiny Eyebrow Lake. From there the river continues
to the southeast until its current is again slowed by Buffalo Pound Lake, the
product of another man-made control structure. Immediately below the dam,
the river swings to the northeast, its volume augmented by the combined
flows of the Moose Jaw River and Thunder Creek. Farther east it is joined just
upstream of Lumsden by Wascana Creek, coming from Regina and supple-
mented by Cottonwood Creek. At Lumsden the Qu’Appelle River passes
beneath Highway 11, the major roadway connecting Regina and Saskatoon,
and extends northeast to Craven. There, the Craven and Valeport control
structures permit water to be diverted northward into the huge storage
capacity of Last Mountain Lake for later release to irrigate the Valeport Flats
and other areas downstream. :

Having passed Craven, the Qu'Appelle River maintains its northeast head-
ing until it reaches Highway 6 directly north of Regina, where it veers to the
east. At this point it enters the Piapot First Nation’s Indian Reserve (IR) 75,
which spans both sides of the river for several miles. Following a tortuous
journey eastward, the river is joined from the north by Loon Creek, then
traverses the northern edge of Muscowpetung's IR 80 and Pasqua’s IR 79.
Across the river from IR 80 is IR 80B, a hay reserve set apart for Mus-
cowpetung and other bands, including Standing Buffalo. As the river flows
along the nosthern boundary of the Pasqua reserve, it slows and empties into
Pasqua Lake (at one time also known as QuAppelle Lake), the first of four
lakes in quick succession which have come to be known collectively as the
Fishing Lakes or the Qu'Appelle Lakes. Pasqua’s reserve occupies almost the
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entire southern shore of Pasqua Lake, other than the most easterly mile or
50.
Jumping Deer Creek drains from the north into the east end of Pasqua
Lake about a half-mile upstream of the short channel between that lake and
the second of the Fishing Lakes — Echo Lake. Standing Buffalo’s IR 78 strad-
dles Jumping Deer Creek along portions of the north shores of both Pasqua
and Echo Lakes and the intervening reach of the river. Situated at the lower
east end of Echo Lake, the Echo Lake Dam controls the water levels of both
Pasqua Lake and Echo Lake. The structure floods valley lands on the Mus-
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo reserves, and it is this flooding that
constitutes one aspect of the present claim before the Indian Claims Commis-
sion (the Commission). ,

Immediately below the dam are the town of Fort Qu’Appelle and the con-
fluence of the Qu'Appelle River with the northward-flowing Echo Creek. As
the river snakes to the southeast, it flows past the towns of Lebret and
Katepwa and into Mission Lake and Katepwa Lake — the last two Fishing
Lakes — before being restrained vet again by another control structure at the
lower end of Katepwa Lake. From that point it continues to the southeast,
supplementing its flow with drainage from Pheasant Creek to the north and
Indianhead Creek, Redfox Creek, and Adair Creek to the south. Once again
the river angles to the northeast, joining forces with Pearl Creek before
resuming a southeasterly course and entering another Indian reserve just
upstream of Crooked Lake. This land belongs to the Sakimay First Nation,
including IR 74 on the south shore of the river and the western third of
Crooked Lake, as well as Shesheep IR 74A on the opposite bank of the river
and the western half of the lake.

Occupying the remaining south bank of Crooked Lake and some miles of
the river downstream is Cowessess IR 73. Kahkewistahaw's IR 72A — a small
fishing station — was initially positioned on the north shore near the Crooked
Lake Dam at the lake’s eastern outlet. The south end of the dam sits on land
that originally formed part of the Cowessess resetve, although the First Nation
and the PFRA disagree on the current status of title to the dam site. The dam
is used to control the level of Crooked Lake and has resulted' in certain
portions of the Sakimay and Cowessess reserves being flooded. Immediately
east of the dam, Ekapo Creek drains into the Qu'Appelle River from the south
through IR 73.

As the river winds its way to the southeast, Kahkewistahaw’s IR 72 occu-
pies some five miles of the south shore of the river midway between Grooked

T
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and Round Lakes and adjacent to the eastern boundary of the Cowessess
reserve. Kahkewistahaw's eastern neighbour is Ochapowace, whose IR 71
fronts the entire south shore of Round Lake and some distance both
upstrear and down. On the north side of the river and the east end of Round
Lake are former Round Lake Indian Residential School lands which
Kahkewistahaw purchased from the federal government in 1960 as an addi-
tion fo IR 72. At Round Lake's eastern outlet, the eighth and last control
structure was erected — its south end located on Ochapowace reserve lands —
to store water in the lake for irrigation purposes. This dam caused flooding
on the Ochapowace reserve at the west end of the lake. As noted at the
outset, the full measure of the dam’s impact on Kahkewistahaw's land
remains to be determined and may form the subject matter of separate pro-
ceedings before the Commission.

The Qu'Appelle River finally meanders eastward to the Manitoba border,
gaining additional flows from Squawhead Creek and Scissors Creek to the
south and Kaposvar Creek and Cutarm Creek to the north. Ultimately, it
reaches its confluence with the Assiniboine River just inside the Manitoba
border at St Lazare, where it is swallowed up by the larger river before con-
tinuing eastward to its ultimate union with the Red River in central Winnipeg.

We have already alluded to the fact that the issues at the heart of this
inquiry arise from the effects of the PFRA’s construction and operation of
dams on Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake on the reserves of the
six QVIDA First Nations participating in these proceedings. The evidence is
clear that the dams were constructed in the aftermath of severe drought con-
ditions during the 1930s to store annual spring runoffs for later use in irri-
gating lands during periods of scant precipitation. 1t is just as clear that,
although the PFRA and Indian Affairs were aware that the dams would flood
Indian lands, the Bands themselves were not constlted and never authorized
the projects to proceed. Three of the participating Bands — Muscowpetung,
Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo — were not even paid the compensation to
which the two government departments had agreed they were eniitled. As a
result, the first three issues in this inquiry consider whether section 34 of the
Indian Act permitted [ndian Affairs to authorize the flooding of reserve lands
without Band consent; whether Indian Affairs did in fact authorize such
flooding; and, if authorization twas given, whether Indian Affairs was never-
theless required by treaty or as a fiduciary to consult with the Bands before
allowing the PFRA to proceed.
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In 1977, after Canada’s failure to pay the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and
Standing Buffato Bands had been discovered, the Band Councils of the day
negotiated a settlement with the PERA that would pay them the combined sum
of $265,000 as compensation for past, present, and future damages caused
by the dams. The Bands also agreed to allow permits to be issued pursuant to
subsection 28(2) of the Indian Act that would allow the PFRA to continue
flooding reserve lands. However, soon afier Band Council Resolutions
{BCRs) had heen executed to authorize the settlement, and after the election
of a new Muscowpetung Band Council, the three First Nations became con-
cerned that they had permanently alienated reserve lands without obtaining
surrenders approved by majorities of their respective voting memberships.
All three First Nations purported to rescind the 1977 settlement Band Council
Resolutions with later resolutions. These facts give rise to certain additionat
issues — namely, whether the settlement could be effected by way of Band
Council Resolutions and permits issued under subsection 28(2), and
whether it was open to the First Nations unilaterally to rescind the settlement,
particularly since they had already received and have since spent the settle-
ment proceeds of $265,000.

Finally, the Commission has been asked to consider the First Nations'
water rights, whether arising as part of aboriginal title or as a result of treaty
or riparian rights. The First Nations question whether their water rights were
protected when the federa! government laid claim to the beds and waters of
non-navigable rivers by enacting the North-West Irrigation Act in 1894. If
those rights were protected, the First Nations claim another basis for the
damages caused by the construction and operation of the three dams without
their consent. If the water rights were nof protected, the First Nations claim
that Canada breached fiduciary obligations to the First Nations in failing to
protect those rights.

THE MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

The Commission’s mandate to conduct inquiries pursuant to the Inquiries
Act is set out in a commission issued on September 1, 1992. It directs:

that our Commissioners on the basis of Canada’s Specific Claims Policy . . . by consid-
ering only those matters at issue when the dispute was initially submitted to the Com--
mission, inquire into and report on:

(a) whether 4 claimant has a valid claim for negotiation under the Policy where
that claim has already been rejected by the Minister; and

— I
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— I

{b) which compensation criteria apply in negotiation of a settlement, where 2
claimant disagrees with the Minister's determination of the applicable
criterfa.!

The Specific Claims Policy is set forth in a 1982 hooklet published by the
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development entitled Outstand-
ing Business: A Native Claims Policy — Specific Claims.* In considering a
specific claim submitted by a First Nation to Canada, the Commission must
assess whether Canada owes an outstanding lawful obligation to the First
Nation in accordance with the guidelines provided in Outstanding Business:

The government's policy on specific claims is that it will recognize claims by Indian
bands which disclose an ouistanding “lawfu} obligation,” i.e., an obligation derived
from the law on the pan of the federal government.

A lawiul obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances:

i} The non-fulfillment of a trealy or agreement between Indians and the Crown.

ii) A breach of obligation arising out of the Indian Act or other statutes pertain-
ing to Indians and the regulations thereunder. '

iii} A breach of an oblipation arising out of government administration of Indian
funds or other assets.

iv) An illegal disposition of Indian land.

In additlon to the foregoing, the government is prepared to acknowledge claims
which are hased on the following circumstances:

i) Tailure to provide compensation for reserve lands taken or damaged hy the
federal government or its agencies under authorily.

i Prand in connection with the acquisition or disposition of Indian reserve land
by employees or agents of the federal government, in cases where the frand
can be clearly demonstrated.’

BACKGROUND TO THE INQUIRY

QVIDA submitted 2 claim to Indian Affairs in 1986 requesting compensation
for the damages caused by the flooding of reserve lands.* On November 5,

1 Commission issued September 1, 1992, pursuant to Order In Council PC 1992-1730, July 27, 1992, amending
the Commission ssued 1o Chiel Commissioner Harry 5. LaForme on August 12, 1991, pursuant to Order in
Council PG 1991-1329, July 15, 1991 (Consolidated Terms of Reference).

2 Depariment of Indian Athirs and Northern Development (DIAND), Guistanding Businass: A Native Claims
Policy — Specific Claims (Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services, 1982), reprimted in [1994] 1 ICCP 171-85.

3 DIAND, Oulstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy — Specific Claims (Ottawa: Minister of Supply and
Services, 1982), 20. '

4 116782 g]ﬂﬂﬂ.dﬂ i, “QuAppelle Valley Indlan Developmeni Authority Laud Claim,” Aprl 14, 1986 (ICC
Exhibit 5).
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1992, Carol Cosco of Indian Affairs advised Chief Lindsay Cyr, then President
of QVIDA, that, owing to inactivity on QVIDA’s claim since 1989, the Depart-
ment intended to close the organization’s file> In that letter and follow-up
correspondence on November 17, 1992, Cosco made it clear that the step
was being taken primarily as a housekeeping measure and that the claim
could be reopened from the point at which QVIDA had left off, without having
to “start from scratch” or be delayed in handling. Nevertheless, these letters
were interpreted by the First Nations as a constructive rejection of their
claim, and in October 1994, the claim was forwarded to the Indian Claims
Commission with a request for an inquiry.”

On December I, 1994, the Honourable Robert F. Reid, the Commission’s
Legal and Mediation Advisor, advised the parties that, having accepted
QVIDA’s request for an inquiry, the Commission sought to convene a plan-
ning conference.® Just over one week later, Rem Westland, the Director Gen-
eral of the Specific Claims Branch, expressed concern that the Commission
would agree to conduct an inquiry in the QVIDA claim and in others that
were “still in the research phase.”® Nevertheless, counsel for Canada agreed
to attend the first planning conference on January 30, 1995, and to discuss
QVIDA’s options in advancing its claim. ‘

In fact, six planning conferences were conducted, and the parties were
able to clarify and narrow the issues to be considered by the Commission.
The first three conferences took place in Regina on January 30, June 6, and
September 28, 1995. Before the fourth planning conference, which was held
on April 3, 1996, Canada had completed its research into QVIDA's claims
and provided its preliminary position in two “without prejudice” letters dated

5 Carol ). Cosco, Claims Analyst, Specific Claims West, Depariment of Indian and Northern Affaics, to Chief Lindsay
Cyr, President, QVIDA, November 5, 1992, DIAND file BWS260/5K8552-C1, vol. 2 (FC Documents, p. 1349},

6 Carol ). Cosca, Claims Analyst, Specific Claims West, Depariment of Indian and Nonhern Affairs, (o Chie{ Lindsay

Cyr, President, QVIDA, November 17, 1992, DIAND file BWS26(/SK&552-C1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 1350).

Matthew Bellegarde, Claims and Policy Development Officer, Federation of Saskalchewan Indian Nations, o Kim

Fullerton, Commission Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, October 11, 1994, enclosing QuAppelle Valley

Indian Development Authority Record of Decision, September 12, 1994, with respect 10 a request by Chief Mel

Isnana, Standing Buffalo, Chicf Todd Peigan, Pasqua, Chief Fugene Anaguod, Muscowpetung, and Chief Joe

Foirrherns, Piapot, to have the Indian Claims Commission carry out an inquiry into Canada's rejection of the

QVIDA claim; Angela Delorme, Execuiive Secretary, Yorkion Tribal Courncil, o Xim Fullerion, Commission

Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, Ociober 26, 1994, enclosing Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development

Aunthority Record of Decision, September 12, 1994, with respect to 2 request by Chief Louis Taypotat, Kahkewis-

tahaw, Chief Denton George, Ochapowace, Chief Terey Lavallee, Cowessess, and Chief Lindsay Kaye, Sakimay, to

have the Indian Claims Commission carry ont an inquiry into Canada’s rejection of the QVIDA claim.

%  Justice Robert F. Reid, Legal and Mediatiou Advisor, Indian (laims Commission, to Matthew Bellegarde, Claims
and Policy Development. (fficer, Federation of Saskatchewan Indian Nations, and Bruce Becker, Legal Counsel,
Specific Claims Wesl, DIAND Legal Services, December 1, 1994.

9 Rem Westland, Director General, Specific Clalms Branch, Department of Indian and Morthern Affairs, to Justice
Robert Reid, Legal and Mediation Advisor, Indian Claims Commission, December 9, 1934.

I
179




INDTAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

March 29, 1996. In the first of these letters relating to the four western First
Nations, Jack Hughes of Specific Claims West advised QVIDA Co-ordinator
Gordon Lerat that Canada was prepared to recommend acceptance of the
claim as it related to Standing Buffalo, but not with regard to Pasqua or
Muscowpefung:

Muscowpetung and Pasqua Reserve Lands

It is our position that the PFRA obtained proper authorization for the use and occu-
parcy of land on the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves pursuant to section 34 of
the fudian Act of 1927. Canada did not compensate the Muscowpetung and Pasqua
bands in respect of their flooded reserve lands in the 1940's, but eventually paid
adequate compensation in 1977. In addition, the Muscowpetung and Pasqua band
councils have provided Canada with effective releases with respect to compensation
for the flooding of their lands by way of Band Council Resolutions authorizing the
flooding. Accordingly, it is Canada’s view that no lawful obligation is owed to either
the Muscowpetung or Pasqua bands.

Standing Buffalo Reserve Lands

Upon our review of the file it does not appear thal Canada was aware that Standing
Buffalo reserve lands would be affected by flooding in the 194(°s. Although the Stand-
ing Buffalo band council passed a Band Council Resolution in 1977 releasing Canada
for the flooding of the band’s land, it does not appear that Canada issued a permit at
that time for the flooding. Therefore, we are prepared to negotiate based on the
band’s submission that there exists no authority for the flooding of their lands. Any -
compensation paid to the band in exchange for their consent for the Minister to issue
a permit should take into account the compensation paid to the band in 1977 by way
of set-off, ¥

Canada was not prepared to deal with the claim as it related to Piapot, since
the floeding of that reserve appeared to result from upstream releases of
water rather than the construction and use of the Echo Lake Dam. Hughes
added that Canada had three means of authorizing the flooding of reserve
lands — surrender, expropriation, or authorization under section 34 of the
Indian Act — and that it had apparently authorized use and occupation under
section 34.M

In the second letter, which dealt with the four eastern First Nations,
Hughes informed Lerat that Canada had reached the preliminary position that

10 Jack Hughes, Research Manager, Prairies, Specific Claims West, Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, 1o
Gordon Lerat, GYIDA Co-ordinator, March 29, 1995, Note that Lhe date on (he letter appears to be in ecror and
that the proper date should be March 29, 1996

11 Jack Hughes, Research Manager, Prairies, Specific Claims West, Department of Indian and Nerthern Affaits, to
Gordon Lerat, QYIDA Co-ordinator, March 29, 199[6].
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I

it owed no lawful obligation because, again, it had authorized the use and
occupation of reserve lands under section 34. However, Canada was pre-
pared to consider additional submissions from QVIDA with regard to the
adequacy of the compensation paid for the use and occupation of these Lands
as well as compensation to Sakimay for funds expended to move a house to
higher ground and for damages associated with road flooding.*

At the fourth planning conference, Canada acknowledged that its rejection
of the flooding claim in relation to the four eastern First Nations had not
addressed the impact, if any, suffered by Kahkewistahaw. It was at this point
that Canada agreed to review Kahkewistahaw’s claim and provide a response.
Canada also conceded that it had not proceeded by way of “surrender
[or]expropriation nor did it secure a permit for the fands now flooded by
construction of the dams at Echo Lake, Round Lake or Crooked Lake.”’

The fifth planning conference was convened in Regina on May 14, 1996.
The parties agreed that, because Canada had accepted Standing Buffalo's
claim for negotiation, Standing Buffalo would no longer be a party to the
inquiry. Kahkewistahaw at that time intended to remain a party to the inquiry
“unless and until Canada offers to accept Kahkewistahaw’s claim for negotia-
tion and that offer is accepted by the First Nation.”!%

By the time the last planning conference took place on February 28, 1997,
however, Canada had changed its position with regard to Standing Buffalo
and informed the First Nation that it was no longer willing to negotiate the
First Nation’s flooding claim. Kahkewistahaw’s submission was still not com-
plete, however, and Chief Amanda Louison considered withdrawing the First
Nation’s portion of the claim to allow the inquiry to proceed without further
delay.’ In short order, Standing Buffalo had elected to participate in the
inquiry, and Kahkewistahaw had decided it would not participate.

THE INQUIRY

To assist the Commission in its deliberations, the parties tendered more than
1300 pages of historical documents, a further 35 exhibits consisting of sev-
eral thousand more pages of material, and a video prepared by the Yedera-

12 Jack‘ [Tughes, Research Manager, Prairles, Specific Clains West, Department of Indian and Northeru Affairs, to
Gardon Lerat, QVIDA Co-ordinator, March 29, 199[6].
13 Tndian Claims Commission Planming Conference, Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development Authority, April 3, 1995,

L

14 mcl,lGan Claims Commission Planning Conference, Qu'Appelle Valley Indlan Develapmeut Anthority, May 14,
1996, p. 6. '

15 Indian Claims Commission Planning Conference, Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development Authority, March 4,
1997, pp. 3+
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tion of Saskatchewan Indian Nations. In four separate community sessions,
the Commission also received oral evidence from elders of the six participat-
ing First Nations, as well as testimony from elders of the Kahkewistahaw First
Nation, which, at the time of the community session in which its members
took part, was still part of the inquiry.

The first community session was 2 joint meeting of the four eastern QVIDA
First Nations held in the Community Hall on the Sakimay reserve on Septem-
ber 18, 1996. The Commissioners heard from elders George Ponicappo, Alex
Wolfe, Marie Kaye, Raymond Acoose, Edna Sangwais, Emnta Panipekeesick,
Jimmy Wahpooseywan, and Leonard Kequahtooway of Sakimay, Joseph
Crowe, John Alexson, Mervin Bob, Allan McKay, and Urbin Louison of
Kahkewistatiaw; Henry Delorme of Cowessess; and Margaret Bear, Marlowe
Kenny, Arthur George, and Calvin George of Ochapowace.

The second session was conducted in the Pasqua Band Hall on October 2,
1996. The participants included the following: elders from the Pasqua First
Nation: David Obey, Stanley Pasqua, Clara Pasqua, Andrew Gordon, Raymond
Gordon, Clayton Cyr, Lawrence Stevenson, Jimmy Iron Fagle, George
Kahnapace, Lawrence Chicoose, Agnes Cyr, Dora B. Stevenson, Marsha
Gordon, Bernard Gordon, Edith Merrifield, and Ina Kahnapace. The following
day the Commissioners convened another community session in the Mus-
cowpetung School gymnasinm to hear the evidence of 11 elders of the Mus-
cowpetung First Nation: Calvin Poitras Sr, Violet Keepness, Isabelle Keepness,
William Pratt, Evelyn Cappo, Winonah Toto, Ervin Toto, Earl Cappo, Paul Poi-
tras, Norma Cappo, and Eugene Anaquod.

Finally, after Standing Buffalo’s participation in the inquiry had been con-
firmed, the fourth and final community session was held on April 4, 1997, at
the Standing Buffalo Cultural Centre to hear from that First Nation’s elders.
Testifying were Charlie Buffalo, Susan Yuzicappi, Isabelle Jackson, Pelix Bear-
shield, Ken Goodwill, Clifford Goodwill, Tony Yuzicappi, and — through Band
Councillor Velma Bear — Cecil Wajunta, Victor Redman, Catherine Good-
feather, and Celina Wajunta.

Counsel for the QVIDA First Nations submitted written arguments to the
Commission on May 5, 1997, to which counsel for Canada replied on June 6,
1997. Oral submissions were made at a final session in Regina on June 26,
1997.

A complete summary of the written submissions, documentary evidence,
transcripts, and the balance of the record in this inquiry is set forth in
Appendix A of this report.
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PART 11

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

TREATY 4

The circumstances forming the backdrop to the present claim of the QVIDA
First Nations originated in the signing of Treaty 4 in 1874 by representatives
of the government of Canada and by the Cree, Saulteaux, and other Indians of
what is now southern Saskatchewan. By that time, white settlers and traders
had arrived in the British North-West Territories. The demise of the buffalo,
to which many Indians owed their existence, was already foreseen. It was a
time of considerable upheaval and turmoil, as bands and individual Indians
sought, in many tragic cases unsuccessfully, to find the best way to survive in
a rapidly changing world. People were on the move, both geographically and
from band to band, as they tried to identify whether their prospects would be
better served by continuing the hunt or by seitling on reserves and taking up
agriculture and other pursuits. Canada and the prairie Indians recognized
that, with the expected arrival of more and more white settlers, it was essen-
tial to formalize relations to give some protection to aboriginal interests.
In its previous reports dealing with the treaty land entitlement inquiries of
the Kawacatoose and the Kahkewistahaw First Nations, the Commission has
already reviewed at some length the events that spurred Canada and the Indi-
ans to enter into Treaty 4. We do not propose to consider those events
further in this report, other than to identify the relevant signatories to the
treaty and to note the specific treaty provisions spawned by the negotiations.
Treaty 4, which became known as the Qu’Appelle Treaty, was first exe-
cuted at the Qu'Appelle Lakes on September 15, 1874, with the initial signa-
tories including the Chiefs of four of the present eight QVIDA First Nations:
Cowessess (“Ka-wezauce,” also known as “The Little Boy” or “The Little

16 Indian Claims Commission (ICC), Report on Kawacatnose First Navion Trealy Land Entitlement Inguiry
{(Ottawa, March 1996), (1990) 5 Indian Claims Commission Proceedings {ICCP) at 7%; ICC, Report on
Kabkewistabmy First Nation Treaty Land Entitlement Inguiry (Ottawa, Febrvary 1996).
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Child"), Pasqua (“The Plain”), Kahkewistazhaw (“Him that flies around”),
and finally Kakisheway (“Loud Voice™) and Chacachas (whose bands later
merged to become Ochapowace). At the subsequent meeting with bands in
the Yort Ellice area on September 21, 1874, the Treaty Commissioners
included the Sakimay (“Mosquito”) people as members of Waywaysecappo’s
band. Cheekuk signed an adhesion to the treaty on behalf of Muscowpetung
on September 8, 1975, and Piapot (“Payepot™) adhered the next day.

The lone exception was the Standing Buffalo Band, which descended from
- Minnesota Sioux Indians who came to Canada as refugees of the American
Sioux War of 1862-63. As such, they were apparently excluded from Treaty 4,
although they were later encouraged to settle within the Treaty 4 area as long
as the location they chose was not close to the American border."”

Under the terms of Treaty 4, the adhering Indians agreed to “cede,
release, surrender and vield up” to Canada “all their rights, titles and privi-
leges” to some 75,000 square miles of land encompassed by the treaty. In
exchange, Canada agreed to set apart reserves for the Indians,

such reserves to be selected by officers of Her Majesty’s Government of the Dominion
of Canada appointed for that purpose, after conference with each band of the Indians,
and to be of sufficient area to allow one square mile for each family of five, or in that
proportion for larger or smaller families; provided, however, that it be understood
that, if at the time of the selection of any reserves, as aforesaid, there are any settlers
within the bounds of the lands reserved for any band, Her Majesty retains the righi to
deal with such seftlers as She shall deem just, so 2s not to diminish the extent of land
allotied to the Indians; and provided, further, that the aforesaid reserves of land, or
any part thereof, or any interest or right therein, or appurtenant thereto, may be
sold, leased or otherwise disposed of by the said Government for the use and
benefit of the said Indians, with the consent of the Indigns entitled thereto first
had and oblained, but in no wise shall the said Indians, or any of them, be
entitled to sell or otberwise alienate any of the lands allotted to them as
reserves. '

- The treaty further stipulated that Canada would provide treaty annuities to
each Indian man, woman, and child, as well as agricultural implements and
seed to assist those bands that were ready to settle and convert to an agrarian
lifestyle. For those Indians who were not yet ready to settle, the treaty pro-

17 116782 Canada Ltd., “Qu'Appelle Valley tndian Development Authority Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, p. 7 {ICC
Eshibit 5).

18 Trealy No. 4 between Her Majesty the Queen and the Cree and Saulteaux Tribes of Indians at Qu'dppelle
and Fort Elfice (Ottawa: Queen’s Printer, 1966), p. 6. Emphasis added.
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vided that they were to receive “powder, shot, ball and twine” and assured
the following rights with regard to hunting, fishing, and trapping:

And further, Her Majesty agrees that Her said Indians shall have right to pursue their
avocations of hunting, teapping and fishing throughout the tract surrendered, subject
to such regulations as may from time to time be made by the Government of the
country, acting under the authority of Her Majesty, and saving 4and excepting such
tracts as may be required or taken up from dine to time for sellewnent, mining or
olher purposes, under grant or other right given by Her Majesty’s said Government.™

Yinally, for the purposes of the present inquiry, the following provision of the
treaty is also relevant:

It is further agreed between Her Majesty and Her said Indian subjecls that such sec-
tions of the reserves above indicated as may at any time be required for public
works or building of whatsoever nature may be appropriated for that purpose by
Her Majesty’s Government of the Dominion of Canada, due compensation being
made to the Indians for the value of any improvements thereon, and an
equiralent in land or money for the area of the reserve so appropriated ™

SELECTION OF RESERVES

Within a few vears of the initial signing of Treaty 4, survey work on the
reserves for the six QVIDA First Nations participating in this inquiry had been
commenced, and by 1884 all had been allocated their principal reserves
within the Qu'Appelle Valley.®* The government's policy of promoting reserve
agrarianism had begun.

Pasqua

Pasqua’s IR 79 was surveyed in October 1876 by Dominion Land Surveyor
(DLS) William Wagner along most of the south sliore of Pasqua Lake — the
most westerly of the four Fishing Lakes — and further upstream for 2 couple

19 Trealy No. 4 betiweon Her Magesty the Queen and the Cree and Sanlteaux Tribes of Indians at Qudppelle
and Fort Elfice (Ottawa: Queen’s Printer, 1966}, p. 7.

20 Treaty No.  between Her Majesty the Dueen and the Cree and Saulteanx Tribes of Imlwns at Qu'Appelle
and Fort Elfice (Otiawa: Queen's Printer, 1966}, p. 7. Empbasis added.

2t Tt should he noted that the dates of first snevey for treaty land entilement purposes lor some of the QVIDA First
Nations are or have been in issue before the Gommission. The respective dates of first snrvey for these First
Nations are not in issue in these proceedings, however. Any statements that the Commission may make in this
report regarding survey dates for any of the First Nations are merely for the purpose of seiting the general
historical context for this inquiry, based on the limited evidence before us at this ime, and do nol represent the
findings or views of the Commission on the subject of the respective Fixst Nations' ‘dates of fiest Survey.
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QU'APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY

of miles along the meandering course of the Qu'Appelle River. The original
reserve contained 60.15 square miles, or 38,496 acres,” described by Wag-
ner in these terms:

The soil in this reserve is a clay loam of first quality. The surface is level, and undulag-
ing, and partially wooded with poplar and willow. Fish and wild-fow] abound in the
lake and swamps in the valley of the Qu’Appelle.”

Muscowpetung

Muscowpetung’s band attempted to survey its own reserve immediately after
adhering to Treaty 4 in 1875, but Cheekuk, who had signed the adhesion,
died during the final leg of the work and it was never completed.’ Eventually,
in November 1881, district land surveyor John C. Nelson began to mark off
IR 80 along the south side of the Qu'Appelle River immediately upstream of
Pasqua’s reserve, but he was interrupted by the onset of winter. He returned
in May 1882 to find that, at the request of the Chief and the Band, Indian
Agent Alan McDonald had extended the proposed reserve four miles west
along the Qu'Appelle River, and had reduced its depth by 2'4 miles, to pro-
vide the Band with more building wood.?” Ultimately, IR 80 contained 58.8
square miles, or 37,032 acres, and the Band received 2 further 472.9 acres
as Hay Reserve 80B, which it was to share with other bands.? With regard to
IR-80, Nelson reported:

Like most of the choice land of the Qu’Appelle district the soil of this reserve is nearly
all first-class. There are groves of small poplar and clumps of willow, and in the
gullies leading to the Qu'Appelle Valley there is a considerable supply of good poplar
for building and fencing purposes, and a few small maples. The bottoms along the

22 116782 Canada Ltd., "Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development Authority Land Claim,” Aprl 14, 1986, p. 8 {ICC
Exhibit 5). On June 5, 1906, the Pasquz Band surrendered 25.12 square wmiles, or 16,077 acres (41.8%), of its
reserve, leaving it with 35.03 square miles, or 22,419 acres: 116782 Canada Lid., “Qu'Appelle Valley Indian
Development Awthority Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, p. 18 (ICC Exhibit 5).

23 Treaty No. 4, North-West Territories, Indian Reserve No. 79, Chiel “Pasquaw,” surveyed by William Wagner,
DIS, October 1876 (ICC Exhibit 208).

24 Blair Stonechild, Indian Consultant Enterprises, “A Historical Overview of the Occupancy in the Valley of the
Quippelle Valley Bands™ (March 1992), ab 2, p, 22, in Indfan Consultant Enterprises, “Past Tamages Com-

- pensatiou Study” {March 1992} (ICC Exhibit 3).

25 A McDonald, ndian Agent, Treaty 4, (o Superintendeni General of Indian Affairs, May 9, 1882, Canada, Depari-
ment of Indian Affairs, dnmual Report, 1882 (ICC Documents, p. 18).

26 Blair Stonechild, Indian Consultant Enterprises, “A Hisiorical Overview of the Occupancy in the Valley of the
Qu'Appelle Valley Bands” (March 1962), 1ab 2, p. 22, in Indian Consultant Enterprises, “Past Damages Com-
pensation Study” (March 1992) (10C Exlubit 3}, On January 4, 1909, the Muscowpelung Band surrendered
27.5 square miles, or 17,600 acres (46.8%}, of IR 80, leaving it with 31.3 square miles, or 20,032 scres, from
that reserve: 116782 Canada Ltd., “QuiAppelle Valley Indian Development Authority Land Claim,” April 14,
1986, p. 18 (ICC Exhibit 5).
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INDIAN CLATMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

river are valuable for the immense quantity of hay which can be cut on the less’
elevaled parts of them. The best bottom is at the north-west corner of the reserve at
the mouth of Praitie Creek and nearly opposite Long Valley Creek ”

Nelson also described the hay lands in IR 80B as being “of the best
quality.”?®

Standing Buffalo

Standing Buffalo died in 1869, but some of his followers had already camped
in the vicinity of Fort Qu'Appelle. Although the Band was not permitted to
adhere to Treaty 4, Lieutenant Governor Alexander Morris encouraged the
Band to select a reserve, and in early November 1881 Nelson surveyed IR 78
along the north side of Pasqua and Echo Lakes and the intervening reach of
the Qu'Appelle River. Since the Band was not a signatory to Treaty 4, IR 78
contained only 7.6 square miles, or 4864 acres — an allocation of only 80
acres per family of five rather than the one square mile per family of five
stipulated by the treaty.® Of this reserve, Nelson commented:

This reservation hias 2 remarkably beautifut situation. It has an area of seven and a
half square miles, bounded on the west side by Jumping Creek, and on the front by
the Qu’Appelles. The soil is a clay loam of the first order, and there is [an]abundance
of wood. Hay is scarce and consequently 2 small meadow was reserved at the exfen-
sive hay grounds farther up the river.¥

Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace

In 1876, surveyor William Wagner surveyed reserves for the Sakimay, Star-
blanket, and Kakisheway Bands along the entire north shore of the
Qu'Appelle River from a point upstream of Crooked Lake to a point below
Round Lake. Two other reserves were surveyed on the other side of the river

]

7 John C. Nelson, DLS, Indian Reserve Survey, to Superintendent General of Indian Alfairs, December 29, 1882,
Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1882 (ICC Docuwents, p. 33).

28 Treaty No. 4, North-West Terrilories, Indian Reserve No, 808, Hay-Lands (or the Bands of “Muscowpetung” &
Others, surveyed by John C. Nelson, DLS, November 1881 (ICC Exhibit 298).

29 Blair Stonechild, Indian Consnltant Enterprises, “A Historical Overvicw of the Occupancy In the Yalley of the
Qu'Appelle Valley Bands” (March 1992), 11b 2, pp. 33-54, in Indian Consultant Entetprises, “Past Damages
Compensation Study” (March 1992) {ICC Exlibit 3); 116782 Canada Ind., “Qu’Appelle Valley lndian Develop-
ment Anthority Land Claim,” Apell 14, 1986, pp. 7 and 9 (ICC Exhibit 5). The Band surrendered 2.59 acres on
January 12, 1837, but later received additional areas of 406 acres on May 23, 1930, [44 acres on June 7,
1936, and 187.4 acres oit July 12, 1950, for a reserve that evenmally totalled 8.75 square miles, or 5598.81
acres: 116782 Canada Ltd,, “"Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development Authority Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, pp.
9 and 18 (ICC Exhibit 5).

50 John C. Nelson, DIS, Indian Reserve Survey, Treaties Kos. 4 and 7, January 10, 1882, Canada, Departrent of

Indian Affairs, Annnal Report, 1881 (ICC Documents, p. 9). The upsiream hay gronnds referred to by Nelson

likely meant TR 80B, which had been set apari for Muscowpetung and “others.”
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QU APPRLLE YALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY

in the vicinity of Round Lake for Kahkewistahaw and Chacachas. In 1880,
O'Soup (joined later by Cowessess) was situated by surveyors Allan Poyntz
Patrick and William Johnson on the south shore of eastern Crooked Take and
a few miles of the Qu'Appelle River downstream.

By 1881, the three bands on the north side of the river were expressing
their dissatisfaction with the lack of wood and other resources on their
reserves, and Nelson extensively revised the boundaries of all six reserves.
Sakimay was moved to IR 74 south of the river at the west end of Crooked
Lake, while Kakisheway and Chacachas were consolidated on IR 71 along the
south shore of Round Lake and some distance both upstream and down.
O’'Soup’s IR 73 remained in much the same location south of Crooked Lake
and east along the Qu'Appelle River, although five miles of river frontage at
the east end became the new Kahkewistahaw IR 72 flanked by Cowessess to
the west and Ochapowace to the east. Starblanket relocated to a more
northerly site outside the Qu'Appeile Valley.

Nelson’s impressions of the 33.88 square mile (21,683.2 acre) Sakimay
reserve were as follows:

The reserve is undulating praire interspersed with groves of poplar and clumps of
willow, with the exception of the part along the QuAppelie Valley, which is broken by
ravines and heavily wooded with poplar and balm of Gilead. Ponds frequently occur
throughout the prairie portion. The land throughout is of the choicest quality.*

This reserve was extended to the north shore of the Qu'Appelle River at the
west end of Crooked Lake in 1884 to provide separate land for a faction of
the Band that refused to take government assistance. The new Shesheep IR
744 comprised 5.6 square miles, or 3584 acres, about which Nelson wrote:

This reserve is greatly cut up with coulées in which there is 2 considerable supply of
poplar-and maple. Along the Qu'Appelle River the land is swampy. On the high prairie
the soil is a very good black loam with some boulders on the surface.3

In 1883, Nelson added 15 square miles, or 9600 acres, to the 63 square
mile (40,3520 acre) reserve he had surveyed for O'Soup in 1881. He
explained his reasons in describing the reserve:

31 Treaty No. 4, North-West Territories, Indlan Reserve No. 74, Chief “Sakimay,” surveyed by John C. Nelson, DIS,
Navember 1881 {ICC Exhibi{ 29B).

32 Treaty No. 4, North-West Tarilories, [ndian Reserve No. 744 at Grooked Lake, “Sheesheep's" Band, surveyed by
John C. Nelson, DLS, 1884 (ICC Exhibit 298).
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INDIAN GLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

This reserve is well watered by "“Ecape™ or Weed Creek, which flows through an
immense wooded ravine and empties into the Qu'Appelle River, Along the creek it is
heavily wooded with peplar, balm of Gilead and some elm. The south-western part is
undufating prairic with clumps of willow and poplar. The soil throughout is of choice
quality. There are several mill sites on Weed Creek

This reserve was originally allotted to the band of Chief *0°Soup”, and contained
an area of sixty-threc square miles, which was considered sufficient to meet the
requiremenis of the band ut that time. An extension of filteen square miles was subse-
quently added by special order of the Department, as it was thought “Cowessess”
would bring many Indians with him from the plains, wheu he assumed the
chicftainship.

Following the death of Kakisheway in 1884, his son Ochapowace was
elected as the new chief of the combined Kakisheway and Chacachas Bands.
The consolidated IR 71 set apart for Ochapowace’s band in 1881 comprised
82.6 square miles, or 52,864 acres, about which Nelson commented:

The southern portion of the reserve is an undulating prairie with numerous ponds,
hay swanps and scattering bluffs and poplar and clumps of willow. The northern part
slopes gently towards the Qu'Appelle River, and is thickly wooded with poplar and
balm of Gilead. Along the valley of the Qu'Appelle and the eastern houndary, the tand
is much broken by immense ravines which extend back from the river, and are heav-
ily wooded with poplur, willow, a few oaks, ash and birch. The soil is a rich sandy
loam, with some gravelly spots and a few houlders.

The fishing in Round Lake is said to be good %

DEVELOPMENT OF AGRARIAN ECONOMIES

Although the record in this inquiry includes the annual reports of Canada’s
Indian agents and other representatives until only 1905, these reports speak
for themselves as to the kind of progress made by the Qu'Appelle Valley
Bands in the early years following the selection of their reserves. There are
also many comments that illustrate the resources available to the Bands and
some of the difficult conditions that the people were forced to endure.

33 Treaty No. 4, North-Wes! Territories, Indian Reserve No. 73, Chief “Cowessess,” surveped by Joha C. Nelson,
DLS, August 1881 {ICC Exhibit 29B}. On January 29, 1907, the Cowessess Band surrendered 32,35 square
miles, or 20,704 acres (41.5%), of its reserve It susrendered 2 further 350 acres on November 13, 1008,
leaving it with 45.1 square miles, or 28,866 acres: 116782 Canaila Iud., “Qu'Appelle Valley [ndian Development
Authority Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, p. 19 {F0C Exhibit 5).

34 Treaty No. 4, North-West Territories, Indian Reserve Mo. 71 2t Round Lake, Chiefs “Kakeesheway” and Cha-
cachas, sarveyed by John C. Nelson, DIS; Avgnst, 1881 (ICC Exhibit 298). Afier the First World War, the
Oclapowace Band surrendered 28.5 square miles, or 18,240 acres (34.5%), of its reserve on June 30, 1919,
leaving it with 54.1 square miles, or 34,624 2cres: 116782 Canada Lid., “Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Developmeni
Authority Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, pp. 19-20 (1CC Exhibit 5).
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QU APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY

The Eastern Bands
By 1883, the federal government had introduced its policy of removing Indi-

ans from the Cypress Hills and the vicinity of the American border,” and

Indians who had made their way south to continue the hunt were rejoining —

at times under armed guard — their bands as the great herds of buffalo dwin-

dled to near extinction. Although there were obvious adjustments to be made
by both settled Indians and returning nomads, Indian Commissioner Edgar
Dewdney’s tone was optimistic:

The eastern section of Treaty 4, under [indian Agent] Col. Macdonald, has made
great strides during the past season, although the new arrivals from the south some-
what demoralized them for a time. The Crooked Lakes Reserve, upon which
“0Soup,” “Little Child,” “Mosquito” and “Kah-kee-wis-ta-how” are seitled, has raised
very fine crops of wheat, barley, Indian corn and vegetables. Most of the Indians have
abandoned their blankets, and many eamn money working along the line of railway,
which passes close to the reserve. A few more cattle and implements piven these -
Indians will, our Agent thinks, render them self-sustaining. ¥

Indian Agent Alan McDonald commented that Muscowpetung possessed “one
of the best reserves in the Treaty for agricultural purposes, but I regret to say
there is but a limited supply of wood.”¥

Three vears later, in 1886, McDonald trumpeted the progress made by the

bands in his Crooked Lake Agency:

Taking our crops of wheat and potatoes as a whole, and comparing them with the
setilers, the Indidns on these reserves have not much reason to complain. . . .

The Indians have worked most creditably this spring: the ploughing, seeding and
fencing being equal to that of the settler, and it is my opinion the Indian fairly realizes
the advantage gained by work ¥

The following year, McDonald commented on the prodigious quantities of

hay that the reserves were capable of producing:

35

36
37

38

Details of this policy were fully canvassed In (he Commission™s report oa the (reaty land etiflement inquiry for

the Lucky Man Band: see ICC, Report on Lucky Man Band Treaty Land Entitlement Inguiry (Ottawa, February

1997),

E. Dewdney, Indian Commissioner, lo Superintendent Geieral of Indian Affairs, Oclober 2, 1883, Canada,

Deparunent of Indian Affales, Annual Report, 1883, (ICC Documents, p. 47).

A McDonuld, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, to Superintendent General of indlan Affairs, July 6, 1883,

Canada, Department of Indian Aflairs, Anaua! Report, 1883, (ICC Docuwnents, p. 38).

A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, o Superintendent General of indian Affairs, Angust 26, 1886,

Canada, Department of Indian Aflairs, Annual Repor, 1886, (ICC Documents, p. 75).
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INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

After sufficient hay was secured for wintering the stock, several Indians put up a
quanlity for sale, “Yellow Calf’ and his party [from Sakimay] sold sufficient to pay for
two mowing machines and horse rakes, and o purchase tea and other necessaries for
the winter. The total amount realized from the sale of hay was $476. Sixty-four tons
wete sold to the Commissioner of the North-West Mounted Police, and shipped to
Regina ¢4 Canada Pacific Rajlway.®

The critical importance of precipitation and moisture to farming efforts in
the valley was evident in McDonald’s report in 1888. He also remarked on
the already declining trapping industry:

[T]his is the first season, since the Indians came on these reserves, that prospects
look so bright, and I am glad to say that several Indians, who have kept aloof from
farming, have now commenced, with the bope of baving wet seasons and good
crops for the next five years. .

Owing to the decrease of fur—beanng animals over the dlstnct in which these Indi-
ans trap, the catch last winter was much smaller than formerly. On careful enquiry I
think there could not have been more than $1,100 realized from furs, and about
£150 from fish, the latter being mostly consumed by themselves. Very little was sold.®

To this report, Dewdney added:

They [the Sakimay Band] put up in last season 350 tons of hay, which will be suffi-
cient to feed their cafile, of which animals they own 55, and individual members
possess 50, and will leave a surplus of 75 tons for sale.®

By 1889 it was recognized that lands in the vicinity of Round and Crooked
Lakes were subject to periodic droughts, and steps were already being taken
to counteract the effects of these dry years:

This has been the driest year since 1874, and judging from the crops raised by one of
the Indians on Reserve No. 73 (Coweses) I am confident if the above system [of
summer fallowing] is carried out an average return will be forthcoming in our dryest
[sic] seasons. The crops up Lo the middle of Juue looked most promising, but the hot
winds of the 28th June checked the growth, and had we not had rain in the beginning
of July the crop with the exception of Gaddie's would have been a total loss. . . .

39 A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, September 13,
1887, Canada, Depariment of Indian Affairs, Asrual Report, 1887, (KCC Documents, p. 83).

40 A. McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, September 13,
1887, Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, Anruad Report, 1887, (ICC Documents, p. 83). Empbasis added.

41 E. Dewdney, Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, to Sir Frederick Arthar Stanley, Governor General, janu-
arv 1, 1889, Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, Arnual Keport, 1888, (1CC Documents, p. 101).
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QU'APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY

The Indians having secured a large quantity of hay for the wintering of their stock,
the cattle turned out in the spring in excellent condition.*

McDonald's subsequent repori showed that his guarded optimism in 1889
had been dashed by further hot, dry weather:

The crops of last year were a failure. At one time they looked promising, but the
continuous dry weather checked their growth,

The hay crop also suffered. It was with great difficulty the Tudians on Cowesess’
Reserve, number 73, and Sakimay's Reserve, number 74, secured sufficient hay for
wintering their stock. Without mowing machines it would have been impossible for
them to cut what they required, as two or three acres in some cases had to be gone
over before a ton was procured. The Indians on the other two reserves, viz.
Ochapowace, number 71, and Kah-ke-wis-ta-haw, number 72, were more fortunate,
for, in addition to that which they required for their cattle, about thirty tons were put
up for sale. . ..

She-Sheep's party on reserve number 74, secured a large quantity of hay, with
which they were able to winter fifty-one head of stock for settlers adjacent to their
reserve, realizing therefrom, $250.%

In succeeding years, McDonald and his successors as Indian agent com-
mented frequently on the successes achieved by the Bands of the Crooked
Lake Agency in producing hay, cattle, grain, and root crops. Digging senega
root became an important and relatively lucrative alternative source of
income for these Bands.% The reserves also contained supplies of dry wood
that could be sold as firewood. Fishing in Crooked and Round Lakes consist-
ently supplemented the diet of Band members, but litdle or no excess was
caught for sale. McDonald reported again in 1892 and 1893 on the “steadily
decreasing” catch of furs, “owing partly to fur-bearing animals being scarcer,
and the fact of the best hunters being now the best farmers who have to stay
at home on their farms”;* by 1895 “[t]he catch of furs is so small now as to
be of no account in finance.™

2 A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, 10 Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, September 20,
1889, Canada, Depariment of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1889, (1CC Documents, p. 105).

43 A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, o Superintendeni Geperal of Indian Affairs, September 25,
1890, Canada, Department of Indian Afairs, Anamual Report, 1890, (ICC Docuwments, p. 115).

44 A, McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, July 31, 1893,
Canada, Depactment of Indlan Affairs, Annuaf Report, 1893, (ICC Dociments, p. 160). :

45 A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, July 30, 1892,
Canadu, Departinent of Indian. Affaits, Annual Report, 1892, (ICC Documents, p. 150).

4 A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Apeucy, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, July 20, 1895,

Canada, Depantment of Indian Alfirs, Annual Report, 139475, (ICC Documents, p. 197).

o
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INDIAN CraIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

The most important variable in the economic life of the Bands was the

weather. The early 1890s in particular were marked by mixed success, with

some years providing encouraging results and others ending with crop fail-

ures and damage from heat and drought, notwithstanding improvements in
the Bands’ farming practices. In 1891, McDonald reported:

The last year's crop was the best we have had since these Indians commenced
farming. . . .

The hay crop was much hetter than last year, but owing to unfavourable weather
there was not much made for sale.¥

In 1892, he commented:

I am glad to say the crops, taken as a whole, for the last vear were very favourable,
and for quantity were greatly in excess of all former years, but the prices realized by
the Indians for their wheat ruled rather lower. . .,

The hay crop was a favourable one, the Indians stacking nine hundred and seventy
tons, of which they sold nineiy tons, the balance being used to feed their stock. . . .

The crops are looking well, but are short in the straw, owing {o the long continued
dry weather and lack of rain in June, but just at the last of the month a good supply
came, and although 1 do not anticipate an extraordinary crop, 1 certainly expect an
average one, 35 the good effect of the deferred rain, when it came, was apparent at
once.® -

The 1893 report stated:

47
48

49

The crops raised by my Indians last year were rather less in quantity than wis the
case the previous year, which was due to the season and not to inferior farming, as I
am pleased to reporl that a sleady advance is observable in the methods adopted in
agricultural operations on nearly all the lndian farms. . ..

The hay crop was an average one, the Indians stacking nine hundred and eighty-
eight 1ons, which was about the usual quantity they were accustomed to put up, and
which of fate years has been sufficient to carey their stock well through the winter and
give them some hay lo sell in the spring.®

The dry 1894 season proved to be particularly discouraging:

A McDowald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, 1o Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, August 12, 1891,
Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, Anmual Report, 1891, (ICC Documents, p. 126).

A McDouald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, 10 Superintendent General of Indlan Aflairs, July 30, 1892,

Canada, Departmenl of Indian Affairs, Anwual Report, 1892, (ICC Documents, pp. 147-49 and 151).

A McDouald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, lo Superintendent General of Indian Affales, July 31, 1893,

Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, dnnrual Report, 1893, (ICC Docaments, pp. 158 and 161).
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Seeding this spring commenced about (he usual time and the early promise of 2 good
crop was assuring, but the great scarcity of rain later on makes it look as if the
coming harvest was to be the lightest vield my Indians have ever known, which is very
discouraging as they not only worked well, but were amenable to the practical advice
given them as to summer-fallowing, elc., and put in their seed on land which for the
most part could not have been much better prepared. . ., .

The farmers sowed nineteen acres of oats for the use of their horses, the yield
from which will e very poor owing to the excessive drought.

The hay crop, owing to the dry season, will be light, although enough will be
secured for winter provision.”

Although 1895 promised favourable returns, McDonald continued his
lament on the poor 1894 season:

As progrosticated in my last report, the crop harvested during the current year has
proved very fight. . . . ‘

This was enlirely due to the extraordinarily dry season, which was the dryest [sic]
I have seen in this country for the past twenty years. . ..

The comparative failure is owing to the dry season. . . .

There is a greater acreage under crop than last year by 22V acres, and the crop
has been property put in on land better prepared than in any previous year, and with
the present favourable weather a remarkably good return may be expected this com-
ing harvest. . . .

The hay erop, owing to drought, was a poor one, although sufficient was obtaiued

* to winter ali the stock comfortably. . ..

One well was dug during the winter on Kahkewistahaw’s Reserve, No. 72, owing to-
a supply running short that had never failed hefore. . ..

The hay harvest promises to be excellent this summer, and the crop abundant.>

In subsequent vears, the reporting requirements for the Indian agents
changed and, in terms of the Bands’ economic development, focused more
on reserve resources and Band occupations than on weather conditions and
production levels. Even so, Indian Agent J.P. Wright commented in 1898:

I regret to report that owing (o the exireme dry season we have had this year so far,
and to the severe and frequent frosts, our crops are about a total failure. . . .

50 A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, 1o Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, July 20, 1894,
Canada, Departient of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1895/94, (1CC Documents, p. 174).

51 A McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, 1o Superintendent General of Tudian Affairs, July 20, 1395,
Canada, Depariinent of Tudian Affairs, Ananual Report, 189495, (ICC Documents, pp. 193-94 and 196},
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This has been an exceptionally unfortunate year for farming operations in this
district, and most discouraging to the Indians, the whole of their hard work being
destroyed .5

In summary, these later reports demonstrated the reliance of the Crooked
Lake Agency Bands on sales of hay, firewood, and senega root, together with
mixed farming and, using the Bands’ own hay supplies, raising stock. Fishing
provided an important supplementary food supply for the Ochapowace and
Sakimay Bands, and to a lesser extent for Cowessess, but did not constitute a
significant source of income.

The Western Bands

The Muscowpetung Agency, which served the four western Qu’Appelle Valley
Bands, opened under the stewardship of Indian Agent J.B. Lash on July L,
1885, after the North-West Rebellion. The hay grounds in the agency already
formed a sigpificant component of the Bands’ economies:

The hay grounds on Piapot’s wnd Muscowpetung’s Reserves have been turned to good
account, and the result of last vear's work has encouraged the Indians and in a
substantial manner proved to them the benefit of assisting themselves. Two hundred
tons of hay were sold and delivered in Regina to the North-West Mounted Police and
others,™ .

The problems posed by the weather were no less daunting for the western
Bands than for those to the east. Lash commented in 1886 on the impact of
drought conditions the preceding vear and his attempts to encourage the
Indians to diversify their operations:

The result of Last year’s experience in trying to farm successfully in the valley in this
agency thoroughly convinced me that a change was necessary, as the changes in the
temperature had more effect on the crops in the low land. However, to convince the
Indians was not so easy, as to come on the bench necessilated breaking and fencing
new land. The Indians were notified in good time that seed grain would only be
issued for Farming on the bench land, and I am pleased to report that the result has
been salisfactory, as our crop on the whole promises a fair relurn. The root crops last
vear on Piapot's and Muscowpetung’s Reserves were very light, owing to the summer

52 ],P. Wrighl [ndian Agent, Crooked Fake Agency, to Superinlendent General of Indian Affairs, Augusi 25, 1898,
ada, Depariment of Indian Affairs, Annsal Report, 1897/98, (ICC Documents, p. 264).
53 ]B L.u,h Indian Agent, Muscowpetng Agency, to Superinteudent General of Indian Affairs, Angust 5, 1886,
Canada, Departmem of Indian Affaics, Annual Report, 1886, (ICC Documents, p. 73).
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drought; on Pasquah’s Reserve there was a fair yield, and on the Sioux [Standing
Buffalo] Reserve a very good crop.
The ground was so hard and dry that very litfle fal ploughing could be done.
Fully 200 tons of hay were sold and delivered off the reserves. This indnstry
encourages the Indians, as also the freighting from the railway of contract supplies,
the result of which can been seen in useful articles, clothing and supplies purchased
with the proceeds.’

In both 1887 and 1888, Lash remarked on the scarcity of game in the

western reserves, which limited the food supply from that source. This scar-
city was offset to some degree by good fishing in Pasqua Lake and the suc-
cesses the Bands were able to achieve in digging senega root and raising
cattle.® The 1888 crop season also proved productive, but dry conditions
prevailed the following year:

The bountiful harvest of last season and the proceeds from the sale of hay, wood,
freighting and general work placed the Indians in this agency in a very independent
position and reduced the demands cn the Department for food supplies to a large
extent. . . .

The aereage under grain this spring was increased fifty per cent. over last year,
and the prospects were most encouraging up to the early part of June, but the contin-
yous drought from that date injured the crop and our returns this season will be
comparatively small. *

Although it appeared that 1889 would have been a productive vear for hay,

fire swept the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves in early October and 572

tons of hay were lost.”

In 1890, Lash noted the favourable famn‘ng conditions and returns to the

Bands:

54
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JB. Lash, lndian Agem, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superintendent General of lndian Affaies, September 7, 1887,
Canada, Department of Indian Affaics, Annual Report, 1887, {ICC Documenls, p. 81).

J.B. Lash, Indian Ageni, Muscowpetuup Agency, o Superiniendent General of Indian Affairs, Seplember 7, 1887,
Canada, Depariment of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1887, (1CC Documents, p. 81); J.B. Lash, Indian Agent,
Muscowpelung Agency, to Snperintendent General of Indian Affairs, September 5, 1888, Canada, Department of
Indian Affairs, Anewal Report, 1888, (ICC Documenls, pp. 94-95); ]B. lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpeting

- Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, August 27, 1883, Canada, Depariment of Tadian Affairs,

Annual Report, 1889, (ICC Documents, p. 103).

J.B. lash, Indlan Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, to Snperintendent General of Indlag Affalrs, August 27, 1889,
Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, Anmual Report, 1889, (ICC Documents, pp. 103-04). ’
J.B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superiniendent General of Indian Affairs, Sepiember 1, 1890,
Canada, Depantment of Indian Affairs, Anneal Report, 1890, (ICC Documents, p. 113).
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The stock is in fine condition, and the increase most encouraging.
The crops this season are turning out splendidly, and the Indians are contented
and happy with the prospect of enjoying the fruit of their labour.®

As their operations flourished, the Bands became increasingly self-reliant, as
Lash remarked in 1891:

The Tndians of this agency are steadily advancing in civilization and becoming more
independent every year, thereby reducing the assistance required from the Depart-
ment, The returns from the harvest were very good, and some Indians zre still using
their own four. :

Pasquah’s Band were almost enfirely self-supporting from October to April. During
the winter they were kept busy selling firewood at Fort Qu'Appelle. Muscowpetung's
and Piapot’s Bands also supported themselves for several months, but they have not
had the advantage of the sale of wood during the winter on account of the distance
from their reserves to the towns.

During the year we sold and delivered at Regina and other points five hundred
tons of hay.*

The 1891 season yielded the best results Lash had seen during his tenure
as Indian Agent, but his comments regarding 1892 were more subdued:

The past year [1891] has heen the most prosperous since the agency was opened and
the Indians have practically supported themselves for the past eight months. The
crops were excellent, so that in addition to supplying their own flour until the next
harvest, they had a surplus of wheat for sale; this with oats, hay and wood sold fur-
nished them cash sufficient to make a very comfortable living. . . .

The Indians :re becoming more independent and so long as they can find sale for
their hay and wood, are quite willing to support themselves. . . .

The stock herd has prospered, and in the coming year we will supply all the beef
required within the agency, and work cattle to Indians commencing farming on their
own account. . . .

There has been an increase in the acreage, this vear, under crop of two hundred
acres. I regret to stale the grain af Piapot's has been considerably damaged by a
severe hail-storm. The crops on the other resetves are short in the straw, but other-
wise fooking fairly well @

58 J.B. Lash, Indisn Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affaivs, Sepicmber 1, 1890,
Canada, Depariment of Tndiar Affairs, Anssal Report, 1890, (ICC Dacuments, p. 113).

59 1.B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superintendent Geperal of Indian Affairs, August 29, 1891,
Canada, Departinent of Indian Affafrs, Annual Report, 1891, (ICC Documents, p. 131).

60 J.B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpemng Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, August 23, 1892,
Canada, Department of Indian Affaics, Annual Report, 1892, (IGC Documents, pp. 153-54),
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In 1893, drought conditions damaged crops in the Muscowpetung Agency
but, by virtue of hay and wood production, which Lash referred to as “our

great industries,” the Indians continued to progress towards economic self-

sufficiency:

Regina takes the bulk of the hay, and Fort Qu'Appelle and the adjoining settlement the
wood, in both cases the demand is not large enough, and when our coniracis are
filled, a few loads glut the market. 5!

Lash also noted that “[t}he number of individual Indians that go out working
off the reserve is increasing.”%

The following year, Lash wrote that “sales of hay and wood have
increased, and during the time the Indians are engaged in this work they are
entirely self-supporting.”% Despite the demonstration during the 1894 season
that Indian farming remained vulnerable to the weather and global events,

the Bands were still able to rely on hay and wood production to sustain a

relative degree of independence:

The past year has been the most trying our Indians have experienced since settling on
the reserves; the general depression the world over and total fatlure of all crops in
this district through continned drought and excessive heat, cutting off all returns from
farming operations, left the Indians cntitely dependent on other sources to pass over
the crisis. The hay and wood industries were utilized to the wtmost, and the assistance
we required from the department was very litde.5

Senega root formed a lucrative aliernative source of income for the western
Bands, but Lash grew concerned about the effects its harvesting was having
on more conventional farming operations:

The Indians derived a large amount of money this summer from gathering seneca
root; but, as this work takes them off the reserves for weeks at a time, and keeps up
the old habit of roaming over the prairies, I am of the opinion the benefit is counter-

61 1.B. Lash, Indian sgent, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, September 9, 893,
Canadz, Department of Indian Affairs, Annudl Report, 1893, (ICC Documents, p. 163).

62 }.B. Lash, Indian Agenl, Muscowpetung Ageacy, lo Superiniendent General of Indian Affairs, September 9, 1893,
Canada, Departineat of Indian Affairs, Awrual Report, 1893, (KCC Documents, p. 165).

63 JB. Lash, Indian Agenl, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, Angust 31, 1894,
Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, Amnul Report, 1893/94, (I0C Documents, p. 179).

64 1B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, (o Superintendent General of Indian Affaics, August 23, 1895,
Canada, Depariment of Indian Affairs, Ansnual Report, 1894/95, (ICC Documents, p. 200).
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acted by thelr absence from the reserves, and consequently there is not the attention
given to gardens, root crops and ploughing which shonld be given at that time.®

Still, Lash considered that the seeding in the spring of 1895 had been well
done “and the prospect of a bountiful harvest is most excellent.”

With the change in agency reporting requirements in the mid-1890s, Lash
and his successors as Indian agent focused their attention on reserve
tesources and Band occupations. Muscowpetung’s reserve featured good
farm land, valuable hay meadows, and supplies of firewood, although by
1899 Indian Agent John Mitchell reported that *[tlhere is now very hittle
timber worthy of the name left on the reserve, and in a few years the fuel
problem will have to be faced.”®” In fact, Mitchell was forced to make an
example of one settler caught trespassing to steal firewood from the rescrves
because, “as wood grows scarcer and more valuable, there is a tendency to
do more stealing.”®® The listed occupations of Band members were selling
hay and wood, farming, raising stock, working off the reserve, freighting,
tanning, hauling hay and managing cattle for the agency farm, gathering sen-
ega root, trading, and hunting and fishing.

The main resources on the Pasqua reserve were firewood and fish, with
the ravines leading into the valley reputed to contain large quantities of wood.
The reserve also included farm land and hay meadows, although the hay
supply was “nothing like the quantity cut on the two first mentioned reserves
[Piapot and Muscowpetung].”® Still, there was sufficient hay to supply the
Band's own stock, as long as the herd was maintained at a smaller size. The
major Band vocations were mixed farming and selling firewood, supple-
mented by employment off the reserve, freighting, tanning, hunting and fish-
ing, and gathering senega root and berries. Lash noted in 1897 that the Band
built a “very good dam” of its own on the “brush land” to secure a supply of
water, and that “[t}his was found very useful last season, as water in the
neighbourhood was scarce.”™

65 1.B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpetng Agency, to Superintendent General of Indlan Affairs, August 23, 1893,
Canada, Department of Indian Affairs, Annusd Report, 1894495, (ICC Documents, pp. 200-01).

66 J.B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, o Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, August 23, 1895,
Canads, Department of Indlan ABairs, Annual Report, 189443, (ICC Documents, p. 200).

67 John A. Mitchell, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superiniendent General of Indian Affalrs, Seplember
23, 1899, Canada, Department of Indian Affatrs, Annual Repost, 1898/99, (1€ Documents, p. 279).

68 Joho A, Milchell, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Apency, v Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, September
23, 1899, Canada, Depariment of Indlan Affairs, Amnual Raport, 1598/99, {ICC Docwments, pp. 283-54),

69 W.M. Graham, Inspector of Indian Agencies, to Frank Pedley, Deputy Superintendent General of Indjan Affairs,
August L, 1905, Canads, Department of Indian Affairs, Annual Reporf, 1904/05, (ICC Documents, p. 320).

70 J.B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, 1o Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, August 25, 1897,
Canada, Department of Indian Affaics, Annnal Report, 1896/97, (ICC Documents, p. 226).
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The Standing Buffalo reserve, proportionally smaller to begin with, fea-
tured little hay, nor was there a good supply in the vicinity. Moreover, Mitch-
ell noted that “it is doubtful whether cultivated grasses can be grown success-
fully in the light soil,” making it difficult to raise cattle.” To feed their herd,
Band members obtained permits to cut hay on government lands.”? William
Graham, the Inspector of Indian Agencies, later commented that “{t]he soil

is very light and unless there is a wet season grain-growing is not a suc-

cess.””? To make their living, the members of this Band worked extensively
off the reserve, where they were highly regarded and much in demand. They
also raised grain and root crops, hunted and fished, and sold firewood,
although in later years their wood supply diminished and they were required
to obtain their own supply from outside sources.

THE NORTH-WEST IRRIGATION ACT AND
EARLY WATER DEVELOPMENTS

By 1894, the federal government had come to view the drought conditions
and scarcity of water in the North-West Territories as an obstacle to develop-
ment and settlement, and it began taking steps to deal with the problem. One
legislative initiative was the implementation of the North-West Hrrigation
Act,™ which vested in the Crown the property in, and the rights to use water
in, the North-West Territories. The statute further provided that no future
grant of land by the Crown was to vest in the grantee “any exclusive or other
property or interest in or any exclusive right or privilege with respect to any
lake, river, stream or other body of water, or in or with respect to the water
contained or flowing therein, or the land forming the bed or shore thereof.”

Similarly, no riparian owner or other person acquired the right to divert

water permanently, or use it exclusively, by duration of use or otherwise,
except in accordance with the provisions of the Act, unless that right had
already heen acquired by some pre-cxisting agreement or undertaking. The

71 John A Milchell, Indian Agent, Muscowpetung Agency, to Superintenden! General of Indian Affairs, Septermber
23, 1899, Canada, Department of Indian Allairs, dwnuel Report, 189899, (ICC Documents, p. 282).

72 RL Ashdown, Indian Agent, Assinihoia-Cne'Appelle Agency, 1o Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, August
25, 1904, Ganada, Depariment of Indian Affairs, Asnual Report, 1903/04, (ICC Documents, p. 312); WM.
Graham, Inspector of Indian Agencies, to Frank Pedley, Depoty Superintendent General of Indian Alfairs, August
1, 1905, Canada, Depactment of Indian Affairs, Annua! Report, 1904705, (1CC Documents, p. 322). Ashdawn
described the reserve as being “deficient in hay.”

73 W.M Graham, lnspector of Indian Agencles, lo Frank Pedley, Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs,
Angust 1, 1905, Canada, Departinent of Indian Afairs, Adwnual Report, 1904/05) (ICC Documents, p. 321).

74 North-West Irrigation Act, 1894, 57-58 Vid., ¢. 30

____ &
201

:
i
{
i
i
I
L.
|




INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

EE——

key provision of the Act for the purposes of the present inquiry was section 7,
which stated:

7. Anmy person who holds water rights of a class similar to those which may be
acquired under this Act, or who, with or without authority, has constructed or is
operating works for tlie uiilization of water, shall ohtzin 2 license or authorization
under this Act within twelve months from the date of the passing of this Act.

2. If such license or authorization is obtained within the time limited, the cxercise
of such rights may thereafier be continued, and such works may be carried on under
the provisions of this Act, otberwise such righis or works, and all the interest of
such person therein, shall without any demand or proceeding be absolutely for-
Seited to Her Majesty and may be disposed of or dealt with as the Governor in
Council sees fit.™

Section 8 stipulated that any water vested in the Crown could be acquired
for domestic, irrigation, or other purposes on application in accordance with
the Act. Applications were given priority, first, on the basis of use (with
domestic uses given highest priority; irrigation, next; and “other purposes,”
lowest priority) and, second, on the basis of the date of the application being
made.

Early efforts at water management were numerous but “haphazard™

Although the Dominion Government did not establish a systematic plan for waler con--
trol in this early period, local efforts lo moderate seasonal changes were made under
the Northwest Frrigation Act. These projects, however, were adininistered and over-
seen by succeeding government agencies; between 1877 and 1892 by the Dominien
Government through the Lieut[enant]-Governor of the NWT, as an agent for the
Department of the Interior, then by the Legislative Assembly of the Territorial Govern-
ment of the NWT until 1897, then by the Pederal Public Works Department until 1931,
when water, as a natural resource, was transferred to the provinces under the Neafs-
vl Resources Transfer Agreement. Some 196 individual or group projects such as
wells, dams, and dugouts as well as spill off and drainage ditches had been con-
structed by the time the Department of Public Works recorded the number of water-
works in the Qu'Appelle Valley in 1898. The exception to this pattern of haphazard
development was the original Craven Dam built in 1906 by the Federal Government.
The dam was for irrigation purposes and fooded an extensive area upstream from the
dam hetween Craven and Lumsden, including the Val[e]port Flats.®

75 North-West Irrigation Act, 1834, 57-58 Vict, ¢. 30, s, 7. Emphasis added. The 12-mon(l perfod referred to in
the Frst subsection of section 7 of the 1894 state was laler amended to reqoire the acquisition of a licence
before Tuly 1, 1898: see North-West Frrigation Act, 1898, 61 VicL, c. 35, 5. 7; frrigation Act, RSC 1906, c. 61,
s. 9; and [rrigation Act, RRG 1927, ¢, 104, 5. 9.

76 Kathleen FizPatrick, Specific Claims West, Depariment of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, “General
I&!istodcal[?ackg)rouud to the PFRA and Water Development in the Qu'Appelle Valley,” September 25, 1995, p. 4

I0C Exhibit 28).
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Another report described early water development efforts in these terms:

The early water control projects were not designed for flood control, More ofien
than not they were constructed during periods of droughi by individuals whose main
concern was the containment of surface runoff for domestic use during the critically
dry months. In such cases, the flow of water downstream was completely curtailed
uniil the small reservoirs were filled, This, of course, served to accentuate the mois-
ture problem for those living downstrearn of (he dam.

At the other extreme, during periods of excessive rainfall the areas upsiream of the
dams would experience sustained high water levels while the lower reaches would
suffer from uncontrolled overflow and occasional washouts causing flash flooding,
erosion and sedimentation.”

The first project recorded by the Indian Affairs Branch as having the
potential to affect Indian lands was a dam that Alphonse Besson proposed in
1891 to erect downstream of Round Lake so he could operate a grist mill.
When Indian Agent McDonald met with Besson to review the proposal, he
concluded that it would flood 40 acres of land on the Ochapowace reserve;
in McDonald’s opinion, however, Band members had never made use of this
tand and were unlikely to do so.

The proposal was submitted to the Deputy Superintendent General of
Indian Affairs with a request for instructions as to “whether the Department
will allow the Indians to be asked to give their consent to the erection of a
dam, which will affect their Reserve to the extent estimated.”” The Indian
Commissioner replied that, “in 2 matter of such importance the opinion of an
engineer as to the land that would be affected by the erection of the dam is
absolutely necessary to determine the extent of damage that would be done to
the Ochapowace Reserve No. 71, and the consequent compensation which
should be required before such dam is allowed to be constructed.”” Sur-
veyor John Nelson, instructed to assess the dam, likened it to a large beaver
dam, and believed that raising the water level would benefit the “scrubby

77 LILE]'II;SZ (;a.nada L., “Qu'Appetle Valley lndian Development Awthorily Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, p. 15 (100
Fahibit 5).

78 AE. Forget, Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affales, to Deputy Superintendent General of lndian Affairs, August
8, 1891, National Archives of Canada (NA), RG 10, vol. 6013, file 6108-4 (X Documeuts, p. 125).

79 Tndian Cemmissioner, Manitoba and e North-West Territoties, to A.E. Forgel, Assistani Commissioner, August
17, 1891, NA, RG 10, vol. 6613, file 6108-4 (ICC Documeuts, pp. 129-30). Both Kathleen FitzPatrick, Specific
Claims West, Departinent of Indian Alfairs and Nerthern Development, in “Generat Historical Background to the
PFRA and Water Developmeut in the QuAppelle Valley,” September 25, 1995, p. 5 (ICC Exhibit 28), and
couusel for the QVIDA First Nations in his written submission at p. 18 suggest that the Indian Commissioner
stated that “the consent of Ochapowace was absolutely necessary.” We read lhe passage as saylop that “the
opimon of an engineer was absolitely necessary,” and It was on the basis of this instruction that surveyer John
C. Nelson attended the site to provide his expert opinion ou the effects of the proposed project.
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river bottoms which may be flooded.” He viewed the proposed grist mill as
“a boon to the Indians in this part of the Reserve as they will have a mill at
their door.” He concluded that the Indians should not be entitled to any
compensation.*® However, Hayter Reed, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
later reported that, although the Ochapowace Band had been prepared to
consent to the flooding, the dam had in any event washed out and Besson
had left the country.®

Six years later, in 1897, the impact of the North-West Irrigation Act
became apparent. In response to a succession of dry years, two unauthorized
dams had been constructed by the Department of Marine and Fisheries in the
Qu'Appelle River at Fort Qu'Appelle and Katepwe because water levels had
diminished to such an extent that the water had become “stagnant and offen-
sive.” The dams had the desired beneficial effects for residents of the valley
as well as for fish stocks, but they also flooded reserve lands belonging to the
Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands. On receiving instructions to assess the
damage caused by the dams, surveyor A.W. Ponton reported that the flooded
lands were marshes that had become dry during the prolenged drought. Still,
he suggested that steps might be taken to regulate the water levels, and
thereby protect the reserve lands from flooding, without causing damage to
other Jands. He also noted that, if Indian Affairs chose to object to the flood-
ing, it could make a formal complzint. Such an objection might lead to an
order for the removal of the unaithorized structures pending compliance
with the North-West Irrigation Act®

A complaint was duly filed by Indian Agent Lash and forwarded by Indian
Commissioner A.E. Forget to J.S. Dennis, Acting Chief Inspector of Surveys
and Irrigation in the federal Department of Public Works, on April 30, 1897,
with a request for an order that the illegal dams be removed.®> Dennis trav-
elled to the Qu'Appelle Valley from Calgary in August of that year to find that
the dam at Katepwe had washed out with the spring runoff, resulting in low
water levels and exposed banks above the dam site. He recommended that
the dam be rebuilt, although he suggested that it be redesigned to permit

%0 John C. Nelson, DIS, to Hayter Reed, Commissioner, Indian Affairs, September 19, 1891, NA, RG 10, vol, 6613,
file 6108-4 (ICC Documents, pp. 132-33)..

81 Hayler Recd, Commissioner of Indian Affzirs, (o Deputy Supetintendent General of Indian Affairs, October 8,
1892, NA, RG 10, vol. 6613, file 61084 (IC{ Documents, p. 155).

&2 AW. Ponton, in charpe of Indian Reserve Surveys, 1o Indlan Commissioner, April 15, 1897, NA, RG 10, wol.
7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 213-16).

83 AL Forget, Indian Commissionez, to J.8. Denxis, [Actlng] Chief Inspector ol Surveys and Irvigation, Canada,
Dep;:riment of Public Works, April 30, 1897, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part | {ICC Documents, p.
217).
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greater control of water levels.* He disclaimed Public Works’ responsibility
for the project, asserting instead that “representations regarding its construc-
tion should be sent to the Deputy Minister of Dept. of Marine and Fisheries,
Ottawa."#

Although Dennis indicated that he also intended to inspect the dam at Fort
Qu'Appelle, there is no evidence that he did so. The issue became academic,
however, in light of complaints received from the Reverend J. Huggonard,
principal of the Indian Industrial School at Qu'Appelle, concerning the
unsanitary and offensive-smelling plant and animal remains left uncovered by
the receding waters above the Katepwe dam.* Huggonard noted the impact of
the large number of water control structures in the Qu'Appelle Valley:

Coinpared with the large area draining into the Qu’Appelle Valley and the quantity of
water it used to receive 10 or 20 years ago from the numerous creeks, very little now
flows in, on account of the numerous dams on all the creeks and ravines, some of
which are very deep and bank-back the water for miles, this is not including the large
dams at Regina and Moose Jaw.

Previous to the creation of these dams on tributaries in the Qu'Appelle, the lakes
and rivers used to rise from two to four or five feet every season, no such rise has
taken place since 1894 and last year our lake did not rise two inches above low water
level of the previous year and then went down fully ten feet, leaving over one hundred
feet of decaying vegelable and animal matter exposed in the bay in front of the
school.¥

In the months that followed there were discussions among officials of
Indian Affairs, the Department of Public Works, the Department of Marine
and Fisheries, and the territorizl government about which department should
undertake the work and whether an interim structure should he erected,
Public Works assigned an engineer to report on the matter and, by July 1898,
it had been decided that reconstruction of a “substantial structure” should

84 1.5, Dennis, Acting Chiel Inspector, Department of Public Works, to Secretary, Department of the Interior,
Augusi 27, 1897 (ICC Decwnents, pp. 228-29).

85 1.5, Denuis, Acting Chief Inspector, Department of Public Works, to D.W. McDonald, MLA, Regina, November
17, 1897, NA, RG 10, vol. 7548, fle 6114-1, parl | (ICC Documents, p. 2304).

86 Extract from Annual Report of Rev. ]. Huggonard, Prineipal, Indian Induslnal Schonl, Qu'Appelle, December 9,

- 1897, N4, RG 10, vol. 7548, file 6114-1, part | (ICC Documeots, p. 2314); Rev. J. Huggonard. Principal, Indian
Tndustrial School, QuAppelle, to Indian Commissioner, December 11, 1897, NA, RG 10, vol, 7584, file 6114-1,
part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 2524); Rev. J. Hupgonard, Principal, Indian Tndustrial hchool QuAppelle, to I.nd:an
Commissioner, Decemher £3, 1897 (ICC Documents, pp. 2334-344).

87 Rev. J. Huggonard, Principal, Indian Industrial School, Qu'Appelle, to Deputy Minister, Department of Marine
and Fisheries, Jannary 20, 1898, NA, RG 10, vol. 7548, file 114-1, part 1 (ICC Docuraents, pp. 2434-44A).
'This document is difficult to read, and it is not clear whether Hugponard stated that the water liad not risen
since 1884 or 1894,
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commence soon.® It is interesting to note that, at this time, seftlers in the
valley below the dam were opposed to its being rebuilt “on the ground that it
would take too long to fill the lakes, thereby preventing the water from run-
ning in the river and over-flowing their hay meadows which would be detri-
mental to their hay crops.”®

The record ‘in this inquiry is strewn with evidence of other proposed
projects which had the potential to affect reserve lands. In 1914, members of
the Pasqua Band asked for fnancial support to assist them in erecting two
dams so they would not have to haul water to their farm lands above the
valley.® Authorization was granted, with the costs to be charged to the Band’s
interest account,”® but no further evidence is available about the project.
Later, in 1921, the Fort Qu'Appelle Board of Trade petitioned the federal
government for a dam to raise the water level in the river near Fort
Qu’Appelle to make it more suitable for motorboating. Indian Commissioner
W.M. Graham raised the concern that building a dam would probably cover
the hay meadows of the western Qu'Appelle Valley Bands,* but the matter
was ultimately referred to the Department of Public Works, since the river at
that time was considered to be navigable,” contrary to later evidence in this
inquiry.** There is also no further evidence regarding this proposal.

88 .. Denuis, Deputy Coinmissioner, Department of Public Workes, to Secrefary, Departinent of Indlan Affairs, July
14, 1898 (ICC Documents, p. 260). In 2 letier dated Angust 30, 1898, Tndian Commissioner AE. Forget
reported Lhal, with grading done by members of Lhe Pasqua raserve, “[a] larger dan is under consiruction and
when finished will be of great beneflit ta Lhe Reserve™: AE. Forget, Indian Commissioner, to Secretary, Depart-
ment of indian Affairs, August 30, 1898, K& RG 10, vol. 10314, fle 675/8-4-3-79 (1CC Documents, p. 2684). It
is not clear whether these commeris relate 1o reconstruction of the dam at Katepwe or improving Lhe one
upstream at Fort Qu'Appelle, bt the latter seems more Hikely if, 45 reported, the dam affected (he Pasqua
reserve.

39 Rev. ]. Huggonard, Principal, Indian Industrial School, Qu'Appelle, to Depuiy Minister, Department of Marine
and Fisherles, January 20, 1898, NA, RG 10, wol. 7548, file {5114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 2424),

90 K Nichol, Indian Agenl, Qu'Appelle Agency, to J.D. Mclean, Secrelary, Department of Indian Affairs, July 8,
1914, K&, RG 10, vol. 7584, Ble 6114-1, Part | (ICC Documents, p. 331).

91 J.D. McLean, Secrefary, Depaciment of Indian Affairs, to K Nichol, Indian Agent, Qu'Appelle Agency, July 14,
1914, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 332).

92 WM, Graham, Indian Gemmissloaer, (o Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, March 4, 1921, NA, RG 10, vol.

"7584; file 6114-1, part | (ICC Documents, p. 333}. )

93 EF. Drake, Direclor, Reclamation Service, Department of the I[nlerior, {o Secretary, Department of Indian
Altairs, April 26, 1921, N4, RG 19, wol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Docwnents, p. 339).

94 On Janwary 16, 1976, alter investigating lide to the bed of the Qu'Appelle River passing through the Mus-

cowpetung reserve, G.A, Poupore advised A.H. Markuson:
According to the Minisiry of Transport the waters at the above site are not considered navigable within the
meaning of the Navigable Waters Protection Act. The Marine Aids Division informed that Lhe uses of e
river passing throngh Reserves 80 and 808 wonld be the walering of livestacks [sicland provide also for
the spawning ground for the fishing game.
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to

In 1922, the problem was again too much water, and requests were made

raise the level of the Craven Dam, upstream from the Piapot reserve, to

contain the waters inundating the hay lands. Public Works noted that the
existing dam, built in 1905, was in poor condition and leaking badly, so that
steps to correct it would likely be expensive and perhaps a waste of time,
since it might well wash away in any event. In the course of its response,
Public Works also illustrated how containment of the Qu’Appelle River might
operate as a double-edged sword:

Up to recently the people who are now asking that the dam he raised complained that
this very dam was holding back too much water and that their hay lands along the
Qu'Appelle River as well as the cattle suffered owing to low or shortage of water, If
this dam were raised 1,300 acres of expropriated Jand belonging to the Department
of Public Works would be more or less permanently flooded, And undoubiedly
another liay acreage would require to he expropriated between the luke and the Cra-
ven dam, in addition to fooding the Lumsden Valley on the QuAppelle River.

It seems to me that during low water years those people below the dam would like
to see the dam removed completely and during the high water years they would lke
to see it raised to suit their purpose, without any consideration heing given to other
properties above the dam. . . .

The Craven Dam should be partly rebuilt and provisions made so that the elevation
of the water could be controlled.”s

In 1924 a proposal surfaced that would have resulted in the construction of
ditches to enable flood waters to drain from the hay flats as required.®
Although surveyor H.W. Fairchild was dispatched to take levels and determine

95
%

See G.A. Poupore, Director, Lands and Membership, Department of Indian and Northem Affairs, fo AH.
Markuson, Regional Supervisor of Lands, Saskatchewan Region, Department of Indian and Nerthern Affairs,
January 16, 1976, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 3 (ICC Docwments, p. 1001). & year later, Markuson passed this
iuformation on 1o AJ. Gross, with the following additional comments:

On reviewing the Interpreistions of navigable waters, we note that inierpretations of his Honour Judge
Whitfield in 1914 indicating rivers may be navigable though not such as will bear boats or barges for the
accommodation of Iravellers. 1 they are sufficient for the transportation of property, e.g., for floating logs
or limber [sic]. A navigable river is a public highway and anyone has a right to use il as such having
regards to (he rights of others. Provincial legislation cannot authorize interference with the right of naviga-
tion that such under Section 91 of the BNA Act being under the exclusive jurisdiction of Canada. The title to
the bed of 2 non-idal navigable river is presumed to be in the riparian owner (in this instance since the
band awns the land on both sides of the giver, this would apply).

See A.H. Markusou, Regional Supervisor of Lands, Saskaichewan Region, Department of Indian and Northern
Affairs, to A.J. Gross, Acting Assistant Regional Director, Feonomic Development, Saskatchewan Region, Depari-
ment of Tndian and Northern Affairs, January 31, 1577, DIAND file E4320-06566 (ICC Documents, p. 1064},
Department of Public Warks, District Engineer's Office, “Excerpts from District Enpineer’s Report,” Seplemher
29, 1922, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 348-50).

W.M. Graham, Indlan Commissioner, 1o Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, July 25, 1924, NA, RG 10, vol.
6615, fle 7114-2 (ICC Docwnents, pp. 357-58).

I
207



INDIAN CrLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

the feasibility of the ditches,” there is no evidence of what became of this
project.

In summary, it appears that, to the end of the 1920s, there were major
floods in 1852, 1904, and 1916, with “high water” or “moderate flooding”
also recorded in 1858, 1882, 1892, 1902, 1917, 1922, 1923, 1925, and
1927.% There were no large floods for the 20-year period between 1882 and
1902, as the reports of the Indian agents at that time attest. However, in
addition to the many seasons of drought described by the agents during that
period, there were more dry vears in 1910, 1914, 1917, 1918, and 1919./%

CREATION OF THE PRAIRIE FARM
REHABILITATION ADMINISTRATION

In a few short years, the excessive water that plagued farmers in the 1920s
became the fond hope of the “Dirty Thirties” as, in a complete reversal of the
weather cycle, the parched prairies endured year afier year of relentless
drought. Indian Commissioner William Graham pleaded with Indian Affairs
Secretary A.F. MacKenzie to request the Department of Public Works to open
the dam at Craven for a few days, since “[t]he river on the East side of the
dam has nearly dried up and if something is not done there will be a
shortage of water for cattle this winter.”'! MacKenzie complied, but his
counterpart in Public Works, K. Desjardins, replied with the following report
from the District Engineer:

{T1he stoplogs in the dam Lave been removed since early in the spring. On the 20th
instant the elevation of water above (he dam was practically two feet below the bottom

97 AF. MacKenzie, Acting Assistant Deputy and Secrelary, Department of Indian Affairs, (o H.W. Falrchild, Septem-
ber 2, 1924, NA, RG 18, vol. 6615, file 7114-2 {ICC Dacuments, p. 360)

98 Deparl.ment of Agrlculmre, Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Adminisiration, “Hydrology Report #21: Floads and
Flooding Problemns in the Qu'Appelle Valley,” May 1958, p. 11 (ICC Exhibil 15); Department of Agriculture,
Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administeation, “Hydrology Report #24: Deonght and Flood in the QuAppelle
Watershed {Summary Repori),” May 1958, pp. 22-23 and 47 (ICC Fxhibit 15); Saskatchewan Wauter Resources
Comaission, fmvestigation and Planning Brauch, Bconomics Division, “Qu'appelle Flood Study, Appendix ¢: A
Historical Review of Hooding in the Qu'Appelle River Basin 1852-1971," April 1972, p- 104 (1CC Exhlbi 23). 1t
should be noted that evidence of “high water” and “food” years prior to 1904 is largely anecdotal since
records were apparently not kept before thal time.

99 Depariment of Agriculinre, Pralcie Farm Rehabllitation Administeation, “Hydrology Report #21: Floods and
Flooding Preblets in the QuAppeJle Valley,” May 1958, p. 11 {ICC Exhibit 15).

100 Department of Agticulture, “Praitie Farm Rehabilitation Act: Whal I Means to the Prairie Provinces,” October
1961, p. 4 (ICC Exhibit 17).

101 WM. Graham, Indian Commissioner, to AF. MacKenzie, Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, 'ieptember 5,
1938, NA, RG 18, vol. 7584, file 61141 part 1 (I6C Documents, p. 365).
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of the sluice-ways, or four feet befow the top of the dam, so that it will be impossible
(o let any water down the Qu'Appelle river through the dam.!?

The crisis had only begun. The Prairie provinces had assumed responsibil-
ity for natural resources under the terms of the Natural Resources Transfer
Agreements of 1930, but the magnitude of the problems caused by drought
and the “severely deflated market prices” associated with the worldwide eco-
nomic depression soon overwhelmed them.'® The gravity of the situation was
captured in the following excerpt from an article by E.S. Archibald:

During iis period of development, prairie agriculture has suffered many set-backs, but
none so severe as that which accompanied the eight-year period of drought between
1929 and 1938. Throughout that period, repeated crop Eailures arising from unprece-
dented conditions of drought and soil drifting have been experienced over an exten-
sive area covering south-western Manitoba, southern Saskatchewan and south-eastern
Alberta. The area affected coincided almost exactly with Palliser's “arid” triangle!®
and contains over one-half of the farms in the Prairie Provinces. Furthermore, this
drought period occurred simultanecusly with the worldwide economic depression
which started in 1929. The combined effect of drought and depression was devastat-
ing. Within the tecritory most severely affected, the farm income from wheat, the prin-
cipal crop, declined by an average of seventy per cent during the vears 1930 to 1937
inclusive. In 1937, the worst year of drought, the average vield of wheat in Saskatche-
wan was only 2.0 bushels per acre as compared with a long time average of 15
bushels.

102 K. Desjardins, Secretary, Depattment of Public Works, to AF. MacKenzie, Secretary, Department of Indlan
Affairs, September 29, 1930, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, pant | (ICC Documents, p. 368).

103 116782 Canada Ltd., “Qu'Appelle Valley Tndian Development Authority Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, p, 20 (ICC
Exhiblt 5).

104 Archibald’s article also discusses the early history of the aren, including the “Palfiser wiangle”

During the years 1857 to 1860, Captain John Palliser explored the lerritory between Lake Superior and the
Rocky Mountains in the interests of the British Government, with a view to determining the possibilites for
agricultural setllement. Palliser came to the conclusion that the south-central pottion of tlis territory was
unflt for agriculture by reason of arid climate and infertile soil. This “arid” area, covering roughly 100,000
square miles, conslitutes the famons “Palliser triangle”. . .. The same opinion was expressed in 1859 by
Professor HL.Y. Hind, who explored part of the same area for the Government of Canada. These opinions
were based largely on the condition and distribulion of native vegetation. Thus, towards e year 1860, the
prospects for agricaltural setlemment in fhe southern parts of the Prairle Provinces did not appear very
hopeful.

Twenty years fater, however, 1 much more optimistic appraisal of the Palliser triangle was made by
Professor John Macoun, botanist to the Engineer-in-Chief of the Canadian Pacific Railway. Macoun reduced
Palliser's “arid” area to some 20,000 square miles and described the remainder of the tiangle as sitltable
for agricuifure.

The somewhat divergent views expressed by Palliser and Hind on the one hand, and by Macoun on tie
ollier, may be explzined on the basis of cyclic variations in rainfall, the observations of Palliser and Hind
being made during a dry cycle of years, and those of Macoun during 2 wet cycle.

See E.S. Archibald, “Prairie Farm Rehabilifation,” in Canadian Geographical Journal, Ociober 1940, p. 159
(1CG Exhibit 7). .
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As a result of the foregoing conditions a very large number of farmers in the
affected area suffered heavy losses and expetienced hardship and even destitution.
Many people abandoned their holdings to seek new homes in more favoured sections,
the resuiting internal migration assuming considerable magnitude, Much of the aban-
doned land, unprotected by crop or-grass growth, became subject fo soil drifting to
the detriment of neighbouring occupied land, Shrinkage of income rendered many
farmers incapable of dealing with the soil drifiing menace, or even of continuing
normal farming eperations. In whole municipalities the capiial value of the commu-
nity farm enterprise declined to less than its mortgaged indebtedness. Large govern-
mental expenditures for relief, and to enable farmers to continue operations, became
necessary. Under such circumstances the economic structure of the region was sub-
jected to severe strain, and social services were threatened with disruplion.

The nation-wide repercussion of the dronght crisis led the Dominion Govermnent
to introduce various measures for the alleviation of distress and the reorganization of
agricultural economy, in the affected region.!%

‘One such measure was the passage of the Prairie Farm Rebabilitation
Act'™® and the establishment of the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration
(PFRA) under the federal Minister of Agricuiture in 1935. The Act was very
short, its primary operative section providing for the création of an advisory
committee “to consider and advise the Minister as to the best methods to be
adopted to secure the rehabilitation of the drought and soil drifting areas of
the Provinces of Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta and to develop and
promote within those areas systems of farm practice, tree culture and water
supply that will afford greater economic security.”” The Act further provided
for the appointment of “such temporary technical, professional and other
officers and employees” as the Minister might require to carry out the objec-
tives of the Act, and established a budget of $750,000 for the first year of the
PFRA’s operation and $1 million for each subsequent year of its initial five-
year mandate, 1%

In 1937, the PFRA’s jurisdiction was extended to include the development
of systems of land use and land settlement in addition to the original terms of
reference comprising farm practice, tree cultare, and water supply. In addi-
tion, the $1 million ceiling on expenditures in the last three fiscal years of the
PFRA’s mandate was eliminated, with the amount for each year to be set in
Parliament’s annual appropriations.'™

105 E.S. Arclibald, “Prairle Farm Rehabilitalion,” in Caradian Geographical fournaf, October 1940, pp. 160-61
(ICC Exhibit 7)

106 Prairie Farm Rebabilitation Act, 5C 1935, c. 23.

107 Prairie Farm Rebabilifation dct, 5C 1935, ¢. 23, s, 4,

108 Prairia Farm Rehabilitation Act, 5C 1935, ¢ 23, ss. 6 and 8.

109 An Aci to amend the Prairie Farm Rebabilitation Act, 8C 1937, c. 14, ss. 2 and 4.
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Two years later, the five-year limit on the PFRA’s mandate was also elimi-
nated. The Minister of Agriculture was further authorized to enter into agree-
ments with any provincial or municipal government in the three Prairie prov-
inces, or with “any person, firm, or corporation, with respect to the
development, promotion, construction, operation and .maintenance of any
project or scheme undertaken ... or which may be deemed necessary or
desirable for the conservation of water.” In conjunction with this power, the
amending legislation permitted the Minister to “purchase, lease or otherwise
acquire ... any lands or premises” required or to “purchase or rent whatever
machinery or equipment may be required” for any project or scheme.!"

The Act was amended again in 1941. However, whereas previous amend-
ments had extended and broadened the PFRA’s mandate, the new provision
narrowed its jurisdiction by requiring the Governor in Council to approve any
project or scheme that would cost in excess of $5000.!

As PFRA District Engineer L.D. McMillan wrote in 1941:

The obiject of the Act is to remedy the severe effects of drought and soil drifting in the
drought area of Western Canada. Under the terms of the Acl, measures are provided
to assist farmers in the affected areas to reduce the effect of drought and soil drifting.
This included assistance in the conservation of surface water supplies for household
use, stockwalering and irrigation, re-grassing, tree planting and reclamation of lands
damaged by soil drifting. Assistance was also provided under the Act to the Universi-
ties of the western provinces in continuing and extending soil sucveys and for an
cconomic survey of the province.

In 1937 the Act was extended by amendment Lo provide for the establishment of
community pastures in certain zreas where the soil and climate have been found to be
unsuited for grain growing.!'2

The P¥RA supported small, community, and large water development
projects. For small projects, it provided financial and engineering assistance
to individual farmers to construct dugouts and small dams to conserve sur-
face runoff for stockwatering and domestic use, and to develop small irriga-
tion projects for the production of forage crops. In the first five years of the
program, the PFRA received 31,089 applications for assistance on small-scale

110 An Act to amend the Prairie Farm Rebabilitation Act, SC 1939, c¢. 7, s5. | and 2,

111 An Act to amend the Prairie Farm Rebabilitation Act, 8C 1944, c. 25, 5. 1

112z LD. McMillan, District Engineer, PFRA, “Qu'Appelle River Development,” February 24, 1941, PERA file
928/7Q2, vol. 2 (KXC Documents, p, 441).
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projects, of which it approved 19,807 and completed 14,222: 9945 dugouts,
3447 stockwatering dams, and 830 irrigation projects.\®

Community projects were usually built to develop secondary tributaries to
serve the needs of the inhabitants of a particular area. They often involved the
restoration and improvement of natural water bodies that tended to dry up
during droughts, cither by instalfing control works on them or by diverting
drainage into them. Such projects were usually implemented through cooper-
ative arrangements among the PFRA, the provincial government, and the local
community, with the community or the local agricultural district generally
responsible for operating the projects after their construction.!™*

Large water development projects consisted of “al} those projects which
have been fully constructed and paid for from the P.F.RA. vote [such as]
large stockwatering dams, irrigation and water supply projects.” By March
31, 1940, 63 of these projects had been completed or were under develop-
ment, “representing a total water storage capacity of more than 300,000 acre
feet, and the development of new irrigation facilities serving over 100,000
acres of irrigable land.”"

WATER DEVELOPMENT BY THE PFRA IN THE QU'APPELLE VALLEY

Requests for the construction of dams and other structures in the Qu'Appelle
Valley to alleviate the drought conditions came quickly after the establishment
of the PFRA. On February 8, 1935, Regina lawyer George S. Kennedy, acting
on behalf of Leslie H. Hoskins of Craven and 25 other farmers in the valley,
forwarded the following petition to Member of Parliament F.W. Turnbull for
personal delivery to Hugh A. Stewart, the Minister of Public Works:

We, the undersigned, facmers residing along the Qu'Appelle River Valley in the prov-
ince of Saskatchewan, IIEREBY HUMBLY PETITION the Government of Canadz to con-
struct 4 number of dams on the Qu'Appelle River for the purpose of flooding the hay
land in the spring,

For some five years these lands which formerly produced good crops of hay have
been completely dried out and the farmers along this area have been dependent on
the Government for fodder to see them through. ,

WE, therefore, RESPECTFULLY REQUEST that the Govern[ment]construct a num-
ber of such dams for the purpose aforesaid, and we individually undertake to release

113 Department of Agriculture, “Report on Activilies under the Prairie Tarm Rehabilitation Act for the Fiscal Year
ending March 31, 1940," PFRA, Annual Reports, 1939/40 (ICC Documents, pp. 418 and 422).

114 Department of Agriculture, “Prairic Resources and PFRA.” 1969 (ICC Exhibil 19, pp. 42-44).

115 Department of Agricultre, “Repori on Activities under the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act for the Fiscal Year
ending March 31, 1940,” PFRA, Annval Reports, 1939/4¢ {ICC Documents, p. 423).
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I

the Government from any claims for damages occasioned by the flooding of our lands
as a result of the said dams.

AND we hereby agree that in the event of the construction of the said dams we
individually agree each for himself that we will assume full responsibility for any hay
which we may have in the Valley on March 1st in each year, either in sticks or
otherwise angd hereby waive any claim to damages occasioned by the said dams and
flooding of our said lands as a result thereof.!

Turnbull delivered the petition to Stewart with his own entreaty:

These farmers who live along the valley are 1o some extent in the cattle business and
to some extent produce hay for market. If the waters could be controlled it would
help them very considerably.'?

Noting that 2 statement had recently been made in the House of Commons by
Minister of Agriculture Robert Weir about the creation of the PFRA and the
development of works in drought areas, Stewart 4dwsed Kennedy that he was
referring the petition to Weir.!1®

The Qu'Appelle Valley was just one possible area for large water develop-
nient projects and, across the Prairie provinces, investigations began to
assess the viability of many potential sites for the erection of water control
structures. Comprehensive field investigations, including topographical
surveys and soil investigations, were required, as well as tests to determine
the foundations needed for the structures that would have to be built.!?

In 1937, drought conditions reached their peak but, to the dismay of
farmers along the Qu'Appelle, the preliminary investigations in their valley
were not promising for water development:

Reports received indicate that the most serious drought ever experienced in the area
now prevails over a greater part of the open plains area in Saskatchewan and the east
half of southern Alberta. By the end of May crops south of the Canadian Pacific main
line in Saskatchewan and most of east-central Alberta were dried out beyond recovery
and with only light scattered showers along with high prevailing temperafures
throughout the month of June, crops gencrally are a total failure. It is expected many

115 George S. Kennedy, Secord & Kennedy, Barrislers & Solicitors, to Minister of Public Works, February 8, 1933,
encloslng Petition from “Teslie 1. Hoskins, SE 24-20-21 W 2nd, Craven, and approximately 25 other farmers”
Lo Minister of Public Werks, undated, NA, RG 17, vol. 3281, file 559-13 (1CC Docurnents, pp. 371-72).

117 EW. Turnbull, MP, to Hugh A Stewart, Minisier of Public Works, February 11, 1935, NA, RG 17, vol. 5281, file
559-13 (ICC Documents, p. 373).

118 Bugh A Stewart, Minisler of Public Works, to F.W. Turnbull, MP, February 14, 1935, NA, RG 17, vol. 3281, file
559-13 (JCC Docoments, P 374).

119 Department of Agnculmre "Report on Activities under the Prairie Farmi Rehabilitatlon Act for the Fiscal Year
ending March 31,-1940,” PFRA, Annual Reports, 1939/40 (ICC Documents, p. 423).
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.

districis will not ship even one car load of wheat, while the feed sitvation and water
supply has hecome exceedingly desperate.

This calamity after several years of 2 most serious drought mndmon in the area
has greatly intensified the needs and demands for prairie farm rehabilitation work
including water development in particular. . . .

T

. . Generally speaking, development in the Qu'Appelle Valley is not too promising.

In the first place, there is lack of unanimity among the individuals who would be

affected and topographical conditions would make it very expensive If not impossible

to irrigate by means of gravity from ditches. Pumping is prohably the only means by

- which any amount of this lfand could be irrigated other than by naturally flooding

large acreages periodically, but pumping is likely to prove expensive since the lift in

projects so far inspected is from 25" to 35", The intention, therefore, is not to con-

tinue with any wore reconnaissance survey in the Qu'Appelle Valtey this vear particu-

larly since drought conditions in other parts of the province are much more
serious.

Nevertheless, the PFRA continued its investigations, and by 1940 a major
water development project encompassing the four Fishing Lakes as well as
Crooked and Round Lakes was under active consideration. According to L.D.
McMillan, the first priority was to restore the four Fishing Lakes (also known
as the Qu'Appelle Lakes) to their normal levels:

Tt has been pointed out by residents of the valley in the vicinity of the QuAppeile
Lakes that due to the heavy decline in lake levels in recent years, the fishing industry
has heen seriously affected, the summer camping grounds made less attractive, and
the valuable hay lands at the west end of Qu'Appelle {Pasqua) Lake, which in former
years was [sic] quite productive, has [sic] become entirely non-productive due to the
decline in lake levels in this area. Furthermore, ai the west end of Qu'Appelle Lake
there existed a natural breeding ground for ducks when the lake levels were normal
and that to restore this area to its former useful purpose the QuAppelle Lake should
be raised four feet. Also as the levels of lakes veferred to above become lowered the
water becomes stagnant.

A point which [ believe is worth consideration in the study of lake levels in the
QuAppelle Valley is that there are literally thousands of springs along the valley bed,
especially between Katepwe Lake and Crooked Lake, that in normal years when the
lake levels were high, ran freely but as the lake levels recede a corresponding drop s
noticed in spring flow. It is Delieved therefore that by increasing the volume of water
in the Qu'Appelie 1.akes that [sic] an additional underground pressure will be created
and a better flow from springs obtained.

120 Prairie Farm Rehabilitaion Administeation, “Progress Report for Month ending June 30th, 1937, including
Waler Development and Farm Survey,” Jupe 30, 1937, NA, RG 17, vol. 3284, file 559-13-4(2) (ICC Documents,
pp. 388 and 400),
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In order lo improve the adverse conditions caused by low water levels in the
lakes, and to store water for irrigation purposes lower down the valley, it would be
necessary to build control structures at the outlet of each lake.'*!

Although detailed survey work had not yet been completed around Crooked
Lake and Round Lake, it was believed that erecting control structures at the
outlet of each lake would also bring water levels there back to “normal,” for
the benefit of hunting, and boating, and for irrigating downstream lands. The
six control structures, plus a seventh on Buffalo Pound Lake, would create
105,150 acre feet of additional water storage capacity.!*

Residents of the Qu'Appelle Valley continued to press for dams to be built.
On June 1, 1940, HM. Salter, Secretary of the Qu'Appelle Valley Associated
Boards of Trade, advised PFRA Director George Spence that the following
motion had been adopted by the Boards’ executive:

2. That a Damn [sic] be built at the East End of Round Lake raising the water level
in the lake 2% feet.

The purpose of this being to provide water storage so that it could be released in
the fall to provide water to the farmers below the lake for stock purposes.'

A delegation met with Spence in the early summer of that year, and Spence
agreed to have the land along the shores and to the east of Round Lake
surveyed. When no immediate report was forthcoming, P.W. Tinline, Secre-
tary of the Whitewood Board of Trade, followed up with Spence in October to
determine whether the survey had been completed, “as we feel that this is
one project that is very necessary for this end of the Qu'Appelle Valley,*
The PFRA had not been idle, however:

During the last two or three seasons survey parties have been at work in the
Qu'Appelle Valley making a detailed survey of all the valley lands from the western
end near the town of Eyebrow on down through Lumsden, Ft. Qu'Appelle and to the
Crooked Lake area. Up to the present time a detailed survey of all the valley lands has
been completed from Eyebrow to Crooked lake, a distance of approximately 150

121 L.D. McMillan, District Engineer, PFRA, 1o J.I. Mutchler, Senior Survey Engincer, PFRA, Janvary 25, 1940, PFRA
file 928/7Q2, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 404-05).

122 L.D. McMillan, District Engineer, PFRA, (0 J.I. Mutchler, Senior Survey Engineer, PFRA, Jamuary 25, 1940, PFRA
file 928/7Q2, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 405-06).

123 H.M. Salter, Secretary, Qu'Appelle Valley Associated Boards of Trade, to Genrge Spence, Director of Rehabilita-
tion, Department of Agdculture, June 1, 1940, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. L (ICC Documents, p. 433).

124 P.W, Tioline, Secretary, Whitewood Board of Trade, o George Spence, Direcior of Rehabilitation, Department of
Apriculiure, October 31, 1940, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 1 (I0C Documents, p. 438).
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miles, and since the valley is from a mile to 4 mile and a hall wide our surveys have
covered an area of over 140,000 acres of land. . . .

In studying the information gained 4s a result of our field work to date there are
three important questions which arise:

1. The drainage arex and the average annual runoff of water in the Qu'Appelle
River.

2. The location of possible reservoir sites where water might be stored for irri-
gation or other purposes and their capacities. :

3. 'The location and acreage of lands that may be irrigated. . . .

With regard to construction work completed so far we have the Buffalo Pound
Lake dam recently completed at a cost of approximately $70,000.00; 4 control dam
between Craven and Long Lake was also completed last season. At the present ime
there are also a large number of small irrigation schemes in operation along the
valley between Buffale Pound Lake and Et. Qu'Appelle.

In regard to future developments it is expecied that the next construclion work
undertaken will be in the vicinity of the Fishing Lakes. Plans and estimates have
already been prepared for the proposed dams at Sioux bridge [located between Pas-
qua and Echo Lakes) and Fort Qu'Appelle. It might be meniioned here that it would
not be too wuch to expect that at some fuiure date water may be brought from the
Saskatchewan River into the QuAppelle Valley to supplement present valley
supplies. 1

Additional work was required in the area of Crooked and Round Lakes, but
the PFRA was ready to proceed farther west at the Fishing Lakes.

THE ECHO LAKE DAM

As already noted, the PFRA originally intended to build dams on each of the
four Fishing Lakes, and it was foreseen that the dam on Pasqua Lake would
flood portions of the Pasqua and Muscowpetung reserves. Spence wrote to
the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs to inform him of the likely dam-
age and to seek approval of the project:

[T]t is proposed to construct 4 dam in the vicinity of Sioux Bridge, which is located
between Qu'Appelle and Echo Lakes, for the purpose of raising the water level in
Qu'Appelle Lake to Elevation: 1574.0, Wh.lCh is 5.8 feet above the elevation of this lake
in August of 1939. This will extend the lake westward approximately 64 miles beyond
its present western boundary and will flood approximately 201 acres in the Pasqua

1.25 LD. McMillan, District Englneer, PFRA, “Qu'Appelle River Development,” Febouary 24, 1941, PRRA file
0928/7Q2, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 442-43).
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Indian Reserve, No. 79, and approximately 1103 acres in the Muscowpetung Reserve,
No. 80.

The purpose of raising this lake is to provide storage water for irrigation purposes
and when the complete project has been developed the lake will be drawn down
below £s1. [full supply level] from 2 to 3 feet during June and July, which will
remove water from approximately 500 acres of land in the Muscowpetung Reserve
and make this land available for the cutting of hay. The other 600 acres in this
Reserve and the 200 acres in Pasqua Reserve will, however, be almost continuously
under water except in years of extremely low flow when it will be necessary to lower
the lake down to ifs present level. The fact, however, that water will be standing on
this land more or less continuously will probably mean that Marsh Grass will substi-
tute itself for the existing grasses. Marsh Grass is not of any particular value for hay.

In consideration of the fact that this land is being unfavourably effected [sic], I
betieve we would be prepared to construct diversion works in the Qu'Appelle River
bed in the western portion of Muscowpetung Reserve for the purpose of giving the hay
flats in this area an annual Aooding even in years of low flow in place of the intermit-
tent flooding which they now get and which occurs only in years of high flow. This
would have the effect of increasing Lhe gross hay production on the Reserve consider-
ably above its present level. .

T would also ask you to note that it wili be necessary to construct a small dyke,

_approximately 6 feet high, on the north side of the present Sioux Bridge to a point
nedr the N.E. corner of Section 20, Township 21, Range 14, West of the 2nd Merid-
ian, which will be located on Standing Buffalo Reserve, No. 78. The land on which
this dyke will be constructed is of no particular value and is not used at the present
time for any purpose. .

I may say that we have had an opportunity of discussing these proposals with your
Mr. Christianson, who is of the opinion that our proposals will be of benefit to the
Indian Reserves affected. '

We should like very much 1o obtain the Flooding Rights on these land[s], if possi-
ble, in return for our undertaking to construct works in the western portion of Mus-
cowpetung Reserve for the purpose of Hood irrigating hay lands in this area a5 men-
tioned above, if this can be arranged.

As we propose to commence the construction of this project as soon as possible it
would be appreciated if you would give this inatter your earliest consideration in
order that any necessary negotiations may be completed with as litile delay as
possible.12¢

Interestingly, although a dam was being considered at the outlet of Echo
Lake, it does not appear that this project was raised with Indian Affairs, nor
does it appear that any potential damage to the Standing Buffalo reserve was

foreseen.

126 Gearge Spence, Director of Relabilitation, Department of Agriculture, to Superintendent General of Indian

Affairs, Department of Mines and Resources, May 16, 1941, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 2 (ICC Docoments, pp.

462-63).
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Harold McGill, Director of the Indian Affairs Branch (which was then
within the federal Department of Mines and Resources), acknowledged to
Spence that the Muscowpeiung and Pasqua reserves woutd be “very consider-
ably affected” by the dam at Pasqua Lake and noted that it would be neces-
sary for Indian Affairs to give the proposed development careful considera-
tion.’” McGill's letter was followed by a letter from Charles Camsell, Deputy
Minister of Mines and Resources, to G.S.H. Barton, his counterpart in the
Department of Agriculture:

It is obvious from an cxamination of the key plan which accompanied Mr. Spence’s’
report, that substantial, if not quite serions, damage will be done to both of the
Reserves and in the interests of these Indians this Department will, of course, expect
paymen! of satisfactory compensation. Those portions of these two Reserves which it
is now proposed to flood are the sources of substantial revennes to both of these
Bands, and it is our view that the local situation should first be carefully examined for
the purpose of ascertaining definitely the extent of the damage to which both will be
subjected. 1

Barton replied that, while Spence had -been prepared to construct diversion
works to ensure annual flooding in Muscowpetung’s hay flats that would off-
set “any loss occasioned” by the proposal to raise Pasqua Lake, he was pre-
pared to abide by the course of action suggested by Camsell and to provide
the full cooperation of Spence and his staff.'® He instructed Spenice that no
further action could be taken “until the Department of Mines and Resources
has been advised by one of its own officers that the proposed works are
actually in the best interests of the Indian bands concerned.”*

In the meantime, McGill recognized that Indian Affairs did not have the
technical expertise to assess the project, and on June 10, 1941, he solicited
help from J.M. Wardle, Director of the Surveys and Engineering Branch of the
Departrent of Mines and Resources, to consider the following questions:

1. Possible loss of revenue from rentals, etc.

127 Harold W. McGil, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Departmen! of Mines and Resources, (o George Spence,
Director otf%l}iehabﬂitaﬂon, Department of Agricultire, May 23, 1941, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 2 (ICC Docu-
menls, p. ).

128 Charles Camsell, Deputy Minister, Department of Mines and Resources, 1 G.S.H. Barion, Deputy Minister,
Depariment of Agriculuee, May 29, 1941, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 2 {I0C Documents, p. 466).

129 G.3.H. Barton, Deputy Minister, Department of Agticulture, to Charles Camsell, Deputy Minister, Depurtnteut of
Mines and Resources, June 3, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 468).
130 G.5.H. Barton, Deputy Minisier, Depariment of Agriculture, to George Spence, Director of Rehabililation,

Department of Agriculture, Tune 3, 1941, PERA file 928/7Q1, vol, 1 (ICC Documents, p. 460).
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2. Loss of revenue from Jooding of marsh lands, with particular reference to Antipa
Point and Leader's Point.

3. Estimated loss of revenue to Indians through employment as guides, etc., and from
other incidental seasonal occupations.

Muscowpeting Reserve
L. Estimate of damage to hay lands (600 acres reported producing 1,000 tons
ammally)[.]
2. Estimate of damage to marsh lands or shooting grounds and incidental employ-
ment of Indians, if any.

General
It is our understanding that these flooding operations will affect quite a number of
buildings on one or both of these reserves, such buildings being now located close to
the existing shore of QuAppelle Lake, and that considerable damage will also be done
to Jands presently occupied by members of these Bands, either for agriculmire or
other purposes.

It has been reported that the raising of the level of Qu'Appelle Lake in the manner
indicated will result in certain compensating benefits to the Indians of these reserves
and the Director of Rehabilitation [Spence] has stated that he was prepared to con-
struct diversion works which would ensure annual flooding of hay fiats in the western
portion of the Muscowpetung Reserve in order 1o offset any loss occasioned by the
raising of the lake level. This phase of the situation should be very carefully examined
in advance, . . . '

Just four days later, on June 14, 1941, having heard that the project might
not proceed, McGill wrote to Wardle to withdraw until further notice his
request for engineering assistance.'® That same day, he also asked Spence
for further information, adding that he did not want to incur the expense of
sending an engineer to the Qu'Appelle Valley “until your plans are further
advanced.”® Word of the delay was received with disappointment by R.M.
Pugh of the Fort Qu'Appelle Board of Trade * to whom Spence wrote:

131 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to .M. Wardle, Direc-
tor, Surveys and Engineering Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resourdes, June 10, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol.
6514, file IND 15-1-159 (ICC Decuments, pp. 471-72).

152 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources, to JM. Waxdle, Direc-
tor, Surveys and Engineering Branch, Deparment of Mines and Resources, Jure 14, 1941, N, RG 10, vol,
7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 474).

133 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affalrs Branch, Deparlment of Mines and Resources, to George Spence,
Director 02 Rja)habi!ltaﬁon, Depariment of Agriculture, June 14, 1341, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 2 (ICC Dotu-
ments, p. 475).

134 R.M. Pugh, Secretary, Forl Qu'Appelle Board of Trade, 1o George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department
of Agriculture, July 7, 194, PFRA file 92871, vol. 1 (ICC Decuments, p. 479).
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After surveys had been completed it was found that some valuable Eirm property
would be flooded. 1t was also found that large tracts of land in the Muscowpetung
Indian Reserve and the Pasqua Indian Reserve would also be flooded. The Depart-
ment of ¥ndian Affairs at Ottawa has raised certain objections to the proposed devel-
opment and wish to make 4 further lnvestigation on their own behalf, and what the
outcome will be we are unable to say.!3

Within two weeks of McGill’s letter of June 14, 1941, however, Spence had
met with Minister of Agriculture James G. Gardiner, who advised that Indian
Affairs should instruct ifs engincer to proceed to the Qu'Appelle Valley. Nev-
ertheless, Spence assured McGill that “[n]othing will be done in the way of
letting contracts until we get the matter satisfactorily settled between your
department and our own.”"* McGill immediately reissued his request to War-
dle to have an engineer meet with Spence and other PFRA staff to review the
plans and location of the proposed project.””

When McGill had not replied by July 15, 1941, Spence wrote again, indi-
cating that the PFRA had allotted a certain amount of money for work in the

Qu'Appelle Valley and, pending the outcome of discussions between the two

departments, was anxious to make a decision.’® The next day, Controller V.
Meek of the Department of Mines and Resources informed O.H. Hoover, the
Department’s Acting District Chief Engineer in the Dominion Water and
Power Bureau in Calgary, that the epgineering assistance requested by McgGill
had been authorized."®® On July 18, 1941, Hoover advised Spence that Assis-
tant Hydraulic Engineer P.A. Fetterly would visit Regina the following week to
meet with representatives of the PFRA and to inspect the reserves to be
flooded. '

135 Gearge Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Depariment of Ageiculitire, to RM, Puph, Secrelary, Yort Qu'Appelie
Board of Trade, July 9, 1941, PERA file 928/7Q2, vol. 2 (ICC Docoments, p. 481).

136 George Spence, Director of Rehahilitation, Department of Agriculture, to Harold W. MeGill, Direclor, Indian
Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, June 27, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, pari 1
{ICC Documents, p. 478).

137 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources, to M. Wardle, Direc-
tor, Surveys and Enginecring Branch, Department of Mines and Resoorces, June 14, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol.
7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Docunents, p. 480).

158 George Spence, Director of Rehabililation, Department of Agelculture, 1o Harold W. MoGill, Director, Tndian
Affairs Branch, Deparment of Mines and Resources, July 15, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 61141, part 1
{(1CC. Documents, p. 482). )

139 ¥. Meek, Controller, Depariment of Mines and Resources, to O.H. Hoover, Acting Districi Chief Enginecr,
Dominion Water and Power Buceau, Departinend of Mines and Resources, July 16, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol, 6514,
file IND 15-1-159 {ICC Documents, p. 483).

140 0.H. Hoover, Aeting District Chief Engineer, Dominiou Water and Power Boreau, Department of Mines and
Resources, to George Spence, Direcior of Rehabllitation, Department of Agricubture, July 18, 1841, PFRS file
928701, vol. 1 {ICC Documents, p. 483).
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Within a week, Fetterly had completed his inspection and issued his
report. As this report is of considerable importance in the present inquiry, its
terms are set forth at some length:

LI Findings

(1) Pasqua Reserve

The first proposed dam is at the lower end of Qu'Appelle [Pasqua] Lake, al Sioux
Crossing, 6 miles west of Fort Qu'Appelle. The sectional inaps indicate that the normal
level of the Lake prior to 1923 was 1572.0 feet. It is 1569.0 at present. The proposal
is to raise it to 1574.0 in the spring and fower it to 1572 in the summer. It will never
go below 1572.0.

The Pasqua Reserve, which ties south of the lake only, includes most of the open
water of the lake together with a few hundred yards of its (ransition area from open
water through rushes, eic., to potentially flooded bottom lands.

The possible detrimentally affected areas m this Reserve are three in number.

Three capes or points, shooting rights,

Marginal road along the bottom of the steep hill, and abont one foot above the
present level of the lake, flooded.

Fodder along the south side, inundated. . . .

(c) Fodder

Marsh grass extends immediately north of the heforementioned road for about two
mifes (0 a width of two hundred feet or so. This area is, of course at about present
water level (1569). Some of it is now being cut and it will all be cut in time. The
white people on the north side are cutting and stacking marsh hay. It is understood
that this marsh grass, if cut at the right time and before frost, and properly cured,
makes good fodder. Ii apparenty vields from % (o a lon; or even more, per acre,
Even two feet will probably permanently cover it and it is to be remembered that the
permanent low elevation will be 1572

... This flooding will be permanent.

Incidentally, the Pasqua Indians are said to be resentful of the Eact that they were
not consulted by P.ERA. before surveys started, and are sure to vote against any
change.

(2) Muscowpetung Reserve

Conditions on this Reserve are somevwhat different from those on Pasqua Reserve,
The marsh grass just enters Muscowpetung and gradually merges within a thousand
feet into hay flats, which are subject to flooding as they are only a few inches above
water level. . .. The area affccted consists of 1103.5 acres. This includes all the area
under 1574 contous. . . .

The PE.RA. propose to carry out any diversion works necessaty, either for irriga-
tion purposes or for drainage of pools. However, their apparent intention is o hold
the water at [15174 until summer and then lower it to [15]72. This means that all
land under the 1572 contour will be permanently flooded. Thus approximately 500
acres will be available for cutting of hay later in the summer {above [15]72 contour)
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while 644} acres will be, to 2ll intents and purposes, permanently flooded. The accom-
panying topographical map indicates the levels of the different areas and a study of
this data would indicate that it is difficult to understand how the 500 acres can be
reclaimed even at 1572 level, unless dyked. This area is said to produce over 14 tons
per acre. Hven al a ton per acre it would produce 500 tons.

No buildings are affected on either Reserve.

IV. Conclusions
First it will be necessary to secure the promise of the PX.R.A. o construct any
diversion works necessary on the Muscowpetung Reserve to reclaim lands annualiy
flooded so they will produce the usual crop of hay. This refers to the area flooded in
the spring only. . . . _ -
{a) Pasqua Reserve
Benefits - No benefits noticeable.
Darnages - Shooting rights, say 20%, or $50 capitalized, or $1,250.
Marginal roads, say $400
Fodder, 200 acres at $8, or $1600.
This totals $3,250 damages.

(b) Muscowpetung Reserve

Bencfits — Possible beneficial flooding of 500 acres of land, although
it is difficult to understand that the benefits will be very large, since the soil is
moist already and the crops appear to be about as healthy as can be, under pre-
sent conditions.

Damages - Removal entirely of 600 acres of presently good grass-producing -

land from the side of production to at least partial uselessness.
600 acres at $8 per acre damage, or $4,800.

In the opinion of the writer the flooding of these [ands for two or three months
every year will gradually decrease the quality and quantity of grasses unti] because of
lack of air for such long periods they will degenerate into mere rushes etc; and
eveniually disappear.

Tt may be repeated that all the above remarks are the opinions of the writer, only,
particudarly the price per acre ($8) set as the value of the inundated lands. Obviously
no inspecling engincer can do more than state his own views.'!

The total compensation payable to the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands, in

Fetterly's opinion, was $8050.

On receipt of this report, the Acting Director of Indian Affairs expressed
his appreciation to Wardle for Fetterly's services: “The work appears to have
been done with painstaking care and the report will be of value to us in -
arriving at a settlement with the P.F.R.A. people should they decide to pro-

141 PA. Fetterly, Assistant Hydrantic Engineer, “Report on Indian Reserves in Qu'Appelle Valley,” July 25, 1941, NA,

RG 10, vol. 6514, file IND 15-1-159 (IGC Documents, pp. 487-91).
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ceed with the work.”'* The Acting Director then forwarded the report to
Spence with the following comments:

Mz. Fetterly's method of arriving at the figures would appear to be fair and reasona-
ble, and it is suggested that they form a satisfactory foundation of negotiation toward
settlement should it be your intention o proceed. We should be glad to have a state-
ment as $0 whether or nol you intend to proceed with the works, and in case you do
we would like to have any observations you care to make on the guestion of compen-
sation to the bands affected.

This Branch is assuming that you have all necessary powers of expropriation of
privately owned lands in which case i would not appear to us that the consent of the
Indian bands concerned would be necessary. Should you wish to proceed all arrange-
ments in connection with damages or compensation to the Indians might be made
through this office acting on. their behalf, ¥

The PFRA's Senior Consulting Engineer, B. Russell, concurred that Fetterly's
estimates appeared “suitable as 4 basis for settlement in the case of Indian
lands,” but he noted that rights-of-way were still to be negotiated on private
lands. He added:

The Acting Director of Indian Affairs appears to assume that because we have the
necessary powers of expropriation of privately owned lands, we do not require the
consent of the Indian Bands. If this is the case, we are in a position to proceed at any
time using Mr. Fetterly's estimates as a basis for negotiations.'*

Spence, too, was surprised by the free rein that the Acting Director’s letter
appeared to convey to the PFRA:

it was my understanding that the consent of the Indian Bands was necessary before
any works could be proceeded with which would affect the lake levels. If, however, as
stated in the above letter, Indian lands can be expropriated In 2 similar manner to
private Jands, there would seem to be nothing to prevent us proceeding with the
work, so far as Indian lands are concerned.™®

142 Acting Director, Indian Affaics Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to J. M. Wardle, Director, Surveys
and Engineering Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources, Angust 12, 1941, KA, RG 10, vol. 6514, file IND
15-1-159 (ICC Documents, p. 499). .

143 Acting Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to George Spence, Director of
Rehabilitation, Departrment of Agriculiure, August 12, 1941 (ICC Documents, pp. 500-01).

144 B. Russell, Senior Consulting Engineer, Department of Agriculiure, to Geotge Spence, Director of Rehabilitation,
Depariment of Agriculture, undated, PFRA file 928/7Q1, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 502).

145 George Spence, Director of Rehabiliiation, Department of Agticulture, 1o Harold W. McGill, Direclor, Indian
Affaies Branch, Depaciment. of Mines and Resources, August 18, 1941, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. [illepible] (ICC
Docomeats, p. 503).
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After this exchange of correspondence, the Pasqua Lake project was tem-
porarily deferred because of budget limitations and shortages of labour and
building materials during the Second World War.! In the meantime, the
PFRA turned its attention to planning the dams on Crooked Lake and Round
Lake, as will he discussed below.

When the PFRA returned its focus to the western part of the valley a year
later, its engineers proposed, for cost-cutting purposes, to eliminate the dam
on Pasqua Lake for the tinte being and to erect only the dam on Echo Lake,
to maintain the water level on both lakes at the same elevation.'” On June 3,

1942, Spence sought Deputy Minister Barton’s authorization to proceed,
adding:

It should be noted that construction of the dam need not necessarily be delayed until
all negotiations for flooded area has {sic] been completed, as if it should become
necessary the dam can be constructed and stoplogs left out of same till negotiations
covering flooded area have been completed.'s

Barton requested additional information about the scaled-down project,'
and, in response, Spence wrote:

Compensation for Indian lands amounting to $3,050 relates to the earfier proposal
for two dams. However, the new proposal for a single dam will not appreciably affect
llooded area on the Pasqua Indian Resetve and while it will reduce the area of
flooded lands at full supply level on the Muscowpetung Reserve from 1100 acres to
728 acres it was our opinion that in order to have any damages paid to the Depart-
ment of Indian Affairs it wonld be necessary to have an additional report made to
them and this would probably delay the project beyond this year’s construction
Seasom.

The greatest reduction which could be anticipated in this connection would be a
50% reduction in the area removed from good grass production land which would
result in a temporary saving of $2,400.00, As the dam at the east end of Qu'Appelle
Lake will probably be constructed eventually, it would seem advisable to compensate
the Department of Indian Affairs once and for all rather than make a partial settle-
ment on the basis of 2 single dam at Echo Lake at the present time and later a further
selllement when the second dam is constructed.

146 116782 Canada Lid., “Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Drevelopment Autharity Land Claim,” April 14, 1986, p. 36 {ICC
Exhibit 5).

147 {.1. Mutchler, Senor Survey Engineer, PERA, 1o George Spence, Director of Rehabllitation, Department of Agri-
culture, June 3, 1942, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. T (ICC Documents, p. 571).

148 Gearge Spence, Director of Rehablllation, Department of Agriculture, to GS.H. Barton, Depuly Minister,
Drepartment of Agriculture, June 3, 1942, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 573}

149 G.S.H. Barion, Deputy Minister, Depariment of Agriculture, to George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation,
Departmeni of Agriculure, Juge 16, 1942, PFRA file 028/7%4, vol. 1 {ICC Docnments, p. 576).
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If you consider it advisable, however, we can arrange to have a re-inspection made
of the Indian lands and a re-evaluation of these [ands in the new proposal can be
made!®

Spence also commented on the utility of the project and the benefits that it
was likely to bestow on the affected Bands:

The usefulness of 2 project pending formation of an irrigation district consists of
maintaining sufficient water in storage from flood yvears to permit a continuous flow
being kept up in the Qu’Appelle River during the summer and fall months when this
rver ordinarily becomes stagnant and this will considerably improve its value for
siockwatering purposes. . ..

It is our opinion that Indians depend to some degree for their livelihood on fish
obtained from these lakes and the increased water levels will, of course, improve
conditions for the propagation of fish. It should be noted that under conditions. of
extremely low water which have been prevalent during last years a large number of
the fish contained in these lakes have died and, while this is not a primary reason for
the construction of a dam by this Department, the fact is that the construction of a
dam will incidentally remedy this condition and I believe this fact should be given
some consideration.!¥!

Eventually, the bid of contractor Mamczasz & Rollack of Prince Albert for
the construction of the Echo Lake dam was approved by Order in Council
dated September 3, 1942,'? and in short order the dam was built. Fetterly’s
estimate of $8050 to compensate the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands for
damage to their reserve lands was never paid, notwithstanding the apparent
concurrence of the PFRA and Indian Affairs that the amount was reasonable.
There is no evidence that the Bands authorized the project or were even
consulted regarding it, nor is there evidence that the diversion works pro-
posed by Spence and viewed by Fetterly as “necessary . . . to reclaim lands
annually flooded so they will produce the usual crop of hay” were ever built.
Moreover, the potential effects of the Echo Lake damn on Standing Buffalo’s
reserve do not appear to have troubled the collective consciousness of either
the Department of Agriculture or the Department of Mines and Resources.

150 George Speuce, Director of Rehabilitziion, Departiment of Agriculiure, to G.S.H. Barton, Deputy Minister,
Departineat of Agriculture, June 29, 1942, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. T (ICC Documents, p. 577).

151 George Spence, Director of Rehubilitation, Departrment of Ageiculture, to G.S.H. Barton, Deputy Minister,
Department of Agriculture, June 29, 1942, PFRA file 928/7E4, wol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 577-78).

152 Order in Council PC 7900, September 3, 1942, NA, RG 17, vol. 3294, file 559-13-74 (ICC Documents, p. 601).
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THE DAMS AT CROOKED LAKE AND ROUND LAKE

While Fetterly was in Regina in July 1941, Spence made use of the opportu-
nity to have him inspect the proposed sites of the dams to be erected at
Crooked Lake and Round Lake. After receiving Fetterly’s initial report dealing
with the dam at Pasqua Lake, Spence suggested to McGill that Fetterly pre-
pare a second repoct providing his estimate of the damage that would result
from the dams in the lower Qu'Appelle Valley.!*? Spence provided maps out-
lining the areas to be affected, and on September 8, 1941, Fetterly was
instructed to prepare an addendum to his earlier work.
Three days later, the report was completed:

IL  Crooked Lake

This lake lies in the boitorn of Qu'Appelle Valley and immediately adjacent to
Sakimay, Cowessess and Sheshieep Reserves in Townships 18 and 19, Ranges 5 and 6,
west of 2nd mer[idian]. A dam is proposed to be built on the eastern end. The
normal water level up to 1923 seems to have been, according to the sectional maps,
1484. 1t is assumed that this is according to the same datum as that of PERA

The proposed land fooding will be on the Shesheep Reserve on the west end of
the lake, while the dam will be on the Cowessess Reserve on the eastern end,

(a) Hooded ares

The flooded area is on the western end, north of the river, and consequently on
Shesheep Reserve. At present (summer of 1941) it is quite dty although the marginal
lands-are covered with rushes. The transition area is much less than in Qu'Appelle
Lake, being only a few hundred feet in length. The whole area is ouly a foot or two
above the present level of the lake. . ..

The level of the lake in Seplember 1939 was 1478.2. In July 1941 it had risen to
1480. The dam will raise it to 1482, At the time of inspection the potentially looded
area was roughly estimated at about 300 acres. The accompanying map shows 360
acres. An estimate of the area covered by rushes, between the open water and dry
land, would be, say, 80 acres. The remainder, 280 acres, is on dry land which will be
flooded to the 1482 contour as indicated on the map.

Obviously no benefits are caused by the dam. The damages o Shesheep Reserve
are gs follows:-

80 acres of rushes arca at $3 per acre $ 240
280 acres of drv land at $8 per acre 2240
Total damages $2,480

The area covered by rushes is included because under natural conditions the
water might recede to such an extent as io render it arable to some extent.

153 George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of Agricultuze, to Harold W. McGill, Direclor, Indian
Affairs RBranch, Department of Mines and Resources, August 8, 1941, DIAND file 675/5-4, vol. [Wlegible] (KC
Documents, p. 503). :

B
226



QU'APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY

(b) Dam
The dam will be located on the Cowessess Reserve and, together with the borrow
pit will occupy 3 acres. Damages would be 3 acres at $10 per acre, or $30.. ..

UL Ronnd lake,

This lake lies to the north of Ochapowace Reserve, in township 18, ranges 3 and
4 west of 2nd mer[idian]. ’

According to the sectional maps the normal elevation of the lake up to 1923 was
1454 feet above sea level. The present W. L. [water level] is 1448.4. A dum now exists
at the lower or eastern end of the lake which raises the water one foot. Evidently, this
dam is a private local enterprise. Last year the elevation was probably 1447.4. This
lake can be raised by PERA. dam to 1451. The land affected, which lies between the
river (which flows to the north-east at this point) and the open water of the lake is
principally covered with mshes and consists of about 40 acres. An arbitrary value of
$120 might be placed on this area. The area contiguous to the dam affected consists
of one acre, This is higher than the flats and might be valued at $10, or a total of

$130 damages.'*

Fetterly's estimated damages totalled $2640, although he was uncertain about
the damages that might be caused to summer resort buildings in the vicinity
of Grenfel Beach that were situated just above the lake’s propesed full supply
level. Wardle forwarded the completed addendum to McGill on September
18, 1941.155

In the meantime, apparently buoyed by the advice of the Acting Director of
Indian Affairs that, assuming the PFRA had powers of expropriation, the con-
sent of affected Bands would not be required, the PFRA obtained bids for
construction of the dams at Crooked and Round Lakes, On October 8, 1941,
Phil South of Regina was awarded the contract by Order in Council PC
7764.5%% Construction commenced that fall, to the consternation of M. Chris-
tianson, the General Superintendent of Indian Agencies:

1 wish to bring lo your attention that during my recent visit to the Crooked Lake
Agency 1 was informed that the P.F.R.A. were building two dams, one near the Round
Lake Indian Residential School and the other near the Crooked Lake Indian Residen-
tial School. I asked Mt. Kerley [the Indian agent] if they had permission from our

154 PA. Fetlerly, Assistant Hydeaulic Epgineer, “Addendum to Reporl on Indian Reserves In Qu'Appelle Valley,
Crooked Lake and Rouud Lake,” Septewnber 11, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol, 6514, file IND 15-1-159 (ICC Docu-
menls, pp. 512-15).

155 .M. Wardle, Director, Surveys and Engineering Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, lo Harofd W,
McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources, Septeiber 18, 1941, NA, RG 10,
vol, 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 {ICC Documents, p. 519).

156 Order in Council PC 7764, October 8, 1941, NA, BG 2, Series 1 (1CC Documents, p. 522}.
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Department to build these dams and he informed me that as far as he knew they did
not have any authority.

Consequently I went over to the headquarters of the P.F.RA. here in Regina and
the following is the information obtained from there. One site, ¥ think, covers only
about one acre of Indian Reserve and the other 2 acres. Very little land wilt be
flooded at Round Lake but considerable acreage will be flooded on the Shesheep
Reserve and at Sakimay. The P.E.RA. know, of course, that they should have had
permission from our Department hefore building the dams and they are now writing.
I presume you will receive a letter from them in the course of the next few days.'s”

As Christianson had predicted, Spence wrote to McGill within a week:

I am enclosing herewith for your information prints of plans showing proposed
development work 1o be carried owt by this Department in connection with increasing
the storage capacity of Crooked and Round Lakes in the Qu'Appelle River Valley.

Yon will note from the plan showing the development of Crooked Lake that an
area of approximately three acres will be required for dam site and bogrow pits on
the: Cowessess Reserve, No. 73, and I wish to advise you that construction work on
this project is at present under way. As soon as required legal survey has been com-
pleted we shall be [n a position to file plan in the Land Titles Office and make an offer
for this area through your Department,

In the meantime you will note that when the lake is raised to its new full supply
level, which may not occur for two or three vears, that an area of approximately 360
acres will be flooded on Shesheep Reserve No. 744, and an area of approximately 70

_acres will be flooded on Sakimay Reserve, Ko, 74.

Mr. P.A. Fetterley [sic] inspected these areas on his visil to the Qu'Appelle Valley
in July of this year and will no doubt be in a position to place a valuation on these
lands. If you consider it advisable for us to institute expropriation proceedings on the
strength of Mr, Fetterley's [sic] valuation, we shall be glad to have this done.

With regard to Round Lake development, you will know that there is an arca
required for the dam site on the Ochapowace Reserve, No. 71, amountiug to onc acre
and that approximately 39% acres on this same reserve will be flooded when the lake
is raised to its new Fall supply level. Mr. Fetierley [sic] also inspected this area and
will no doubt be in a position to place a valuation on these lands also.

1 wish to advise you that while the dams themselves will be completed and ready
for operation before next spring that we do not intend to raise the water levels to
flood out the Indian lands until satisfactery negotiations have been completed to com-
pensate them for any damages which may be incurred. !

157 M. Christianson, General Superintendent of Indian Agencies, to Sectetary, Indian Allairs Branch, Department of
Mines and Resources, November 28, 1941, KA, RG 10, vol. 7584, [le 6114-1, part 1 {ICC Documents, p. 523}

158 George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of Agriculture, to Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian
Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, December 4, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol. 6514, file IND 15-1-
159 (ICC Documents, pp, 524-25).
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On receiving this letter, McGill considered that it raised concerns about
flooding of the Ochapowace and Sakimay reserves that were not addressed in
Fetterly's addendum report. He therefore asked Wardle to have Fetterly pre-
pare a supplementary report,'”® and advised Spence accordingly.'®

In Fetterly's defence, his immediate superior, Acting District Chief Engi-
neer Hoover, noted on January 24, 1942, that Fetterly's inspection in July
1941 had been performed without the benefit of topographical maps, which
had not vet been prepared, making it impossible for him to assess potential
damages. He also suggested that Fetterly’s area of 80 acres to be flooded on
the Shesheep reserve corresponded with the 70-acre area mentioned in
Spence’s letter, although he was unsure because all the maps had been for-
warded to Ottawa. In conclusion, Hoover recommended to Controller Meek
that, if an immediate report on damages was necessary, Fetterly should
promptly make a further visit to the Qu’Appelle Valley.!!

Meek had the maps and he could see that the 70- and 80-acre areas were
in fact in two discrete locations, but he concurred that Fetterly should return
to make a further inspection.’® The following day, Feiterly commenced a
four-day tour with PFRA engineers, which concluded on January 30, 1942,
and four days later he issued his second addendum report:

LIL Crooked Lake.

{a) ; . ‘
As will be noted by a study of the accompanying maps the area to be flooded at
FS.L [full supply level] reaches contour 1482 at the north western end of the lake.
The potential and actual hay land at the exireme west end covers an area of 290 ucres
(the original visnal estimate of 280 acres was foo small by 10 acres). In addition an
area of 110 acres of mshes and much less valuable land lies between this 290 acres
and the actual water, It is not likely thut rushes will form on the new shore.

On what might be called the north side of the Qu'Appelle River channel is 4 fu-
ther area of potentially flooded land containing 70 acres. This area is considered to
be of better potential value than the “rushes” area but less than the hay land.

159 [farold W. Mctill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Departmeni of Mines and Resources, o J.M. Wardle, Direc-
for, Surveys and Enginecring Branch, Department of Minés and Resources, December 12, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol.
6514, file IND 15-1-159 (IGC Documents, p. 528).

160 Harold W. MeGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, 10 George Spence,
Director of Rehabilltation, Depariment of Agriculture, December 12, 1941, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 1 (iCC
Documents, p. 529). :

161 O.H. Hoover, Acling Disirict Chiel Engineer, Dominion Water and Power Burean, Depariment of Mines and
Resources, (o V. Meek, Controfler, Dominion Waler and Power Burean, Department of Mines and Resources,
January 24, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 6514, file IND 15-1-159 (ICC Documents, p. 532).

162 V. Meek, Controfler, Dominion Waler and Power Burezu, Depariment of Mines and Resoutces, o 0.H. Hoover,
Acting District Chief Engineer, Dominion Water and Power Bureau, Depacimeut of Mines and Resources, Janu-
ary 26, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 6514, file IND 15-1-159 {ICC Documenis, p. 533). -
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.
I is considered that the potential damages would be as follows:-
290 acres at $8.00 per acre 2320
110 acres at 3.00 per acre 330
70 acres at 5.00 per acre 350
3 acres Borrow Pit at $10 ]
3030. ...

(d) Travel between Sakimay and Shesheep Reserves,

The Indians have been travelling hetween Sakimay and Shesheep Reserves for
many years using fords at various points on the river immediately west of the [ake and
in the potenttally flooded area. The level of the bottom of the river is about 1476 and
the former summer water level in the river was about 1478 or thereabouts. The new
FS.1. will mean that at flood time an added four feet or thereabouts will exist at the
fords. The nearest bridge, a steel one, on the east, lies at the “Mission™ one half mile
from the lake. The nearest bridge on the west is about 8 or 9 miles away. Either
bridge means an added 20 mile drive for the Indians on their irips between the
Reserves e.g. for fodder harvesting, when the lake is at F.S.L. which will designedly be
existant only during the early part of the season.

It is therefore recommended that a0 inexpensive bridge be constructed with a
{loor above F.3.L. at some convenient point a short distance west of the {lood line.
This would be for the use of the Indians only and for vehicular traffic only.

As far as the latier item is concerned there exists an element of doubt in the mind
of the writer as to the advisability of demanding a bridge. The evidence and obvicus.
facts are all set forth in (d) but the distance across from bank to bank is upward of
100 [?] feet and even an inexpensive bridge could be constructed only at considera-
ble cost It would have to be at least seven feet high. However this matter can be
settled by negotiation or consultation between the P.ERA. and Indian Affairs.

It is to be remembered, however, that the possible cost is the only question that
causes the above mentioned doubt. The necessity seems to be apparent.

The Indians stated that they wished to have the flood water off their hay lands by
July 15 but they must remember that the full compensation has been awarded and any
hay they cut is added profit, as compensation is computed as if there were to be no
further returns from hay-cutting. Ordinarily speaking, they probably will still be able
to cut most or all of the hay by hay-cutting time as the water should all be removed
much prior to that time,

Iv¥  Round Lake

The remarks found in “TIT Round Lake” of the Addendum Report of September 11,
1941 are applicable in this report except for the acreage. This has now been definitely
found to be slightly different from the approximate area given in the former report,
owing to the exact survey made since that time, The arez affected consists of 27 acres

and should be worth a total of $160 or about $6 per acre, average value. The area of -
one acre at the dam is valued at $10.00.
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|
- 27 acres hay land and rushes $160.00
1 acre at dam (Borrow pit) __10.00
Total. $170.00'63

Fetterly concluded that the total compensation should be $3,300 plus the
construction of the inexpensive bridge to replace the natural fords that,
before the flooding, permitted members of the Sakimay Band to access their
lands on both sides of the river. He also reconsidered potential damages at
the Grenfel Beach resort area, but found that, with the possible exception of
one building that was still located above the full supply line, no buildings
would have to be moved, and thus no damages were payable. His report was
forwarded by Wardle to McGill on February 14, 1942.1%

In reporting to Deputy Minister Camsell regarding Fetterly's investigations,
McGill expressed concern about whether Indian Affairs could justify request-
ing the bridge at Sakimay. He recommended suggesting that Spence give
“sympathetic consideration to the very great inconvenience which will, no
doubt, be: caused the Indians of the Sakimay and Shesheep Reserves by the
raising of the waters at points where they have for many years been accus-
tomed to crossing the river.” McGill also proposed that “when payment of
this compensation is made consent will be given to the proposed
development.™ 5

Before authorizing McGill to negotiate with Spence, Camsell's Chief Execu-
tive Assistant suggested that the local Indian agent be consulted to determine
whether he considered Fetterly’s estimate of damages to be fair and reasona-
ble. % McGill put the question to both Christianson, the General Superinten-
dent of Indian Agencies, and Agent W.J.D. Kerley, with the latter’s attention
directed in particular to the travel between the Sakimay and Shesheep

163 P.A. Fetlery, Assistant Hydraulic Engloeer, “Addendum No. 2 1o Report on Indian Reserves in Qu'Appelle Val-
ley,” February 3, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 6514, file IND 15-1-159 (ICC Documents, pp. 534-39),

164 JM. Wardle, Director, Surveys and Enpineering Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, lo Ilarold W.
McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources, December 12, 1941, DIAND file
675/8-4, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 543).

165 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Departnent of Mines and Resources, to Charles Camsell,
Deputy Minister, Department of Mines and Resources, Pebruary 27, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1,
part 1 (ICC Documents, p, 545).

166 Chief Executive Assistani, Department of Mines and Resources, 1o Harold W. McGill, Direclor, Indian Affairs
Branch, Depantment of Mines aind Resources, March 3, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (100
Documents, p. 547).
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reserves and the nature of the demand that should be put to the PFRA.'
Christianson and Kerley expressed their satisfaction with Fetterly's valuation,
and Kerley continued:

I also concur in that portion of his report referring to the bridge between Sakimay
and Shesheep Reserves. 1 consider this is an absolute necessity, as even in dry years
there would be at least four months of the year when the Indians would be unable to
ford the river, and a tonger period in wet years.

I feel certain that the (ndians would be well satisfied with the proposed compensa-
tion, but I feel equally certain that the Indians of Sakimay and Shesheep Reserves
would raise 4 vigorous protest if the proposed bridge were not built and they were
forced to travel twenty extra miles when they wished to cross.®

The Indians of Crooked Lake were not impressed with the project. They
registered their complaints with Member of Parliament E.E. Perley, who in
turn conveyed them to McGill:

Their first complaint was thal a dam was constructed last fall at the mouth of
Crooked Lakes and raised the water three feet at the present time and is flooding their
hay lands and it is doubtful if they will be able to cut any hay there this fall. They
stated they had been offered a Inmp sum as compensation, but what they really want
and think is their rights (sic] is, that they should receive an annual sum for damages
which would be an amount sufficient to purchase hay for their cattle. They stated in
their statement made to me that there was about three hundred and sixty acres of
their hay land flooded on which they had been cutting annually from two hundred to
three hundred tons. They also stated they have in the neighbourhood of three hun-
dred head of cattle and a great inany horses and any hay they put up over and above
what they required for their own stock, had been sold off the Reserve and resulted in
some little revenue. They also state they have to move their stock down in the valley
on the flats in the winter time in order to have the water supply for their stock, as well
as being near the hay'®

Notwithstanding these objections, McGill wrote to Spence, sefting out the
compensation estimated in Fetterly’s second addendum report as well as the

167 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources, to W.J.D. Kerley, Indian
Agenl, Crooked Lake Agency, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines apd Resources, March 12, 1942, NA,
RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 5494); Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian affairs
Bm.nch Depariment of Mines and Resources, o M. Christianson, General bupennlendem of Indian Agencies,
Indian Affales Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, March 14, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 0114-1,
part 1 {ICC Documents, p. 550).

166 W.J.D. Kerley, Indian Agenl, Crooked Luke Agency, Indian Affairs Branch, Departmenl of Mines and Resources,
to Secretary, Indfan Affairs Branch, Department of Miges and Re:.uurces April 4, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584,
file G114-1, part I (ICC Documents, p. 559).

169 EE. Pcrley, MP, t Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch De]ml.menl of Mines and Resources, Md.)’
11, 1942, NA, 6 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part | (ICC Documents, pp, 562-63).
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comments of both Fetterly and Kerley about the importance of the bridge at
Sakimay. He then concluded:

The position of this Department with reference to your construction program
afready completed in the Qu’Appelle Valtey is, therefore, that subject to the condition
that your organization construct 2 bridge above F.S.L, at a convenient point a short
distance west of the flood line so as to provide and maintain road communication
between the Sakimay and Shesheep Indian Reserves we are prepared to accept the
suin of $3,300,00 in satisfaction of the claim of the various bands of Indians for flood
damage. "

In a separate letter to Perley to address the concerns of the Indians at
Crooked Lake, McGill stated that “this Department could not in the first
instance prevent the construction of this dam, but we were definitely inter-
ested in obtaining reasonable and satisfactory compensation for our Indians
for any flooding damage which might result.” He noted that Fetterly had
undertaken thorough investigations of the damages that would be caused by
the dams at Crooked and Round Lakes, and that his opinions, supported by
Christianson and Kerley, had formed the basis of the compensation
demanded from the Department of Agriculture.!”!

On June 6, 1942, PFRA District Engineer H.G. Riesen met with the Rever-
end V. de Varennes, the principal of the Cowessess Indian Residential School,
about damages caused to school lands by the construction of the Crooked -
Lake dam. Following the meeting, Riesen informed Semior Survey Engineer
Mutchler that the lands did not form part of the Cowessess reserve, and that
the damages totalled $75, including $30 for damage to three acres of alfalfa
caused by the development of a borrow pit, a further $30 for flooding three
acres of hay land, and $15 for 60 pounds of alfalfa seed. De Varennes indi-
cated that he would be satisfied with payment of $75, if the PFRA would also
level the edges of the borrow pit developed in the school’s alfalfa field."”

In 2 memorandum dated July 2, 1942, to Spence, Mutchler suggested that
the school's claim should be reduced to $60 because the PFRA could obtain
replacement seed, presumably at no charge, from the Experimental Farms
Branch of the Department of Agriculture. He also noted that de Varennes and

170 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, 1o George Spence,
Director of Rehabilitatlon, Department of Agriculture, May 14, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1
{ICC Docuinents, p. 565),

171 Hareld W. McGill, Director, Indian Afsirs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to E.E. Perley, MP, May
20, 1942, NA, BG 10, vol, 7584, file 6114-1, pari 1 (ICC Documeuts, p. 569). Emphasis added,

172 H.G. Riesen, District Engineer, PFRA, to J.I. Mutchler, Senior Survey Engineer, PERA, June 16, 1942, PFRA file
928/7C19, vol. | (ICC Documents, p. 575).
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Kerley had acknowledged that the three acres of school land claimed to be
flooded were the same three acres referred to in Fetlerly's report as lands
flooded on the Cowessess reserve.'”? In a second memorandum of the same
date to Spence, Mutchler suggested that the $3300 compensation proposed
for the Cowessess, Sakimay, and Ochapowace Bands be reduced by $30 to
reflect the claim for school lands. He further observed that Riesen and Kerley
had agreed that the construction of a ford for approximately $750 would -
meet the requirements of Indian Affairs to provide a crossing to serve the
Sakimay Band.'™

Spence in turn wrote to McGill asking for withdrawal of the $30 claim for
flooding of lands on the Cowessess reserve. However, the Acting Director
of the Indian Affairs Branch replied that the claim of the Cowessess Indian
Residential School was unrelated to the damages estimated by Fetterly. ' In
the face of competing claims, the PFRA was faced with the dilemma of identi-
fying the owner of the land on which the Crooked Lake dam and borrow pit
were sitvated, and John Vallance, Superintendent of Water Development,
appealed to de Varennes for evidence of title.!””

In the meantime, Perley wrote again to McGill, seeking payment of the
compensation due to the Indians of Crooked Lake. Although the PFRA’s
Riesen had earlier proposed to lower the water level on Crooked Lake “to
enable the Indians to cut some hay at the west end of the lake, which land is
now flooded,””® Perley noted that

they have not received any compensation and . . _ they have not been able to cut any
hay sufficient to feed their three hundred head of cattle and around one hundred and
fifty horses and will be in desperate circumstances this winter. They say that the Gov-
ernment has encouraged the raising of cattle and that this question should have your
immediate attention. They complain that the agent doesn’t seem to be anxious or to
have proper mterest in their affairs and that the problems set out above are not dealt

173 J.L. Mutchler, Senior Survey Engineer, PFRA, to George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of Agri-
culture, Tuly 2, 1942, PFRA file 928/7C19, vol. 1 {JCC Documents, p. 579).

174 LI Mutchler, Senior Survey Engineer, PFRA, to George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Depastment of Agri-
culture, July 2, 1942, PFRA file 928/7C19, vol. | (ICC Documents, p. 580).

175 George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of Agrigulture, to Harold W. McGll, Director, Indian
Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resonrces, July 29, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, Gle 6114-1, pari 1
{ICC Documents, pp. 587-88).

176 Acting Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to George Spence, Director of
Reh;:bllilaﬁon, Department of Agrichlture, August 25, 1942, PERA file 928/7C19, vol. | (ICC Documents, p.
597).

177 John Vallance, Superiutendent of Water Development, Departmet of Agriculiure, to Rev. V. de Vareanes, Princi-
Eal, Cm;esse;s Indian Residentiat School, September 11, 1942, PFRA file §28/7C19, wol. | (ICC Documents, pp.

02-03}.

178 H.G. Riesen, Disirict Engineer, PFRA, to 11. Mutchler, Semior Survey Engineer, PFRA, August 5, 1942, PFRA file

928/7G19, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 589).
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with in proper time. They think that the dam should be lowered to permit the drain- -
ing of the hay and their cutting hay thereon.'™

D.J. Allan, the Superintendent of Reserves and Trusts, replied to Perley on
October 3, 1942, by reiterating the steps taken by Indian Affairs to quantify
and secure compensationt on behalf of the Bands. He added that “[w]e have
taken advantage of the opportunity afforded by the receipt of your letter to
again press Mr. Spence strongly for an immediate settlement of both the
damage claim and their claim for the erection of the bridge above referred
to.”"® McGill followed up the same day with a strongly worded letter to
Spence, referencing Perley's letter and asking for the matter to be brought to
an immediate conclusion.’® On October 21, 1942, Spence referred the mat-
ter to his Deputy Minister, recommending that Barton proceed to deal with
the damage and bridge claims and that he “consider that Rev. de Varennes is
to make his claim to the Department of Indian Affairs and not this
Department. 152

By October 27, 1942, Deputy Minister Camsell of the Department of Mines
and Resources was warning Barion that “a good deal of uneasiness and
impatience is being exhibited by the bands concerned.”!® At the same time,
de Varennes, noting that the PFRA had levelled the borrow pit and promised
to supply seed, pleaded with McGill to agree that $60 in compensation
should be payable to the Cowessess Indian Residential School “because we
are the losers in this affair.”®*

Pressed for a decision, Barton asked Spence for further information and
his recommendation. Spence replied:

With reference to your memorandum of October 28th regarding the above 1 wish
to advise you that the claim of the Cowessess Indian School for the flooding of 4 acres

i79 E.E. Perley, MP, 1o [larold W, MoGill, Director, indian Affirs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources,
Seplember 23, 1942, NA, BG 10, wol, 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 606},

18¢ D.J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trosts, Indian Affairs Branch, Departmenl of Mines and Resources,
October 3, 1042, Na, RG 10, vol. 7584, fle 6114-1, part 1 {ICC Documents, p. 609).

181 Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to George Spence,
Director OE‘, Reglabﬂlta:ion, Depariment of Agriculture, October 3, 1942, PFRA file 928/7C19, vol. 1 (ICC Docu-
1ents, p. 610),

182 George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of Agriculture, to G.5.H. Barton, Deputy Minister,
'SDcpagtmml of Agriculture, October 21, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part [ (ICC Docoments, p.

194).

183 Charles Camsell, Deputy Minister, Department of Mines and Resources, 10 G.8.H. Barton, Deputy Minisier,

Iﬁ)epanmem of Agricultare, Oclober 27, 1942, NA, G 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (JCC Documents, p.
21).

184 Bev. V. de Varennes, Principal, Cowessess Indian Residential School, 10 Harold W. MeGill, Director, Indian
Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, November 2, 1942, NA, RG 10, wl. 7584, file 6114-1, pan,
1 (ICC Documenis, p. 6234).
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of hay land has been reduced to 3 acres and is the 3 acres referred to in Mr. Fet-
lerley’s {sic] report to the Department of Tndian Affairs and the Director of Indian
Affairs” letter to us of May 18th, 1942, and referred to as Cowessess Indian Reserve,
No. 73, 3 acres at $10.00, ete.

This land will be permanently flooded at f5.1. of Crooked Lake. There is a part of
the Indian School's elaim which is not included in Mr. Fetterley's {sic] report or Dr.
McGill’s letter of May 18th and that is the loss of 5 tons of alfalfa hay on 3 acres of
borrow pit immediately below the Crooked Lake Dam amounting to $30.00 in addi-
tion to 60 1bs. of alfalfa seed. T wish to advise you that the 60 Ibs. of alfalfa seed has
not yet been turned over to the School by the Experimental Farms Branch as this has
been held pending final setlement of the claim. As the situation now stands therefore,
$30.00 for payment for 3 acres of flooded land should be paid to the Department of
Indian Affairs and by them to the Cowessess Indian School and is included in the total
of $3,300.00 claimed. The loss of 5 tons of alfalfa, amounting to $30.00, had not
occurred when Mr. Fetterley [sie] visited Crooked Lake and, therefore, could not be
included in his report. This $30.00 should be added to the previous claim, making a
total of $3,330.00 and be passed on by the Department of Indian Affairs to the Cowes-
sess Indian School. This will make a total of $60.00 payable by the Department of
Indian Affairs 1o the Cowessess Indian School and 4s soen as your approval has been
received arrangements will be made for the delivery of 60 1bs. of alfalfa seed to this
school.

I should also like at this time to call your attention Lo the fact that it will be
necessary 1o construct a bridge over the Qu'Appelle River between Sakimay and
Shesheep Reserves before this claim will be entirely settled. An effort was made by us
to substitute a ford for a bridge and while this was agreeable to officials of the Indian
Department the Indians themselves were not agreeable o this substitution. Conse-
quently, it will be necessary for us to construct a timber bridge over the river as part
of next vear’s operations. We are not in a position to submit 4 definite estimate of cost

- of this bridge at the present time but as soon as plans of same have been prepared
and approved by the Department of Highways cost estimate will be furnished to you
for authorization. If it is necessary for you to have an estimate of the cost of the
bridge at the present time I would recormunend that an outside figure of $2,004.00 be
used for this purpoese. This is considerably in excess of the cost of the ford but as the
Indians will not accept the ford there does not appear to be much which could be
done except build the bridge.'®

Spence’s recommendation received approval by Order in Council on
November 19, 1942, although the instrument itself makes no reference to the

185 George Spence, Direclor of Rehabiliution, Department of Agriculture, to G.8.H. Barton, Deputy Minisler,
Depariment of Agriculture, November 3, 1942, PFRA file 928/7C19, vol 1 €ICC Dacuments, p. 624).
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Sakimay bridge.'® Nine days later, F.M. Schrader of Deputy Minister Barton’s
office forwarded a copy of the Order in Council to Spence with a request for
a cheque requisition so that payment could be made.'” When payment had
still not been forthcoming by April 26, 1943, the Acting Deputy Minister of
Mines and Resources wrote to his counterpart in Agriculture to inquire.'® By
May 14, 1943, $3330 had been paid to Indian Affairs to the credit of the
Cowessess, Sakimay, and Ochapowace Bands and the Cowessess Indian Resi-
dential School.'®

In Pebruary 1944, when the school had not vet received its share of the
proceeds, Christianson implored the Department on the school’s behalf to
requisition a cheque for $60.° Philip Phelan, Chief of the Department’s
Training Division, replied that he did not see how Indian Affairs could justify
paying the school more than $30." Afier consulting with engineer Gordon
McKenzie of the PFRA, Christianson explained how the Residential School was
entitled to $30 for damage to its alfalfa crop and a further $30 for flooded
hay land, and he noted that the PFRA’s records showed both amounts as
having been paid.'*”? The question whether the flooded hay lands belonged to
the school or the Cowessess Band had now landed in the lap of Indian
Affairs, and Indian Agent Kerley was asked to resolve the matter." He con-

186 Order in Councll PC 10476, November 19, 1942, KA, RG 2, Seres 1 {I0C Docurnents, p. 628). However,  later
PFEA report states: “In addition, by authority granled (o PFRA January 18, 1943, Canada agreed to contract 2
bridae across the Qu'Appelle River between Crooked and Round Lakes, for die couvenlence of the Indians; the
bridge to cost an estisnated $3,000. Constraction of the htidge took place during 1943.” See Canada, Depart-

ment of Regional Economic Expansion, Prairic Farm Rehabilitation Administration, Land Administration Divi- -

sion, “Report on Crooked and Round Lakes Projects in e Qu'Appelle Valley — Saskatchewan,” October 1979
(TG Fxhihit 27, p. 24). It is not clear whether this report refers to the same bridge, since the Szkimay bridge
would presumably have been buil at the mest end of Crooked Lake and not befuween Round and Crooked
Lak

es.

187 F.M. Schrader, Deputy Minister's Office, Depariment of Agriculture, (o George Spence, Director of Rehabilita-
tion, Department of Agriculture, November 26, 1942, PFRA file 928/7C19, vol. 1 {(JCC Documents, p. 629).

188 Acling Deputy Minister, Depariment of Mines and Resources, to G.5.H. Barton, Deputy Minister, Department of
Agricalture, April 26, 1943, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 61)4-1, part 1 {ICC Documeats, p. 636).

159 Credit Memorandum, Department of Agriculture (Payer), on account of coinpensation for Booding Qu'Appelle
River Frrigation Damages, May 14, 1943, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 638).

190 M. Christianson, General Superintendent of Indian Apencies, Indian Affairs Branch, Depariient of Mines and
Resources, to [ndian Affairs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resonrces, February 8, 1944, N, RG 10, vol.
7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (1CC Documents, p. 648).

194 Philip Phelan, Chiel‘?’l‘raining Division, Department of Mines and Resonrces, to M. Christfianson, Geperal Super-
inlendent of Indian Agencies, Indian Affales Branch, Departmeut of Mines and Resources, February 17, 1944,
NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 649).

152 M. Christianson, General Superiniendent of Indian Agencies, Indian Affairs Branch, Depantment of Mines and
Resources, to Indlap Affairs Branch, Departinent of Mines and Resources, February 21, 1944, NA, RG 10, vol.
7584, file 6114-1, part | (ICC Documents, p. 653).

193 D.J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts, Indian Affalrs Branch, Depariment of Mines and Resources, to
W.J.D. Kerley, Indian Agent, Crooled Lake Agency, Indian Aflairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources,
March 1, 1944, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 654}).
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firmed that the Residential School was entitled to $60,"% and a cheque in that
amount was forwarded to the principal on March 27, 1944.1%

At that point, the only remaining issue was title to the dam site for the
Round Lake dam. RE.B. Donald on behalf of the PFRA’s Land Ownership
Investigator wrote to D.J. Allan, the Superintendent of Reserves and Trusts:

You will remember that we paid $3,300.00 in connection with the Indian lands which
were affecied by the construction of this dam and included in that was 2 small dam
site. We would like to get title to the dam site in order 1o be in the position to register
easements from other owners at the west end of the lake and it is necessary to have
this In order that these easements may be registered directly against the other owners’
lands as servient tenements.'®

Spence prepared a briefing note for A.L. Stevenson in the office of the Deputy
Minister of Agriculture, but Stevenson responded that he did not recall any
correspondence in which Indian Affairs “promised to transfer land to us for
dam site purposes.”” In reply, Spence explained:

Replying 1o your memorandum of June 7ih, T have looked up Mr. Mutchler's letlers to
Dr. McGill and to Dr. Barton at the time a settlement was made for damage claims to
the Indians for $3300.00 and while the dam site appears to have been obscured at
the time the summit was made, it nevertheless was our intention to obtain title to the
one acre required and op which the dam was constructed.

[ am attaching hereto copies of several letters dealing with the matter and I would
refer you particularly to the second paragraph on the second page of out leiter 1o Dr.
McGill dated December 4th, 1941 wherein we stated that there is an area required for
the dam site on the Ochapowace Reserve No. 71 amounting to one acre and that
approximately 39 acres on the same reserve would be flooded. According to our
interpretation of the matter we expected the flooding rights to be paid for in the
matter of damages but we expected also that the dam site on Round Lake would be
transferred to us as is usual, and also the daw site on Crooked Lake belonging to the
rescrvation would be transferred to us. The reason the matter is being brought up
now is due to the fact that we need to own a piece of land so that we can tie in

194 W,].D. Kerley, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency, Indian Affzics Branch, Department of Mires and Resources,
to Indian Affaies Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, March 18, 1944, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file
61141, part 1 (ICC Documents, p. 653).

195 D.J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, lo
Principal, Cowessess Indian Residential School, March 27, 1944, NA, RS 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC
Documents, p. 657).

196 R¥.B. Donald for Land Ownership Investigator, PFRA, Depariment of Agriculure, (o D.J. Allan, Superintendent,
Reserves and Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, May 27, 1944, PYRA file
928/7R1, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 662).

197 AL Stevenson, Deputy Minister's Office, Departent of Agriculiure, 10 George Spence, Director of Rehabilitz-
tion, Department of Agrculture, June 7, 1944, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 4 ICC Decuments, p. 664).
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easements that are necessary Lo be taken from farmers or cattlernen 2t the west end of
these lakes. .

There is no doubt that the acre which we required in order to build the dam has
been fully paid for at the rate of $10.00 per acre as shown in the breakdown of the
$3300.00. The land was simply rough, scrubby stuff at the end of the lake.

If you could therefore take this matter up with the Indian Department and obtain
the necessary Deed for the one acre and at the same fime, the three acres at Crooked
Lake, same would be appreciated.'®

In due course, Deputy Minister Barton requested that Deputy Minister Cam-
sell of Mines and Resources “take the necessary steps to have title to the two
small areas in question. transferred to this Department.”'® Camsell replied
that, from the plans on hand in his Department, the area to be conveyed
could not be properly described, and he asked that the engineers in the
Department of Agriculture furnish sketches or certified legal descriptions of
the property required for each dam site.?"

Spence proposed that one way around the problem might be to register
caveals rather than the easements themselves against farmers’ titles, using the
Crown’s titles to the lands on which the dams stood as the dominant tene-
ments.?® However, since the dams were situated on reserve lands, Saskatche-
wan’s Land Titles Office was unable to provide a legal description for the
dominant tenement,®? This prompted Donald to comment:

We have considered Dr. Barlon’s letier again and we are advising Ottawa that as we
have had some difficolty in connection with easements and alleged damage claims for
further compensation owing to flood conditions, that [sic] the method we will follow
from now on is one of taking title to lands affected by water. This, 1 think, will let us
out of a lot of grief.2?

198 Geotge Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of Agriculture, to AL Stevenson, Deputy Minister's
Office, Department of Agriculture, July 7, 1944, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 2 {ICC Docaments, pp. 065-66).
199 G.8.H. Barlou, Deputy Minlster, Departmem of Agriculture, to Charles Camsell, Deputy Mlnister, Department of
Mines and Resources, July 17, 1944, PERA file 928/7RE, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 668).
200 Charles Camsell, Depury Mjanler, Department of Mines and Resources, lo GS.1. Barton, Deputy Minister,
gep:)amnent of Agnculture, August 12, 1944, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, part 1 (ICC Documents, p.
70
201 George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Departmeot of Agriculture, o AL, Stevenson, Deputy Minister's
Office, Department of Agriculre, August 16 1944, PFRA fille 928/7R1, vol. 4 {ICC Documents, p. 671).
202 Repistrar, Land Titles OgtlL R.egxstrauon District of Moosamin, to Land Ownership Investigator, Department of
Agriculture, August 17, 1944, PFRA file 928/7RI, vol. 2 (1CC Documents, p. 673).
203 REB. Donald for Land Ownership Investigator, PFRA, Department of Agnl:uliun., io AJ. Reece, Agricultural
ésr:iiglam., PFRA, Depariment of Agriculiare, August 17, 1044, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p.
74).
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Spence made the same recommendation to Barton. >t
Eventvally, Stevenson met with lawyers in the Department of Justice to
discuss Spence’s proposal to protect easements using caveats:

This morning I discussed the proposal contained in your memorandum with Mr. Olm-
sted and Mr. Driedger of the Department of Justice. They assure me that as far as
registering the easement is concerned, it does not matter whether the land on which
the dam has been constructed and which is to serve as the “dominant tenement” is
under the control of the Depariment of Mines and Resources, as at present, or the
Department of Agriculture. It still remains fand which is the property of His Majesty
the King in the right of Canada, and that is all that 13 necessary. Any transfer which
may be effected from one Department to the other would be for administrative pur-
poses only and would not affect the title. We will be glad to pursne this matter further
if you think there is any additional information which you would like to have concern-
ing it.

As to the transfer of the lands in question from the Department of Mines and
Resources to this Department, we are euclosing, for your information, a copy of an
excharige of letters between Dr. Barton and the Deputy Minister of Mines and
Resources. Perhaps you will not wish to proceed any further, in view of the opinion of
the officers of the Department of Justice referred to above X

In view of this memorandum and the opinion of the Department of Justice,
title to the dam sites on Crooked and Round Lakes was not pursued further
by the PFRA. ‘

WATER CONTROL OPERATIONS TO 1970

After the construction of the dams in the Qu'Appelle Valley, they were used
and operated for their intended purpose, which was primarily to store water
for irrigation purposes. From time to time, when periodic flooding inundated
farm lands in the valley, the PFRA received complaints and requests for com-
pensation from farmers and Indians alike, but the responses typically attrib-
uted much of the blame to natural conditions. For example, on May 31,
1943, the PFRA's Superintendent of Water Development, John Vallance, pro-

vided the following answer to farmer Charles J. Kallio of Tantallon,

Saskatchewan:

204 George Spence, Director of Rchabilitation, Departinent of Agricuitre, to GS.H. Barton, Deputy Minisier,
Department of Agriculture, August 17, 1944, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 673}.

205 AL Stevenson, Deputy Minister's Office, Depariment of Agriculture, to George Spence, Director of Rehabilita-
tion, Department of Agricuitire, October 18, 1944, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 4 5(‘13 Documents, p. $92).
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I have for acknowledgment your letier of May 26th in which you state your dissatisfac-
tion with the way this Department has handled the control of water at Round and
Grooked Lakes, .

It is a litte difficult for us to see how the {looding in the Qu'Appelle Valley this
year was entirely dne to any negligence of ours. These records would shiow that the
flow of water in the QuAppelle Valley durlng the spring of 1943 was one of the
highest on record and I am sure that if you have lived in this valley for any length of
time you will recall floods which have occurred there in previous years before any
dams or control works had been constructed at any point in the valley.

There is no doubt that if it were possible to leave the lakes empty in the £all 2
certain amount of water from the spring runoff could be stored in them in the spring,
Unfortunately, no one can anticipate in the fall the amount of water which will flow
down the Qu'Appelle Valley the following spring and as the purpose of these storage
works is to store water from years of high runoff for use in years when there is very
little flow in the Qu'Appelie River, the draining out of these lakes at any time before
we were assured of an adequate supply of water in the spring would defeat this
PUrpose.

It might he possible for us to let water out of these [akes early in the spring before
the spring Aoods commenced, when we were sure that there would be sufficient water
to refill them, but this is the only improvement that we helieve could be made in the
operation of these projects.

For your information I have Lo advise you that both Round and Crooked Lakes, as
well as other lakes in the Qu'Appelle Valley, were filled far ahove their normal full
supply level this spring and more flood water was placed in temporary storage in
these lakes than could ever have been done without our structures, even though these
lakes were supposedly full last fall. Round Lake was filled with an additional three feet
of water over its level last fill and Crooked Lake had over four and one-half feet
placed in it during the peak of spring runoff. if this had not been done floods in the

lower portion of the tiver would have been even greater than they were. While it is '

possible that if Round and Crooked Lakes had been entirely empty some slight allevia-
tion of flood conditions in the Qu'Appelle River below these takes might have
occurred, X should like to point out that flood control in the Qu'Appelle River is the
secondary purpese of these reservoirs, their primary purpose being the storage of
water for drought years, Consequently, as previously mentioned, it is not possible for
‘ns to emply these lakes untit we can be sure that they will be filled again.

In view of the fact that we can prove (o the satisfaction of any disinterested body
that the operation of the control structures at Rouud and Crooked Lakes did nothing
to cause additional Aooding of lands above that which would have occurred normally
under this spring’s flood conditions, we do not believe that it would be possible to
consider the purchase of low lying lands in the Qu'Appelle Valley which have
undoubtedly been flooded in previous years of high runoff.

For your information we are fully aware of conditions 45 they were throughout the
entire tength of the Qu'Appelle Valley this spring 25 we were able to have this area
photographed by the Royal Canudian Air Force at the peak of the flood flow. We
cannot agree that the flood conditions occurring in the Qu'Appelle Valley this year
were brought about by the “negligence, carelessness and misjudgment of those in

I
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charge of P.E.RA. projects”, as if necessary we can prove that any actions of officials
of this Department eased the flood conditions in the Qu'Appelle Valley rather than
making them worse.” '

Similar complaints were made in subsequent years, although in some
years the objection was that, rather than causing flooding, the dams were
preventing lands from receiving sufficient supplies of water. In some cases,
individuals actually took matters in their own hands rather than simply regis-
tering complaints. In early 1947, for example, when a fish lock on the Round
Lake dam had frozen in place, a farmer by the name of John Soloshy
chopped open the lock to release water and permit him to water his stock.2”
Similarly, in 1968, 2 member of the Piapot Band constructed a small earth-
fill dam across the river to gain access to the Band’s land on the other side
and to prevent the flooding of Band haylands.*®®

In the mid-1950s, the Qu'Appelle Valley experienced a high precipitation
cycle that led to several years of flooding, culminating in the massive inunda-
tion of 1955 and lesser, but still serious, flooding in 1954, 1956, and other
years. Property damage was extensive, but the PFRA coritinued to deny its
own responsibility:

Flooding of the flat iand in the Qu'Appelle Valley would have occurred in 1955
whether there were control structures in the valley or not, the Prairie Farm Rehabili-
tation Administration said in a report released for publication Saturday[, January 7,
1956].

The report was prepared by D.W. Kirk of the PERA. staff and summarized the
history of waier control in the valley and particularly during the 1955 flood vear.

There have been some criticisms from those with property in the valley of the
manaer iu which the excess water was handled.

“It can be stated that the P.ERA. structures on Echo, Crooked and Round lakes
had no effect on the damage which the floods caused this year,” the report said.
Reclamation of some of the areas may take several years.

According to the statement, the flood climaxed a nine-year period beginning in
1946 during which there was above normal precipitation, Water levels throughout the
drainage basin had gradually risen until in the fall of 1954 the land could no longer
absorb further moisture and all the sloughs, poi-holes, and macshy areas were filled
to over-flowing,

206 John Vallance, Supetintendent of Water Development, PFRA, Department of Agricullure, {0 Charles J. Kallio, May
31, 1943, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. £39-40),

207 ILW. LaRocque, Agricultura] Inspector, PFRA, Depariment of Agriculture, 1o George Spence, Director of Reha-
bilitation, Department of Agriculture, PFRA file 928/7R1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 702-03).

208 Allan R. Guy, Minister in Charge, Saskatchewan Waler Resources Commissiou, 10 Jean Chrétien, Minister,
Depariment of Tndian Affairs and Northern Development, September 18, 1960, DIAND.file 675/84, vol. L (ICC
Documents, p. 758).
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The lake levels in the Qu'Appelle valley also rose steadily until by 1954 they had
reached the highest record[ed] level since 1881.

“Recognizing the imminent flood danger, PFRA undertook to drain the
QuAppelle lakes as much as possible during the winter 1954-55 so that in the event
of a heavy runoff in the spring of 1955 storage would be available in the lakes to
assimilate some of the excess flood waters which might be expected,” the report said.

B .“But the draining process was slowed down and limited by the capacity of the
natural drainage channel which was a flat grade and torturous meanders.”"*®

1n the late 1950s, the flooding conditions spurred the Muscowpetung and
Piapot Bands to pass Band Council Resolutions authorizing PFRA personnel
to enter the reserves to study channelization and other means of expediting
river flows. Entry was for survey purposes only and the PFRA was specifically
precluded from works such as dredging or earth removal unless the Bands
had been consulted, had been shown exactly what was required, and had
given their consent.?'® _

In 1960, the Piapot Band registered a complaint that “P.F.RA. have
flooded farm lands and hay lands without ever obtaining permission to do
s0,” and asked to “be compensated or keep the water out off [sic] our
Reserve.”*!! Tt was the first of several such complaints by the Band. In an
internal memorandum, M.G. Jutras, Superintendent of the File Hills-
Qu’'Appelle Indian Agency, acknowledged that channel clearing and irrigation
work in the Lumsden area upstream from the Piapot reserve “contributes to
flooding but I doubt that it is the cause as T understand that these conditions
existed prior to the P.F.R.A. work.”?'? Jutras maintained that the channeliza-
tion work should have continued through the Piapot, Muscowpetung, and
Pasqua reserves, but it is not entirely clear from the evidence before the
Commission in the present inquiry whether the benefits of channelization
would have outweighed its alleged drawbacks, such as increased erosion and
sedimentation.

209 “P.F.RA Denies Onus for Flood Damage,” Regina Lewder-Posi, January 7, 1956, PFRA file 928/7Q2, vol. 3 (ICC .

Documents, p, 715).

210 N.J. Mcleod, Superinlendent, Fiie Hills-Qu'Appelle Indian Agency, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Citizen-
ship and Immigration, 1o E.S. Jones, Regional Supervisor of Indian Agencies, Indian Affalrs Branch, Department
of Citizenship and Immigration, July 12, 1956, DIAND file 675/30-1, vol. 1 {(1CC Docnments, p. 720).

2t1 Piapot Band, Petition 1o Indian Affaies Branch, Department of Citizenship and fmmigration, Angust 14, 1960,
DIAND Ale 675/8-4, vol. T (I6C Documents, p. 732).

212 M.G. Jutras, Superintendent, Fite Hills-Qu'Appelle Indian Agency, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Citlzen-
ship and lmmigration, to Chief, Reserves and Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Gitizenship and
Immigration, November 7, 1960, DIAND file 675/8-4, wl. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 738-39)-
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In 1967, more flooding occurred and further complaints arose regarding
the Echo Lake dam. HA. Matthews, who replaced Jutras as Superintendent of
the File Hills-Qu'Appelle Indian Agency, noted that the dam had been erected
in response to drought conditions in the 1930s. He continued:

Because of the drop in the [ake level [in the 1930s], it was possible to harvest hay
and pasture cattle on land which was normally covered with water. The P.F.RA. con-
ducted a survey and determined that the mean level of Echo and Pasqua Lakes was
1,57L.5 feet above sea level. In 1942 a damn [sic] was constructed near Fort
Qu'Appelle which has resulted in the lakes being maintained al this level.

As 4 result of the lake being returned to its original level, some land, approxi-
mately 160 acres on the Pasqua Reserve which had been used for cutting hay and
pasturing cattle, was covered with water. According to the P.F.RA engineers, the take
has been muintained at the evel it was in the years prior to the drought period and at
the level it was when the reserves were established.

Flooding also occurs on the Muscowpetung and Piapot Reserves where water over-
flows the shallow river banks during the spring runoff and is trapped ou the hay
lands. P.F.RA. officials have made an exhaustive study of this problem and have
drawn up a comprehensive plan of dikes and channel improvements which is at pre-
sent being studied by the Saskatchewan Provincial Government,?'

By the late 19060s, the Province of Saskatchewan had begun to assume
more responsibility for operating the control structures on the Qu'Appelle
River. Although the earlier practice of lowering water levels in the fall to
permit the Indians to “efficiently harvest their hay” had already been discon-
tinued by the PFRA,** steps were taken to warn bands of anticipated flooding
so they could remove machinery, grain, livestock, baled hay, and other prop-
erty that might be damaged by high waters.>!>

In December 1969, J.J. LeVert, Indian Affairs’ Regional Director for Sas-
katchewan, proposed the creation of a committee to “review ways and means

213 H.A; Matthews, Superintendent, File Hills-Qu'Appelle Agency, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Citizenship
and Immigration, to H.T. Vergette, Head, Land Surveys and Ties Section, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of
Citizenship and Immigration, July 27, 1967 (1CC Documents, p. 746).

214 RB. Godwin, Chief, Hydrelogy Division, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to G.T. Forsyth,
Planning and Investigations Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Beonomic Expansion, April 30, 1975, PFRA
fBle 928/7E4, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, p. 972).

215 See, for example, S.R. Blackwell, Assistant Director, Investipalion and Planning Branch, Saskatchewan Water
Resources Commission, to Resource Development Division, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Indian Affairs
and Northern Developatent, September 25, 1968, DIAND Ble 675/8-4, vol, 1 (ICC Docaments, p. 750}; NJ.
Bowering, Acting Superintendent of Econontic Development, Touchwood File Hills Qu'Appelle District, Depart-
ment of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, to Chief Rose Desjarlais, Piapot Band, September 27, 1971,
DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 2 (ICC Docements, p. 837); NJ. Bowering, Tuidor Divelopment Officer, Touchwood
File Hills Qu'Appelie District, Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, to Stanley Pasqua, Chief, Pasqua Band,
Patrick Fourhorns, Chict, Piapot Band, David Benjoe, Chiel, Muscowpeiung Band, and Alex Buffalo, Chief,
Standing Bullzlo Band, April 4, 1974, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p. 9334).
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of alleviating the [flooding] problem [on the Qu'Appelle River] as much as
possible.” LeVert suggested that the committee should include a member of
the Piapot Band, the Superintendent of the File Hills-Qu'Appelle Indian
Agency, the Department’s Regional Senior Resource Development Officer, the
Saskatchewan Water Resources Commission’s Chief Engineer, and the PFRA's
Regional Engineer.?'¢ Several meetings of this Flood Control Committee were
in fact held, and at one such meeting Piapot Chief Rose Desjarlais raised the
question of compensating bands for flooding. Federal and provincial commit-
tee members expressed no knowledge of compensation programs, but
undertook to explore the possibility within their respective governments.?"”
Assistant Deputy Minister J.B. Bergevin eventually responded that periodic
flooding in the Qu'Appelle Valley was a problem of long standing, attributable
primarily to natural causes, and that “no compensation has been paid to any
land holder in the Valley because of flooding.” He added that Saskatchewan’s
Department of Agriculiure was undertaking steps to devise a system of water
control measures to alleviate the conditions that had caused losses suffered
in the past by the valley’s inhabitants.?'®

Meanwhile, as the process of transferring control of Qu'Appelle River
operations from the federal government to the province continued, the ques-
tion of title to the dam sites at Crooked and Round Lakes — and how title
could be conveyed — resurfaced. CJ. Peterson, Head of Indian Affairs’ Land
Section, reported with regard to the Round Lake Dam:

[T]t appears the Department of Indian Affairs was compensated for the Indian lands
affected. However, the administration and control of this land was not transferred 1o
PFRA and it might be desirable to request it™?

However, in a note to file, the PFRA’s Assistant Regional Engineer, J.G.S.
McMorine, commented that transferring title from Indian Affairs might be
premature:

216 J.J. LeVert, Regional Direclor, Saskatchewan, Department of Indlan Affairs and Northern Development, to Chief
Rose Desjarlais, Piapot Band, December 15, 1969, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 769-70).

217 Min;lles, Flood Control Commitiee Meeting, February 11, 1970, PFRA file 928/7Q2, vol. 9 (I0C Documents, p.
773},

214 ).B. Bergesia, Assistant Deputy Minister (Indian and Eskimo Affairs), Departtent of Indian Affairs and Northern
Development, to Chief Rose Desjarlais, Plapot Indian Band, August 19, 1970, DIAND fle 675/8-4, vol. 2 (ICC
Documents, p. 815).

219 CJ. Peterson, Head, Land Section, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Bxpansion, {o ].G.S. McMorine,
Assistant Regional Engineer, PFRA, Depariment of Regional Fconomic Expansion, May 15, 1970, PFRA file
928/7R1, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 792).
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Since T believe it is intended that ownership and control of all the Qu’Appelle Valley
dams will be relinquished to the Saskatchewan Water Resources Commission in the
fairly near future, it would seem pointless for PERA. finally (after 28 years) to
arrange for the tide to this land to be put in the name of this Department.

It would seem reasonable that title should be obtained by the new owner at the
time the transfer of the property is made. . . .

(Since the Indian Affairs Branch has got along O K. with the situation for 28 vears,
they shouldn't mind waiting another year or two.)™"

Chief Engineer J.G. Watson conveyed this position to Indian Affairs on June 8,
1970.2

EFFECTS OF THE QU APPELLE RIVER DAMS

Before continuing with the chronology leading up to the 1977 setlements
between the PFRA and the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo
Bands, we will briefly document part of the impact of the dams at Echo,
Crooked, and Round Lakes as described by members of the Bands and some
of the experts who were retained to study the impact of those control
structures.

In his oral submissions, counsel for the First Nations referred to the fol-
lowing excerpt from the testimony of Alex Wolfe of the Sakimay First Nation
about conditions prior to the erection of the dams:

And the people throughout this reserve here, and across the lake, they made their
living by hauling wood, selling hay, and at this time of the year, selling the different
kinds of berries that we find here, like the Saskatoons, the choke-cherries, the cran-
berries, and this sort of thing. The people here at that time did not receive cash for
what they produced, it was in trade, like eggs, butter, cream, potatoes, maybe a quar-
ter for the old man so he could buy tobacco, and that was the same there as it is -- 23
it was here. That's how our old people made a living in those vears.?”

Similarly, in a statutory declaration, George Ponicappo of Sakimay stated:

Before the dams were built people made hay in the valley. Trecs grew tight up to the
river. The people used to make pickets from the trees along the valley. They then

220 Note to file, ].G.8. McMorine, Assistant Regional Engineer, PFR4, Department of Regional Economie Expansion,
May 25, 1570, PFRA fle 928/7R1, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 799).

221 J.G. Watson, Chief Engineer, Western Region, Depariment of Regional Economic Lxpansion, o CA.- Artibise,
Acting District Supervisor, Yorkion District, Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, June 3,
1570, DIAND file 673/30-4-71, vof. 1 {ICC Documents, pp. 302-03).

222 I0C Transcript, September 18, 1996, pp. 55-56 (Alex Wolfe}.
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could sell these pickets to make a living. We used to be able to hunl rabbils and fish.
We used to trap muskrats. There were maple trees in the valley, People used to make
maple syrup. There used to be a camping place where the bridge used to be 2

David Obey of the Pasqua First Nation observed:

And along the valley, all the people, there was quite a few of the band members used
to live along the valley, right from one end to the other, from the west to the east, and
there was a lot of livestock at the time, as far a5 I could remember. There was a lot of
cattle and horses here, Tt seemed like everybody on the reserve owned these animals,
not just one person. They shared quite 4 bit with the things that they were doing. If
there was any hard times they made deals on their own with the people from across
the lakes. Ti-wasn’t only wood or anything Like that, it was everything, it's too numer-
ous for me to mention, but I could just mention a few things. Like there's wood,
there’s pickets, and there's hay, sometimes they'd trade for grain. Like it's just more
or less of a survival deal they were going through **

When asked whether people lived in the valley only at certain times of the
year, he answered:

They lived there year round. Most of them lived there year round. The ones that were
farming had to come up top of the hills. See there was, like there was maybe just
temporary buildings set up for themsclves. Just like more or less of a shelter, just to
survive, for the spring, right through the summer, But all the people lived along the
valleys there because it was a better place for them. There was not only the trees and
the grass, what I'm talking about, there was a lot of envitonment in there that the
people used along that valley. See there was a lot of herbs in those days that they
picked off the earth in order for the people to be healthy.??

Lawrence Stevenson of Pasqua stated:

Now why I say this, or the way I express il is this, that in the winter months most of
our Native people lived in the valley for water, for fish, for all kinds of ways to make
their living. Now the hay meadows that we had in both this reserve and the Mus-
cowpetung, there was quite an agreement with them, that they went on share basis
either through work or through compensation of monics,?

223 Stalutory Declaration of George Ponicappo of Sakimay Indian Reserve No. 74, April 16, 1997, p. 1 {ICC Exliibit
354).

224 1CC Transcript, October 2, 1996, p. 18 (David Obey).

225 ICC Transcript, October 2, 1996, pp. 24-25 (David Obey).

226 TCC Transceipl, October 2, 1996, p. 71 (Lawrence Stevenson).
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Earl Cappo of the Muscowpetung First Nation offered the following
remarks regarding the impact of the Echo Lake dam on water quality and

haying:

But I went 1o schoel for seven years and I come oul, and everything was so different,
lots of water, no hay, no trees, nothing. Then T quit school when I was 15-and-a-half-
year old, didn't go back to Lebret. And there 1 noticed all these things getting dry and
no hay, nothing. So then I noticed that dam coming through there, I was wondering
what is going on, there's no nateral flow of water there, they were building 4 dam
across there, cutting off all the corners and putting them straight through, and I don’t
know what is going on. And 1 asked my dad, T said, “What's going on dad?” Well, he
said, “They're making 2 swimming pool for you hoys to swim in,” he says. Because
we used to be in the river, and that water was clean and we were able to swim in
there and do everything, In thein days the river was nice and clear, but today it's al! —
I don't know what’s in there, muck, I guess. So I remember we used to sell hay, even
haul it into Regina with the horses, sefl hay for exhibition and everything, our grocer-
ies. All of a sudden that went, nothing, no sales, nothing. So we really did live off the
land on the reserve and everything was pretty good n them days. Now today every-
thing is 2l dried out. We used to cut pickels along the river, everything, really. But
now there's nothing at all there, can’t do nothing with the water. So I don't really
know. ¥ miss those days though, it was nice.”

In short, the economies of the Qu’Appelle Valley First Nations before 1940
featured considerable reliance on activities and resources in the valley bot-
torn, including oative hay, timber, beaver, muskrat, deer, berries, maple
sugar, and important cultural and medicinal herbs and vegetation such as
sweetgrass and senega root. The water in the river system itself was also
fundamental to the Bands' existence, not only for domestic purposes but also
for fishing, stockwatering, and the natural irrigation it provided by means of
seasonal flooding of low-lying lands. Lower water levels also permitted Band
members to cross the river to access hay and other resources on both sides.

‘Hay and water were particularly important to those individuals who raised
cattle on the reserves, but several of the reserves “developed a strong attach-
ment to economic, social and cultural activities based on the river habitat. 228
The valley provided more than mere economic sustenance: it represented a
way of life,

The testimony of the elders speaks eloquently to the consequences of
flooding and other factors on this way of life. Marie Kaye of the Sakimay First

227 ICC Transcript, Oclober 3, 1996, pp. 42-43 (Larl Cappa).
228 James €. MacPherson Consultants Lid., "“The Qu'Appelle Subsidiary Agreement: Bands’ Perspectives,” March
1984, p. 4-34 (ICC Exhibit 4),
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Nation described the importance of the QuAppelle Valley to her as a child
and the changes brought about by the flooding:

There came a time when I remember my grandmother, we went to the river with my
grandfather, and they wanted to catch fish. My grandmother, we brought these fish
back, she cleaned them and she cut them in strips and she dried them. These fish
went in a bag and they got hung out in the shed. The berries along the river were
choke-cherries, Saskatoons, high-bush cranberries, and there was a little red berry
that grew on grey trees, those were called buffalo berries, and there was black cur-
rants and there was gooseberries, also there were hazelnuts. These are things that we
gathered along the river, not to mention the maple sugar trees which my grandmother
and grandfather hauled sap from. They made maple sugar and they made maple
syrup. All of these things are gone. After the flood water killed, drowned, you name it,
whatever they gave the fancy name what happened lo these trees. It hil us hard
because out of our food, what we'd stored for the winter, 2 lot of the berries and the
rest of the stuff were gone, we had to then travel to the top of the hill to go and pick
these berries, which my grandmother always said didn’t taste as good as the ones by
the river.®®

Henry Delorme spoke of the loss to the Cowessess First Nation, of which
he is 2 member:

Land is sacred to us Indian people. We get our medicine, maple syrup. Trapping was -
2 way of life all along the civers. The dam flooding caused the trees and plants to die,
and the wild life to deteriorate, Under the ireaty we received gathering places, which
meant fishing lakes, haying, et cetera. . . . Land was flooded while I was in residential
school. The whole land in the valley was a big lake. This was hecause of the dam on
the east end of Round Lake. Similarly, the dam on the east of Crooked Lake caused
flooding on Sakimay and Shesheep. I used to go there with my grandmother and visit
our relations who were camped along the lake and river fishing and trapping. We had
to move to higher ground due to rise of the water,

Raymond Acoose of Sakimay testified:

First of all, T guess hefore the dam was built our people used to cross the river, the
west end of the lake. Af that time the water was, say, two to four feet deep because
vyou were able to cross that river with the wagons and team. And our people used to
make hay down there, They made tons of hay. . .. [D}ur people used to live in that
area. George Ponicapo’s [sic] grandfather lived in that ared year round. He had built
a house there, I suppose maybe George told you some of his story about his grendfa-

229 ICC Transcripl, September 18, 1996, p. 66 {Marie Kaye).
230 ICC Transcrpt, September 18, 1996, p. 50 {Henry Delorme).
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ther. He had Like cattle, he pastured (hem just across the river there, and our people
used to live off that land down there. They sold hay, they sold pickets, and our old
people even then used to have their ceremonies down there, like spiritual gatherings
at times, you know. There was a lot of things that happened after the floods. After that
dam was built there was less communicating with our own people across that river.
We didn't get to see one another as often as we did before. Also, that some of the
animals that they used to trap down there had disappeared. Like mink, beaver and
muskrats, and also that some of the trees down there that what was there was
drowned out. Some of the people from the south side used to come ou the north side
to chop wood, pickets: After the floods they couldn't do that, and some of our elders
whenever they wanted to visit our people on the south side here, you know, it was just
a short distance from them to cross the river, and they were on the south side, but
after that they could no longer do that because they had to go quite 2 few miles
around, !

Pasqua’s Raymond Gordon commented on how flooding had forced peo-
ple to leave the valley:

I can't remember a way back in the *20s and the teens, but T can remember back in
the *30s when that land was used. There wasn’t hardly anybody living up here on this
reservation {on the hench], everyhody was found living in the valley. And a lot of
these people here know that. The people lived in the valley because they fished down
there and like Stanley was talking about, they fished, the fish was good; today you
can't eat that fish. And in the hills there was rabbits there was deers. They made a
good living down in that place. And I believe Lawrence Stevenson cun verify that, there
was nobody living, hardly anybody, up here, they were all in the valley.

And since they flooded that land and since they did this, you don’t see anybody
_down there now because you can't eat that fish. The ducks or whatever, the natural
habitat, you don’t find it around there any more

Susan Yuzicappi of Standing Buffalo described the loss of haylands and
trap lines:

The only thing 1 remember is like camping at this marsh across Muskowpeting
[sicjland [likely IR 80B]. But at that time nobody ever told me that it belonged to
Muskowpetung [sic] or if it was Standing Buffalo. Nobody said anything, we just went
and cut hay from 1935 to ‘39 we cut hay there. But we didn't go back after the
flooding and all that, you know. But I know there was a lot of trapping lines on the
valley before that, before the floods, because I know my husband used to come down
and irap muskrats and that, like. But after the flood there was nothing. Mostly just

231 ICC Transcript, September 18, 1996, pp. 74-76 (Raymond Acoose).
232 ICC Transcript, October 2, 1996, pp. 57-58 (Raymond Gordon).
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snakes, you walk by the river there, and the lake and that, there was lots of snakes
after the flooding 2

Finally, George Ponicappo recounted the impact of the changes in the val-
ley to his people:

The flooding hurt all of the Sakimay Band. Our lands in the valley were flooded. The
people used to have camps all over the valley In the summer. Today you canniot camp
there. You cannot go there in a car in summer. There used to be a lot of ducks in the
valley. The area that we used to hunt ducks is now flooded. The flooding affected the
ability of the people on the reserve 1o make a living. The flooding hurt the farming,
liunting and trapping. 1t destroved cabins along the lake shore. The maple trees died
and the maple syrup industry was destroyed. We had sweet grass and berries in the
valley, today all that is gone. 1 went to the valley and 1 could not find one slick of
sweet grass. The berries and the black currants are all gone. People used to sell
them. We used roots to make medicine. Now the roots are all under water. . . .

The flooding damaged the trees. The trees that are lefi are all dry and dead. In
summer it is not green like it used to be.

The valley was a gathering place. It was important to the social life on the reserve.
People would gather together in the valley. The old people would sit and tell stories.
They would pass on the stories. The old people would visit. There were camps where
people would help each other make hay for the winter. People used to work together.
There was a lot of cooperation. We would have celebratlons in the valley. I remember
that as a kid we had lots of fun along the river. We used to have races. There used o
be sweats along the river. Now you cannot go to the area that these activities [took]
place becanse it is fooded.

The water itself is not as good as it used to be. We used to be able to drink the
water. We used to swim in the water. Now you cannot drink the water. You cannot
even swim in it because of the pollution. We used to be able to ice fish. Now we
camuot fish. You used to he able to see the bottom, Not anymore.™

These comments by Band members are echoed in the studies undertaken
by experts retained on behalf of the First Nations to study the damages
caused by the PFRA dams in the Qu'Appelle Valley. Unfortunately, most of this
evidence is some 15 years old because, for financial and other reasons, the
flooding claim of the QVIDA First Nations has languished since the mid-
1980s. However, certain aspects of these opinions appear to remain valid in
light of current circumstances, and counse! for Canada did not challenge
them.

233 10C Transcript, April 4, 1997, pp. 16-17 (Susan Yuzicappi).
234 Statutory Declaration of George Ponicappo of Sakimay Indian Reserve No. 74, April 10, 1997, pp. 1-2 (ICC
Exhibit 354).
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D. Cameron and J.W. Hamm assessed the degree of soil degradation
caused by the flooding, which they measured using soil salinity as the
indicator:

The degree of soil degradation due to flooding is directly related to the total salt
content of the soil. In other words, we have used salinity as our indicator or “yard-
stick” to measure soil degradation due to flooding. The extent of soil degradation due
to flooding is correlated with the extent, frequency, and duration of flooding. Over a
period of time, land use tends to be a direct indicator of flooding characteristics. . . .
Soil safinity tends to be most severe in the {lood-prone lands. . . .

According to our measured areas [for the four western Indian reserves in the
Qu'Appelle Valley] there are a lotal of 847 acres (11% of the valley land area [of
7,765 acres]) that are permanently flooded dve to raised lake levels. There are
another 788 acres (10%) that are semi-permanently flooded and basically unusuable
[sic] for agricultural production. Approximately 2,686 acres (34%) of the valley land
is moderately to severely degraded due to frequent flooding. This land is generally
used for pasture and hayland, although some of it appears to be abandoned hecause
of the high salinity. . ..

Approximately 203 acres (4%) of land that was flooded by the 1969 floods did not
appear to have any evidence of degradation. In years of higher flood waters, this
estimate would increase. A large portion (40%) of the land did not appear to be
flooded and would generally not be affected by Infrequent, short duration flooding,

The total valley land area occupied by the [four eastern] Reserves amounied Lo
6,506 acres of which 578 acres (9%) were classified as either permanently or semi-
permanently flooded. According to our “yardstick” of soil degradation (which is the
salinity index) there were only 451 acres (7%) of severely egraded soils which
occur in Sakimay and Shesheep. Approximately, 1,560 acres of flooded land (24%)
were moderately degraded while 911 acres (14%) were flooded, hut showed local
evidence of salinity degradation. A total of 3,000 acres (46%) were not flooded
according to the 1969 flood lines.

The western and eastern Reserves show some distinet differences in terms of flood
degradation with the western Reserves showing more intense and miore acres of
degraded land. In the western Reserves 21% of the land base has been lost due to
permanent or semi-permanent flooding while only 9% has heen permanently lost in
the easlern Reserves. Similarly, 24% of the land base was severely degraded in the
western. Reserves while only 7% was severely degraded in the eastern Reserves. It was
estimated that 24% of the land base in the eastern Reserves was moderately degraded
while 10% was moderately degraded in the western Reserves. In the Western Reserves
aboul 45% of the land area did not appear to be affected by floods, while in the
eastern Reserves about 60% of the land area was generally not affected by floods.25

235 D. Cameron, Normac Consultants, and J.W. Hamm, darWall Consultants, "A Study on the Degree of Soil Degra-
dation Due to Flooding in the Eight (8) Indian Reservations in the Qu'Appelle Yalley,” November 1981, pp. 73-
77 (ICC Exhibit 3, b 5).
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In summary, Cameron and Hamm viewed the affected areas of the valley as
being more than just those permanently or semi-permanently flooded. How-
ever, it is important to recognize that factors other than the three dams at
issue in these proceedings must also have been at work to cause these
effects, as is apparent from the statistical data relating to salinity on the
Piapot reserve. The evidence before this Commission is that flooding on the
Piapot reserve, while perhaps due to other dams and conveyancing works
along the Qu'Appelle River, cannot be caused by any of the dams on Echo,
Crooked, or Round Lakes, since the full supply levels of these structures are
at elevations below the lowest river banks on the Piapot reserve.

David R. M. Hatch was commissioned by QVIDA to study the impact on
flora and fauna in the Qu'Appelle Valley caused by flooding on the reserves
resulting from the construction of dams in the river. He reported that, before
the dams were built, “virtually all of the land adjacent to the Qu’Appelle River
in the valley was fringed by trees and shrubs.” After an examination of these
sites, he found that these areas had trees in the 1940s “but no longer do.”
He added:

These trees had been able to withstand periodic flooding over countless decades of
years [sic] prior to the construction of the dams, however once the dams were con-
structed floods hecame much more frequent 2nd some more prolonged. This meant
that the trecs stood in water for long periods of time and consequently suffocated due
to lack of sufficlent oxygen reaching their roots. Some denuded tree truuks still stand,
however the vast majority of these have heen washed away by repeated flooding.

In Hatch’s opinion, no species of trees or plants had been eradicated due to
flooding, but some species — notably Manitoba maple, American elm, and
ash trees, and Saskatoon berry, chokecherry, and pincherry shrubs — had
been dramatically reduced in number and largely replaced by grasses. He
also found that nutrient-rich grasses “have been replaced by saline plants
which are of minimal value as a food for cattle,” resulting in a reduction of
cattle production as a source of income.” The loss of trees as shelter and
berries as food resulted in the decline of the white-tailed deer and coyotes,
both sources of food supply for the Bands. Muskrat and beaver left owing to

236 David RM. Hatch, David RM. Haich & Associates, “A Study on the Impact to the Florz and Fauna of the
Hoogmg in the Elght (8) Indian Reservations in the Qu'Appeile Valley,” March 1982, pp. 1-2 (ICC Exhibit 3,
)

237 David RM. Hatch, David RM. Haich & Associates, “A Study on the Impact o the Flora and Fauna of the
Plumlmg in the Eight (8) Indian Reservations in the Qu'Appelle Yalley,” March 1982, pp. 2 and 6 (1CC Exhibit
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the decline in small shrubs and the unstable river bank, which made it diffi-
cult to maintain dens. The dams have also widened and deepened the river,
leading to prolonged flooding and the inability of the Indians to ford the river
as they had previously done.”® Haich concluded that returning the floor of
the Qu'Appelle Valley to its formerly productive state “would require a great
.. expenditure of money and a tremendous length of time,” although he
doubted whether it could be economically justified.?

At least one consultant retained by QVIDA recognized that factors beyond
the dams at Echo, Crooked, and Round Lakes contributed to the problems
currently faced by the First Nations, although it must be emphasized that the
foregoing effects of the dams on the reserves were not ignored or down-
played. James C. MacPherson commented that declines in the agricultural
economies were compounded by successive wet seasons in the 1960s and
1970s, and by increased flows in the Qu'Appelle River resulting from
upstream water management and higher volumes of water.2# He added that
the trend away from a “smaller, more labour intensive pattern of farming”
common on the reserves, and towards an “increasingly mechanized, larger
capital intensive farm unit,” further reinforced the “shift from a viable transi-
tional econonty in the valley to a very marginal economic base on the bench”
above-the valley.®" It seems self-evident to the Commission that, with devel-
opments in technology that have effectively put an end to large-scale use of
horse-drawn wagons for transport and wood as a heating fuel, the primary
urban markets for the reserve economies in the first half of this century have
largely disappeared. Clayton Gyr of the Pasqua First Nation appeared to rec-
ognize 2 certain inevitability in this trend:

You know, like even this afternoon, I've been sitting here listening to losing a way of
life. We would have lost that through time anyway, you know. ... 1 know I raised
catde and horses and the amount of land that we lost down there, 'd be hard pressed
to put up enough hay to feed them {for the winter, because I need 250 round hales,
1,500-pound round bales te put my animals through the winter. You know, when you
live in a realistic world you have to look at these things. But you also have to look at

238 David RM. Haich, David EM. Hawch & Associates, "A Study on the Impact to the Flora and Fagna of the
Flgoging i the Bight (8) Indian Reservations lo the Qu'Appclle Valley,” Macch 1082, pp. 3-4 (1CC Exhibii 3,
tab 6).

239 David RM. Hatch, David RM. Haich & Associales, “A Study on the Impact to the Flora and Fauna of the
ﬂoogjng in the Fight (8} Indiin Reservations in the Qu'sppelle Valley,” March 1982, pp. 8-9 (ICC Exhubit 3,
12b 6).

240 James . MacPherson Consultants Lid., “The Qu'Appelle Subsidiary Agreement: Bands' Perspectives,” March
1984, pp. 4-11 {ICC Exliihit 4).

241 James C. MacPherson Consultants L., “The Qu'Appelie Subsidiary Agreement: Bands® Perspectives,” March
1984, pp. 417 (ICC Exhihit 4}.
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what you lost over time, you know. Like we did not, we did not lose a way of life, hke
1 said, we would have lost it anyway.?

Hand in hand with these developments was the “dissatisfaction with Reserve
conditions, particularly housing and lack of employment,” expressed by
members of the QVIDA First Nations. Some migrated away from the reserves,
while others increasingly came to depend on social assistance commencing
in the 1950s.24

THE BAND COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS OF 1977

Discovery of the Failure to Compensate Muscowpetung and Pasqua
In the early 1970s, claims activity by Indian bands increased as developments
in technology and changes in government policy simplified the process of
developing claims. The Commission has already coiunented on this phenom-
enon in its report on with the treaty land entitlement claim of the Kawa-
catoose First Nation:

[B]efore records were readily available on microfilm and computers in the 1970s, it
was difficnlt for a band to research a treaty land entitlement case. Most of the records
were available only in Ottawa, and, with funding difficult to obtain, the expense of
research made the cost of developing a claim prohibitive.

These harriers to claim development started to come down in the early 1970s,
particularly following Canada's confirmation in the 1973 Simement on Claims of
Indian and Inuit People that it “recognized two broad classes of native claims
—‘comprehensive claims’; those claims which are based on the notion of aboriginal
tile; and “specific claims’; those claims which are hased on lawful obligations.” The
commitment of funds by government and, in some cases, by non-government organi-
rations and hand councils further enhanced claim activity24

It was perhaps inevitable in this climate of increased awareness and find-
ing that an inquiry would eventually be made into the failure to compensate
the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands for those portions of their reserve
lands flooded by the Echo Lake dam. In fact, Indian Affairs already had some
inkling of the problem. In 1968, in response to a request from Surveyor
General R. Thistlethwaite of the federal Department of Energy, Mines and

242 1CC Transeript, October 2, 1996, pp. 119-20 {(Clayion Gyr).

243 James C. MacPherson Consultants Ltd., “The Qu'Appelle Subsidiary Agreement: Bands® Perspectives,” March
1084, pp. 4-18, 4-23 (ICC Exhihil 4). ‘

244 Indian Claims Commission, Kawacatopss First Nation Report on Trealy Land Entitlement Inguiry (Otlawa,
March 1996), (1996) 5 IOCP 73 ar 125-26.
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Resources for information about flooding on the Muscowpetung reserve, H.T.
Vergette, Head of Indian Affairs’ Land Surveys and Titles Section, had replied:

In 1941 the Federa! Department of Agriculture proposed the establishment of 4 sys-
tem of irrigation and storage reservoirs in the Qu'Appelle River valley which would
have resulted in the flooding of some land on the Muscowpetung and Pasqua
Reserves. However, we have found nothing in our records to indicate that any reserve
Iand was taken for this purpose or of any compensation having been paid to the Band
in this connection.s

It appears that nothing further came of this inquiry.

Four years later, however, Lumsden MLA Gary Lane was approached by
Muscowpetung Chief Dave Benjoe to inquire into a number of issues on the
Band’s behalf, including the question of whether the Band and the
neighbouring Pasqua Band had ever been paid for the flooding rights
obtained by the federal government in the early 1940s. Lane's inquiry on
September 6, 1972,2% to Jean Chrétien, the Minister of Indian Affairs and
Northern Development, prompted a fruitless investigation by J.G. Watson,
who by then had been made Director of the PFRA:

The file indicates that the matter was discussed with the Director of Indian Affairs,
Department of Mines and Resources, and at that time that Department estimaied the
value of the damages to be $4,80( on the Muscowpetung Reserve and $3,250 on the
Pasqua Reserve. Qur files however do not show that compensation was ever made
[sic] and we do nof appear to have title to or an easement over this property. How-
ever with the considerably better hydrologic information now available to us we
believe that the effect of the construction of this dam on the water levels and flooding
would he considerably less than was estimated at the time of the construction.?

On receipt of this informétion, Vergette advised the Indian Affairs Departmen-
tal Secretaviat that, since areas of the Muscowpetung reserve had been
flooded by the Echo Lake dam, “this Department will be approaching PFRA

245 H.T. Yergetie, Head, Tand Surveys and Tiles Seclion, Depariment of Indian Affairs and Northern Development,
to R Thistlethwaite, Surveyor Geoeral, Legal Surveys and deronantical Charts Division, Department of Energy,
Mines and Resources, August 21, 1968, DIAND file 575/30-2-80, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 747).

246 Gary Lane, MLA, Tumsden Constituency, Province of Saskalchewan, to Jean Chrétien, Minister, Depattment of
Indian Aﬁ’a})rs and Northern Development, Seplember 6, 1972, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. {2] (ICC Docwinents,
op. §40-41). .

247 J.G. Wawson, Director, PYRA, Department of Regional Economic Fxpansion, (o RA. [etilley, Western Region,
Dcpszrtmem of Regiona! Economic Expansion, Seplember 27, 1942, PFRA fife 928/7E4, wol. 4 (1CC Documents,
p. 843).
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with a view to obtaining compensation for the Muscowpetung Band.”2%® Lane
was similarly informed.??

On February 23, 1973, P.B. Lesaux, Director of the Indian-Eskimo Eco-
nomic Development Branch of Indian Affairs, finally brought the matter up
with Watson:

In 1943 PFRA. completed construction of the Echo Lake water storage dam, the
contract for the construction heing authorized by P.C. 7900 dated September 3, 1942.
The dam affected the water level of the Yake bordering Muscowpetung Indiar Reserve
No. 80 and the Pasqua Indian Reserve No. 79. The Muscowpetung Band has recently
made inquiries as to the amount of compensation paid by PERA. for the loss of
Indian reserve lands, however, a4 review of our records bas indicaied no authority
or agreement for such flooding by P.ERA., nor is there any evidence thal compen-
sation was paid to this Department for the benefit of the Indian Bands concerned.

In a letter dated November 1, 1972 (your file reference 928/7E4) Mr. RA. Letilley,
Western Region, DREE, indicated that the Department of Regional Economic Expan-
sion, as well, had not been able to locate any record of such an agreement heing
made or compensation paid. Accordingly, it appears that the Band has a legitimate
claim for monctary compeusation, or for lands in exchange for those that were
focded. .

In view of the above 1 would appreciate your arranging for officers of your depart-
ment to meet with representatives of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands to reach 2
mntual settlement of this claim.”®

On March 1, 1973, incoming PFRA Direcior W.B. Thomson responded
that, since it was 30 years since the Echo Lake dam had been built, it would
take the PFRA some time to search its files and assess the effect of the works.
In particular, he noted that, because the Pasqua Lake project on which Fet-
terly based his estimate of damages had been abandoned in favour of the
dam on Echo Lake with its lower full supply level, “the flooded acres referred
to [in Fetterly's report] . . . must be considerably greater than what has actu-
ally occurred.” Thomson nevertheless committed the PFRA to undertake

248 HL.T. Vergetle, Chief, lands Division, Deparlment of Indian and Nurﬂleﬁl Affairs, o Departmental Secretariat,
Department of Iudian and Northern Affairs, Noveinber 14, 1972, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. [2] (ICC Documents,
p. B49).

249 Russell €. Moses, Special Assistani, Departmental Secretarfat, Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, w
Gary lane, MISA’ Government of Saskatchewan, November 22, 1972, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. [2] (ICC Docu-
ments, p. 850).

250 P.B. Lesaux, Director, Indian-Eskimo Economic Development Branch, Department of Indian and Northern
Affalrs, lo J.G. Watson, Director, PFRA, Department of Reglonal Economic Expagsion, February 23, 1973,
DIAND file F-4320-9, vol. 1 {ICC Documnents, p. 852). Emphasis added.
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studies to determine the effect of the structure on Indian lands and to contact
Indian Affairs with the results.?!

Within the month, R.B. Godwin, Chief of the PFRA’s Hydrology Division,
reported three findings to Planning and Investigations Engineer W.M. Berry:

1. The average level of Pasqua Lake is from 1 to 1.5 feet higher than it was prior to
construction of the Echo Lake control structure.

2. The new control structure has almost no effect on flood flows in high-flow years.

3. The greatest difference in lake levels occur in the fall of each year [i.e., haying
time] when the new Echo Lake control structure is closed to control the levels of
both Echo and Pasqua Lake."

Berry relayed this information to Thomson, adding that the structure had
been operated to maintain 4 water level of 1571.5, or six inches higher than
originally planned. He also noted that the structure increased the duration of
flooding at lower water levels.”®? In a separate memorandum, Regional Engi-
neer G.T. Forsyth estimated “a vertical range of 2.2 feet within which haying
has been adversely affected” by the erection of the dam, which translated into
flooded areas of 60 acres on the Pasqua reserve and 560 acres on the Mus-
cowpetung reserve. However, he added:

The effects of the operation of the Echo Lake Struciure on these Reserves cannot have
been entirely harmful. Certain beneficial effects must have been experienced
including:

) Increased productivity from lands suhject to some limited flooding, which, without
the structure, would have received noge.

1) Increased fish production as a result of greatly improved spawning conditions
associated with sustained higher lake levels. . . .

¢} Improved nesting conditions for and productivity of water fowl, also related to
more stable water levels.

251 W.B. Thomson, Director, PFRA, Department of Reglonal Economic Expansion, 1o P.B. Lesmzx, Director, Indian-
skimo Economic Development Branch, Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, March 1, 1973, DIAND fite
675/8-4, vol. 3 (ICC Decuments, p. 854). .

252 RB. Godwin, Chief, Hydrology Division, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to W.M. Berry,
Planning and Investigations Engineer, PFRA, Departmenl of Regional Economic Expansion, March 23, 1973,
PFRA fife 928/7Q2, vol. 10 {ICC Documents, p. 861).

255 WM, Berry, Planning and Investigations Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, (o W.R.
Thomson, Director, PFRA, Departinent of Regional Economic Expansion, March 27, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4,
vol. 4 (iCC Docoments, pp, §67-68).
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d) Enhancement of the value of Indian lands adjacent to the lake-shore due to rela-
tively more constant water levels.?

With this data in hand, the PFRA was ready to commence negotiations. In
asking Berry on April 10, 1973, to calculate a confidential settlement figure
for bargaining purposes, Thomson suggested a cash settlement “representing
the present value of future and past annual losses to the Bands,” using the
discounted value of native hay as the basis for evaluating “the net annual
income lost per year."?*

Before these calculations were prepared, Thomson held a preliminary
meeting the same day with F. Clark, Indian Affairs’ Regional Director for
Saskatchewan, to outline the basis for negotiations. In a note to file following
the meeting, he commented:

As a first step in settling this claim, it was agreed that PERA would determine the
area of land detrimentally affected by the operation of the structure. This would
involve the determination of the amount of land that has been removed from hay
production or grazing on the two reserves as 4 resull of the operation of the Echo
Lake structure. The Indian Affairs people fecl that the Indians would want o confirm
these figures, possibly through the services of an outside consultant; consequently our
calculations will have to be clearly prepared and illustrated.

1t was stressed that the Indians would in all probability not wish to give up title to
the land, and that settlement should be for Aooding rights or flood easements. The
amount of the settlement would have to be retroactive to the time the structure was
buil. 256

The following day, Berry provided Thomson with pretiminary calculations
based on Fetterly's original estimated damages of $8050, reduced by $2400
to $5650 to reflect the lowering of the full supply level by three feet when the
proposed Pasqua Lake dam was replaced by the structure on Echo Lake.
Berry then applied interest at various rates over the 30-year interval since the
dam’s construction, arriving at compensation ranging from $13,712 at 3 per

254 G.T. Forsyth, Regional Engineer, PFRA, Depariment of Regional Economic Expansion, to W.B. Thomson, Direc-
tot, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Bxpansion, April 9, 1973, PFRA file 928/7F4, vol. 4 (ICC Docu-
meus, pp. 873-74),

255 W.B. Thomson, Direcior, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, o W.M. Berry, Planning and
Investigations Enpineer, PFRA, Deparimen of Regional Economic Expansion, April 10, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4,
vol. 4 {ICC Documents, pp. 867-68).

256 Memorandum to file, W.B. Thomson, Director, PFRA, Depariment of Regional Economic Expansion, April 10,
1973, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 876).
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cent to $24,419 at 5 per cent.>” Thomson forwarded these figures to Acting
Assistant Deputy Minister M.J. Fitzgerald, commenting:

It is very doubtful i the Tndians at the present time would settle for anything near this
fignre. It is quite probable they would demand a figure several times this amount.?*

A week later Thomson had another reason to doubt that the Indians would
be prepared to accept Berry's preliminary figures. On April 19, 1973, Berry
reported again, this time employing the parameters set forth in Thomson’s
memorandum of April 10, 1973:

The method of evaluation sums the past and future losses of hay production to the
Bands. Our study has assumed:

Period of past losses 1943-1972 {years)
Eler. range of new flooding 1570.0-1572.0 (geodetic)
Acreage Jost within flooding range:

- in Muscowpetung Reserve 500 acres

- in Pasqua Reserve 50 acres

Value of tame hay from Annual Reports
of Sask. Dept. Of Agriculture

Value of native hay is 60% of tame.

Costs of production from DBS statistics

Future net refurn/acre/year $3.50
Av. interest rate applicable to

compounding past losses to present 4 & 5%
Interest rate applicable to discounting

furure losses to present 6 & 8%

Based on the foregoing assumptions, the [ollowing resulls were obtained.?

257 W.M. Berry, Planning and Investigations Enginecr, PFRA, Depariment of Regional Economic Expansion, to W.B.
Thormson, Director, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, April 11, 1973, PFRA file 928/7F4, vol.
4 (ICC Documents, p. 878).

258 W.B. Thomson, Director, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to MJ. Fitzgerald, Acting Assls-
tant Deputy Minister (Western Reglon), Department of Reglonal Economic Expansion, Apell 11, 1973, PFRA fle
928/7E4, vol, 4 (ICC Docaments, p. 880). ‘

259 WM. Berry, Planning and Iuvestigations Engineer, PFRA, Deparimeut of Regional Economic Expansion, 1o W.B.
Thomson, Director, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, April 19, 1973 (ICC Exhibit 3, wb 4,
pp. 19-20). -
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Present value of past produc-
tion. {per acre]

Estimaled value of 1973
production [per acre]

Present value of future
production

— at 6% discount rate

— at 8% discount rate
T fi

Interest on past losses

Present value of past
production

Value of 1973 production

Present value of future
production

— al 6% discount rate

— at 8% discount rale

Clearly, based on these calculations, Thomson could see that damage calcula-
tions for the Pasqua and Muscowpetung Bands alone might reach close to

$130,000.

4% 5%
$141.55 $169.65
$3.50 $3.50
$58.33 $58.33
$43.75

500 acres on

Muscowpeiung Reserve

$43.75

50 acres on
Pasqua Reserve

Interest on past lossses

Interest on past losses

4% 5%
$70,775 $84.825
$1,750 $1,750

$29,165 $29,165
$21,875 $21,875

4% 5%
$7,078 $8,483

$175 $175
$2,816 $2.916
$2,187 §2.187
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Fitzgerald reported the matter to the Deputy Attorney General to obtain
approval to negotiate a settlement with the Bands.2® Authority to proceed was
given on July 11, 1973,%! and, on August 31, 1973, Thomson wrote to Indian
Affairs’ Acting Regional Director for Saskatchewan, W.D.G. McCaw, to request
that he arrange a meeting to discuss the claim.?

Two weeks later, on September 13, 1973, Thomson met with representa-
tives of Indian Affairs, the Piapot and Muscowpetung Bands, ard the Province
of Saskatchewan, but the discussions quickly reached an impasse:

The Chief of the Muscowpetung Reserve quoted $10,000 per year for 24 years (since
1959) or $240,000 as settlement for damages caused by the Echo Lake structure. Mr.
Thompson [sic] then stated PFRA were prepared to seitle for $20-25,000 based on
the amount €$5,000) which should have been paid io the Band in 1941-42 with
compounded interest to date. Because of the wide variation of the two amounts very
little discussion followed.

Before departing, Mr. Thomson told me he had asked the Chief of the Mus-
cowpetung Reserve to submit 2 wiitten claim substantiating the amount acceptable to
him‘zﬁﬁ

Muscowpetung Chief Benjoe also noted that no water control works had ever
been built on the reserve as complete or partial consideration for the fiood-
ing damages, and that the dam bad not benefited the Band, “either from the
point of view of water level stability or improved fish and waterfowl habitat.”
Muscowpetung Councillor William Pratt asked whether the lakes could be
lowered to their original levels, but S.R. Blackwell of Saskatchewan’s Depart-
ment of the Environment responded that it would not be feasible. The Band

260 W.B. Thomson, Director, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, 1o F.A. Clark, Repional Direcior,
Saskatchewan, Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, April 30, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. 4 (ICC
Documents, p. 882).

261 MJ. Fiizgerald, Acting Assistant Deputy Minister (Western Region), Department of Regional Economie Expan-
sion, 10 W.B. Thomsou, Director, PFRA, Department of Regional Reonomic Expansion, July 11, 1973, PFRA file
928/7E4, vol. 4 €ICC Documents, p. B88).

262 WB. Thomson, Direclor, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to W.D.G. McCaw, Acting
Regional Director, Saskatchewsan, Department of Indian and Northern Alfairs, August 31, 1973, DIAND file
675/8-4, vol. 2 (ICC Docurents, p. 889).

263 J. Stoyko, Agriculmre Specialisi, Depariment of Indian and Northern Affairs, 10 WD.G. McCaw, Regional Super-
intendent of Economic Developinent, Saskatchewan Region, Department of tndian and Northern Aflairs, Septem-
ber 14, 1973, DIAND le 675/8-4, vol. 2 {ICC Docutments, pp. 892-93). Stoyko tater wrote that the Bands II:ased
their ¢laim on the toss of 500 acres of hay land wltich would have annually produced 500 toos of hay, or one
1on per acre, wotth $20 per ton (or $10,000 per year) for 24 years: “Infoemation for File,” J. Stoyko, Reglonal
Agriculture Specialist, Saskatchewan Region, Department of Indizn and Notthern Affairs, Octoher 16, 1973,
DIAND file F4320-4, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 908).
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representatives also raised the need for a bridge across the river to permit
haying operations on IR 80B.2%

The PFRA Investigates the Damages
In the wake of this meeting, Thomson instructed his staff to investigate five
aspects of the Indians’ claims:

1. Reassess the “top elevation” affected by flooding,

2. Reassess the “botiom elevation” to be used in defining the food zone.

3. Review old files to determine the basis of settlement used for deeded land in 1942,
and perhaps use the same for Indian lands.

4, Review Mr. Berry's calculation of net return foregone, using figures of 4% and 8%
for past interest and future discount.

5. Evaluate the severance factor.?®

McMorine, now a Special Projects Engineer, visited the Muscowpetung
reserve with Dr Jan Looman of the the federal Department of Agriculture
Research Station to “assess the type, vield, and probable value of native hay
growing in the area immediately adjacent to the present water edge” to deter-
mire whether flooded hay lands had been replaced by new hay lands at 4
higher elevation. Looman found that the average annual yield from the hay
lands would have been two tons per acre.*® McMorine reported finding
“ ‘slough hay’ occurring just above the margin of the present lake, and pre-
sumably of that which would have been growing in the elevation zone 1570-
1572 if the Echo Lake Dam had not been built.”26

Later, McMorine also reviewed historical water level figures “to determine
the years in which it would have been impossible to harvest hay in the flats at
the west end of Pasqua (Qu'Appelle) Lake during the period 1943-1972, if
the Echo Lake Dam bad not been built." Assuming August 1 of each season
“as the date later than which flooding of hay land could not be tolerated and
still allow a harvest,” McMorine found that in 15 of the 30 years from 1943
to 1972, hay would not have been harvested owing to wet conditions. The

264 .T. Porsyth, Regional Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, “Noles of Mecting 4t Fort
Qu'Appelle Offices of Canada DIAND,” September 13, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. 4 (1CC Documents, p. 891).

265 Memorandum to file, J.G.S. McMorne, Special Projects Engineer, PFRA, Department of Reglonal Economic
Expansion, Ociober A1, 1973, PERA file 928/7E4, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 903-04).

266 J.G.5. McMorine, 'ipecm] Projects Enginecr, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to WM. Berry,
Planning and Investigations Engineer, FFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, Oclober 9, 1973,
PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, p. 899}

267 Memorandum to file, J.G.S. McMorine, Spedial Projects Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic
Expansion, September 27, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. [4?1 (IcC Documents, p. 895).
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number rose to 18 years with no harvest if June 1 was substituted as the
critical cut-off date, resulting in a reduction of Looman’s “effective” annual
vield from two tons to roughly one ton per acre. s

In a comprehensive report dated October 11, 1973, McMorine verified the
existence of a ford across the Qu'Appelle River that had likely been used to
access Muscowpetung’s hay flats north of the river before 1943:

The existence of this old ford . . . should have considerable bearing on the obligation
to consteuct, or the desirability of constructing, a bridge to provide access Lo hay flats
north of the river, which are presently severed by the river from the main part of the
Reserye. 2

Although McMorine suggested checking with residents of the reserve to
determine whether the ford had been used to access the northern hay flats
and whether this use had been ended by construction of the dam, he believed
that construction of a bridge might assist in reaching a settlement of the
flooding issue in any event.*®

McMorine found further evidence to suggest that, first, the elevation of
Echo Lake in years of “ordinary or average runoff” before 1942 was the
reservoir’s authorized full supply level of 1571; second, the full supply level
was quietly raised to 1571.5 in 1948 (being “a more desireable [sic] level
from the point of view of the general public”);?"" and, third, to permit haying
operations at the west end of Pasqua Lake, it had been necessary to drop the
level to 1570.8. He recommended that settlement be made up to elevation
1574 since settlements with private land owners had been made on that
basis, and since a higher figure than 1572 should be used “in view of capil-

268 ].G6.S. McMorine, Special Projects Engineer, PERA, Depariment of Regional Economic Expansion, lo W.M. Berry,
Planning and Lnvestigalions Enpineer, PFRA, Departinent of Regional Economic Expansion, October 9, 1973,
PFRA fle 928/7E4, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, p. 899). In later work, McMorine revised these figures using 1570
rather than 1570.5 as the elevation below which haying operations wonld not have been possible, absent the
dam. He concluded thas, at elevation 1570, if June 1 was the critical date “later than which Hooding of hay land
could not be tolerated,” there would be 19 out of 30 years with no hay harvested, as opposed lo 18 years at
elevation 1570.5. The figures dropped 1o 18 of 30 vears if either July 1 or Angust T was used as the critical date
at elevation 1570, rather than 17 years for July | or 15 years for August 1 at efevation 1570.5: J.G.S. McMorine,
Special Projects Engineer, PFRA, De ent of Regional Economic Expansion, to G.T. Forsyth, Regional Eogi-
aeer, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, October 9, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4, wl. 5 (ICC
Docurments, p. 899).

269 Memorandum (o file, ].G.S. McMotine, Special Projects Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Coonomic
Expansion, Oclober 11, 1573, PFRA file 928/784, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, p. 900).

270 Memorandum to file, J.6.S. McMorine, Special Projects Engincer, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic -

Expansion, October 11, 1973, PFRA file 928/7F4, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 906-07).

271 ].6.S. McMorine, Speciat Projects Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, 1o G.. For-
syth, Regional Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, October 30, 1973, PFRA file
92R/7E4, val. 5 (ICC Documents, p. 923).
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lary action and freeboard,” which appeared to cause increased salinity and to
adversely affect vegetation even above the full supply level. He also recom-
mended thas the affected areas be surveved, rather than relying on old small-
scale mapping, since he anticipated that the Bands would retain independent
consultants to verify the PFRA's figures.?”

In the course of his investigations, McMorine reviewed the land acquisi-
tions relating to the dams at Round and Crooked Lakes. He discovered that
one private owner, G.R. Walberg, had been paid $2500 for a flooding ease-
ment, but other owners had provided flood agreements at no cost to the
PFRA. With regard to calculating the area of affected reserve lands, he found:

Acreage involved was taken from fopagraphic plans made by PFRA in 1942 (not from
legal surveys) and covered land up fo FSI [full supply level] ondy (1451.0), in con-
trast to the simation in regard to Yandowners adjacent to the Echo Lake Reservoir,
where easements were obtained and paid for to an elevation 3 feet abore FSLT

Thomson toured the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves on October 12,
1973, and advised Band representatives that the PFRA would survey that fall
to quantify the land flooded. J. Stoyko, Indian Affairs’ Regional Agricultural
Specialist, recommended that his Department refrain from becoming “too
involved” at that time since “[t]here are a number of ways of determining
compensation for flood damage to lands over a period of years and PFRA, 1
am confident, are competent to prepare initial proposal for presentation to
the Bands involved. "

The Negotiations Resume

On October 31, 1973, Thomson forwarded a revised offer to Indian Affairs.
Whereas the PFRA's initial offer had discounted Fetterly'’s estimated damages
of $8,050 to reflect lower levels of flooding caused by the Echo Lake dam,
the new offer eliminated this discount on the basis that the PFRA had agreed
in 1941 to Fetterly's approach:

272 Memorandum 1o file, ].G.5. McMorine, Special Projects Engineer, PYRA, Department of Regional Economic
Expansion, October 11, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. § (ICC Documents, pp. 960-07).

273 Memorandum to fite, J.G.S. McMorine, Special Projects Engineer, PFRA, Department of Regional Beonotic
Expansion, Oclober 29, 1973, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. § (ICC Documents, pp. 916-17). This differcace of three
feel is Likely atizibutable 1o the declsion in 1942 o build only the Echo dam and 1o forgo the structure at
Pasqua Lake.

274 “Information for File,” . Stoyko, Regional Agriculture Speclalist, Saskawchewan Region, Department of Indian
and Northern Affzirs, October 16, 1973, DIAND fle F4320-9, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 908).
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perhaps longer, depending on our analysis below in relation to the 1977
Band Council Resolutions. :

With regard to the remaining five Bands that are party to this inquiry,
while Indian Affairs ey have authorized the PFRA to use and occupy reserve
lands for flooding purposes — and we make no finding on this point — such
authorization could not be validly given under section 34 of the 1927 Indian
Act. The result is that, in addition to trespassing on Standing Buffalo’s land by
virtue of Canada’s failure to authorize flooding on that reserve, the PFRA was
likewise in trespass on the reserve lands of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua
First Nations from the early 1940s to at least 1977, and remains in trespass
to this day on the reserve lands of the Cowessess, Ochapowace, and Sakimay
First Nations. We will address the question of Canada’s continuing presence
after 1977 on reserve lands of the three western First Nations later in this
report.

ISSUE 2 CANADA’S FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS

If Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the
Indian Act, 1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes, did
the Crown nevertheless have a fiduciary obligation to consult or otherwise
consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before proceeding?

In framing their case relating to the alleged breaches by Canada of its fiduci-
ary duties in relation to the disposition of the lands flooded by the Qu'Appelle
Valley dams, the QVIDA First Nations rely in large measure on the decisions
of the Supreme Court of Canada in Guerin v. The Queen*® and Apsassin, the
findings of the Ontario Court of Appeal in Chippewas of Kettle and Stony
Point v. Canada,® and the recent reports of this Commission regarding the
surrender claims of the Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin Fiest Nations.*® They
analogize Canada's duties arising on surrenders of reserve lands to the con-
text of authorized use and occupancy under section 34 of the 1927 Indian
Act.

In its reports on the Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin inquiries, the Commis-
sion analysed pre-sutrender breaches of fiduciary obligations in three con-
texts: where a band's understanding of the surrender is inadequate or the

436 Guerin v. The Queen, [1985] L CNLR 120 (SCC).

437 Chippewas of ketile ard Stony Point 1. Canada (1996), 31 OR (3d) 97 (Ont. CA).

438 1CC, Xubkewistabaw First Nation Report on 1907 Reserve Land Surrender Inquiry (Ottawa, February 1997);
1CC, Moosomin First Nation Repart on 1909 Reserve Land Surrender Inquiry (Ottawa, March 1997).
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Crown’s conduct has tainted the dealings in 2 manner that makes it unsafe to
rely on the band’s understanding and intention; where a band has ceded or
abnegated its decision-making power to or in favour of the Crown; and where
a band’s decision to surrender reserve land is foolish or improvident and
thus exploitative, With regard to the first of these contexts, the QVIDA First
Nations submit:

The historical evidence in the QVIDA Specific Claim clearly demonstrates that the
Crown was in a conflict of interest by purporting to represent the best interests of the
First Nations, on one hand, and by assisting PFRA in the construction of the dams on
the other hand. The claimants submit that the Crown has failed to cstablish that the
authorization under section 34 was not intended to benefit any one other than PFRA
and the Crown itself. The Department in fact has acknowledged that these dams would
adversely affect the reserves which would suffer “substantial damage”. Accordingly,
Canada breached its fiduciary obligation by allowing PFRA to construct the dams
which were clearly not in the best interests of the First Nations. %

Under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, there could be no cession or

abnegation of decision-making power by the QVIDA Bands because the
Superintendent General was clothed with the power to authorize encroach-
ments on reserve lands. Nevertheless, the First Nations argue that, having this
discretion, the Superintendent General had a fiduciary obligation to exercise
it in their best interests:

[Slection 34, at a minimum, imposes upon the Crown, particulary in a situation
where it has total discretion to decide on how reserve lands should be “used or
occupied”, an obligation on its part to act in the First Nations best interests, and . . .

" equity will hold a fiduciary to a “strict standard of conduct” and ensure that the
power is exercised with “loyalty and care”. The claimants snbmit that Canada has
breached its fiduciary duty by having failed to act in the First Nations’ hest interests by
not only failing to have informed them of the dams’ construction and its implications
bnt also having proceeded with the section 34 avthorization knowing full well that the
First Nations' best interests woudel be adversely affected. ™

Finally, with regard to whether the authorizations granted to the PFRA in this
‘case amounted to exploitation, the First Nations argue:

439 Submission on Behalf of the QVIDA First Nations, May 5, 1997, p. 51.
440 Submission on Behalf of the QVIDA First Nations, May 5, 1997, pp. 50-51.
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[W]here under the Act, the Band has no control, as opposed to 2 “measure of con-
irol” over the alienation of their interests in land, then if there is evidence of exploita-
tion, the Act imposes 4 fiductary obligation on the Crown to prevent the alienation of
their Interests in the reserve.

The clatmants submit that the flooding of their fands resulted in the permanent
disposilion of those lands, as well as the destruction of the habitat upon which many
of them relied upon {sic} for their livelihood, all without consultation with or
approval by the First Nations. This constituted exploitation such that Canada breached
its fiduciary obligation by allowing PFRA to flood these lands knowing that adverse
consequences would result !

For its part, Canada submits that “there was no obligation to consider
solely the interests of the First Nations affected in cases such as this, involving
an expropriation or a non-consensual authority granted to use reserve lands
for public purposes . .. [but rather| it is the function of the Crown to bal-
ance the various interests at stake.”* In drawing this conclusion, counsel for
Canada relied on the decision of the Federal Court of Appeal in Kruger v. The
Queen, in which Urie J adopted the following reasons of Mahoney J at trial:

Parliament cannot have intended that the Governor in Council consider only the best
interest of the Band concerned In deciding whether or not to consent to an expropria-
tion of reserve lands. {t is rarely in the best interest of an occupant to he dispossessed
or of an owner to he deprived of his property against his will. Certainly, here, it was
not In the best interest of the Band.

The defendant’s duty to the Band, as trustee, was hy no means the only duty to be
taken [nto account. Evidence is clear that those ofticials responsible for the adminis-
teation of the Indian Act urged a lease while those responsible for the airport ulti-
mately urged expropriation. The Governor in Council was entitled to decide on the
latter. There was no breach in trust in doing so.*

Once it had been determined that the Qu'Appelle Valley dams would flood
and cause damage to reserve lands, Canada acknowledges that it owed a
fiduciary obligation to the First Nations affected to ensure that they were ade-
quately compensated for any damages caused to them. The existence of a
fiduciary obligation where there is an involuntary disposition of land finds
support in the reasons of Heald J in Kruger:

441 Submission on Behalf of the QVIDA First Nations, May 5, 1997, p. 52.
442 Submissions on Behall of the Government of Canada, June 6, 1997, p. 49.
443 Kruger v The Queen, [1985) 3 CNER 15 at 42 (FCA), Urie J.
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Accordingly, 1 think it clear that the fideciary obligation and duty being discussed in
Guerin would also apply to a case such as this as well and that on the facts in this
case, such a fiduciary obligation and duty was a continuing one - that is, it arose as a
consequence of the proposal to take Indian [ands and continued throughout the nego-
tiations leading to the expropriations and thereafter including the dealings between
the Crown and the Indians with respect lo the payment of the compensation to the
Indians in respect of Parcels A and B.#

As to the content of the fiduciary obligation, Canada relies on the highlighted
portion of the following excerpt from the decision of Urie J in Kruger:

When the Crown exproprialed reserve lands, being Parcels A and B, there would
appear to have been created the same kind of Bduciary obligation, vis-3-vis the Indi-
ans, as would have been created if their lands had been surrendered. The precise
obligation in this case was to ensure that the Indians were properly compensated
Jor the loss of their lands as part of the obligation to deal with the land for the
benefit of the Indians, jusi as in the Guerin case, the obligation was to ensure that
the tetms of the lease were those agreed to by the Indians as part of the general
obligation to them to ensure that the surrendered lands be dealt with for their use
and benefit. How they ensured that lies within the Crown’s discretion as a fiduciary
and so long as the discretion is exercised honestly, prudently and for the benefit of
the Indians there can be no breach of duty.®

Canada argues that it fulfilled its fiduciary obligation to the QVIDA First
Nations by paying compensation to the eastern First Nations in 1943, and by
agreeing with the western First Nations in 1977 to settle past, present, and
future damages caused by the Echo Lake control structure.

Although we have considered the parties’ arguments, we believe that it is
unnecessary to address this issue in the circumstances of the present inquiry.
Had we found that Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under
section 34 of the 1927 fndian Act to use and occupy reserve lands for flood-
ing purposes, we would then need to determine whether, hefore proceeding,
the Crown nevertlieless had a fiduciary obligation to consult or otherwise
consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations. However, we have
concluded that Canada should have proceeded by way of surrender or expro-
priation rather than under section 34. Since it did not do se, Canada failed to
comply with the fudian Act, and any authority granted would thus have been
invalid. Accordingly, there is little to be gained by determining whether

444 Kruger 0. The Queen, [1985] 3 CNLR 15 at 61(FCA), Heald J,
445 Fruger v. The Queen, [1985] 3 CNLR 15 al 41 (FCA), Ure ],
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Canada was also in breach of its fiduciary obligations. We therefore decline
to do so.

ISSUE 3 CANADA’'S OBLIGATIONS UNDER TREATY 4

Did the terms of Treaty 4 preclude the Crown from relying on section 34 of
the Indian Act, 1927, or otherwise require the consent of the QVIDA First
Nations to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding
purposes?

The QVIDA First Nations argue that Treaty 4 provides an independent means
for finding that, before Canada can sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of
reserve lands, it must obtain the consent of the affected band. Specifically, the
First Nations rely on the following treaty provision:

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the said Commissioners, to assign
reserves for sald Indians, such reserves to be selected by officers of Her Majesty's
Government of the Dominion of Canada appointed for that purpose, after conference
with each band of the Indians, and to be of sufficient area to allow one square mile
for each family of five, or in that proportion for larger or smaller families; provided,
however, that it be understood that, if at the time of the selection of any reserves, as
aforesaid, there are any settlers within the bounds of the lands reserved for any band,
Her Majesty retains the right to deal with such settlers as She shall deem fust, so as
nof to diminish the extent of land allotted to the Indians; and provided, further, that
the aforesaid reserves of land, or any part thereof, or any interest or right
therein, or appurtenant thereto, may be sold, leased or otherwise disposed of by
the sutd Government for the use and benefit of the said Indians, with the consent
of the Idians entitled thereto first had and obtained, but in no wise shall the said
Indians, or any of them, be entitled to sell or otherwise alienate any of the lands
allotied to them as reserves. ™

According to the First Nations, this provision means that “[t]he federal gov-
ernment assumes a fiduciary role in the context of its legal power to dispose
of reserve lands, a power which can only be exercised with the consent of the
First Nations and for their use and benefit.”#" First Nations thus have the
corresponding “right to be consulted by Canada before Canada makes any
disposition of reserve lands; they have the right to grant or withhold their -

446 Treaty No. 4 between Her Majesty the (Jucen and the Croe and Saulteaux Tribes of fdians at QuAppelle
and Port Elffce (Ottawa: Queen’s Printer and Controller of Stationery, 1966), p. 6. Emphasis added.
447 Submissions on Behalf of the QVIDA First Nations, May 5, 1997, p. 54.
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consent to such a disposition; and they have the right to have the reserve land
remain intact, in the absence of granting their consent to a disposition.”4*

As to what would happen should Treaty 4 and the Indian Act differ in
their requirements for dispositions of reserve lands, the First Nations submit
that the important distinction is in the test employed to reconcile those
differences:

Prior to the passage of section 35 of the Constitution Act in 1982, the courts gener-
ally considered that federal legislation was paramount and could supersede the terms
of the treaties with the First Nations. However, the extent to which the fedian Act
would have prevailed over Treaty No. 4 depeuds upon the tests used: overlap, incon-
sistency or conflict. If the Indian Act prevailed wherever it overlapped with provisions
of Treaty No. 4 then the Indian Act surrender provisions would effectively replace
Treaty No. 4 obligations, which required consent to reserve dispositions. On the other
hand, if 2 more restrictive test is adopted, then the Indfan Act would have less
[sicllimits on the rights and obligations under Trealy No. 4.4°

The First Nations then relied on the decision of Cory J in R. ©. Badger'™ as
authority for the proposition that a restrictive test should be emnployed, such
that federal legislation should be held to prevail over a treaty right only in
cases of direct conflict and not where there is mere inconsistency or overlap.
Accordingly, the foregoing treaty rights should, in QVIDA’s submission,
remain intact, since the provisions of Treaty 4 “were not superseded by any
legislation, ™" '

Canada disagrees with the First Nations’ analysis, contending that the terms
of the Indian Act prevail to the extent that they are inconsistent with Treaty 4.
However, Canada also approaches the issue from a different perspective, rely-
ing on the following provision of Treaty 4:

I is further agreed between Her Majesty and Her said Indian subjects that such sec-
tions of the reserves above indicated 4s may at any time be required for public works
or building of whatsoever nature may be appropriated for that purpose by Her Maj-
esty’s Government of the Domiuion of Canada, dve compensation being made to the
Indians for the value of any improvements thereon, and an cquivalent in Iand or
money for the area of the reserve so appropriated. i

448 Submissions on Behalf of the Q¥IDA First Natons, May 5, 1997, p. 56.

449 Submissions on Behall of the QVIDA First Nalions, May 3, 1997, p. 56.

450 R, . Badger, {1996] 4 WWR 457.

451 ICC Traoscripl, June 26, 1997, pp. 81-82 {David Knoll).

452 Treaty No. 4 between Her Majesty the Queen and the Cree and Saulteaux Tribes of Indians at Qu'dAppelle
and Fort Ellice (Ottawa: Queen's Printer and Controller of Stationery, 1966), p. 7.
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In Canada’s submission, the word “appropriated” in this provision relates to
both expropriations and “lesser” dispositions such as a permit under section
28 of later versions of the Indian Act and presumably authority granted
under section 34 of the 1927 statute. It can also apply to dispositions of the
fuli fee simple interest or to lesser interests such as easements or rights of
way. In short, this provision, according to Canada, allows it to rely on section
34 to grant authority to use and occupy reserve lands without the consent of
the band affected. As for the First Nations’ interpretation of the treaty, Canada
argued:

It is also notable that such an interpretation would also mean that lesser, non-
consensual {or at leasi not expressly consensual) interests, such as a permit granted
by the Minister for less than one year under section 28(2), would also arguably
constitute a violation of treaty. Indeed, even a permit for more than one year issued
with the consent of the Band Council could be attacked as not expressing the consent
of the band (i.e. merely the consent of the band council). Lt is submitied that this is
not a reasonable interpretation of the treaty provision.is3

The First Nations respond that the appropriation provision of Treaty 4 is lim-
ited to the expropriation context, and that Canada has already acknowledged
that there was neither an expropriation nor a surrender in this case.

For the same reasons that we gave in relation to QVIDA’s claim regarding
Canada’s fiduciary obligations, we believe that it is unnecessary to address
this issue in the circumstances of the present inquiry. The nature and term of
the disposition to the PFRA were such that Canada should liave obtained the
consents of the Bands and the Governor in Council under the surrender pro-
visions of the fndian Act, or it should have at Jeast obtained the consent of
the Governor in Council to expropriate the required interest. Its failure to do
so means that Canada failed to comply with the Indian Act and that any
authority granted would thus have been invalid. As before, there is little to be
gained by determining whether Canada was also in breach of its treaty obliga-
tions. We again decline to do so.

ISSUE 4 EFFECTS OF THE 1977 BAND COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS

Did the Band Council Resolutions signed by the Pasqua, Standing Buffalo,
and Muscowpetung First Nations in the 1970s effectively release the Crown

453 Submissions on Behall of the Governiment of Canada, June 6, 1997, pp. 52-33.
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and the PERA from all past, present, and future claims for damage caused by
the Echo Lake control structure built in the 1940s?

It will be recalled that, in 1977, as a result of the discovery that Mus-
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo had never been compensated for
the flooding of their reserve lands, these Bands entered into a settlement
agreement with the PFRA. Under the terms of that agreement, evidenced by
separate Band Council Resolutions executed by the respective Bands, the
Bands were paid the sum of $265,000.00 and the PFRA was released, in
relation to Pasqua and Standing Buffalo, “from all past, present and future
claims in respect to erection of the said [Echo Lake| control structure and
consequential flooding.” For Muscowpetung, the release related to “lands
now flooded by the said control structure.” The three western Bands further
agreed “to authorize the issuance of a permit to [the] PFRA in respect of the
continued operation of the said control structure.”* Although the Bands
received and spent most, if not all, of the settlement funds, no permit for the
continued operation of the control structures and flooding of reserve lands
was ever issued, owing to concerns raised by the Bands regarding the perpet-
ual nature of the settlement and the area of land to be flooded. The Bands
subsequently purported to rescind the Band Council Resolutions and any
authority conveyed in them to flood reserve lands.

" These facts give rise to three key issues that the Commission must-

consider:

+ Were the Band Council Resolutions invalid because they cffected perma-
nent dispositions of interests in reserves?

- Did the Band Council Resolutions release Canada and the PFRA from
liability? ' ,
- Could the Bands rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions?

We will now consider each of these issues in turn.

454 Band Council Resolution, Pasqua Rand, February 8, 1977, PFRA file 92874, vol. 5 {ICC Documents, p. 1069);
Band Councit Resolution, Sianding Buffalo Band, February 8, 1977, PFRA file 928/7E4, vol. 5 (ICC Docaments,
p. 1070); Band Council Resofution, Muscowpetung Band, February 15, 1977, PFRA fle 928/7E4, vol. 5 (ICC
Docusments, p. 1074).
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Were the Band Council Resolutions Invalid?

Permit vs Expropriation or Surrender

The Commission has already reviewed at length the recent decision of the
Supreme Court of Canada in Opefchesabt in the context of our consideration
of whether the Superintendent Genera! of Indian Affairs could grant authority
to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes under section 34 of
the 1927 Indian Act. Even if it can be assumed that section 34 is similar in
nature to subsection 28(2) of the 1952 Indian Act, as amended, we con-
cluded that, although the majority -of the Court found that the disposition in
Opetchesabt fell within the scope of subsection 28(2), the present case is
distinguishable on its facts because of the more substantial nature of the
interest granted to the PFRA and the possibly more remote likelihood of its
termination.

That being the case, we must also conclude that it was not open to
Canada, even with the consent of the respective Band Councils, to authorize
the PFRA to occupy or use reserve land for flooding purposes under subsec-
tion 28(2) of the 1970 Indian Act in force at the time the seftlements were
reached. For ease of reference, we will restate subsection 28(2):

28.(2) The Minister may by permit in writing anthorize any person for a period not
exceeding one year, or with the consent of the eouncil of the band for any longer
period, to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise rights on a
reserve. i

In its written argument, Canada suggests that, by disposing of a mere right
of way under subsection 28(2) rather than allowing the PFRA to expropriate
the full fee simple interest in the flooded lands, Indian Affairs was acting in
an appropriate manner “to affect the Indians’ interest as little s possible."5
In making this statement; Canada referred to the Commission’s decision in its
inquiry into the railway right of way claim of the Sumas Band, in which the
Commission held:

Was there a breach of fiduciary duty in the failure to exercise this discretion to grant
less than the full fee simple? The Crown had an obligation to consider the public
interest in 2 railway, as well as the interests of the Sumas Band. An expropriation of
land will not be in the hest interests of a Band; therefore, a “best interesis” standard

455 Indian Act, RSC 1970, c. 16, 5. 28,
456 Submission on Behalf of the Government of Canada, June 6, 1597, p. 52.
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< is not applicable. In our view, the obligation on the Crown in this context is to do as
little injury as possible 1o the Indians’ interests. The public interest could have been
satisfied by a grant of a right of way as long as the land was needed by the railway.
Any grant beyond that did not further the public purpose, and was nothing more than
a gramitous disposition of Indian lands in favor of the railway company. We thus find
that, if the letters paleut were effective to transfer absolute title to ¥V & E, the Crown
failed in its fduciary duty by pranting the right-of-way lands without a raitway-pur-
poses limitation. 7

The Federal Court of Appeal recently reached a similar conclusion in
Semiabmoo Indian Band v. Canada, in which Isaac (J agreed with the
finding of the Trial Judge that there had been a breach of Canada's fiduciary
duty to the Band. Certain reserve lands had been surrendered by the Band in
1951, although the evidence demonstrated that the Band would not have sur-
rendered its land without the threat of expropriation. The lands were appar-
ently required to expand Canada's customs facilities at the Douglas Border
Crossing, but they remained unused after surrender and eventually became
the subject of a consultant's study, commissioned at the request of the federal
Department of Public Works, to develop portions of the land for commercial
purposes. The record further showed that, over the years, the Band had
made a number of requests to have the land returned to it when no apparent
steps were being taken to use the land for public purposes; these requests
had been refused on the basis that studies were underway to determine how
to use the property, or that use of the land for expanding the customs facili-
ties was imuminent. No public use of the land had been made for some 40
years when, following the Band's receipt of the consultant’s report proposing
that the land be used for a resort, the Band commenced the action for
breach of fiduciary duty. On the question of Canada’s fiduciary obligations to
the Band in such circumstances, Isaac (J stated:

It is in the context of these findings that the Trial Judge defined the respondent's
pre-surrender fiduciary duty, and then concluded that this duty was breached in the
1951 surrender, The Ttfal Judge described the nature and scope of the respondent’s
duty as follows:

When land is taken in this way and it is not known what, if any, use will be made
of it, or whether the land is going to be used for government purposes, I think
there is an obligation on the fiduciary to condition the taking by a reversionary
provision, or ensure by some other mechanism that the least possible impairment

457 ICC, Report on Inquiry into Sumas Band Indian Reserve No. 6 Railnay Right of Way Claim (Oltawa, Febru-
ary 1995), (1996) 4 ICCP 3 at 40. .
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of the plainiiffs’ rights occurs. 1 am persuaded there was a breach of the fiduciary
duty owed to the plaintiffs.

Did the respondent breach its pre-surrender fiduciary duty?

Having regard to the circumstances of this case, [ am in respectful agreement with
the Trial Judge's characterization of the respondent’s pre-surrender fiduciary duty. I
also agree with the Trial Judge's conclusion, based on the facts, that the respondent
breached this duty when it consented to the 1951 surrender, In my view, the 1951
surrender agreement, assessed in the context'of the specific relationship between the
parties, was an exploitative bargain. There was no attempt made in draRing its terms
10 minimize the impairment of the Band's rights, and therefore, the -respondent
should have exercised its discretion to withhold its consent to the surrender or lo
ensure that the surrender was qualified or conditional. %

We agree that Canada should seek to minimize its impairment of a band’s
rights with regard to its reserve lands. In this context, it may have been
entirely appropriate for Canada to acquire an interest in the nature of a right
of way or easement rather than the full fee simple in the lands continuously
or occasionally flooded as a result of the control structures erected in the
Qu'Appelle Valley. By obtaining this lesser interest, Canada allowed the
QVIDA Bands to retain a reversionary interest in the land as well as the right
to use those portions of the lands that may not be flooded from time to time.

However, as we discussed previously in relation to section 34 of the 1927
Indian Act, it is the interplay of the nature and duration of the interest
being conveyed that determines whether the appropriate mechanism for dis-
posing of the interest is expropriation or surrender, on the one hand, or a
mere permit under subsection 28(2), on the other. Furthermore, Canada is -
not obliged to acquire the entire fee simple interest when it proceeds by way
of expropriation or surrender; it can instead expropriate or obtain a surren-
der of a lesser interest, such as a right of way or easement. However, if the
interest being obtained, while less than the full fee simple, is still sufficiently
important in nature and lengthy in duration, then even that lesser interest
should be obtained by means other than subsection 28(2). In Opetchesabt,
Major J used the example of a mineral lease as one situation in which a
lesser interest than the fee simple should be acquired using a surrender:

In my view, s. 28(2) cannot apply any time 2 portion of the Indian interest in any
portion of reserve land is permanently disposed of. For example, before permission to
exiract minerals in 2 reserve is granted by the Minister, surrender is required. I

458 Semiahmoo Indian Band v. Canada, {1997] FGJ No. 842 {vorcported, June 24, 1997}, par 40-41.
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would note that this would be true whether the right to exploit and extract minerals
were granted forever or for limited duration under a lease. For example, the mineral
rights could well be disposed of under a document entitted a “lease”. Onc must
always look to the true nature of the rights granted. Even if the right to extract were
granted only temporarily under the lease, in fact such a grant would forever deprive
the band of a resource which formed part of the reserve. Surrender of mineral rights
has been required under successive fndian Acts before disposition thereof to third
parties.

From this example, it can be seen that, although the duration of the mineral
leas¢ may be “ascertainable,” the nature of the interest being disposed of is
sufficiently “permanent” or important as to lie beyond the scope of subsec-
tion 28(2). A surrender or expropriation is therefore required.

In the result, we must reiterate our conclusion that, even with the consent
of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo Band Councils, Canada
could not rely, on the facts of this case, on subsection 28(2) as the basis for
authorizing the PFRA to occupy or use reserve lands for flooding purposes.

Effects of Subsection 28(1)

Even if the Commission is wrong in the foregoing conclusion regarding the
meaning and scope of subsection 28(2), we would nevertheless conclude
that the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were ineffective to grant such author-
ity. This is because subsection 28(1) of the 1970 Indian Act provided:

28.(1) Subject to subsection {2}, a deed, lease, contract, instrument, document or
agreement of any kind whether written or oral, by which a band or a member of 2
band purports to permit a person other than a member of that band 10 occupy or use
a reserve or to reslde or otherwise exercise any rights on 4 reserve is void.

The only permitted exceptions to subsection (1) exist under subsection (2),
where an appropriate authorizing permit may be issued by the Minister for a
use or occupation or other exercise of rights on a reserve for a period not
exceeding one vear, or by the Minister, with the consent of the band council,
for any longer period.

A plain reading of subsection 28(2) suggests that, to allow occupation or
use of reserve lands for a period of longer than one year, band council
consent must be obtained @nd the Minister must permit the occupation or

459 Opatchesabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997), unreported, May 22, 1997 (SCC file no. 24161), pp. 19-20,
Major J. .
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use in writing. Without satisfying both requirements, an agreement for use
and occupation appears to be void. But does the case law interpreting section
28(2) support this interpretation?

The philosophy underlying subsection 28(2) has a long history that pre-
dates the subsection itself and finds its roots in the Royal Proclamation of
1763. The jurisprudence supports the conclusion that a written permit from
the Minister was a required element for an effective authorization to occupy
or use reserve lands under subsection 28(2).%

The policy rationale behind the provision can be seen in the decision of
the Exchequer Court of Canada in R. v. McMaster.! In that case, a property
known as Thompson's Island, which formed part of St Regis Indian Reserve,
was leased in 1817 by the Chiefs of the occupying Band to David Thompson
for a period of 99 years. The lease contained a renewal clause that would
have permitted it to be extended to a full term of 999 years. In 1872, McMas-
ter sought to acquire the lease from Thompson’s successor, McDonald, and,
concerned that the validity of title might be open to challenge, McMaster
inquired if the Department of Indian Affairs would recognize the title to the
lease if he could show that it had been properly assigned to him and if he
would pay rental arrears that had heen accumulating since 1862, After pro-
tracted negotiations, the parties in 1882 agreed that the Department would
recognize McMaster as assignee on payment of the past due rentals, but that
he could not obtain a new title in his own name because the property, never
having been surrendered by the Band to the Crown, could not be sold or
leased. In 1883, McMaster paid the arrears, and the following year the
Department of Justice provided its opinion that McMaster had sufficiently
proven his title to be considered the holder of the lease originally granted to
Thompson, and that his possessory title as against anyone but the Crown was
- admitted.

In 1915, McMaster applied to the Department of Indian Affairs to renew
the lease, as the first 99-year period was due to expire the following year.
The Department replied that he had been given no assurance that the lease
would be renewed, but only that his rights under the lease would be recog-
nized as far as this could legally be done. Disclaiming liability for payment of

460 No cases have confirmed that a grant of reserve fand under section 28 can be effective in the absence of such a
permit, although in Port Prasnks Properties v. The Queen, [1981] 3 CNLR 86 al 95 (FCIDY), the Gourt found
that a surrender was lawful even though a lease was granted prior w formal surrender. Approximately one year
later the Band made 2 formal surrender of the land at issue, and an order in conncil was then passed approving
Lhe susrender and confirming the lease.

461 R v McMaster, [1926] Bx. CR 68.

339



INDIAN CLATMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

the penalty provided in the original lease for non-renewal, the Department
refused to issue a renewal, provided McMaster with notice (o quit the prop-
erty, and later commenced action against him. In the Exchequer Court,
Maclean ] stated:

The proclamation of 1763, as has been held, has the force of a statute, and so far
therein s the rights of the Indians are concerned, it has never been repealed. The
proclamation enacted that no private person shall make any purchase from the Indi-
ans of lands reserved to them, and that all purchases must be on behall of the Crown,
“eic. Throughout the subsequent years all legisiation in the form of Indian Acts contin-
ued the fetter and spirit of the proclamation in respect of the inalienability of Indian
reserves by the Indians. As was said by Lord Watson in the 8¢. Catherine Milling and
Lumber Company case, since the date of the proclamation Indian affairs had been
administered successively by the Crown, by the provincial governments, and since the
passing of the British North America Act, 1867, by the Government of the Dominion.
The policy of these administrations has been afl along the same in this respect, that
the Indian inhabitants have been precluded from entering into any transaction with 4
subject for the sale or transfer of their interest in the land, and have only been per-
mitted to surrender their rights to the Crown by a formal contract duly ratified in a
meeting of their chiefs or head men convened for the purpose. Whilst there have been
changes in the administrative authority, there has been no change since the year 1763
in the character of the interest which its Indian inhabitants had in the lands surren-
dered by the treaty, and as determined in the 5t Catherine Milling and Lumber
Company case. There can be no doubt but that the property in question was part of
an Indian Reserve covered by the proclamation. For these reasons I am clearly of
the opindon that the lease to Thompson in 1817 twas void, and that the Indians
never had such an interest in the lands reserved for their occupancy, that they could
dlienate the same by lease or sale. The Crown could not iiself lease, or ratify any
lease, made by the Indians of such lands at any time since the proclamation, save
upon a surtender of the same by the Indians to the Crown. If the lease was void
anything that the Department of Indian Affairs or any other authorized body or person |
adininistering Indian affairs did, or could do in the way of adoption or ratification of
the same, would be contrary to the enaciment of the proctamation and of the subse-
quent statutes refafing to Indian affairs, and which in this respect were declaratory of
* the provisions of the proclamation and not binding on the Crown.¥2

Very similar facts were considered by the Supreme Court of Canada in
Easterbrook v. The King,®* in which certain lands on Cornwall Island in the
St Lawrence River were leased in 1821 by the British Indian Chiefs of St Regis
to Solomon Y. Chesley. The document purported to lease the lands to Chesley

462 R. v. McMaster, [1926] Ex. CR 68 at 72-75. Emphasis added.
463 Fasterbrook v. The King, [1931] SCR 210.
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for 99 years, “and at the expiration thereof for another and further like
period of 99 years and so on until the full end and term of 999 years shall be
fully ended and completed.” The Department of Indian Affairs remained una-
ware of the lease until 1875, at which time, in response to an inquiry about
the validity of the lease, Assistant Superintendent General Lawrence
vankoughnet confirmed that Chiesley “has a right to sublet the land as he has
been in the habit of doing for years.” On the expiry of the initial 99-year
period in 1920, however, the Department provided Chesley's successor with
notice to quit, and refused to receive any further rent or to continue to rec-
ognize the tenancy. Newcombe J of the Supreme Court of Canada concluded
that Audette | of the Exchequer Court had properly refused to uphold
the lease:

The learned judge found no difficulty in disposing of the case, and I have no doubt
that his conclusions must be maintained. By the formal judgment he declared that the
Tease of 10th March, 1821, was and is null and void &b énitio, and that the King was
entitled to recover forthwith the possession of the lands described with their
appurtenances. 6t

The McMaster and Easterbrook cases clearly demonstrate the longstand-
ing general policy of inalienability without the consent or permission of the
Crown in situations in which a leasehold interest has ostensibly heen granted
by a band. Although subsection 28(1) of the 1970 Indian Act was not yet in
force, the Courts nevertheless found the purported dispositions to be void.

By the time R. v. Deverenx® appeared on the docket of the Supreme
Court of Canada, subsection 28(1) Aad been enacted. In Devereux, the Court
considered whether a non-Indian, Devereux, had rights to reserve land pur-
portedly devised to him in a will by Rachel Ann Davis, the widow of a2 mem-
ber of the Six Nations Band. Devereux had assisted Davis in working her farm
commencing in 1934, at which time the two had entered into a private Jeas-
ing arrangement. The Court viewed this arrangement as void under subsec-
tion 34(2) of the 1927 Indian Act, which was the legislative predecessor of
subsection 28(1) of the 1952 statute. However, at the joint request of Davis
and Devereux, the Crown had leased the property to Devereux for a period of
10 years expiring November 30, 1960, and then granted two successive per-
mits to Devereux under section 28(2) of the Indian Act (as amended in

464 Rasterbrook v, The King, [1931] SCR 210 at 218.
465 The Queen v, Deverewx, [1965] SCR 567.
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1952) 1o use and occupy the lands for agricultural purposes. The second
permit expired on November 30, 1962. In the meantime, Davis died and in
her will purported to leave Devereux an ongoing right to possess and use the
lands.

Since Devereux was not entitled to reside on a reserve, the Crown sought
to remove him under the trespass provisions of section 31, and to dispose of
Davis's interest by tender to eligible residents. In the subsequent proceed-
ings, Thurlow J of the Exchequer Court dismissed the Crown’s ctaim on the
separate ground that an action to remove 2 trespasser from a reserve under
section 31 of the Act must be commenced on behalf of the party having the
right to possess the lands. Having concluded that the right to possession was
vested in Band members Hubert Clause or Arnold and Gladys Hill, Thurlow J
concluded that the Crown was in error when it initiated proceedings claiming
possession on behalf of the entire Band.

However, the Supreme Court of Canada also held that Devereux had no
right to possess or use the lands in question. Once the second permit
expired, Devereux’s interest in the land was governed by the provision in
section 50 of the 1952 Indian Act that “[a] person who is not entitled to
reside on a reserve does not by devise or descent acquire 2 right to posses-
sion or occupation of land in that reserve.” ]udson J for the majority (Cart-
wright J dissenting) held:

The scheme of the fndian Act is to maintain intact for bands of Indians, reserves
set apart for them regardless of the wishes of any individual Indian to alienate for his
own benefit any portion of the reserve of which he may be a locatee, This is provided
for by s. 28(1) of the Act. If 5. 31 were restricted as to lands of which there is a
locatee to actions brought at the instance of the locatee, agreements void under s.
28(1) by a locatee with a non-Indian in the alienation of reserve land would be
effective and the whole scheme of the Act would be frustrated.

Reserve lands are set apart for and inalienable by the band and its members apart
from cxpress stalntory provisions even when allocated to individual Indians. By defini-
tion (5. 2{1) (0)) “reserve” medns

a tract of land, the legal title lo which is vested in Her Majesty, that hias been set
apart by Her Majesty for the use and benefit of a band.

By s. 2(1)(a), “band” means a body of Indians

(i) for whose use and benefit in common, lands, the legal title to which is vested
in fer Majesty, have bcen set apart. . .

By s. 18, reserves are to be held for the use and benefit of Indians. They are not
sttbject to seizure under legal process (s. 29). By 5. 37, they cannot be sold, alicn-
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ated, leased or otherwise disposed of, except where the Act specially provides, until
they have been surrendered to the Crown by the band for whose use and benefit in
common Lhe reserve was set apart. There is no right to possession and occupation
acquired by devise or descent in 2 person who is not entitled to reside on ihe reserve
(s. 50, subs. (1)). .

One of the exceptions is that the Minister may lease for the benefit of any Indian
upon his application for that purpose, the land of which he is lawfully in possession
without the land being surrendered (s. 58(3)). It was under this section that the
Minister had the power to make the ten-year lease to the defendant which expired on
November 30, 1960,

Under this Act there are only two ways in which this defendant could be lawfully in
possession of this farm, either under a {ease made by the Minister for the benefit of
any Indian under s. 58(3}, or under a permit under s. 28(2}.

Evidence was given of attempted arrangements between the defendant and the pur-
chaser and the assignec of the purchaser under s. 50(2) which would have enabled
the defendant to remain In possession af a rental which would have made it passible
for the purchuser to niake his installment payments. The Crown Look the position that
these attempted arrangements were irrelevant, the Department not having consented
1o any further lease or permit This objection was properly taken and the attempted
arrangements do not assist in any way the defendant's claim to remain in
possession. ¢

The importance of the Deverenx decision is in its finding that Crown consent
in the guise of a lease or permit is a necessary condition precedent to occu-
pation or use of reserve land.

M.D. Sloan Consultants Ltd. v. Derrickson™ is a recent authority con-
firming the necessity of a written permit under section 28. In that case, the
British Columbia Court of Appeal was asked to consider the effect of a pur-
ported agreement between a Band member (a “locatee”) and a third party to
lease a marina on reserve lands. The Court, after reviewing Fasterbrook and
Devereux, confirmed that the only way a locatee could validly grant an inter-
est in reserve land to a third party was either by way of a permit under
subsection 28(2) or a lease under subsection 58(3). Goldie JA stated:

To the extent that the plaintiff's claims rest upon the validity of the lease arrange-
ments of October 21, 1986, in respect to the use and occupation of the land porttion
of the Shelter Bay marina, they must fail. The policy behind s. 28(1} has been clearly
stated by the Supreme Court of Canada: see Easterbrook v. The King, [1931]1 DLR

466 The Oueen v. Devereux, [1965] SCR 567 a1 572-73,
467 M Sloan Consultants L& v. Derrichson (1991), 85 DLR (4th) 449 (BCCA).
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628, [1931] SCR 210, and The Queen v. Devereux (1965), 51 DIR (2d} 546,
[1965] SCR 567.

. In the Deverenx case the defendant went into possession of a parcel of reserve
land under an arrangement with a band member who was the locatee of the land.
This arrangement was held to be void under s, 28(1) and afforded Devereux no right
of possession and occupation after expiration of a Iease from the Crown in his favor
made under the provisions of 5. 58(3). .. .

But for 5. 28(1) T would have concluded that the lease arrangement evidenced by
the memorandum in writing dated October 21, 1980, supported Sloan's contention
that it had a leasehold interest in the lands in question for a period of 10 years.*®

In fact, the Court severed that portion of the agreement dealing with reserve
lands and found the defendant Derrickson in breach of the remainder of the
agreement dealing with chattels and non-reserve lands.

In neither Devereux nor Derrickson did the Courts indicate that lack of
band consent was the determinative factor. Subsection 28(1) wvoids any
attept by a band to agree unilaterally to a grant of reserve land unless the
necessary ministerial authorization is obtained. Therefore, the clear words of
the subsection mean that even a clear intention on the part of a band, or a
band member, will fail in the face of a lack of the necessary authorization by
way of permit.

This appreach to subsection 28(1) is supported by Re Atforney-General
of Nova Scotia and Millbrook Indian Band,*® in which the Nova Scotia
~ Court of Appeal considered whether an agreement between the Band and a
non-Indian, Ruth Rushton, purpoerting to allow occupation of reserve land
was void by virtue of the operation of subsection 28(1). The Court placed
great emphasis on the fact that there was no permit supporting the agreement
between the Band and the occupier, and held that this deficiency rendered
the agrecment void:

The reserve land on which the mobile park is sinsated is unsurrendered reserve
Iand and the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development has issued no per-
mit authorizing the use or occupation of the land pursuant to 5. 28(2) of the Jndian
Act, R3C 1970, ¢. 1-6, and, in particular, has issued no permit suthorizing the use or
occupation of the fand by Mrs. Rushton.

Section 28(2) permits the Minister to authorize a person, not 2 member of the
hand, to occupy or. use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise rights on a
reserve. It is a validating provisien qualifying s. 28(1), which reads as follows:

468 M.D. Sloan Consuitants Lid v. Derrickson (1951), 85 DIR. (4th) 449 at 455 {BCCA).
469 Re Attorney-General of Nova Scotia and Millbrook Indian Band (1978), 93 DIR (3d) 230 (NSCA).

I
344



QU’'APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY

I

28(1) Subjeci to subsection {2}, a deed, lease, contract, instrument, document
or agreement of any kind whether written or oral, by which 4 band or a member of a
band purports to permit 2 person other than a mewmber of that band to occupy or use
4 reserve or 1o reside or otherwise exercise any rights on 4 reserve is void.

Any agreement by Mrs. Rushton with the Millbrook Indian Band respecting her
occupancy of reserved land in the mobile park is clearly void by virtue of s.
28(1).m

The decision of Mahoney ] of the Federal Court's Trial Division in
Springbank Debydration Ltd. v. Charles¥* further illustrates that the lack of
a permit under subsection 28(2) voids an agreement attempting to convey a
right of occupation and use of reserve lands. In that case, Mahoney ]
declined to grant an injunction to the plaintiff corporation on the basis that
the statement of claim was predicated upon, but failed to disclose, an interest
in certain reserve lands.

The plaintiff was the sublessee of about 400 acres of reserve land under a
lease in which the Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs had covenanted
that, if the head lease should be terminated, a new lease for the balance of
the term of the sublease would be granted to the plaintiff. On June 26, 1976,
the plaintiff and the Band entered into an agreement in writing whereby it
was agreed that 160 acres of other reserve lands would be lezsed to the
plaintiff in substitution for 180 acres of the leased lands, the resulting parcel
of some 380 acres being referred to in the judgment as the “Consolidated
lands.” Soon thereafter, the head lessee decided to surrender its lease effec-
tive September 30, 1976, and on September 2, 1976, pursuant to his cove-
nant, the Minister made an offer, open to Septembér 29, 1976, to lease the
original 400-acre parcel to the plaintiff. On September 28, the Band Council,
by resolution, ratified, approved, and confirmed the agreement of June 26
and requested the Minister to grant a lease of the Consolidated lands to the
plaintiff. Relying on the agreement of June 26 and the resolution of Septem-
ber 28, the plaintiff did not accept the Minister’s offer and expended money
on the Consolidated lands. No permit had been issued pursuant to subsection
28(2) of the Indian Act, however.

The Band then decided to go into business for itself on the Consolidated

lands and the plaintiff commenced an action seeking, among other things,

injunctive relief. Mahoney J. concluded:

470 Re Attorney-General of Nova Scotia and Millbrook Indian Band (1978), 93 DIR (3d) 230 at 231 (NSCA).
471 Springbank Deyhdration Lid. v, Charles, [1978] 1 IC 188 (TD).
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As I indicated at the close of the hearing, I am satisfied that, if the staternent of
claim discloses that the plaintiffs now have an interest in any of the lands, the injunc-
tion ought lo issue in respect thercof.

... The interest in the Consolidated lunds depends entirely on the effect of the
agreement of June 26, 1976 and the subsequent resolution of the Band Council. . . .

The agreement as to the Consolidated lands would appear to be clearly void by
virtue of subsection 28(1), That matter has been dealt with too often to be open
to any doubt in spife of apparent equities. Likewise, the resolutfon can bave no
effect, the agreement being void, ™

Because the plaintiff's claim for injunctive relief was premised entirely on its
ability to establish a subsisting legal interest in the Consolidated lands, and
because no such interest was made out, the injunction was not granted.

In its earlier reports dealing with the surrenders of reserve lands by the
Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin First Nations, the Commission has had occa-
sion to review at length the competing policies of autonomy and protection
inherent in the Indian Act, and the discussion of those policies in cases like
Apsassin and Chippewas of Kettle and Stony Point. The central principles
in those cases have recently heen renewed afresh in Opefchesabt, in which
Major J, as already noted, stated:

¥

With the twin policies of autonomy and protection in mind, s. 37 and s. 28(2) reflect
that, depending on the nature of the rights granted, different levels of autonomy and
protection are accorded. Section 37 demonstrates a high degree of protection, in that
the approval of the Governor in Council and the vote of all of the members of the
band are required. This indicates that s. 37 applies where significant rights, usually
permanent and/or total rights in reserve lands are being transferred. On the other
hand, under s. 28(2), lesser dispositions are contemplated and the interest trans-
ferred must be temporary. It is evident from a review of this permit that it does not
violate the balance between autonomy and protection siruck by the Indian Act. This
is not a case where surrender, with all of its administrative and legal impositions was
required in terms of the overall policy of the fndian Act™

On one hand, autonomy is achieved by respecting and honouring decisions
that bands make with regard their reserve lands. On the other hand, protec-
tion of the Indian land base is achieved by requiring Crown consent to many
transactions contemplated under the fudian Act. The scheme of the Act is to

472 Springbank Deybdration Itd. v. Charles, {1978] 1 FC 188 at 191 {TD). Ta reaching this concluslon, Mahoney
J footnoted the McMaster and Fasterbrook cases and the further decision of the Exchequer Court in The King 12
Cowichan Agricuftural Socloty, [1950) Ex, CR 448.

473 Opetchasabt Indian Band v. Canada (1997), unreported, May 22, 1997 (SGC Ie no. 24161), p. 21, Major J.
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attempt to balance these competing policies by requiring both the band and
the Grown to consent to dispositions of land. If a court were to uphold an
agreement unilaterally entered into by a band or band member purporting to

- transfer an interest in reserve land without Crown consent, the entire under-
lying purpose of protecting the Indian land base against erosion would be
frustrated. As the Commission recently stated in its report dealing with the
claim of the Eel River Bar First Nation:

If use and occupation of reserve lands through means other than those specified in
the frdian Act, including uses allowed solely by the Band, were sanclioned, the
Crown would be released from its protective responsibility, contrary to the intent of
the fredian Act and the policy that undetlies it. Accordingly, unless the use and occu-
pation has been authorized by the Crown in one of the forms contemplated by the Act
— surrender, expropriation, or permit — the use and occupation of reserve land is
contraty to the Act.™

With these considerations in mind, we must now consider the 1977 Band
Council Resolutions and any written or oral agreement or agreements under-
lying them. These instruments must surely constitute one or more of the
deeds, leases, contracts, instruments, docunents, or agreements “of any kind
whether written or oral” enumerated in subsection 28(1), and thus they
must fall within the scope of this subsection. As a result, since-no-pefriits
have ever been-issued under Subsection (2), but subject to our commenis
below, the clear terms of subsection (1) provide that the Band Council Reso-
lutions and any underlying written or oral seftlement agreements must be
considered void.

Moreover, while it may have been arguable that the failure to issue permits
in 1977 might be cured even at this late date by issuing them now, that
option is not available in this case because the nature of the interest granted
to the PFRA is not amenable to being authorized under subsection (2) in any
event. The Commission is thus faced with the dilemma of a settlement that
was wrongly conceived, but pursuant to which funds were paid over to the
three western Bands and apparently spent by them,

Bearing in mind the Commission's earlier conclusion that a permit under
subsection 28(2) could not be used to authorize the flooding of reserve
lands given the scope of the interest involved, we would conclude that, but
for subsection 28(1), the settlements evidenced by the 1977 Band Council

474 Indisn Claims Commission, Fel River Bar First Nation Inguiry: Report on Fel River Dam Clatm{Qltawa,
December 1997}, 116.
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Resolutions would have been valid. However, subsection 28(1) drives us to
the conclusion that the settlement was void insofar as it purported to permit
the PFRA “to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise any
rights on a reserve.”

The next question we must consider is whether the settlement, which
released the PFRA “from all past, present and future claims” arising from the
flooding caused by the dams, is effective to preclude the QVIDA First Nations
from claiming damages notwithstanding subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act.

Did the Band Council Resolutions Release Canada
and the PFRA from Liability?

Powers of Band Councils

The QVIDA First Nations contend that, if the Commission concludes that the
Band Council Resolutions were not void ab initio, only then does it become
necessary to determine whether a Band Council Resolution can release a
third party from liability. The corollary to the First Nations’ assertion is that,
if the Band Council Resolutions were void ab initio, it should be unneces-
sary to consider whether a Band Council Resolution can have such a releas-
ing effect.

Canada’s position is, of course, premised on the assumption that 2 Band
Council Resolution can be used to release a third party from liability. It
derives this conclusion from the principle that the ability to pursue an action
is a power that is necessarily incidental to the powers expressly granted to a
band council under the Indian Act. In its written submission, Canada stated:

The court in Whitebear Band Council v. Carpenters Provincial Council of Sas-
katchewan and Labour Relations Board of Saskatchewan™ describes the roles and
powers of a band council as follows:

(iii) The nature of the Band Courcil

As municipal councils are “creatures” of the Legislatures of the Provinces, so
Indian band councils are the “creatures” of the Parliament of Canada. Parliament
in exercising the exclusive jurisdiction conferred upon it by s. 91(24) of the Brit-
ish North America Act, 1867 to legislate in relation to “Indians and Lands
Reserved for the Indians” enacted the Indian Act, RSC 1970, c. I-6, which pro-
vides — among its extensive provisions for Indian statvs, civil rights, assistance,
and so on, and the use and management of Indian reserves — for the election of a

475 Whitebear Band Council v, Carpenters Provincial Council of Saskatchewan and Labour Relations Board of
Savkatchewan (1982), 135 DIR (3d) 128 at 133 and 134 (Sask. CA).
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chief and 12 councillors by and from among the members of an Indian band
resident on an Indian reserve. These elected officials constitute Indian band coun-
cils who in general terms are intended by Parliament to provide some measure —
even if rather rudimentary — of local government in relation to life on Indian
reserves and o act as something of an intermediary between the band and the
Minister of Indian Affairs.

More specifically s. 81 of the Act clothes Indian band councils with such pow-
ers and duties In relation to an Indian reserve and ils inhabitants are usually
associated with 4 rural municipality and its council: a band council may enact by-
laws for the regulation of traffic; the construction and maintenance of public
works; zoning; the control of public games and amusements and of hawkers and
peddlers; the regulation of the construction, repair znd use of buildings, and so
on. Hence 2 band council exereises — by way of delepation from Parliament —
these and other municipal and governmental powers in relation Lo the reserve
whose inhabitants have elected it.

1 think it worth noting that the Jndian Act contemplates 2 measured maturing
of self-govemment on Indian reserves, Section 69 of the Act empowers the Gover-
nor in Council “to permit” a hand to manage and spend its revenue moneys —
pursuant to regulation by the Governor in Council — and by s. 83 the Governor in
Council may declare that a band “has reached an advanceld] stage of develop-
ment” in which event the band council may, with the approval of the Minister,
raise money by way of assessment and taxation of reserve fands and the licensing
of reserve businesses. Until then the band council derives its funds principally
from the government of Canada. . . .

In addition to their municipal and governmental funciion, band councils are
dlso empowered, by the Indian Ack, to perform an advisory role and in some
cases to exercise 2 power of veto, with respect to certain activities of the Minister
in relation to the reserve, including, the spending of Indtan moneys, both capital
and revenue, and the use and possession of reserve iands.

Moreover, in light of the provisions of the single contribution agreement and
some of the terms of the consolidated contribution agreement, it appears that in
practice, Indian band counclls from time to time act as agents of the Minister of
Indian Affairs and representatives of the members of the reserve with respect to
the implementation of certain federal Governmcnt programmes designed for
Indian reserves and their residents — a complimentary role consistent with their
function.

The powers of hand councils to contract as a necessary incident of the powers
expressly granted to them under the frdian Act is discussed directly in the decision
of the Alberta Court of Queen's Bencll in Telecom Leasing Canada (TLC) Lid. v.
Enoch Indian Band of Stony Plain Indian Reserve No. 135.¢ This case dealt with
whether a band council could enter into a guarantee of a lease to a4 corporate lessee

476 Telecom Leasing Canada (TLC) Lid. v. Enoch Indian Band of Stony Plain Indian Reserve No. 135, [1993] 1
WWR 373, [1994] 1 CNLR 204 at 208 and 209 (Alta. QR).
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of certain road construction equipment. The court concluded that the band councit
was so authorized:

The more significant question is whether the band council had the power to enter
into such an agreement on behalf of the band. The defendant submits that it did
not. The defendant argues that the band council derives its powers solely from
statute, and entering into-a contract of guarantee is not among the powets enu-
merated in the fudian Act. Rather, the defendant argues, approval of the band as
a whole and not just the council was needed.

1 disagree. Although the band council is clearly a creature of statute, deriving its
authority solely from the fndian Act (Paul Band (Indian Reserve No. 133) v. R.,
[1984] 2 WWR 540, 29 Alta. LR (2d) 310 (sub nom. R. v. Paul Indian Band)
(1984] 1 CNIR 87, 50 AR 190 (CA), at p. 549 [WWR, p. 94 CNLR], it &y
necessity must bave powers in addition to those expressly set out in the stat-
ufe. This was recognized by the British Columbia Supreme Court in Lindley v.
Derrickson (March 29, 1976), [1978] CNLB (No. 4) 75, wherein it was held that
4 “band councif must have the implied power to bring legal proceedings on hehalf
of the band” {p. 84). In this regard T accept the suggestion Jack Woodward
advances in his book Native Lzw (loronto: Carswell, 1989), at p. 166: . ..

It may be said that band councils possess at least all the powers necessary
to effectively carry out their responsibilities under the Indian Act, even
when not specifically provided for. There is an implied power (o contract,
without the need for authority in the Indian Act.

The British Columbia Supresmne Courl arrived at a similar conclusion in foe v. Findlay
and Findlay " 1n this case the band council was attempting to recover possession of
some reserve [ands from a band member that had stopped paying rent. In response to
the question of whether the band council had authority to pursue the action, the court
states:

. To say that [the council] has the power to allocate reserve land but no status to
recover possession when rights it has granted have expired would, it seems to me,
be to deny the council the ability effectively to carry out this important function.
Council cannot exercise the legal authority vested in it if it has not the status in law
to bring such an action 45 this against those who overhold.

Accordingfy, it is submilied that the band councils had the authority to, and did, bind
their respective First Nations with respect to releasing Canada and the PFRA from all
damages as set out in the correspondence and the BCRs.

The QVIDA First Nations submitted that, if the Commission were to con-
clude that the Band Council Resolutions were not void @b initio, the case law

477 foe v. Findlay and Findlay (1987}, 12 BCLR (2d) 166, [1987] 2 CNLR 75 at 81 (BCSC).
478 Submissions on Behalf of the Government of Canada, June 6, 1997, pp. 58-60.
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suggests that a Band Council Resolution may be used for the purpose of
releasing a third party from liability:

[W]hile a BCR cannot release Canada ot the Band from their obligations under the
Act, can a BCR release another party from liability to the First Nation? Case law has
established that a Council of a First Nation can institute, prosecute and defend a legal
action, and can bind a First Nation in 4 contractual sense.

These cases suggest that if the BCRs releasing PFRA were validly passed by the
Councils of the First Nations, they will likely be found 1o be binding on the First
Nations. A release is essentially 4 contractual agreement by which one party, in retum
for valuable consideration, agrees to give up a claim against the other. The power to
release a cause of action would be necessarily an atteibute of the power to “institiste,
prosecute and defend a court action”. Tn this case, the releases appear to have been
entered into by the First Nations in retumn for the $265,000 in compensation {rom
PFRA, and the First Nations appear to have been acting with legal advice. Based on
these factors, it appears that the BCRs could bind the First Nations, in so far as they
release PFRA from liability for past, present and future damages due to flooding. "

Although it appears that a band council may, by resolution, “institute, prose-
cute and defend a legal action, and can bind a First Nation in a contractual
sense,” in the Commission’s view the question is by ne means without doubt
on the facts in this case. However, in light of our reasons that follow, it is not
necessary for the Commission to decide the question here.

Extent of Release

Assuming that a band council can release a third party from lability for the
unauthorized use and occupation of reserve land, it is questionable whether
the Band Council Resolutions in this case release Canada generally from lia-
bility, or only the PFRA. The First Nations point to cases like Apsassin as
authority for the proposition that the courts are “showing an increasing will-
ingness to treat different arms of the federal government as distinct entities
for purposes of determining liability to First Nations for past wrongs.”*? In
Apsassin, the Supreme Court of Canada held that the Department of Indian
Affairs was under a fiduciary obligation to undo a land transaction that had

479 Submissions on Behalf of the QVIDA First Nations, May 5, 1997, pp. 68-69. In making the statement thal
“[c]ase law has established that 2 Council of a First Nalien can institule, prosecute and defend a legal action,
and cae bind 2 First Nation in 4 contractual sense,” the First Nations relied on the following authorities:
Wewayakum Indian Band v. Wewayakal indian Band (cited as Roberts v. ), [1991] 3 FC 420 at 428-29
(1D, Addy J, Telecom Leasing Canada (TLC) Lid v. Bnoch Indian Band, [1993] 1 WWR 373 at 376-77 (Alia
(B), Wachowich 1: Gitenmaax Indian Band v. British Columbia Hydro and Power duthority (1991), 84
DIR (4th) 562 (BCSC).

480 Submissions on Behalf of the QVIDA First Nations, May 5, 1997, p. 69,
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been discovered to be unfavourable to the Band, whereas no such obligation
was explicitly imposed on the Veterans’ Land Administration, notwithstanding
its status as another arm of the federal Crown. The QVIDA First Nations claim
that the release in this case applies only to the PFRA. They say that, because
Indian Affairs was only minimally involved in the settlement negotiations, it
failed to uphold its fiduciary responsibilily to ensure that the provisions of the
Indian Act were complied with, and failed to protect the Bands’ interests
with regard to the foreseeable damage that would result from the erection of
the Qu'Appelle Valley dams.

Canada takes a different view. Counsel argued that the Prairie Farm Reba-
bilitation Act simply set up a pool of money to be administered by the fed-
eral Minister of Agriculture to deal with drought and soil-drifting problems in
Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Alberta:

Now the Minister of Agricullure is, of course, a minister of the government, just like
the Minister of Indian Affairs or, at that time, the Minister of the Interior, and is
Canada inasmuch as any Department of Her Majesty can represent Canada

In short, the argument is that, by releasing the PFRA, which is one arm of
Canada, the QVIDA Bands released Canada.

In the Commission’s view, it is not necessary to determine whether the
First Nations are correct in their assertion that it is possible to sever the
PFRA, to which the releases were granted, and pursue the unreleased
remainder of the federal government. The real difficulty in this case centres
on the fact that there is considerable doubt, based on the evidence before the
Commission, whether the Pasqua, Muscowpetung, and Standing Buffalo First
Nations suffered any damages for which they have not been fully compen-
sated in 1977. Furthermore, to succeed on this ground, the First Nations
would have to demonstrate that Canada was in breach of its fiduciary obliga-

tions by failing to protect them from entering into an exploitative bargain with

the PFRA. In our assessment of the evidence, it is difficult to see how this
transaction could be characterized as exploitative in either the procedural
sense of the word or in the end result.

Presumably, in the context of the 1977 settlement negotiations beiween the
PFRA and the western QVIDA Bands, Canada’s obligation was to ensure that
those dealings did not result in a transaction that was, in the words of
McLachlin | in Apsassin, foolish or improvident and thus exploitative of the

481 TG Transceipt, June 26, 1997, pp. 119-2¢ (Bruce Becker},
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Bands. In this case, the Bands had the benefit of independent legal advice.
Indeed, Indian Affairs was asked to stay out of the negotiations because it was
believed that lawyer Roy Wellman would not be limited in the way the Depart-
ment would be, and that he would be better able to plead the Bands’ case. To
Wellman's credit, he was successful in negotiating a settlement of $265,000,
which was roughly 10 times higher than the PFRA’s opening position and
double its “confidential” position. In fact, the final seitlement figure of
$265,000 was proposed by the Bands in the first place. It is difficult to
understand how Canada, having seen that the Bands received the benefit of
independent legal advice, and having reviewed the settlement and accepted
the recommendation of the Department of Regional Economic Expansion that
the settlement was “reasonable and justifiable,” can be said to have failed in
fulfilling its fiduciary obligations to the Bands. In this context, we find the
following words of Urie JA in the Kruger case to be apt:

In essence, however unhappy [the members of the First Nation] were with the pay-
ments made, they accepted them. The payments were for sums which could be sub-
stantiated by the independent valuations received by both parties and which were
determined after extensive negotiations and forceful representations on the Indians’
behalf by the Indian Agent and other high officials of the Indian Affairs Branch. [f the
stbmissions advanced by the appellants were to prevadl, the only way that the
Croum could successfully escape a charge of breach of fiduclary duty in such
circumstances would bave been, in each case, to have acceded in full to their
demands or to withdraw from the transactions entirely. The competing obliga-
tions on the Crown could not permit such a result. The Crown was in the position
that it was obliged to ensure that the best interests of all for whom its officials had
responsihility were protected. The Governor in Council became the final arbiter. /7
the final analysis, however, if the appeliants were so dissatisfied with the expro-
priations and the Crown’s offers, they could have utilized the Exchequer Court fo
determine the issues. Tor whatever reasons, they elected not io make these choices.
They accepled the Crown's offers and, at least én the case of Parcel B, the offer was
at the figure which they bad suggested. 1 fail 10 see, then, how they could now
successfully attack, after so many years, the settlements to which they agreed. ™

Kruger was clearly decided in the context of an expropriation, with inde-
pendent valuations and forceful representations on the Band’s behalf by offi-
cials in Indian Affairs. Despite the obvious differences in Kruger, there are
important analogies to the facts before us. First, the QVIDA Bands had inde-
pendent legal advice from Wellman, who forcefully represented their interests

482 Eruger v. The Queen, [1985] 3 CNLR 15 at 51 (FCA), Lie JA.
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throughout the negotiations leading up to the 1977 settlement. Second, the
Bands also could have rejected the 1977 settlement in favour of a litigated
resolution, but chose not to do so. Finally, J.D. Leask, Indian Affairs’ Director
General for the Saskatchewan Region, reviewed the settlement and concluded
that it was “fair and just.”

The only manner in which it might be said that Indian Affairs fell short was
in the fact that no independent valuations were obtained by either party. It
will be recalled that the parties had initially agreed to proceed by having the
PFRA prepare engineering assessments to quantify the areas affected. The
Bands later asked to proceed in the absence of such assessments to avoid
prolonging the process and incurring greater expense. In the result, the valu-
ation chosen was the Bands' own figure, to which the PFRA initially made
strident objection. Ultimately, to use the language of Urie JA in Kruger, the
PFRA “acceded in full” to the Bands’ proposed terms. The PFRA rationalized
the Bands’ proposal as “reasonable and justifiable” by claiming to have paid
the “present value of lost returns to the land between 1943 and the present
[19771,” and fair market value for the flooded areas with regard to future
damages, but clearly the settlement represented the Bands’ figure. With these
circumstances in mind, we would be hard pressed to conclude that the
absence of independent valuations operated to the Bands' detriment in 1977.

Severability of the 1977 Settlement

Even if the 1977 settlement was fair and reasonable, subsection 28(1) ren-
ders void any agreement whether written or oral “by which a band or a
member of a band purports to permit a person other than a member of that
band to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise any rights
on a reserve.” What, then, are we to make of a settlement that contemplates
damages for past trespasses as well as compensation and permits for future
use and occupation, particularly where proceeding by way of such a permit
was, in our view, invalid? Moreover, what is the effect of the money actually
having been paid by the PFRA to the benefit of the Bands, and having been
spent by them? Finally, what is the effect of the Bands having passed later
Band Council Resolutions purporting to rescind the resolutions adopting the
settlement?

We will address the last question later in this report. With regard to the
first two questions, we believe that the issue to be decided is whether subsec-
tion 28(1) of the Indian Act renders the entire 1977 settlement void, or
whether parts of the seitlement can be severed and can remain effective not-

|
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withstanding the fact that other parts of the seftlement are clearly illegal and
thus void.

To understand the effect of the words in subsection 28(1) that render an
agreement “void” unless the requirements of subsection 28(2) have been
met, it is instructive to consider the following analysis by G.ILL. Fridman
regarding “illegal” contracts:

* Invalidity through illegality. . . .

(b} Megaliey and other kinds of invalidity. .. .

A contract for a purpose regarded by the law as improper, though it conforms to all
other requirements of a valid transaction, will lack essential validity, and, therefore,
will be void. Invalidity through illegality refers to the infringement by a contract of
some statute or doctrine of the common law relating to the purpose or object to be
achieved by such contract. The term “illegality”, in this sense, does not mean “crimi-
nal”. An illegal contract, though invalid and therefore void, does not necessarily
involve the conlracting parties in Yability for criminal conduct. However, the term
“lllegality” has been used to cover contracts which may have consequences in the
criminal law, under the Criminal Code in Canada (or under statute or the common

- law in England}, as well as the consequence of contractual invalidity.

{c) IHlegality and voidness

In the history of contracts which are invalid at common law the courts have fre-
quently used the expression “illegal” to mean not only 2 contract which is undoubt-
edly illegal under stamte or under one of the heads of public policy to be examined
later, but also a contract which at common law is not completely and truly illegal. As -
clarified by Denning L.J. in the Enplish case of Bennett v. Bennett,* some of these
“lllegal” contracts at common law were not, and are not now, illegal in the fullest
sense. They are really void to the extent of their illegality, but may be enforced as to
the rest, if the fllepal part can he severed from the legal. Thus, a contract in restraint
of trade is void, but not illegal; insofar as it is possible to excise the illegal restraint
from the rest of the contract, this will be done. In the more sophisticated language
and Ideas of the twentieth century, coniracls may be invalid, in whole or in pan,
without being fllegal, and suclt invalidity may arise under statute or by virlue of the
commen law. Canadian cases, however, do not appear to make the same subtle dis-
tinctions. They seem to use the phrases “illegal” and “void” interchangeably, and to
make no real differentiation between different classifications of invalidity, even though
they have accepted and apply the English doctrines as to severability in relation to
contracts in restraint of trade and others, upon the basis of which the distinction
between voidness and illegality may be said to rest. . ..

One distinction does merit recogaition, and that is the distinction between invalid-
ity under statute and by virtue of the common law. There are sufticient differences
between the pature of the invalidity in question and the operation of the relevant

483 Bennetf v. Bennest, [1952] 1 KB 249 at 160 {CA).
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doctrines to justify classification of the types of invalidity in accordance to whether the
source is some stamte or some rule of the common law.

2. Statutory illegality

{a) Prohibition by statute ’

In this contexi the statutes concerned are nol per se criminal, that is, the Criminal
Code. They are statutes of a regulatory nature, the infringement of which may involve
illegality. The prohibition of 4 contract by such a statute renders the contract void and
of no effect. . .

In the present case, there is no question that subsection 28(1) of the
Indian Act gives rise to the sort of stamtory illegality contemplated by
Fridman. Unless the requirements of subsection 28(2) have been satisfied, an
agreement by which a band or a member of a band purports to permit a
person other than a member of that band to occupy or reside or otherwise
exercise any rights on a reserve is void, at least to the extent of its illegality.
However, the balance of such agreements may be enforced, if, to use
Fridman’s words, “the illegal part can be severed from the legal.”

On the question of severance, Fridman continues:

/

A . .. very imporiant qualification of the doctrine of the voidness of illegal contracts is
the idea of severance. Sometimes a court will recognize the separation of valid [rom
objectionable parts of a contract, and, while refusing to enforce the latter, will give
effect to the former. In this connection it should be mentioned that the argument that
there is a distinction between illegal and void (but not illegal) contracts, whether by
statute or common law, may depend upon the application of the idea of severance, If
the consideration for a promise or set of promises is illegal, then all the promises.
which rest on, or are dependent upon such consideration will be invalid. If some of
the promises are dependent upon such illegal consideration, whether illegal at com-
mon law or under statute, while others have an independent existence, and rest upen
consideration whicli is not ifself illegal, then such independent promises may be
enforceable apainst the other party. This distinction lies at the root of the illegal-void
dichotomy. To quote from one English case which is said to support this

. .. there are two kinds of illegality of differing effect. The first is where the illegal-
ily is criminal, or contra bonos mores, and in those eases . . . such a provision, if
an ingredient in a conteact, will invalidate the whole, although there may be other
provisions in it. There is a second kind of illegality which has no such taint; the
other terms in the contract stand if the illegal portion can be severed, the illegal
portion being a provision which the court, on the grounds of public policy, will
not enforce, % : .

484 G.H.L. Pridman, The Law of Coniract in Canada, 2! ed. (Toronto/Calgary/Vancouver: Carswell, 1986), 321-25.
485 Goodinson v. Goodinson, [1954] 2 QB 118 at 120-21 (CA), Somervell IJ.
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it is suggested, by way of response, that in reality the test of the effect of the contract,
in terms of its being wholly illegal or only partially void, must depend upon: (1) the
policy of the common-law rule or statutory provision Lhat is invoked, namely, can it
be limited in its scope and application; and (2} whether, in the circumstances, not
only is the contract one thal is potentially severable, but severable in fact, having
regard to the way the parties have contracied. Thus, the operation of the doctrine of
severance resls upon its applicability to the type of contract that is in issue, as well as
upon the practical question whether the pariicular contract before the court, though
potentially severable, admits of severance.®

Therefore, to determine whether the 1977 setilement must be considered
wholly illegal or only partially void, it would be necessary to consider, first,
whether the scope and application of subsection 28(1) can and should be
limited, and, second, whether the settlement itself is severable in fact, having
regard to the manner in which the parties have contracted.

However, in light of the positions the parties have taken in this inquiry, it
would be premature for the Commission to decide these questions at this
stage. Neither party has addressed the important question of severability of
contractual terms in its written submission because each has taken an “all or
nothing” approach — Canada seeking to uphold the entire settlement, and the
QVIDA First Nations submitting that it should be declared entirely void.

As already stated, the Commission is of the view that Canada's position
cannot be sustained. By virtue of subsection 28(1), the settlement must be
either completely void, as the First Nations contend, or, if the settlement is
severable, it is at the very least void in relation to the proposed permit and
any pre-paid damages from 1977 into the future,

Assuming, without deciding the point, that the entire 1977 seitlement is
void, and assuming that the dams will continue to remain in place, it will be
necessary for the parties to enter info negotiations to obtain the proper
authority to flood reserve lands and to determine whether any compensation
is still owed to the QVIDA First Nations on account of damages from the
1940s to the present and into the future. In that event, the position of Pasqua,
Muscowpetung, and Standing Buffalo would be no different from that of
Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace, except to the extent of the set-off to
be factored into the negotiations. Any amount negotiated with regard to Mus-
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo would have to set off $265,000 in
1977 dollars, whereas a settlement with the three eastern First Nations would

486 2.H.L. Fridman, The Law of Contract in Canada, 2¢ ed, (Toi'onlo/CalgaryNancouven Carswell, 1986), 399-
01.

I
357



IxD1aN CLAIMS COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS

have to reflect the compensation of $3330 paid to them in 1943, less the $60
credited to the Cowessess Indian Residential School.

Alternatively, and again without deciding the point, if the portion of the
settlement dealing with the damages for trespass before 1977 can be severed
and remain in effect, it will still be necessary for the three western First
Nations to renegotiate compensation from 1977 to the present and into the
future. It is true that the effect of severing the settlement in this fashion would
be to reduce by 35 vears the period with respect to which compensation
must be renegotiated, again subject to set-off of some portion of the compen-
sation already paid in 1977. However, the important point is that, regardless
of whether the seftlement is severable, further negotiations between Canada
and the three western First Nations seem inevitable in view of the fact that
subsection 28(2) of the Indian Act could not be used to grant authority to
the PFRA to flood reserve lands in the Qu'Appelle Valley. Similarly, since it
was not open to Canada to authorize use and occupation of reserve lands
commercing in the early 1940s under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act,
negotiations with the three eastern First Nations are likewise required.

Because we are without the henefit of argument on the question of sever-
ability,-we do 1ot know whether the parties differ on this issue. We assume
that the three western First Nations will continue to assert that the 1977 set-
tlement should be considered entirely void. However, it is not inconceivable
that Canada might also wish to take this position in preference to severing the
settlement if it believes that the compensation paid in 1977 adequately com-
pensated the First Nation for its damages. Since all six First Nations partici-
pating in this inquiry will in any event be required to negotiate or renegotiate
some or all aspects of the compensation paid to them, we recommend that
the question be resolved in the following fashion.

Unless Canada chooses to remove the control structures at Echo Lake,
Crooked Lake, and Round Lake, it should take immediate steps to secure the
necessary land rights required from all six participating First Nations to con-
tinue the operation of those structures. Whether it chooses to acquire the fee
simple or some lesser interest such as a right of way should be based on two
considerations: ensuring that the interest acquired from each First Nation is
sufficient to achieve the objectives for which that interest is acquired, while at
the same time (to quote from the Commission’s decision in the Sumas
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inquiry) doing “as little injury as possible to the indians interests.”*7 Simi-
larly, whether Canada acquires the required interests in land by surrender —~
assuming that the First Nations would be prepared to consent — or expropria-
tion is a decision best left to Canada after weighing and balancing the various
interests of the First Nations with those of the other parties that Canada must
consider.

Canada and the six First Nations should also negotiate the remaining com-
pensation, if any, payable to the First Nations for the use and occupation of
the lands flooded by the control structures. As noted, the compensation paid
to the three western Bands in 1977, and the use and occupation of their
reserve lands by Canada since the early 1940s, should be factored into the
compensation payable. Similarly, the compensation paid to the eastern Bands
in 1943, and the PFRA's use and occupation of the lands since that time,
should be factored into the compensation payable to those First Nations. If
Canada and the western First Nations are unable to agree on whether the
period from the early 1940s to 1977 can be severed and treated as settled, or
if any First Nation is otherwise unable to agree with Canada on the outstand-
ing compensation, if any, owed to that First Nation, it is open to the parties to
bring those issues back before the Commission for its recommendation fol-
lowing the submission of appropriate evidence and argument.

Could the Bands Rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions?

The QVIDA First Nations argue by analogy to municipal law that, “where a
body is delegated the power to pass bylaws or resolutions, that power
includes the power to repeal the bylaws and resolutions,” subject to restric-
tions where repealing a bylaw or resolution would affect “vested rights of
third parties.” In this case, the First Nations contend that, while it might
appear that the PFRA had vested rights as a result of the preceding constmc-
tion and operation of the Echo Lake dam, the PFRA should not be protected
by the vested rights doctrine since the 1977 Band Council Resolutions did not
create vested rights and the flooding before 1977 was not authorized. There-
fore, in the First Nations’ submission, it should have been open to them to
rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions as they subsequently purported
to do.

487 Indian Claims Commission, Sumas Inguiry: Report on Indian Reserve #6 Rai&u?[y Right of Wy Claim
(Otlawa, February 1995}, 4 ICCP 3 at 40. As already noted, this principle was affirmed by the Federal Court of
Appeal on June 24, 1997, in Semiabmoo [ndian Band v. Canada (unreporied), {1997] FCJ No. 842,
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If the 1977 seftlement was entirely void #b initio under subsection 28(1)
of the Indian Act, as the First Nations submit, this issue becomes academic
since it would not have heen necessary for the Bands to issue rescinding
- Band Council Resolutions to render the earlier resolutions ineffective. How-

ever, to the extent, if any, that the 1977 settlement can be considered valid
under section 28 of the Indian Act, the Commission agrees with counsel for
Canada that the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were merely one form of
evidence of an agreement between the PFRA and the western Bands regarding
the settlement of damages for past flooding as well as the compensation and
permits for future use and occupation of reserve lands. Other documents —
such as correspondence among the parties, payment of the sum of $265,000
by the PFRA to Indian Affairs for deposit to the respective Bands' trust
accounts, and the receipt and expenditure of those funds by the Bands —
would represent substantial evidence of this agreement even in the absence
of the 1977 Band Council Resolutions,

We do not consider the execution of these Band Council Resolutions by
the Bands as an exercise of their legislative power to pass bylaws or resolu-
tions, but rather as independent evidence of an intention to enter into a con-
tract. As parties {o a4 contract, the Bands are subject to the ordinary princi-
ples of offer and acceptance, consideration, capacity and so forth, assuming
that such principles apply to this sui generis field of law. To permit one party
to an agreement to withdraw unilaterally from that agreement without the

~concurrence of the other party would be contrary to basic principles of con-
tract law. S '

Therefore, regardless of whether the 1977 settlement was valid in part or
entirely void, we conclude that the rescinding Band Council Resolutions are
irrelevant for the purposes of determining the interests of the parties in this
case. :

Conclusions

To summarize, the Commission concludes that it was not open to Canada in
the early 1940s {o authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the 1927 Indign
Act to use and occupy reserve lands of the six participating QVIDA First
Nations for flooding purposes. That being the case, the purported authoriza-
tions granted by Canada at that time must be considered ineffective, such that
the PFRA has been in trespass on the eastern reserve lands ever since, and on
the western reserve lands uniil at least 1977. :
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With regard to the western First Nations, the 1977 settlement was void ab
initio under subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act, either entirely or at mini-
mum with respect to that portion of the settlement relating to the permits and
damages for future use and occupation looking forward from 1977. In any
event, the nature and duration of the future right to use and occupy reserve
land, as intended by the parties to be granted by the settlement, fell outside
the scope of the permits authorized by subsection 28(2). The effect of these
conclusions is that the PFRA remained in trespass on the Muscowpetung,
Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo reserves after 1977. However, whether the por-
tion of the settlement dealing with pre-1977 trespasses can be severed and
operate independently is an issue the parties should negotiate. If they are
unable to settle that issue or any other question relating to the quantum of
compensation arising out of the PFRA’s unauthorized use and occupation of
reserve lands, it is open to the parties to return to the Commission for a
further inquity into such matters. ;

ISSUE 5 ABORIGINAL, TREATY, AND RIPARIAN WATER RIGHTS

Did those QVIDA First Nations with reserves adjacent to or on both sides of
the Qu'Appelle River and lakes have common law riparian water rights,
including rights to the river beds? If so, did the Crown have an obligation to
ensure that these water rights were protected under the North-West Irriga-
tion Act, 1894, and the Dominion Power Act, and to act in the First Nations’
best interests when those rights might be affected? Moreover, did the Crown
act in the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations when it authorized the
PFRA to construct control structures that altered the First Nations' riparian
interests and caused consequential losses?

As the final aspect of their claim, the QVIDA First Nations claim to retain
aboriginal title and treaty rights to the bed and waters of the Qu'Appelle River
adjoining their respective reserves, in addition to the riparian rights accruing
at common Iaw to those in possession of land adjacent to 4 body of water.
The parties agree that riparian rights include the right of access to the water;
the right of drainage; rights relating to the flow, quality, and use of water; and
the right of accretion. The First Nations also contend that the Qu'Appelle
River is non-navigable, meaning that, by virtue of the common law principle
of ad medium filum aquae, a presumption arises that the First Nations, as
‘holders of riparian rights, also own the bed of the river and lakes to the

=
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centre line (where a given First Nation owns land on one side of the body of
water) or the entire bed (where a First Nation owns land on both sides of the
body of water).

In the first instance, the First Nations contend that Canada’s implementa-
tion of the North-West Irrigation Act in 1894 did not demonstrate the neces-
sary “clear and plain intention” that case authorities may indicate is required
to extinguish their aboriginal, treaty, and riparian rights. Alternatively, if their
interests were damaged by Canada’s implementation of the North-West Irri-
gation Act and its failure to protect those interests by licensing the Bands'
rights to use water for “domestic, irrigation and other purposes,” then the
First Nations argue that Canada breached fiduciary obligations to them. Fur-
ther breaches arose, in the First Nations™ submission, when Canada failed “t
protect those treaty and riparian interests which were not forfeited by the
North-west Irrigation Act, in permitting the flooding to take place which
resulted in not only economic losses but a loss of treaty hunting, fishing and
trapping rights.”4®

Counsel for Canada was perplexed by the First Nations’ claim under this
heading and contended that, for the following reasons, the Commission
should find no outstanding lawiul obligation owing by Canada for breach of
the First Nations’ water rights:

- The role of the Commission, Canada submits, is to assess whether a claim
is “eligible for negotiation” — in other words, “a claim must show some
loss or damage that is capable of being negotiated under the [Specific
Claims| Policy."® The Commission’s mandale does nof permit it to issue
declarations of legal rights or legal opinions concerning rights that are not

~ brought directly into issue by the loss or damage that forms the subject
matier of the claim.

- The claim in this inquiry is for loss of income from farming, hay produc-
tion, wood products, hunting, and trapping as a result of damage caused
by permanent and semi-permanent flooding of reserve lands. Canada con-
tends that the First Nations’ claim does not disclose which riparian rights
were affected by the North-West Irrigation Act, nor how a licence issued
under the Act would have preserved the rights claimed to have been
affected. Moreover, Canada further questions how the losses alleged relate
to the water rights claimed, and “how any such damages differ from the

488 Submissions on Behalf of the QVIDA First Nations, May 5, 1997, p
489 Submissious on Behall of the Govermment of Ganada, June 6, 199; p 6. Emphasis added.
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damages that are already being claimed as a result of the alleged illegal
flooding of the reserves.”*® Even if the Commission should find a breach of
the Bands’ water rights giving rise to a separate cause of action, Canada
submits that there is still only one set of damages eligible to be compen-
sated, whether it be under the water rights claim or under the preceding
claims for illegal use of reserve lands or breach of fiduciary duties.

In rebuttal, the First Nations added that they lost the ability to use the
waters of the Qu'Appelle River in the same manner as they had prior to the
erection of the dams, owing to pollution and other factors. Counsel also
noted that there could be other damages besides those contemplated by the
first four issues in these proceedings, such as special damages and punitive
damages, ™!

In the Commission’s view, it is unnecessary to address this issue in light of
our findings earlier in this report. Canada contends that any sustainable
claims by the First Nations arising out of aboriginal, treaty, or riparian water
rights appear to represent alternative causes of action giving rise to the same
damages dealt with in our comments relating to Canada’s inappropriate use
of section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act. If that is the case, then to the extent the
PFRA and its successors can be shown to have interfered with the Bands’
riparian or other water rights — whether rights of drainage, water quality, or
others in the catalogue of such rights — as a result of the erection and opera-
tion of the Qu'Appelle Valley dams, we are of the opinion that the First
Nations are entitled to claim compensation from the PFRA for the damages
caused by that interference. Those damages must be assessed with caution to
ensure that there is no element of “double counting” in compensating the
First Nations for their losses arising under alternative causes of action. Care
must also be taken in considering the compensation of $3270 paid to the
Cowessess, Ochapowace, and Sakimay Bands in 1943 and the settlement for
$265,000 with the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo Bands in
1977 1o prevent duplicate awards for the same damages. Canada takes the
position that all the First Nations have received all the compensation to which
they are entifled, subject to further investigations being undertaken regarding
the fairness of the $3270 paid to the eastern Bands in light of the possible
limitations in P.A. Fetterly's abilities as an appraiser. While we are not pre-
pared at this stage to conclude that the First Nations have been fully compen-

490 Submissions on Behalf of the Government of Canada, June 6, 1997, p. 62,
491 ICC Transcelpt, June 26, 1997, pp. 216-18 (David Knoll).
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sated, we recognize that such a finding represents one possible outcome of
the steps we recommend the parties take at this time.

Near the end of the oral session, counsel for the First Nations in rebuttal
raised the question of damages caused by pollution. The evidence before us
is equivocal at best as to whether raising the water levels in the Qu'Appelle
Valley has had the effect of increasing or mitigating pollution levels. On one
hand, some of the eldérs testified that water quality has decreased as the
dams have impeded the flow of the river and its natural “flushing” action. On
the other hand, there is documented historical evidence to show that, during
long periods of drought in the 1930s and at other times, low water levels
contributed to stagnation, leading to requests for dams to increase water
levels and enhance the diluting effects of having more water in the system.
There is also some technical evidence to suggest that all river systems have a
natural cycle in which they tend to become increasingly filled with sediment,
algae, and other natural “contaminants™ over the course of time, although
this process “can be accelerated by human activities which increase the rate
at which nutrients are contributed to the water.”* Without better evidence to
demonstrate how poltution levels have changed and how those levels can be
linked to the construction of the Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake
dams and other control structures in the Qu’Appelle Valley, we are unable to
decide this poirit. o

Finally, we do not believe it is necessary to comment on Canada’s alleged
failure to obtain licences in a timely manner to protect the Bands’ riparian or
other water rights following Canada’s passage of the North-West Irrigation
Act in 1894. As counsel for Canada argued, such licences appear to deal with
rights of consumption for domestic, agricultural, and other purposes, and no
damages arising from the failure to protect such consumptive rights have
been demonstrated to the Commission. For this reason, we will refrain from
deciding whether riparian or other water rights were extinguished by the
North-West Irrigation Act or other statutes, or whether the Crown failed to
protect these rights, such as they may be, on behalf of the Bands.

492 LK, Gillespie, Regional Engineering and Architectural Advisor, Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, to
W.AS, Barnes, District Supervisor, Touchwood Fle Hills Qu'Appelle District, Department of Indian and North-
crn Affairs, March 19, 1975, DIAND file 675/8-4, vol. 3 {ICC Documents, p. 966); Canada-Saskatchewan-
Manitoba, “Report of the Qu'Appelle Basin Study Board,” 1972 {iCC Exhibit 22, p. 13).
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PART V

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

FINDINGS

The Commission has been asked to inquire into and report on whether the
Government of Canada properly rejected the specific claim of the QVIDA First
Nations. In assessing the validity of the clzum we have considered the foliow-
ing issues:

1 Could the Crown authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the fdian Act,
1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes? If so, was
the PFRA so authorized? If not, did Canada breach its fiduciary obligations
to the QVIDA First Nations by failing to obtain proper authorization under
the Act?

2 If Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under section 34 of
the Indian Act, 1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding pur-
poses, did the Crown nevertheless have a fiduciary obligation to consult or
otherwise consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before
proceeding?

3 Did the terms of Treaty 4 preclude the Crown from relying on section 34
of the Indian Act, 1927, or otherwise require the consent of the QVIDA
First Nations to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for
flooding purposes?

4 Did the Band Council Resolutions signed by the Pasqua, Standing Buffalo,
and Muscowpetung First Nations in the 1970s effectively release the Crown
and the PFRA from all past, present, and future claims for damage caused
by the Echo Lake control structure built in the 1940s?
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5 Did those QVIDA First Nations with reserves adjacent to or on both sides
of the Qu'Appelle River and lakes have common law riparian water rights,
including rights to the river beds? If so, did the Crown have an obligation
to ensure that these water rights were protected under the North-Wes!
Irrigation Act, 1894, and the Dominion Power Act, and to act in the First
Nations’ best interests when those rights might be affected? Moreover, did
the Crown act in the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations when it
authorized the PFRA to construct control structures that altered the First
Nations' riparian interests and caused consequential losses?

Our findings are summarized as follows.

Issue 1: Section 34 of the Indian Act, 1927

Canada acknowledged that it had not acquired the right to use and occupy
reserve lands of the QVIDA First Nations by way of expropriation or surren-
der, so the question that remained was whether such use and occupation
could be authorized by the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs under
section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act. Based on the reasoning of the Supreme
Court of Canada in Opetchesabi, the Commission concludes that, even if sec-
tion 34 is assumed to be an enabling provision rather than merely prohibi-
tory, the rights conveyed to the PFRA were too extensive, exclusive, and per-
manent to be authorized under section 34. Moreover, unlike subsection
28(2) of the later Indian Act considered by the Court in Opetchesabt, sec-
tion 34 does not contemplate consent by either a band or 2 band council,
meaning that it should be interpreted even more narrowly than subsection
28(2). :

Since section 34 did not form an appropriate basis for authorizing use and
occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes in this case, it was not
necessary for the Commission to consider whether Canada actually did
authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands under the section. There-
fore, it was necessary for the PFRA to acquire by surrender or expropriation
the right to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes. Having failed
to do so, the PFRA has trespassed on the reserve lands of all six participating
First Nations from the early 1940s to at least 1977, and on the reserve lands
of the Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace First Nations to this day. The
impact of the 1977 settlement on the PFRA’s use and occupation of the
reserve lands of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First
Nations is addressed below.
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Issues 2 and 3: Canada’s Fiduciary and Treaty Obligations

Given that the Commission has concluded that it was inappropriate for
Canada to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding
purposes under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, it is unnecessary to
determine whether Canada breached a fiduciary or treaty obligation to con-
sult or otherwise consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before
proceeding.

Issue 4: Effects of the 1977 Band Council Resolutions
For the same reasons that we concluded that it was not open to Canada to
authorize the use and occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes
under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, Canada could not authorize such
use and occupation under subsection 28(2) of the 1970 Indian Act as part
of the 1977 settlement discussions with Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing
Buffalo. The present case is distinguishable from Opetchesaht and the Eel
River Bar First Nation inquiry because of the more extensive, exclusive, and
permanent interest granted to the PFRA than to the British Columbia Hydro
and Power Authority and the New Brunswick Water Authority in those other
cases. Moreover, the 1977 settlement was void @b énitio under subsection
28(1) of the Indian Act, either entirely or at minimum with respect to that
portion of the settlement relating to the permits and damages for future use
and occupation looking forward from 1977. The effect of these conclusions
is that the PFRA remained in trespass on the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and
Standing Buffalo reserves afler 1977. The question of whether any pre-1977
trespasses were settled by the 1977 scttlement depends on whether the Band
Councils had the power to enter into binding settlements with respect to the
unauthorized use and occupation of reserve lands and whether the release
clause in the 1977 Band Council Resolutions can be severed from those por-
tions of the agreement rendered void by suhsection 28(1) of the Indian Act.
Unless it chooses to remove the control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked
Lake, and Round Lake, Canada should immediately commence negotiations
to obtain, whether by surrender or expropriation, the interests in land it
requires for flooding purposes from all six reserves. Canada should also
commence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any,
payable to the Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace First Nations for flood-
ing damages since the 1940s, taking into account the $3270 received by
those First Nations as compensation in 1943. Similarly, Canada should com-
mence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any, payable

T .
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to the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First Nations for flooding
damages to those reserves, again taking into account the compensation of
$265,000 paid to the three First Nations under the terms of the 1977 settle-
ment. Whether the settlement entered into by the Band Councils in relation to
damages prior to 1977 is binding on the respective Bands, and whether this
part of the agreement can be severed and can operate independently to settle
the damages arising during that period, are issues the parties should negoti-
ate. If they are unable to seitle those issues or any other question relating to
the quantum of compensation arising out of the PFRA’s use and occupation
of reserve lands, the parties may return to the Commission for a further
inquiry into such matters. '

The Band Council Resolutions by which the three western Bands pur-
ported to rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and the settlement are
irrelevant to these proceedings. If the 1977 settlement was entirely void ab
initio under subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act, this issue is academic,
since it would not have been necessary for the Bands to issue rescinding
Band Council Resolutions to render the earlier resolutions ineffective. How-
ever, to the extent, if any, that the 1977 settlement can be considered valid
under section 28 of the Indian Act, the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were
merely evidence of the intention to enter into a contract. As such, it would be
contrary to basic principles of contract law to permit the First Nations unilat-
erally to withdraw from the 1977 settlement without the concurrence of
the PFRA.

Issue 5: Aboriginal, Treaty, and Riparian Water Rights

It is unnecessary for the Commission to address the nature and extent of the
First Natlons’ aboriginal, treaty, and riparian water rights in Light of our find-
ings in relation to the first four issues. Nevertheless, to the extent that the
interference with such water rights constitutes an alternative cause of action,
and if the PFRA and'its successors can be shown to have interfered with the
First Nations” water rights, we consider the First Nations to be entitled to
claim compensation for the damages caused by such interference. Due
regard must be had, of course, for compensation already paid to the First
Nations to avoid any element of “double counting.”

The evidence before the Commission is insufficient to link pollution in the
Qu'Appelle River conclusively to the construction and use of the Echo Lake,
Crooked Lake, and Round Lake control structures. Similarly, we have heen
shown no evidence that the failure by Canada to license the First Nations'

I
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consumptive rights under the North-West Irrigation Act of 1894 has caused
any damage to the First Nations. The Commission therefore declines the invi-
tation to decide whether the First Nations’ riparian or other water rights were
extinguished by that statute, or whether the Crown failed to protect those
rights.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Having found that the Government of Canada owes an outstanding lawful obli-
gation to the First Nations of the Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development
Authority with respect to the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration’s
acquisition of the right to use and occupy their reserve lands for flooding
purposes, we therefore recommend:

RECOMMENDATION 1

That Canada immediately commence negotiations with the QVIDA
First Nations to acquire by surrender or expropriation such inter-
ests in land as may be required for the ongoing operation of the
control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake or,
alternatively, remove the control structures.

RECOMMENDATION 2

That the flooding claims of the Sakimay, Cowessess, and
Ochapowace First Nations be accepted for negotiation under
Canada’s Specific Claims Policy with respect to

(a) damages caused to reserve iands since iie originai construction
of the dams in the early 1940s, and

{b) compensation for

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the
reserve lands, and
(ii) future damages to reserve lands,

subject to set-off of compensation of $3270 paid to those First
Nations in 1943.
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RECOMMENDATION 3

That the flooding claims of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing
Buffalo First Nations be accepted for negonatmn under Canada’s
Specific Claims Policy with respect to

(a) damages caused to reserve lands

(i) since the original construction of the dams in the early
1940s, or

(ii) alternatively, since 1977, if these First Nations can be
bound by the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and if the
release for damages prior to 1977 can be severed from the
invalid part of the settlement, and :

(b} compensation for

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the
reserve lands, and
(i) future damages to reserve lands,

subject to set-off of compensation of $265,000 paid to those First
Nations in 1977.

- FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

Se- = ST sz

PE. ]arne% Prentice, QC Carole T. Corcoran Roger] Augustine

Nln P T Tata e
mmission Co-Chair Commissioner Commissioner

Dated this 19th day of February, 1958
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APPENDIX A

QU'APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY
FLOODING CLAIM

1 Planning conferences Regina, January 30, 1995
~ Regina, June 6, 1995

Regina, September 28, 1995

Regina, April 3, 1996

Regina, May 14, 1996

- Regina, February 28, 1997

2  Community sessions
The Commission conducted the following community sessions:

- September 18, 1996: The Commission held 4 joint community session
of the Sakimay, Cowessess, Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapowace First
Nations in the Community Hall on the Sakimay reserve. Testifying were
elders George Ponicappo, Alex Wolfe, Marie Kaye, Raymond Acoose,
Edna Sangwais, Emma Panipekeesick, Jimmy Wahpooseywan, and Leo-
nard Kequahtooway of Sakimay; Joseph Crowe, John Alexson, Mervin
Bob, Allan McKay, and Urhin Touison of Kahkewistahaw; Henry
Delorme of Cowessess; and Margaret Bear, Marlowe Kenny, Arthur
George, and Calvin George of Ochapowace.

+ October 2, 1996: The second session involved testimony from elders
of the Pasqua First Nation who were heard in the Pasqua Band Hall.
The participants included David Obey, Stanley Pasqua, Clara Pasqua,
Andrew Gordon, Raymond Gordon, Clayton Cyr, Lawrence Stevenson,
Jimmy Iron Eagle, George Kabnapace, Lawrence Chicoose, Agnes Cyr,
Dora B. Stevenson, Marsha Gordon, Bernard Gordon, Edith Merrifield,
and Ina Kahnapace.

- October 3, 1996: The Commissioners convened in the Muscowpetung
School gymnasium to hear the evidence of 11 elders of the Mus-
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cowpetung First Nation: Calvin Poitras Sr, Violet Keepness, Isabelle
Keepness, William Prait, Evelyn Cappo, Winonah Toto, Ervin Toto, Ear]
Cappo, Pau!l Poitras, Norma Cappo, and Engene Anaquod.

- April 4, 1997: The final community session was held at the Standing
Buffalo Cultural Centre to hear from that First Nation’s elders. Provid-
ing oral testimony were Charlie Buffalo, Susan Yuzicappi, lsabelle Jack-
son, Felix Bearshield, Xen Goodwill, Clifford Goodwill, Tony Yuricappi,
and, through Band Councillor Velma Bear, Cecil Wajunta, Victor
Redman, Catherine Goodfeather, and Celina Wajunta.

Legal argument Regina, June 26, 1997

Content of formal record

The formal record for the QVIDA Inquiry consists of the following
materials:
- the documentary record (6 volumies of documents)

- 35 exhibits tendered during the inquiry, including transcnpts from
community sessious (4 volumes)

+ transcript of oral submissions {1 volume)

« written submissions of counsel for Canada and the QVIDA First
Nations, including authorities submitted by counsel with their written
submissions and supplemental authorities submitted during oral
submissions

The report of the Comrnission and letters of transmittal to the parties will
complete the formal record of this inquiry.
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THE COMMISSIONERS

Roger J. Augustine is a Micmac born at Eel Ground, New
Brunswick, where he served as Chief from 1980 to 1990.
He was president of the Union of NB-PE! First Nations from
1988 to January 1994. He is president of Black Eagle Man-
agement Enterprises and a2 member of the Management
Board of Eagle Forest Products. He has been honoured for
his efforts in founding and fostering both the Eel Ground
Drug and Alcohol Education Centre and the Native Alcohol
and Drug Abuse Rehabilitation Association. 1n February
1996, Mr Augustine was appointed a director to the Nation-
al Aboriginal Economic Development Board. In June 1996,
he was named Miramichi Achiever of the Year by the
Miramichi Regional Development Corporation. He was ap-
pointed a Commissioner of the Indian Claims Commission
in 1992,

Daniel J. Bellegarde, Co-Chair, is an Assiniboine/Cree
from the Little Black Bear First Nation in southern Sas-
katchewan. From 1981 to 1984, Mr Bellegarde worked
with the Meadow Lake District Chiefs Joint Venture as a
socio-economic planner. He was president of the Saskatch-
ewan Indian Institute of Techuologies from 1984 to 1987.
In 1988, he was elected First Vice-Chief of the Federation
of Saskatchewan Indian Nations, a position he held until
1997. He is now a management and governance consultant.
Mr Bellegarde was appointed Comumissioner, then Co-Chair
of the Indian Claims Commission on July 27, 1992, and
April 19, 1994, respectively.
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Carole T. Corcoran is a Dene from the Fort Nelson Indi-
an Band in northern British Columbia. Mrs Corcoran is a
lawver with extensive experience in Aboriginal government
and politics at local, regional, and provincial levels. She
served as a Commissioner on the Royal Commission on Ca-
nada’s Future in 1990/91, and as Commissioner to the
Britislt Columbia Treaty Commission from 1993 to 1995.
Mrs Corcoran was appointed a Commissioner of the Indian
Claims Commission in July 1992.

P.E. James Prentice, QC, Co-Chair, is a lawyer with the
Calgary Iaw firm Rooney Prentice. He has an extensive
hackground in native land claims, including work as legal
counsel and negotiator for the Province of Alberta in the
tripartite negoliations that brought about the Sturgeon Lake

of the Canadian Bar Association, and was appointed
Queen’s Counsel in 1992. He was appointed Commission-
er, then Co-Chair, of the Indian Claims Commission on July
27, 1992 and April 19, 1994, respectively.
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